FROM MEANING OF WORKING TO MEANINGFUL LIVES: THE CHALLENGES OF EXPANDING DECENT WORK

EDITED BY: Annamaria Di Fabio and David L. Blustein PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychology





Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2016 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-970-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-970-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

FROM MEANING OF WORKING TO MEANINGFUL LIVES: THE CHALLENGES OF EXPANDING DECENT WORK

Topic Editors: Annamaria Di Fabio, University of Florence, Italy David L. Blustein, Boston College, USA



Photo "Colorized bamboo tiles" by "T"eresa, available under CC-BY 2.0 license at: https://www.flickr. com/photos/teresa-stanton/511937060/

This Research Topic explores issues that are central to the continued relevance of organizational and vocational psychology, and equally central to the well-being of individuals and communities. The cohering theme of this publication revolves around the question of how people can establish meaningful lives and meaningful work experiences in light of the many challenges that are reducing access to decent work. Another essential contextual factor that is explored in this volume is the Decent Work Agenda (International Labour Organization, 2008), which represents an initiative by the International Labour Organization. In this book, we hope to enrich the Decent Work Agenda by infusing the knowledge and perspectives of psychology into contemporary discourses about work, and well-being. Another inspiration for this project emerged from the UNESCO Chair in Lifelong guidance and counseling, recently established in Poland in 2013 under the leadership of Jean Guichard, which has focused on advancing research and policy advocacy about decent work.

This new era calls for an innovative perspective in constructing decent work and decent lives: the passage from the paradigm of motivation to the paradigm of meaning, where the sustainability of the decent life project is anchored to a meaningful construction. During this period when work is changing so rapidly, leaving people yearning for a sense of connection and meaning, it's fundamental to create a framework for an explicitly psychological analysis of decent work.

Citation: Di Fabio, A., Blustein, D. L., eds. (2016). From Meaning of Working to Meaningful Lives: The Challenges of Expanding Decent Work. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88919-970-9

Table of Contents

| 06 | Editorial: From Meaning of Working to Meaningful Lives: The Challenges of Expanding Decent Work |
|----------|---|
| | Annamaria Di Fabio and David L. Blustein |
| 08 | Decent Work: A Psychological Perspective |
| | David L. Blustein, Chad Olle, Alice Connors-Kellgren and A. J. Diamonti |
| 18 | Using a Transdisciplinary Interpretive Lens to Broaden Reflections on Alleviating Poverty and Promoting Decent Work Annamaria Di Fabio and Jacobus G. Maree |
| 32 | For a Psychosocial Approach to Decent Work |
| | Jacques Pouyaud |
| 46 | From Decent Work to Decent Lives: Positive Self and Relational Management (PS&RM) in the Twenty-First Century |
| | Annamaria Di Fabio and Maureen E. Kenny |
| 58 72 | Discussing the Notion of Decent Work: Senses of Working for a Group of |
| | Brazilian Workers without College Education Marcelo A. Ribeiro, Fabiano F. Silva and Paula M. Figueiredo |
| | Self-Determination and Meaningful Work: Exploring Socioeconomic Constraints |
| | Blake A. Allan, Kelsey L. Autin and Ryan D. Duffy |
| 81 | A Thematic Analysis of Career Adaptability in Retirees Who Return to Work |
| | Jennifer Luke, Peter McIlveen and Harsha N. Perera |
| 93 | Assessing Workplace Relational Civility (WRC) with a New Multidimensional |
| | "Mirror" Measure |
| | Annamaria Di Fabio and Alessio Gori |
| 105 | Preparation for Meaningful Work and Life: Urban High School Youth's |
| | Reflections on Work-Based Learning 1 Year Post-Graduation |
| | Maureen E. Kenny, Christine Catraio, Janine Bempechat, Kelly Minor, Chad Olle, |
| | David L. Blustein and Joanne Seltzer |
| 117 | Career and Self-Construction of Emerging Adults: The Value of Life Designing |
| | Jacobus G. Maree and Adeline Twigge |
| 129 | Green Positive Guidance and Green Positive Life Counseling for Decent Work |
| | and Decent Lives: Some Empirical Results |
| | Annamaria Di Fabio and Ornella Bucci |
| 136 | Marginalization and Precariat: The Challenge of Intensifying Life Construction Intervention |

Annamaria Di Fabio and Letizia Palazzeschi

144 The Work of Cultural Transition: An Emerging Model

Tatiana V. Ryba, Natalia B. Stambulova and Noora J. Ronkainen

157 Perceived Work Conditions and Turnover Intentions: The Mediating Role of Meaning of Work

Caroline Arnoux-Nicolas, Laurent Sovet, Lin Lhotellier, Annamaria Di Fabio and Jean-Luc Bernaud





Editorial: From Meaning of Working to Meaningful Lives: The Challenges of Expanding Decent Work

Annamaria Di Fabio^{1*} and David L. Blustein²

¹ Department of Education and Psychology (Psychology Section), University of Florence, Florence, Italy, ² Department of Counseling, Developmental, and Educational Psychology, Boston College, Chestnut Hill, MA, USA

Keywords: meaning of work, meaningful lives, decent work, relationships, challenges

The Editorial on the Research Topic

From Meaning of Working to Meaningful Lives: The Challenges of Expanding Decent Work

This Research Topic explores issues that are central to the continued relevance of organizational and vocational psychology, and equally central to the well-being of individuals and communities. The cohering theme of this publication revolves around the question of how people can establish meaningful lives and meaningful work experiences in light of the many challenges that are reducing access to decent work. Numerous interrelated trends are reshaping access to work, especially stable, dignified jobs. These trends include the continued fallout from the Great Recession, which has had a profound impact on many regions of the world (International Labour Organization, 2016). Simultaneously, the rapid growth in information technology is reducing the number and quality of jobs for people across the occupational spectrum (Brynjolfsson and McAfee, 2014; Standing, 2014).

Another essential contextual factor that is explored in this volume is the Decent Work Agenda (International Labour Organization, 2008), which represents an initiative by the International Labour Organization. In this book, we hope to enrich the Decent Work Agenda by infusing the knowledge and perspectives of psychology into contemporary discourses about work, and well-being.

During this period when work is changing so rapidly, leaving people yearning for a sense of connection and meaning, we believe that scholarship is needed to foster new developments in understanding how people construct meaning about their lives and work. This new era calls for an innovative perspective in constructing decent work and decent lives: the passage from the paradigm of motivation to the paradigm of meaning, where the sustainability of the decent life project is anchored to a meaningful construction.

Another inspiration for this project emerged from the UNESCO Chair in Lifelong guidance and counseling, recently established in Poland in 2013 under the leadership of Jean Guichard, which has focused on advancing research and policy advocacy about decent work. After the inaugural Conference in November 2013 in Wroclaw (Poland), the following Conference was in Florence in 2015 on the topic "How can career and life designing interventions contribute to a fair and sustainable development and to the implementation of decent work over the world?"

In the section that follows, we summarize the articles that are included in this volume, highlighting their connections to the main themes of this project.

The 1st article by Blustein et al. summarized existing scholarship on decent work; using the psychology of working framework (Blustein, 2006, 2013), the authors created a framework for an explicitly psychological analysis of decent work.

The 2nd article by Di Fabio and Maree proposed a transdisciplinary interpretive lens as a means of understanding the psychological meaning of decent work. This article provided a thoughtful synthesis of legal, philosophical, economic, sociological and psychological

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Richard Eleftherios Boyatzis, Case Western Reserve University, USA

*Correspondence:

Annamaria Di Fabio adifabio@psico.unifi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 29 June 2016 **Accepted:** 12 July 2016 **Published:** 27 July 2016

Citation:

Di Fabio A and Blustein DL (2016) Editorial: From Meaning of Working to Meaningful Lives: The Challenges of Expanding Decent Work. Front. Psychol. 7:1119. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01119 perspectives of poverty and decent work, creating important theoretical linkages.

The 3rd article by Pouyaud used the decent work lens to explicate a career counseling intervention. Pouyaud reviewed the literature on decent work and built important theoretical linkages between decent work and vocational psychology.

The 4th article by Di Fabio and Kenny presents a new theoretical model entitled Positive Self and Relational Management (PS&RM) for the Twenty-first century. Using a structural equation model design, this theoretical model explored three interrelated constructs, Positive Lifelong Life Management, Positive Lifelong Self-Management, and Positive Lifelong Relational Management into a coherent framework.

The 5th article by Ribeiro et al. examined the concept of decent work via narratives derived from 20 non-college educated adults in Brazil. Ribeiro et al. demonstrated that the concerns conveyed by the participants paralleled the attributes of decent work.

The 6th article by Allan et al. used self-determination theory in conjunction with the psychology of working framework in study that identified predictors of meaning at work. Their findings underscored the importance of internal motivation as a major predictor of meaningfulness at work.

The 7th article by Luke et al. reported a qualitative study that involved interviews with 22 retirees who returned to work after a period of retirement. Using Career Construction Theory (Savickas, 2002) and the psychology of working framework (Blustein, 2006), Luke et al. affirmed the importance of work as means of establishing meaning in life for older adults.

The 8th article by Di Fabio and Gori described the development of a new construct and measurement tool for assessing workplace relational civility (WRC). This measure provides a means of explicating an important aspect of decent work—the relational health of working people.

The 9th article by Kenny et al. examined the experiences of 18 urban, low-income graduates of a U.S. Catholic high school that was characterized by a work-place learning program. The interviews revealed that the students' experiences after high school were often marred by their exposure to external barriers.

REFERENCES

- Blustein, D. L. (2006). The Psychology of Working: A New Perspective for Career Development, Counseling and Public Policy. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Blustein, D. L. (Ed.). (2013). *The Oxford Handbook of the Psychology of Working*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Brynjolfsson, E., and McAfee, A. (2014). The Second Machine Age: Work, Progress, and Prosperity in a Time of Brilliant Technologies. New York, NY: WW Norton & Company.
- International Labor Organization (2008). *ILO Declaration on Social Justice for a Fair Globalization*. Retrieved from: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/ public/---dgreports/---cabinet/documents/genericdocument/wcms_371208. pdf
- International Labour Organization (2016). *Decent Work Agenda*. Geneva: International Labor Office.
- Savickas, M. L. (2002). "Career construction: a developmental theory of vocational behavior," in *Career Choice and*

The 10th article by Maree and Twigge used life-design theory as a framework for an analysis of career interventions provided to six adults in South Africa. Maree and Twigge identified how the life design counseling enhanced self-knowledge and also fostered growth in the relational-moral self.

The 11th article by Di Fabio and Bucci sought to explore the predictors of high school students' interests in nature and the environment. Using a quantitative design, this study found that empathy predicted connectedness to nature and affirmed that green positive counseling is optimally best understood from a relational perspective.

The 12th article by Di Fabio and Palazzeschi presented a case study that provided an illuminating perspective in the world of precarious workers. Using a life-design approach, the authors described how a 23-year old University graduate struggled to find a life of meaning while searching for stable work.

The 13th article by Ryba et al. described the development of a cultural transition model that emerged from a qualitative analysis of professional athletes who changed geographic regions in pursuing their careers.

The last article by Arnoux-Nicolas et al. presented the results of a quantitative study of 336 French workers who were surveyed about their turnover intentions, where meaning of work was inversely predictive of working conditions and turnover intentions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed, have made substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We deeply acknowledge the leadership and inspiration of Professor Jean Guichard, who has helped our field to embrace the need for decent work and for decent lives for all people around the globe.

Development, ed. D. Brown (San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass), 149-205.

Standing, G. (2014). A Precariat Charter: From Denizens to Citizens. New York, NY: Bloomsbury.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Di Fabio and Blustein. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Decent Work: A Psychological Perspective

David L. Blustein*, Chad Olle, Alice Connors-Kellgren and A. J. Diamonti

Department of Counseling, Developmental, and Educational Psychology, Boston College, Chestnut Hill, MA, USA

This contribution, which serves as the lead article for the Research Topic entitled "From Meaning of Working to Meaningful Lives: The Challenges of Expanding Decent Work," explores current challenges in the development and operationalization of decent work. Based on an initiative from the International Labor Organization [ILO] (1999) decent work represents an aspirational statement about the quality of work that should be available to all people who seek to work around the globe. Within recent years, several critiques have been raised about decent work from various disciplines, highlighting concerns about a retreat from the social justice ethos that had initially defined the concept. In addition, other scholars have observed that decent work has not included a focus on the role of meaning and purpose at work. To address these concerns, we propose that a psychological perspective can help to revitalize the decent work agenda by infusing a more specific focus on individual experiences and by reconnecting decent work to its social justice origins. As an illustration of the advantages of a psychological perspective, we explore the rise of precarious work and also connect the decent work agenda to the Psychology-of-Working Framework and Theory (Blustein, 2006; Duffy et al., 2016).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pablo Fernández-Berrocal, University of Malaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Riccardo Sartori, University of Verona, Italy Jacques Pouyaud, University of Bordeaux, France

*Correspondence:

David L. Blustein david.blustein@bc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 06 February 2016 Accepted: 07 March 2016 Published: 24 March 2016

Citation:

Blustein DL, Olle C, Connors-Kellgren A and Diamonti AJ (2016) Decent Work: A Psychological Perspective. Front. Psychol. 7:407. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00407 Keywords: decent work, precarious work, Psychology-of-Working, career development, social justice and work

INTRODUCTION

The two specialties of industrial/organizational (I/O) and vocational psychology have been exploring work as a context for human experience and development for more than a century, producing substantive bodies of scholarship and practices that have positively impacted the lives of people, organizations, and communities (Savickas and Baker, 2005; Blustein, 2006; Guichard, 2009; Landy and Conte, 2010; Schleicher et al., 2011; Di Fabio and Maree, 2012; Di Fabio, 2014). At the present time, the labor market is undergoing radical transformations that are upending many of the taken-for-granted assumptions about work and careers (Blustein, 2013; Brynjolfsson and McAfee, 2014; Stiglitz, 2015). Working conditions are increasingly governed by market forces that are currently creating growing levels of instability and insecurity, thereby evoking greater levels of stress and anguish for people around the globe (Kalleberg, 2009; Paul and Moser, 2009; Richardson, 2012; Stiglitz, 2012, 2015; Guichard, 2013; Piketty, 2014; Standing, 2014). Amidst the radical changes in the world of work, international leaders from government, labor, and other public policy domains have provided needed guidelines about the quality of work that people should be able to access in contemporary society (International Labor Organization [ILO], 2008a,b, 2014, 2015; Standing, 2008). Their guidance has yielded an aspirational statement about the sort of work that ought to define the lives of all who work and who want to work-decent work.

As a means of understanding these changes and creating a knowledge base that will help to foster relevant research, we have developed this special Research Topic for Frontiers in Psychology entitled "From Meaning of Working to Meaningful Lives: The Challenges of Expanding Decent Work," This article serves as an introduction to this special section and also provides a needed psychological examination of the concept of decent work, which is a key element of this project. When considered collectively, the articles that comprise this Research Topic build on the interface between I/O and vocational psychology (Carr et al., 2012; Blustein, 2013) by examining the complexities that people face as they seek to transition from school or unemployment to work and as they strive to adjust to an increasingly challenging workplace. In accordance with globalization trends and the intellectual pluralism that is defining the discourse on organizational and applied psychology (e.g., Di Fabio and Kenny, 2011; Carr et al., 2012; Blustein, 2013; MacLachlan, 2014), these contributions represent various settings around the world and also employ qualitative analyses, quantitative methods, case studies, and critical reviews, thereby furnishing readers with a broad canvas upon which to generate the next generation of scholarship to address these growing challenges to the world's workforce. This introductory article provides a cohering thread, linking the articles by defining the psychological features of decent work and outlining its utility in enhancing the potential for people to create a life that includes fair, dignified, and decent work.

For the most part, policies, research, and advocacy on decent work have emerged from economics, public policy, sociology, governments, and the private sector. With the understanding that the availability of work that is stable and secure is associated with mental and physical health as well as greater cohesion in communities (Wilson, 1996; Paul and Moser, 2009; Swanson, 2012), we propose that psychologists need to understand and contribute to the conception of decent work, and join in ongoing dialogs about how to optimally create the conditions that promote decent work. To accomplish these goals, we seek to define decent work from the perspective of individuals and communities—in other words, what is the experience of decent work for people (as contrasted with the tradition of examining decent work from the perspective of macro-level markets) and what are the barriers that exist in attaining decent work?

While nuanced disagreements across disciplines remain as to what constitutes a good job, the conversation has progressed from subjective measures of job satisfaction to efforts by I/O psychologists (e.g., Hammer and Zimmerman, 2011) and vocational psychologists (e.g., Blustein, 2013; Lent and Brown, 2013), economists (e.g., Burchell et al., 2013), business management scholars (e.g., Vidal, 2013), and others (e.g., Deranty and MacMillan, 2012) to develop a consensus on the defining dimensions of high quality work. The use of a consensually agreed upon definition of decent work as fair, dignified, stable, and secure has the potential to drive research, policy initiatives, and potential solutions to the growing crisis in work.

While the International Labor Organization [ILO] (1999, 2008a,b) concept of decent work has been offered by some as an aspirational set of standards that can transform the nature of working, others have persuasively argued that there is a political

battle for consensus within the ILO between stakeholders with competing interests (Standing, 2008; Deranty and MacMillan, 2012; Burchell et al., 2013; Di Ruggerio et al., 2015). In a thoughtful critical discourse analysis, Di Ruggerio et al. (2015) identified troubling themes in texts from the ILO, World Health Organization, and World Bank, suggesting a disconcerting shift of the ILO's agenda away from social conceptualizations of work toward neoliberal, market-driven definitions following the global financial crash of 2008-2009. The move toward a more market-driven definition of decent work is a troubling development considering the historical influence of neoliberalism on governance, namely that the tendency of neoliberal social policy to privilege the individualization of work, health, and overall well-being (Rushton and Williams, 2012). Additionally, Piketty (2014) has presented painstakingly thorough evidence from 20 countries over three centuries that markets, left to their own devices, as is the goal of neoliberalism, will serve to elevate inequality. This political and ideological battle within the ILO effectively renders any consensus of aspirational standards a moving target, which, depending on who prevails, may or may not be consistent with a social justice and human rights agenda. The question becomes what can psychologists contribute to "redress(ing) the imbalance between economic and social framings of work to ensure that health and health equity remain at the forefront" of conceptualization of decent work (Di Ruggerio et al., 2015, p. 126)? In the next sections of this article, we explore a number of ways in which psychology can provide an important lens with which to understand the complexities and promise of decent work.

DECENT WORK: AN OVERVIEW

Decent work, as international concept, can be traced to the United Nations Declaration of Human Rights, which expressed the need for work as an integral aspect of human rights. The passage regarding work, which was endorsed by the General Assembly of the UN in December 1948, proposed the following:

 Everyone has the right to work, to free choice of employment, to just and favorable conditions of work and to protection against unemployment. (2) Everyone, without any discrimination, has the right to equal pay for equal work.
Everyone who works has the right to just and favorable remuneration ensuring for himself and his family an existence worthy of human dignity, and supplemented, if necessary, by other means of social protection. (4) Everyone has the right to form and to join trade unions for the protection of his interests (United Nations Declaration of Human Rights, 1948).

Building on this critical statement about work, the International Labor Organization (ILO), focused on defining the attributes of a work life that fulfills the mission of the UN Declaration. The International Labor Organization [ILO] (2008a, p. 6) advanced the notion of decent work as a statement to guide its agenda for the future of workers within an increasingly complex occupational context. The overarching objectives of the ILO Decent Work Agenda are "to meet the universal aspiration for social justice, to reach full employment, to ensure the sustainability of open societies and the global economy, to achieve social cohesion and to combat poverty and rising inequalities."

The International Labor Organization's [ILO] (2008a) definition of decent work, as stated in the report, includes the following attributes:

- 1. Promoting employment via sustainable institutional and economic contexts;
- 2. Defining, developing, and enriching social protection for workers, including social security and labor protection, which are constructed in accordance with the cultures of given societies;
- 3. Promoting social dialog via intentional connections among governments, worker organizations, and employers;
- 4. Affirming, advancing, and fulfilling the fundamental rights that define a dignified and just work place.

DECENT WORK: PREVALENCE AND FEATURES

For the most part, decent work has been defined via macrolevel economic factors, resulting in thoughtful analyses about the extent to which decent work is available in various countries and regions of the world (e.g., Ghai, 2003; Burchell et al., 2013; International Labor Organization [ILO], 2014). Much of the existing literature on decent work has used global indices of the labor market, including unemployment and underemployment rates, existence and proportion of child labor, employment-population ratio, conditions of work, availability of social security, access to basic rights at work, discrimination at work, freedom of association, and union density (Ghai, 2003; Standing, 2008). A perusal of the data in the report by Ghai (2003) and in more recent contributions from the International Labor Organization (ILO, 2014, 2015) reveals considerable variability with respect to access to decent work across the globe. Some countries, such as those from the Nordic region, do fare relatively well in these global indices of decent work (International Labor Organization [ILO], 2015). However, considerable gaps exist in the macro-level indices of decent work, which have become even more pronounced in recent years due to the major impacts of the Great Recession and the growing rise of automation (Guichard, 2013; Stiglitz, 2015). For example, the recent report by the International Labor Organization (ILO, 2015) reveals the unemployment rate will likely increase over the next 4 years by 8 million people globally. Similar views have been articulated by a panel of economic experts convened by the OECD Development Centre (2015), who have discussed some distressing developments in the world of work that echo the observations by the ILO.

As indicated by the trends identified by the International Labor Organization (ILO, 2015) and OECD Development Centre (2015) as well as scholars in economics (Burchell et al., 2013; Piketty, 2014) and psychology (Byars-Winston et al.,

2012; Di Fabio, 2014), the crisis at the workplace is not likely to improve markedly in the coming years. The struggle to obtain decent work, particularly for workers without marketable 21st century skills, remains one of the major social justice challenges of our era. In this climate, we believe that linkages are needed between existing macro-level definitions of decent work and the psychological literature on quality of work life, social justice, and emancipatory views of human behavior (e.g., Prilleltensky, 1997; Blustein, 2006, 2013; Hammer and Zimmerman, 2011). In order to better understand the nature of the decent work concept, we first turn our attention to the emerging critiques, which have been generated from social philosophy (e.g., Deranty and MacMillan, 2012), economics (e.g., Burchell et al., 2013), public health (e.g., Di Ruggerio et al., 2015), and sociology (e.g., Standing, 2008). These critiques, in our view, provide the cohering thread between existing definitions of decent work and a psychologically infused conceptualization, which is the intention of this article and of this Research Topic.

DECENT WORK: CRITIQUES AND A WAY FORWARD

As indicated earlier, emerging concerns are being voiced about the ideological divisions present in the ILO's tripartite governing structure, which includes representation from governments, the private sector, and workers. A similar set of concerns has been articulated by Standing (2008), who was involved in the development of the International Labor Organization [ILO] (1999) position paper about decent work. Standing's critique centered around some of the same issues that Di Ruggerio et al. (2015) described, notably the relative retreat from a more assertive position with respect to workers' rights. He indicated that due to organizational problems within the ILO and the diffusion of an explicitly justice-oriented agenda, existing definitions of decent work are replete with vagueness and ambiguity.

In addition to the concerns about the dominating influence of market-based forces, another theme has emerged that pertains to the relative neglect of psychological notions of work within existing views of decent work. This position is best articulated in the social philosophical critique by Deranty and MacMillan (2012), who have argued that internal constructions of meaning at work are excluded from existing formulations of decent work. Informed by the psychodynamic theory of working developed by Dejours (2006), Deranty and MacMillan (2012) constructed a compelling argument that decent work needs to include the perspectives of working people themselves. They proposed that decent work also needs to be meaningful work, which is a position that parallels many existing formulations in psychology about meaning at work (e.g., Savickas, 2011; Dik et al., 2013).

Legal concerns also have been raised about the decent work agenda. A defining feature of the decent work agenda has been its aspirational nature; in effect, the proposals to advance decent work are generally not based on legal mandates or policies that have been endorsed by governments (Deranty and MacMillan, 2012). A thorough analysis of the legal complexities inherent in advocating for decent work has been provided by MacNaughton and Frey (2011). These legal scholars provided a compelling rationale for using a holistic human rights framework to help establish the legal context for the decent work agenda. That said, their article identified the complexity in moving from an aspirational set of principles to legal structures that can result in systemic change in people's experiences with work.

When considered collectively, the critiques that we have reviewed herein point to a growing lack of consensus with respect to the values that are integral to notions of decent work. Rather than the clear posture of the earliest developers of decent work which explicitly endorsed a human rights view characterized by a strong rejection of prevailing views of working people as economic commodities (International Labor Organization [ILO], 1999), the current trend seems to be increasingly responding to market forces (cf. Di Ruggerio et al., 2015). While we have argued that the macro-level perspectives used in original conceptualizations are clearly welcome in psychology to provide external criteria with which to evaluate work-based policies, we believe that a bridge needs to be created between these macro-level perspectives, which are increasingly vulnerable to outside influences from employers and neo-liberal policies, and the lived experience of working people. In our view, this bridge can be constructed via the scaffolding of psychological theory and research about work. Additional support for this bridge needs to come from the critical perspectives that have been reviewed previously, which are conceptually connected to the social justice-based ideas that are increasingly emerging in psychological discourse about work and careers (e.g., Richardson, 1993, 2012; Blustein, 2006, 2013; Carr et al., 2012; Flores, 2013).

In the sections that follow, we first review the relationship between work and psychological health, which underscores the advantages of adopting a psychological perspective of decent work. In order to provide an exemplar of the utility of a psychological lens in the decent work discourse, we explore the emergence of precarious work and its impact on workers, particularly their health and well-being. Then, from a Psychology of Working Framework (PWF; Blustein, 2006), we will position a socially constructed aspiration of decent work for all who would like stable, dignified, and secure work as the antidote to precarious work. We propose that the PWF can function as a needed conceptual framework for the decent work agenda. In effect, our view is that the concept of decent work can enhance the psychological study of work and careers, and that a psychological standpoint can enrich the decent work agenda. This sort of intentional synthesis may help to integrate the diverse streams of scholarship on unemployment, precarious work, social oppression, and other forms of "bad work" environments that continue to plague the labor market. Finally, we discuss how the integration of decent work and PWF will promote a needed synthesis of research and public policy on workplace initiatives and labor policy, which has tended to neglect the important contributions from psychology.

WORK AND PSYCHOLOGICAL HEALTH

Considerable research within psychology has detailed the various ways that access to work promotes psychological health (Blustein, 2008; Swanson, 2012). In this section, we examine this literature with a particular focus on how the decent elements of work may be critical in understanding the relationship between work and psychological health. As detailed in an excellent review by Swanson (2012), extensive research exists that supports the basic premise that working is associated with psychological health and well-being. In this article, we define psychological health as encompassing not simply the absence of mental health problems (cf. Swanson, 2012), but in accordance with the World Health Organization (WHO), "as a state of well-being in which every individual realizes his or her own potential, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to her or his community" (World Health Organization [WHO], 2014).

The Swanson (2012) contribution explored two specific lines of research that explicated the relationship between work and psychological health. First, Swanson (2012) described the extensive scholarship that has identified a significant and pernicious rise in mental health problems for individuals who are unemployed for 6 months for more (see Paul and Moser, 2009, for a detailed meta-analysis on this issue). She also reported research that documented improvements in mental health once people became reemployed (cf. Paul and Moser, 2009; Wanberg, 2012). Second, Swanson (2012) reviewed research that has detailed the various ways that work supports psychological health, such as promoting an adaptive family-work balance and enhancing various indices of adaptive well-being (such as quality of life, life satisfaction, etc.). However, as recent research from Australia has indicated (e.g., Butterworth et al., 2013), not all jobs are associated with gains in psychological health. Many jobs present people with psychologically and physically painful experiences, exposure to various forms of social oppression and marginalization, boredom, exhaustion, and other sources of physical and psychic distress (Blustein, 2006).

THE INCREASING PREVALENCE OF PRECARIOUS WORK

One of the most important contributions of the decent work concept and agenda is the acknowledgment that by ignoring the quality of work available, conventional indicators like unemployment statistics reveal little about how well a labor market is meeting the needs of a society and its workers. Likewise, an emerging literature in the social sciences is highlighting growing concerns about rising levels of precarious work. Although a full consensus has not been reached among scholars regarding its definition, precarious work is generally understood as a multidimensional construct defined along four dimensions: continuity/employment insecurity, vulnerability (i.e., powerlessness/lack of bargaining position or ability to exercise workplace rights), protection (i.e., access to benefits and legal protections), and income (Benach et al., 2014). Precarious

Decent Work

workers typically lack effective agency and have little bargaining power, or means of resisting exploitative and oppressive labor conditions, leaving them little choice other than to abide by market forces or face severe consequences of not being able to find work and maintain their livelihoods (Standing, 2014).

Although precarity has been a continuous feature of work in developing nations, its prevalence in Western economies had declined during the 20th century, as expansions of social protections, regulation of workplace conditions, the promotion of collective bargaining, and the rise of union representation successfully addressed many of the problems, and reduced the occurrence of precarious employment (Menéndez et al., 2007; Evans and Gibb, 2009). However, since the 1970s, employment relationships have again been undergoing substantial changes, this time emerging from neoliberal restructuring of labor markets as governments and business have sought to respond to the effects of globalization, growing global competition, rapid technological advances, and a changing labor force (Merolli, 2012). In accordance with a neoliberal agenda, which emphasizes the effectiveness of markets to self-regulate and respond efficiently to change, governments have increasingly adopted policies aimed at deregulation, and supportive of corporate 'flexibility,' often in ways that have eroded employment standards and shifted social risk away from businesses, with adverse effects on workers (Evans and Gibb, 2009). Among the consequences of policies aimed at promoting corporate flexibility, growing precarious employment shifts risks away from employers (and governments) and places them instead on workers, their families, and communities. As a result, the burden of risk is now being shouldered by those who are least able to bear it (Evans and Gibb, 2009). Modern precarity, unlike its pre-WWII incarnation, is notable because it has spread to all sectors of the economy, including occupations that were historically seen as secure or permanent (Malenfant et al., 2007; Kalleberg, 2008; Facey and Eakin, 2010; Quinlan, 2012). Many workers are now facing job insecurity not as a transient condition on the path to permanent employment, or a temporary setback, but as a chronic situation in their lives, and consequently, an ongoing source of stress (Artazcoz et al., 2005; Lipscomb et al., 2006). Increased occupational stress, sustained uncertainty due to the threat of job loss, and a lack of control over the future, leads many workers to overwork and/or avoid taking needed time off in order to maintain employment (Clarke et al., 2007; Malenfant et al., 2007).

Not surprisingly, a growing body of research supports the conclusion that precarious employment has deleterious health effects (Lewchuck et al., 2003; Facey and Eakin, 2010). Multiple studies have found a negative impact of casual or intermittent work, and related experiences of insecurity, on well-being, self-esteem, and social recognition, all of which were as damaging to workers' mental health as the stress and insecurities linked to unemployment (e.g., Artazcoz et al., 2005; Malenfant et al., 2007). Workers experiencing chronic job insecurity had the highest morbidity on self-report measures, made more frequent use of health services, and had higher rates of adverse physiological indicators and cardiovascular risk factors (e.g., high blood pressure, increased serum cortisol, increased Body Mass Index ratios; Lipscomb et al., 2006; Benach and Muntaner, 2007).

Perceived job insecurity associated with precarious employment has also been linked to increased prevalence of depressive symptoms and generalized anxiety in a preponderance of studies examining the issue (Benach et al., 2012, 2014). As a result, precarious employment has come to be considered a social determinant of health, with well-documented aversive effects on workers, families, and communities (Benach et al., 2014).

Although workers in these circumstances are still technically employed, precarious employment involves a loss of many of the latent functions of work, such as the development of a sense of adult identity, a sense of purpose, and inclusion in social organizations (Blustein, 2006; Benach et al., 2014). Thus, notable among the factors identified in empirical studies as leading to negative health outcomes are a lack of recognition (most often characterized by low pay and lack of respect from colleagues), job insecurity, restricted autonomy, limited possibility for advancement or to develop one's abilities, lack of work support, and the intensification of work (Malenfant et al., 2007; Benach et al., 2014). Precarious workers also typically gain fewer social connections through work, and experience a comparative lack of social support (Clarke et al., 2007; Evans and Gibb, 2009) along with increased social isolation, which are known psychological stressors (Blustein, 2006, 2011; Swanson, 2012; Blustein et al., 2013; Flum, 2015).

Considered collectively, this evidence suggests that the impact of employment on health depends more on the quality of work than simply the obtainment of work. We would further make the case that precarious work and unemployment actually occur along a continuum. In fact, expanding this continuum to include the adaptive concept of decent work will help to provide locations for indexing the complexity and diversity of contemporary work experiences and will provide scholars with a means of understanding the various ways that work can provide meaning and purpose, as well as stability and economic security.

MODERATING FACTORS

Although precarious employment has been associated with increased physical health risks in the workplace, Clarke et al. (2007) suggest that the relational characteristics of employment and the changing nature of the social structure of employment better explain the social/psychological health outcomes of precarious employment. Whether individuals want more permanent employment, and whether they believe this goal is attainable, may be central in understanding the impact of precarious employment on health and mental health. For example, the small population that does seem to thrive under conditions of precarious employment seems to have access to greater collective and individual sources of support (Kalleberg, 2008). Workers who engage in temporary work "voluntarily" are more likely to have resources enabling them to seek out employment arrangements that enhance their quality of life, whereas employees who accept temporary work "involuntarily" are significantly more likely to experience job dissatisfaction and stress (Benach and Muntaner, 2007).

Often, these individuals have greater access to healthcare benefits, a partner who is stably employed with adequate earnings, and workplace supports (such as training and opportunities for social networking), all of which have been found to mitigate the impact of workplace precarity (Clarke et al., 2007). Additionally, several studies (e.g., Artazcoz et al., 2004; Clarke et al., 2007) have found evidence that social and systemic support were essential to the health of precarious workers, and that negative mental health effects were particularly associated with precarious work among less educated workers, women, and ethnic minorities. Thus those who most need support are arguably among the least likely to receive it.

Indeed, social marginalization plays a substantial role in determining who has access to decent work (Ali, 2013; Flores, 2013; Duffy et al., 2016). Employment conditions, such as precarious, insecure or low-paying jobs, child labor, and work in hazardous conditions, significantly influence individual, family, and community health and thereby, inequality. Such employment conditions have a notably differential impact on health across social classes, racial or ethnic groups, and gender (Quinlan, 2012). Access to decent work provides a well-established pathway out of poverty and marginalization (Duffy et al., 2016). Yet, as Lipscomb et al. (2006) note, the nature and quality of benefits afforded by work vary by class, race, and gender in ways that affect health, and contribute to disparities among groups.

In sum, the literature on precarity provides an informative exemplar of how a psychological perspective of decent work can help to illuminate issues regarding the quality of a given job. The rise of precarious work underscores the need for a comprehensive definition of decent work that explicitly captures the psychological aspects of working. As reflected in the next section, a psychological explication of decent work, based on the PWF, has the potential to further clarify the definitional boundaries and contours of the concept.

THE PSYCHOLOGY OF DECENT WORK

Although the decent work agenda has not been formally integrated within psychology, considerable psychological theory and research has focused on various aspects of work that correspond with existing definitions of decent work. For example, substantial research has been devoted to identifying the nature and predictors of people finding a good fit in their work lives; various indices exist within vocational and I/O psychology to assess the extent to which a given job fits the values, interests, attitudes, and abilities of a given worker (see for example, Holland, 1997; Dawis, 2005; Schleicher et al., 2011). In vocational psychology, extensive effort has been devoted to understanding and predicting the nature of a good personenvironment fit, as reflected in the seminal theory development efforts by Holland (1997) and Dawis (2005). Empirical research within vocational psychology has documented that individuals whose work environments fit well with their interests, values, and abilities are more likely to experience job satisfaction (Nauta, 2013) and other indices of well-being at work (Lent and Brown, 2013). Moreover, individuals who have the opportunity

to experience job satisfaction also are more likely to have other forms of well-being and psychological health in their lives (Swanson, 2012; Lent and Brown, 2013). In addition, psychologists from the I/O and work psychology traditions have explored the various ways that people can obtain quality of life at work (Hammer and Zimmerman, 2011), job satisfaction (Schleicher et al., 2011), and other forms of meaning at work. Indeed, the scholarship within vocational and I/O psychology has generated considerable relevant knowledge in understanding many of the psychological attributes of a functional work environment (see Lent and Brown, 2013, for an excellent review of the existing research in both I/O and vocational psychology).

A PSYCHOLOGY OF WORKING PERSPECTIVE ON DECENT WORK

The PWF (Blustein, 2006, 2008) was initially advanced as a critique of existing discourses in vocational psychology that had privileged the lives of people who had some individual control over their career choices. As the critique was fully developed, a meta-perspective was constructed that provided a rich exploration of the psychological nature of contemporary working experiences (Blustein, 2006, 2013). Consistent with the decent work agenda, the PWF incorporates an activist, social justice perspective that seeks to link individual analyses of workrelated issues to broader social and economic factors, which clearly play a key role in understanding the distribution of resources and access to decent work (Blustein, 2006, 2013). More recently, Duffy et al. (2016) have constructed a precise theoretical statement, known as the Psychology-of-Working Theory (PWT), which has sought to identify the salient antecedents and consequences of decent work. The PWT posits an empirically testable model based on the concepts outlined in the PWF that places decent work at the center of work experiences for all individuals. This theoretical model includes psychological factors such as proactive personality, career adaptability, and critical consciousness along with social and economic factors, such as economic conditions, marginalization, and social class. These two contributions seek to understand the diverse work experiences of individuals from different backgrounds, particularly those belonging to marginalized and disenfranchised social groups who have historically had less access to traditional career narratives, a group that is growing as work becomes increasingly precarious (Standing, 2008; International Labor Organization [ILO], 2015). Furthermore, the PWF and PWT pay attention to the ways in which sociocultural factors, such as discrimination, oppression, intersectional identities, high barriers, and low volition, affect the career development process and experience of work. By expanding the definition of work and those who engage in the world of work to include every person who is involved in market or care work, the Psychology-of-Working movement advances a view of work as a human right central to mental health and wellbeing through its ability to meet three basic needs: survival and power, social connection, and self-determination (Blustein, 2006, 2013; Duffy et al., 2016). Due to the variations in the nature of different jobs, these needs are additive and are not mutually

exclusive, meaning that people can achieve wellbeing through different combinations and levels of fulfillment with each need, that multiple needs may be met by the same facet of work, and that gratification of one need may bolster the fulfillment of other needs.

Decent work, as outlined by the International Labor Organization [ILO] (2008a), has the inherent capacity to meet the three needs set forth by the PWF. Because the needs outlined by the PWF can be fulfilled to varying degrees and in varying arrangements, the PWF, like decent work, provides an aspirational frame for work. To further provide a more structured framework to the integrated vision of decent work, as well as to promote the psychological aspects essential to truly defining decent work, we will outline the ways in which it provides or interacts with the needs posited by the PWF.

Survival and power, as posited by the PWF (Blustein, 2006), comprise one need defined as an individual's access to work that ensures survival and the capacity to make his or her objectives prevail. Survival is fulfilled by work characteristics such as job security, job stability, provision of a living wage, benefits such as health insurance and paid time off, and a sense of independence and control in the work place. Each of these characteristics can also be considered as part of the definition of a decent work environment. Characteristics of work that fulfill survival needs exist at the workplace level, as well as at the policy and macroeconomic levels. The extent to which individuals' survival needs are met by work can serve as one important dimension of decent work in individual jobs or workplaces and can be scaled to assess how well countries are meeting the aspiration of decent work. For example, although individual workplaces may vary in the wages and benefits they offer employees, governments have the ability to set minimum wages and offer safety nets to their citizens that reduce the negative consequences of precarious work.

The second need outlined by the PWF is social connection, which describes the aspects of work that provide access to relationships with others, as well as a sense of connection to society and the world at large (Blustein, 2006, 2011; Flum, 2015). Work can fulfill this need through a supportive, respectful environment – regardless of an individual's identity or social location – and through policies that provide time and resources for individuals to maintain positive relationships outside of work (e.g., paid family leave). Like the facets of work that fulfill the survival need, the characteristics of work that lead to social connection can be influenced at multiple levels connected to employment.

Finally, the PWF asserts that work can and should fulfill the need that humans have for self-determination, or the development of meaning for jobs, whether or not they are inherently intrinsically rewarding (Blustein, 2006). Selfdetermination in the workplace is generated by opportunities for autonomy, relatedness, and competence, with an emphasis on value congruence and access to the opportunity structure (Blustein, 2006). When individuals have the ability to locate and make use of resources and supports that bolster successful work experiences within their jobs, fields, or the world of work writ large, they are more likely to develop a sense of self-determination in the realm of work (Duffy et al., 2016). In terms of decent work, employers and governments should aspire to increase the volition that individuals have in choosing work through easy access to quality education, increased training and vocational programs, and equal access to opportunities for independence and advancement within employment organizations. Psychologically, the ability to gain a sense of satisfaction, autonomy, and competence from one's work is integral to the universal vision of decent work (Deranty and MacMillan, 2012).

By working toward the fulfillment of survival, social connection, and self-determination needs as outlined by the PWF, the decent work agenda can gain clarity and form while placing an emphasis on the psychological health and wellbeing of workers around the world. To further add specificity and depth to this structure, scholars, policymakers, and human rights advocates can draw on the emerging PWT (Duffy et al., 2016), which represents the next logical step within the PWF movement. Research stemming from the PWT can lead to recommendations about the specific stepping stones needed to reach the goal of decent work for all, as well as a model for evaluating the extent to which employers and governments have met the integrated vision of decent work across the globe.

PSYCHOLOGY AND DECENT WORK: CONCLUDING POINTS

Employment conditions are determined by a combination of labor markets and social policy (Quinlan, 2012). Given the dominance of neoliberal ideology and agendas and the rise in automation (Piketty, 2014; Stiglitz, 2015), the current growth in precarious employment is not likely to diminish any time soon. In this context, the psychological health consequences of precarious or non-standard employment conditions remain a neglected concern, particularly as such work-related inequalities remain somewhat invisible in economically prosperous countries (Benach et al., 2010). One of the directions that is suggested by our discussion is the use of qualitative, discovery-oriented research as a tool to unpack how people experience their working contexts. The use of rigorous and relevant narrative data on the nature of working may help to respond to some of the critiques of the decent work agenda (Burchell et al., 2013; Di Ruggerio et al., 2015), which has been so heavily rooted in statistics and macro-level data, thereby missing important aspects of people's lived experiences at work. In our view, qualitative research may be particularly informative in detailing the impact of the growth in precarious work.

Consistent with Deranty and MacMillan's (2012) thoughtful critique of decent work, we have sought to provide an initial map of an integrative landscape that embraces both psychology and decent work. As reflected in the material that we have reviewed, the growth in precarious work is evoking greater problems for people in maintaining their sense of stability, health, and well-being at work. The infusion of the PWF provides a metaperspective that may help to delineate the complex ways that working fulfills core human needs. Moreover, the socio-political context of the PWF and the new PWT (Duffy et al., 2016) parallel the focus on the importance of creating macro-level conditions that will nurture our inherent need to contribute, collaborate, and create. In particular, research derived from the PWT can provide an integrative rubric for considering the complexity of how macro-level factors, such as social and economic conditions, interface with individual psychological experiences. Indeed, one of the major recommendations that we advance here is that psychologists develop collaborative research groups with other social scientists and policy makers to examine the psychological and social antecedents and consequences of decent work. The PWT is one viable tool to stimulate this research; the articles in this Research Topic coupled with the input from the thoughtful critics of decent work can also inform much needed scholarship that can shape policy.

In keeping with the decent work agenda that prioritizes health and health equity, we position political and economic systems of organizations, that is governments and economies, as the next frontier for psychologists interested in work and careers-the next unit of analysis and deconstruction on the basis of how well they facilitate equitable access to decent work. Many psychologists recognize that the environment and individual recursively influence each other; however, by not engaging directly in political and economic discourse, they may inadvertently endorse structures and ideologies that are deterministic, ahistorical, and serve to over-individualize the responsibility for psychological health (Rushton and Williams, 2012). A research and policy agenda infused with the psychology of working will protect us from being unaware of or complacent in our tacit endorsements of systems whose logic and ideology runs counter to our stated values, assumptions, and practices as psychologists concerned with social justice (Prilleltensky, 1997).

As psychological research-practitioners, we recognize that the integrity of our inquiry, analysis, and interpretation is vital to maintaining trust in psychology as a discipline concerned

REFERENCES

- Ali, S. R. (2013). "Poverty, social class, and working," in *The Oxford Handbook of the Psychology of Working*, ed. D. L. Blustein (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 127–140. doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199758791.013.0008
- Artazcoz, L., Benach, J., Borrell, C., and Cortes, I. (2004). Unemployment and mental health: understanding the interactions among gender, family role, and social class. Am. J. Public Health 94, 82–88. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.94.1.82
- Artazcoz, L., Benach, J., Borrell, C., and Cortès, I. (2005). Social inequalities in the impact of flexible employment on different domains of psychosocial health. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 59, 761–767. doi: 10.1136/jech.2004. 028704
- Benach, J., and Muntaner, C. (2007). Precarious employment and health: developing a research agenda. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 61, 276–277. doi: 10.1136/jech.2005.045237
- Benach, J., Puig-Barrachina, V., Vives, A., Tarafa, G., and Muntaner, C. (2012). The challenge of monitoring employment-related health inequalities. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 66, 1085–1087. doi: 10.1136/jech-2012-201103
- Benach, J., Solar, O., Santana, V., Castedo, A., Chung, H., and Muntaner, C. (2010). A micro-level model of employment relations and health inequalities. *Int. J. Health Serv.* 40, 223–227. doi: 10.2190/HS.40.2.d
- Benach, J., Vives, A., Amable, M., Vanroelen, C., Tarafa, G., and Muntaner, C. (2014). Precarious employment: understanding an emerging social determinant

with advancing the public good. However, contrary to Burchell et al. (2013), we find it unlikely that even the most rigorously researched scientific findings will be privileged above the fray of clashing political and economic interests merely because they are less overtly political. We argue that psychologists should not shy away from being political when human health and health equity, our foundational ethos, are thrust into the political arena by conflicting interests. An adoption of a decent work agenda grounded in the social justice principles that inspired this movement means not only using the theory and research that illuminated the conditions of a just society to advocate for those conditions, but using psychology to be more aware of political interests that threaten their realization. Our hope is that the psychological perspective advanced in this article, coupled with the other contributions in this Research Topic, will serve to revitalize the decent work agenda so that it can clearly and forcefully set standards for work that is safe, secure, meaningful dignified, and consistent with the best aspects of the human spirit.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DB organized the project, created the basic framework for the paper, and wrote a significant portion of the manuscript. AC-K, CO, and AD worked closely with DB in the construction of the outline and in suggesting various bodies of work to include in the manuscript. Each of the co-authors wrote substantial sections of the paper and each edited the entire manuscript multiple times prior to submission.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We would like to thank Matthew Diemer for his very helpful comments on a previous version of this manuscript.

of health. Annu. Rev. Public Health 35, 229–253. doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182500

- Blustein, D. L. (2006). The Psychology of Working: A New Perspective for Career Development, Counseling and Public Policy. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Blustein, D. L. (2008). The role of work in psychological health and well-being: a conceptual, historical, and public policy perspective. Am. Psychol. 63, 228–240. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.63.4.228
- Blustein, D. L. (2011). A relational theory of working. J. Vocat. Behav. 79, 1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2010.10.004
- Blustein, D. L. (ed.) (2013). The Oxford Handbook of the Psychology of Working. Oxford: Oxford University Press. doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/97801997 58791.001.0001
- Blustein, D. L., Kozan, S., and Connors-Kellgren, A. (2013). Unemployment and underemployment: a narrative analysis about loss. J. Vocat. Behav. 82, 256–265. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2013.02.005
- Brynjolfsson, E., and McAfee, A. (2014). The Second Machine Age: Work, Progress, and Prosperity in a Time of Brilliant Technologies. New York, NY: WW Norton & Company.
- Burchell, B., Sehnbruch, K., Piasna, A., and Agloni, N. (2013). The quality of employment and decent work: definitions, methodologies, and ongoing debates. *Camb. J. Econ.* 38, 459–477. doi: 10.1093/cje/bet067
- Butterworth, P., Leach, L. S., McManus, S., and Stansfeld, S. A. (2013). Common mental disorders, unemployment and psychosocial job quality: is

a poor job better than no job at all? *Psychol. Med.* 43, 1763–1772. doi: 10.1017/S0033291712002577

- Byars-Winston, A., Kantamneni, N., and Mobley, M. (2012). "Practice, interventions, and applications," in *APA Handbook of Counseling Psychology*, eds N. A. Fouad, J. A. Carter, and L. M. Subich (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 255–283.
- Carr, S. C., MacLachlan, M., and Furnham, A. (2012). Humanitarian Work Psychology. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan. doi: 10.1057/9781137015228
- Clarke, M., Lewchuk, W., de Wolff, A., and King, A. (2007). 'This just isn't sustainable': precarious employment, stress, and workers' health. *Int. J. Law Psychiatry* 30, 311–326. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2007.06.005
- Dawis, R. (2005). "The Minnesota theory of work adjustment," in Career Development and Counseling. Putting Theory and Research to Work, eds S. D. Brown and R. W. Lent (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.), 3–23. doi: 10.4135/9781412952675.n179
- Dejours, C. (2006). Subjectivity, work and action. Crit. Horiz. 7, 45–62. doi: 10.1163/156851606779308161
- Deranty, J. P., and MacMillan, C. (2012). The ILO's decent work initiative: suggestions for an extension of the notion of "decent work." J. Soc. Philos. 43, 386–405. doi: 10.1111/josp.12003
- Di Fabio, A. (2014). Intrapreneurial self-capital: a new construct for the 21st century. J. Employ. Couns. 51, 98–111. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2014.00045.x
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2011). Promoting emotional intelligence and career decision-making among Italian high school students. *J. Career Assess.* 19, 21–34. doi: 10.1177/1069072710382530
- Di Fabio, A., and Maree, J. G. (2012). Group-based life design counseling in an Italian context. J. Vocat. Behav. 80, 100–107. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2011.06.001
- Di Ruggerio, E., Cohen, J. E., Cole, D. C., and Forman, L. (2015). Competing conceptualizations of decent work at the intersection of health, social and economic discourses. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 133, 120–127. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.03.026
- Dik, B. J., Byrne, Z. S., and Steger, M. F. (Ed.) (2013). Purpose and Meaning in the Workplace. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Duffy, R., Blustein, D. L., Diemer, M., and Autin, K. (2016). The psychology of working theory. J. Counsel. Psychol. 63, 127–148. doi: 10.1037/cou0000140
- Evans, J., and Gibb, E. (2009). *Moving from Precarious Employment to Decent Work*. Geneva: International Labour Organization, 13.
- Facey, M. E., and Eakin, J. M. (2010). Contingent work and ill-health: conceptualizing the links. Soc. Theory Health 8, 326–349. doi: 10.1057/sth.2010.3
- Flores, L. (2013). "Race and working," in *The Oxford Handbook of the Psychology* of Working, ed. D. L. Blustein (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 71–84. doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199758791.013.0001
- Flum, H. (2015). "Relationships and career development: an integrative approach," in APA Handbook of Career Intervention: Foundations, Vol. 1, eds P. J. Hartung, M. L. Savickas, and B. W. Walsh (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 145–158. doi: 10.1037/14438-009
- Ghai, D. (2003). Decent work: concept and indicators. Int. Labour Rev. 142, 113–144. doi: 10.1111/j.1564-913X.2003.tb00256.x
- Guichard, J. (2009). Self-constructing. J. Vocat. Behav. 75, 251–258. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.03.004
- Guichard, J. (2013). Career guidance, education, and dialogues for a fair and sustainable human development. *Paper Presented at Inaugural Conference of the UNESCO Chair of Lifelong Guidance and Counselling* (Poland: University of Wroclaw).
- Hammer, L. B., and Zimmerman, K. L. (2011). "Quality of work life," in APA Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology: Maintaining, Expanding, and Contracting the Organization, ed. S. Zedeck (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 399–431. doi: 10.1037/12171-011
- Holland, J. L. (1997). Making Vocational Choices: A Theory of Vocational Personalities and Work Environments. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.
- International Labor Organization [ILO] (1999). "Report of the director-general: decent work," in *Proceedings of the International Labour Conference*, 87 Session (Geneva: International Labor Organization).
- International Labor Organization [ILO] (2008a). *ILO Declaration on Social Justice* for a Fair Globalization. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/publi c/---dgreports/---cabinet/documents/genericdocument/wcms₃71208.pdf

- International Labor Organization [ILO] (2008b). World of Work Report 2008: Income Inequalities in the Age of Financial Globalization. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgreports/@dcomm/@publ/do cuments/publication/wcms100354.pdf
- International Labor Organization [ILO] (2014). *Global Employment Trends*. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcom m/---publ/documents/publication/wcms₂34107.pdf
- International Labor Organization [ILO] (2015). World Employment Social Outlook: Trends 2015. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgrep orts/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms₃37069.pdf
- Kalleberg, A. (2009). Precarious work, insecure workers: employment relations in transition. Am. Sociol. Rev. 74, 1–22. doi: 10.1177/000312240907400101
- Kalleberg, A. L. (2008). The mismatched worker: when people don't fit their jobs. Acad. Manage. Perspect. 22, 24–40. doi: 10.5465/AMP.2008.31217510
- Landy, F. J., and Conte, J. M. (2010). Work in the 21st Century: An Introduction to Industrial and Organizational Psychology, 3rd Edn. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Lent, R. W., and Brown, S. D. (2013). "Promoting work satisfaction and performance," in *Career Choice and Development: Putting Theory and Research*, eds S. D. Brown and R. W. Lent (New York, NY: Wiley), 621–652.
- Lewchuck, W., de Wolff, A., King, A., and Polanyi, M. (2003). From job strain to employment strain: health effects of precarious employment. *Just Lab.* 3, 23–35.
- Lipscomb, H. J., Loomis, D., McDonald, M. A., Argue, R. A., and Wing, S. (2006). A conceptual model of work and health disparities in the United States. *Int. J. Health Serv.* 36, 25–50. doi: 10.2190/HS.44.1.a
- MacLachlan, M. (2014). Macropsychology, policy, and global health. Am. Psychol. 69, 851–863. doi: 10.1037/a0037852
- MacNaughton, G., and Frey, D. F. (2011). Decent work for all: a holistic human rights approach. Am. Univ. Int. Law Rev. 26, 441–483.
- Malenfant, R., LaRue, A., and Vézina, M. (2007). Intermittent work and wellbeing one foot in the door: one foot out. *Curr. Sociol.* 55, 814–835. doi: 10.1177/0011392107081987
- Menéndez, M., Benach, J., Muntaner, C., Amable, M., and O'Campo, P. (2007). Is precarious employment more damaging to women's health than men's? Soc. Sci. Med. 64, 776–781. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.10.035
- Merolli, J. (2012). *The Health Impacts of Precarious Work*. Ontario: Access Alliance PEPSO Project, 6.
- Nauta, M. M. (2013). "Holland's theory of vocational choice and adjustment," in *Career Development and Counseling. Putting Theory and Research to Work*, eds S. D. Brown and R. W. Lent (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley), 55–82.
- OECD Development Centre (2015). Securing Livelihoods for All: Foresight for Action. Paris: OECD Publishing. doi: 10.1787/9789264231894-en
- Paul, K. I., and Moser, K. (2009). Unemployment impairs mental health: metaanalyses. J. Vocat. Behav. 74, 264–282. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.01.001
- Piketty, T. (2014). Capital in the twenty-first century: a multidimensional approach to the history of capital and social classes. *Br. J. Sociol.* 65, 736–747. doi: 10.1111/1468-4446.12115
- Prilleltensky, I. (1997). Values, assumptions, and practices: assessing the moral implications of psychological discourse and action. Am. Psychol. 52, 517–535. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.52.5.517
- Quinlan, M. (2012). The 'pre-invention' of precarious employment: the changing world of work in context. *Econ. Lab. Relat. Rev.* 23, 3–24. doi: 10.1177/103530461202300402
- Richardson, M. S. (1993). Work in people's lives: a location for counseling psychologists. J. Couns. Psychol. 40, 425–433. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.40.4.425
- Richardson, M. S. (2012). Counseling for work and relationship. *Couns. Psychol.* 40, 190–242. doi: 10.1177/0011000011406452
- Rushton, S., and Williams, O. D. (2012). Frames, paradigms and power: global health policy-making under neoliberalism. *Glob. Soc.* 26, 147–167. doi: 10.1080/13600826.2012.656266
- Savickas, M. L. (2011). *Career Counseling*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Savickas, M. L., and Baker, D. B. (2005). "The history of vocational psychology: antecedents, origin, and early development," in *Handbook* of Vocational Psychology: Theory, Research, and Practice, eds W. B. Walsh and M. L. Savickas (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers), 15.

- Schleicher, D. J., Hansen, S., Fox, D., and Kevin, E. (2011). "Job attitudes and work values," in APA Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology: Maintaining, Expanding, and Contracting the Organization, ed. S. Zedeck (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association). doi: 10.1037/121 71-004
- Standing, G. (2008). The ILO: an agency for globalization? *Dev. Change* 39, 355-384. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7660.2008.00484.x
- Standing, G. (2014). A Precariat Charter: From Denizens to Citizens. New York, NY: Bloomsbury.
- Stiglitz, J. (2012). The Price of Inequality: How Today's Divided Society Endangers Our Future. New York, NY: W.W. Norton & Co.
- Stiglitz, J. (2015). The Great Divide: Unequal Societies and What We Can Do About Them. New York, NY: W.W. Norton & Co.
- Swanson, J. L. (2012). "Work and psychological health," in APA Handbook of Counseling Psychology, eds N. A. Fouad, J. A. Carter, and L. M. Subich (Washington, D.C: American Psychological Association), 3–27. doi: 10.1037/13755-001
- United Nations Declaration of Human Rights (1948). UN General Assembly, Universal Declaration of Human Rights, 10 December 1948, 217 A (III). Available at: http://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6b3712c.html

- Vidal M. (2013). Low-autonomy work and bad jobs in post-fordist capitalism. Hum. Relat. 66, 587-612. doi: 10.1177/0018726712471406
- Wanberg, C. R. (2012). The individual experience of unemployment. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 63, 369–396. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100500
- Wilson, W. J. (1996). When Work Disappears: The World of the New Urban Poor. New York, NY: Knopf.
- World Health Organization [WHO] (2014). *Mental Health: A State of Well-Being*. Available at: http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/mental_health/en/

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Blustein, Olle, Connors-Kellgren and Diamonti. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Using a Transdisciplinary Interpretive Lens to Broaden Reflections on Alleviating Poverty and Promoting Decent Work

Annamaria Di Fabio1* and Jacobus G. Maree2

¹ Department of Education and Psychology (Psychology Section), University of Florence, Florence, Italy, ² Department of Educational Psychology, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa

This article aims to broaden current reflections on definitions of decent work and poverty using a transdisciplinary interpretive lens comprising philosophical, juridical, economic, sociological, and psychological understandings. We (the authors) undertook an adapted systematic qualitative review to gather data on different perspectives on decent work and poverty. The article summarizes and compares reflections on the two constructs and proposes an enhancement of the current definition of decent work. The aim is to facilitate the identification and development of new research and intervention projects that can be implemented to promote fair and sustainable economic development, the provision of decent work, and the reduction of poverty globally. We believe that challenges should be dealt with pro-actively rather than reactively and that intervening at the level of primary prevention should lie at the heart of any strategy to promote decent work and alleviate poverty. Radical intervention is needed to ensure that future generations not only survive but develop, grow, and express themselves meaningfully through decent work

Keywords: decent work poverty transdisciplinary perspective intervention fair and sustainable deve

***Correspondence:** Annamaria Di Fabio

Australia

Edited by:

Reviewed by:

Harsha Perera,

Krvstvna Golonka.

adifabio@psico.unifi.it

OPEN ACCESS

Pablo Fernández-Berrocal,

University of Malaga, Spain

Jagiellonian University, Poland

University of New South Wales,

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 11 February 2016 Accepted: 24 March 2016 Published: 12 April 2016

Citation:

Di Fabio A and Maree JG (2016) Using a Transdisciplinary Interpretive Lens to Broaden Reflections on Alleviating Poverty and Promoting Decent Work. Front. Psychol. 7:503. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00503 Keywords: decent work, poverty, transdisciplinary perspective, intervention, fair and sustainable development, new responsibility for decent work agenda

INTRODUCTION

Somavia (1999, n.p.) describes decent work as "productive work in which rights are protected, which generates an adequate income with adequate social protection...and employment, income and social protection can be achieved without compromising workers' rights and sound standards." The author maintains that decent work deficit occurs when:

- involuntary unemployment and poverty are evident;
- abuses of rights occur in the workplace and when forced child labor exists;
- basic income security is compromised;
- employees and employers are not organized well enough to express themselves openly or when effective dialogue is impeded; and when
- work-life is not balanced with legitimate family demands.

According to the United Nations [UN] (2006), "The Decent Work Agenda promotes access for all to freely chosen employment, the recognition of fundamental rights at work, an income to enable people to meet their basic economic, social and family needs and responsibilities and an adequate level of social protection for workers and their family members" (p. 85). This definition (adopted by the International Labour Organization [ILO], 1999) was interpreted by the international community as productive work for male and female employees in work environments that promote freedom, equity, security, and human dignity. Decent work, defined thus, encompasses jobs that (a) deliver a fair income, (b) are characterized by workplace security, (c) provide protection for workers and their families, (d) offer opportunities for personal development, (e) encourage social integration, (f) allow workers to express their concerns, (g) allow workers to organize themselves into interest groups that can contribute to decisions that influence their lives, and (h) guarantee equal opportunities and equal treatment to everybody. The Decent Work Agenda thus reflects a balanced and integrated approach to the pursuance of broad and productive employment and decent work for all workers at international, national, regional, sectorspecific, and local levels [FAQs/Useful definitions (UN sources), n.d., n. p.].

The aims of the Decent Work Agenda are in line with the UN's 17 sustainable development goals (Sustainable development goals, 2015). These 17 goals confirm the importance of promoting decent work for all as such work enhances opportunities for progress, counters marginalization, and helps develop individuals, families, communities, and countries (in short, promotes sustainable development and growth globally) (Guichard, 2013; Di Fabio, 2015; Guichard and Di Fabio, 2015).

Aims of the Study

The study discussed here was a response to calls (Guichard, 2013; Di Fabio, 2015; Guichard and Di Fabio, 2015) for further reflections and research on the definition of decent work and poverty. The study aimed to deepen our understanding of decent work and poverty using a transdisciplinary interpretive lens comprising philosophical, juridical, economic, sociological, and psychological perspectives on the two constructs (decent work and poverty). We attempted to identify similarities as well as differences between the constructs. More particularly, we endeavored to harness transdisciplinary perspectives, theories, and definitions in order to gain some insight into critical global humanitarian needs. It is hoped that this will cast new light on current and envisaged research and interventions aimed at promoting decent work and reducing poverty thereby contributing to the realization of the aims and goals articulated by the UN and the ILO.

Working Assumptions

The study was premised on the belief that decent work can be provided and that poverty can be ended. However, interventions at the level of tertiary prevention of poverty or even at the second level of prevention only are not sufficient. Interventions at the level of primary prevention should override all other considerations and forms of intervention (Hage et al., 2007; Kenny and Hage, 2009).

Research Method

An adapted version of the systematic qualitative review (recommended by Higgens and Green, 2011) and others was undertaken of the literature on decent work and poverty. Given that this is an entirely qualitative study, and mindful of the words of Booth (2001, p. 1), namely "Why should systematic reviewers of qualitative research pursue a 'gold standard' comprehensive literature search when concepts such as 'data saturation' have an established pedigree?", we purposefully chose to rather search for sources until we believed that no new 'themes' emerged (in other words, until we had reached a point of data saturation). The review focused on scholarly articles and books and included also older, seminal sources. Data were collected by examining various studies, and the findings were synthesized. The following procedure was followed:

- (i) We requested academic information specialists to search for abstracts of a number of databases for information (international books, articles, reference works, conference papers but also other relevant publications) on our topic. These specialists first chose platforms and databases; EBSCOHOST being the basic platform. EBSCOHOST Databases included: Academic Search complete, Masterfile, Eric, PsycInfo, PsycArticles, and Sociological Abstracts.
- (ii) We did a simultaneous search (Google and Google Scholar) to improve or chances of identifying the widest range of sources possible.
- (iii) Duplicate sources were removed.
- (iv) Once we had received the information from our academic information specialists, we examined sources appropriateness and subsequently requested full-texts.

Inclusion criteria included the following: sources were included if we believed that sufficient 'evidence' were provided that they reflected contributed to elucidation of the topic, if they reflected more than mere personal opinions, and if they were written in English and Italian. No specific data range was specified. Dated sources believed to be sufficiently seminal were thus also included.

Exclusion criteria included the following: sources were included if we believed that insufficient 'evidence' was provided that they reflected more than mere personal opinions, if we believed that they were not meaningfully related to our topic, and if we believed that they reflected and form of bias. Dated sources believed to be insufficiently seminal were thus excluded.

Data Analysis

Braun and Clarke's (2006) thematic analysis was adapted to identify, analyze, and report themes (perspectives) and subthemes (subperspectives) that emerged. More specifically, we made a conscious, inductive attempt to determine a number of recognizable perspectives on our topic. We familiarized ourselves with the large number of sources, read and re-read them, after which we generated preliminary codes systematically. Next, we organized the codes into five themes (perspectives) and subthemes (sub-perspectives), which were subsequently reviewed labeled. We concluded by writing our manuscript.

Below, we provide substantiation for the five perspectives and make it clear to the reader how specific studies contributed to certain perspective on decent work and poverty.

PERSPECTIVES ON DECENT WORK

The Philosophical Perspective on Decent Work

The philosophical approach to decent work centers on dignity as a fundamental dimension of decent work (Peruzzi, 2015) and holds that the notion of dignity varies within and between cultures. This is consistent with perspectives that challenge the assumption of universal human rights and maintain that any particular doctrine is always relative and not universally shared. The assumptions underlying the slogan that "all men [sic] are equal" that preceded the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) and its reframed, politically more correct, slogan "all human beings are born free and equal in dignity and right" (United Nations, 1948, General Assembly) are clearly incorrect. Human beings are ideally considered equal in terms of their rights, yet, in reality, they do not have the same opportunities. Peruzzi (2015) believes that the assumption of equality leads to a rethink of concepts such as rights and dignity: if human beings have an inalienable claim to equal rights, they also have the right to be different to other people (to lead different lives and choose and execute different occupations). Furthermore, decent work should not be considered solely from a "Western" or "Eurocentric" point of view.

Seen from a human rights perspective, decent work intrinsically has four dimensions (Peruzzi, 2015): freedom (to choose or refuse a specific type of work); equity (to have a fair income); security (including something as basic as access to primary health care); and dignity. If the notion of a decent society implies a society that is fair and just (Arneson, 2007), then it follows that organizational and occupational contexts and work lives should also be equally fair and just (decent). The idea of respecting a person's honor and reputation (Article 12 of the UDHR) and the entitlement to the unrestricted development of one's own personality (Article 22) lie at the heart of the notion of decent work. This underlies the basic right to be protected against humiliation and dehumanization. The same applies in occupational contexts where workers are not free to choose what work they wish to do and, instead, have to accept mandatory work. The opposite of mandatory work, namely decent work, is promoted when working environments are structured to enhance dignity, respect, humane working conditions, and adequate self-construction (Guichard, 2009). What is needed is the active promotion of such environments and the identification of contexts where action is needed (Peruzzi, 2015). Examples of such contexts are those where delocalization in manufacturing services and the extractive industry (Peruzzi, 2015) occur. This boils down to the importance of changing economic models rather than attempting to perpetuate the myth of promoting economic growth to enhance sustainable development. Suffice it to say that the idiosyncratic logic (revealed by this myth) entertained by many global economies is easily shown up when analyzed through a humane and visionary analytic lens.

The Juridical Perspective on Decent Work

The current kaleidoscopic assortment of juridical definitions of decent work has at one end of the range Article 23 of the United Nations (1948) Universal Declaration of Human Rights:

- "(1) Everyone has the right to work, to free choice of employment, to just and favorable conditions of work and to protection against unemployment.
- (2) Everyone, without any discrimination, has the right to equal pay for equal work.
- (3) Everyone who works has the right to just and favorable remuneration ensuring for himself (sic) and his family an existence worthy of human dignity, and supplemented, if necessary, by other means of social protection.
- (4) Everyone has the right to form and to join trade unions for the protection of his interests."

At the other end of the range, Faioli (2009) distinguishes between decency at work and dignity at or in work. Decency at work implies the pre-legal assumption of modernizing labor law and is defined in terms of the application of social security, which is regarded as an indispensable ingredient of decent work. Dignity at or in work refers to the legal assumption of decency at work and is associated with equal opportunities and workers' entitlement to social security rights. Dignity in work concerns work quality and implies that workers absorbed or involved in their work should be allowed to combine their lives (in terms of their work-related vision and their personal life) with their work (Faioli, 2009).

International consensus exists on the need for labor law to promote decent work at national level in all countries. High stakes are involved because the labor law system is expected to restore and maintain equilibrium in the labor market in terms of (a) facilitating access to new employment opportunities and (b) reinforcing employability policies (Faioli, 2009). Promoting employment opportunities and workers' employability have lately emerged as critical ingredients of decent work.

The Economic Perspective on Decent Work

The United Nations Economic and Social Council (2006, n.p.), by means of a General Comment, defined decent work in terms of meeting the minimum requirements stipulated in Article 7 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights: "The right of everyone to the enjoyment of just and favorable conditions of work." More particularly, reference is made to "(a) remuneration which provides all workers, as a minimum, with: (i) fair wages and equal remuneration for work of equal value without distinction of any kind, in particular women being guaranteed conditions of work not inferior to those enjoyed by men, with equal pay for equal work; (ii) a decent living for themselves and their families; (b) safe and healthy working conditions; (c) equal opportunity for everyone to be promoted in his/her employment to an appropriate higher level, subject to no considerations other than those of seniority and competence; (d) rest, leisure and reasonable limitation of working hours and periodic holidays with pay, as well as remuneration for public holidays."

Moreover, as regards an economic perspective on decent work, Lavagnini and Mennella (2015, pp. 5-11) introduced a multidimensional concept of decent work that includes three kinds of profiles based on different indicators. First, a basic profile with indicators corresponding to daily working conditions. Second, a fairness profile with indicators corresponding to how people with different kinds of personal characteristics should be able to access the same job. Third, a relations profile with indicators involving the social aspect of working. Indicators in the basic profile include working hours (or time actually spent on work activities), physical safety, legality of jobs, and unemployment rate pressure. Indicators in the fairness profile include the irrelevance of private characteristics (e.g., gender, religion, nationality) and hanging work (including lengthy nonproductive working conditions and social protection such as unemployment benefits). Indicators in the relations profile include monetary indicators (financial sufficiency) and monetary as well as educational enrichment (the percentage of workers who received training during the last 12 months in a certain job) as well as freedom to voice grievances and to embark on strikes.

An overview of the economic perspective on decent work reveals that its main aim is to detect "labor unfreedoms" (Sen, 1999, p. 3), implying that overcoming these constraints will enhance realization of the wide range of human capabilities and promote human development (Sen, 1999). Seen from this perspective, decent work is linked closely to the attainment of a minimum standard of living (Stiglitz et al., 2010) and becomes a key determinant of quality of life, especially in economic terms.

The Sociological Perspective on Decent Work

Sociological perspectives on decent work relate mainly to progressive definitions of the term by the ILO. Decent work was initially defined as "productive work, in conditions of freedom, equality, security and human dignity" (International Labour Organization [ILO], 1999, n.p.). More recently, the definition was changed to "opportunities for work that is productive (to satisfy individual basic needs and to give a contribution to society) and delivers a fair income, security in the workplace and social protection for families, better prospects for personal development and social integration, freedom for people to express their concerns, organize and participate in the decisions that affect their lives and equality of opportunity and treatment for all women and men" (International Labour Organization [ILO], 2015, n.p.). The initial International Labour Organization [ILO] (1999) definition of decent work included the following four pillars of decent work: "(1) Workers' rights,

the ethic and juridical basis of decent work. (2) Employment, vital element of decent work (productive work, freely chosen and adequately remunerated for everyone). (3) Social protection, promoting the well-being and social inclusion of the more vulnerable people in the labor market (worker protection). (4) Social dialog, involvement of the workers and participation through their representatives; participatory democracy (voice of workers)." These four pillars have evolved into the following four strategic objectives advocated in the current International Labour Organization [ILO] (2015, n.p.) definition of decent work: "(1) Promoting jobs; ... (2) Guaranteeing rights at work; ... (3) Extending social protection, to promote both inclusion and productivity; ... [and] (4) Promoting social dialog."

Sociologically oriented reflections on decent work draw on both ILO definitions (International Labour Organization [ILO], 1999, 2015) and hinge on the following themes: Work has to be safe and secure, has to provide a livable income (which means that no person's income should fall below the minimum income needed to ensure a reasonable living, health, and dignity), has to recognize workers' basic rights (including the absence of discrimination or harassment), has to ensure that income earned enables workers to meet their basic economic, social and family needs and responsibilities, has to ensure that work offers social protection for workers and their family members, has to ensure that work allows freedom of speech in the work context and representation at work through self-chosen representatives, and has to ensure that work promotes health and lower levels of disease and injury (International Labour Organization [ILO], 1999, 2015). UNESCO's (2009) definition sheds light on the sociological perspective of decent work. It supports the right to decent work by advocating the provision of adequate work of acceptable quality (protecting workers' rights and ensuring that workers generate an adequate income), the advancement of diverse income-generating pursuits (salary employment, self-employment, and working from home), fair and favorable conditions for income generation (adequate wages, occupational safety and health, hours of work, and the right of workers to organize), and work that promotes the dignity of the person.

The Psychological Perspective on Decent Work

Psychology of Working Theory (PWT, Blustein, 2006) emphasizes the importance of satisfying workers' needs for power, relationships, and self-determination because they involve activities that are experienced as authentic and motivating.

The humanitarian work psychology perspective (Carr et al., 2013) concerns ensuring decent work for all workers that entails challenging responsibilities and offers opportunities for promotion. The aim is to prevent marginalization of workers by granting them access to valued tasks, reducing their work stress and chronic work overload, recognizing their achievements, and facilitating their access to a living wage and work-related support structures. Many people in developing countries in particular work in the informal economy, which is often characterized by

unsafe work conditions and low pay. In terms of this perspective, the fight against poverty is advanced by promoting the ideals of economic growth, equitable and sustained employment opportunities, and quality of work, especially among the poor (Bell and Newitt, 2010).

Burchell et al. (2014) reflect on decent work in terms of job satisfaction, intrinsic job quality, and a job desirability index. Job satisfaction refers to the relationship between workers' perceptions of the quality of work and their expectations of work (Agassi, 1982). The writers also consider workers' ability to adapt to adverse conditions (Nussbaum, 2004). Intrinsic job quality refers to workers' well-being and employers' contribution to it through health schemes, education, compensation schemes, child care programs, adequate wages, and promotion opportunities (Burchell et al., 2014). Index of job desirability refers to objective job characteristics that can promote quality of work and workers' appraisal of their situation and contribution (Burchell et al., 2014).

Ferrari (2009) broadens psychological perspectives by stressing the value of (any) work as an instrument in combating poverty. She also highlights the importance of the right to work and workers' rights as well as the meaning of work in terms of its power to facilitate cohesion (work promotes socialization) and its instrumental value (work facilitates access to goods). Ferrari (2009) reflects on (a) employment in terms of quality, quantity, and employment as seen from a decent work perspective, (b) underemployment in terms of challenges but also as "opportunities to organize personal alternative spaces" (Ferrari, 2009, p. 7), and (c) challenges for research in psychology to shed light on what dignity entails by also focusing on the extent to which dignity is afforded to workers in non-traditional occupational contexts. Ferrari's views are corroborated by those of many other scholars (Wilson, 1996; Blustein, 2008; Paul and Moser, 2009; Swanson, 2012; Wanberg, 2012; Guichard, 2013), who highlight the strong, positive relationship between decent work (which affords workers dignity) and workers' well-being. Put differently: access to decent work is a prerequisite for the psychological health of individuals and groups (Blustein, 2008; Paul and Moser, 2009).

Career psychology, too, advocates the promotion of decent work. The 2001 International Association for Educational and Vocational Guidance (IAEVG) declaration states: "Effective educational and vocational guidance and counseling can assist individuals to understand their talents and potential and enable them to plan the appropriate steps to develop essential skills that will lead to personal, educational, economic and social advancement for the individual, family, community and nation" (The International Association for Educational and Vocational Guidance [IAEVG], 2001, n.p.). Athanasou (2010) stresses the link between decent work and career by arguing that the notion of decent work is recognized and promoted globally and includes reasonable income, equal opportunities, safe working conditions, trade union representation, and a social safety net. This view underlines vocational counselors' social obligation to advance equity and fairness in occupational contexts.

All this confirms the challenge faced by career counseling and guidance to (a) conduct in-depth global research on decent work,

(b) promote the implementation of decent work globally and thereby advance fair and sustainable development, and (c) move beyond and expand the ILO definition of decent work (Guichard, 2013). Serious consideration should be given to the question as to whether work (as defined by the ILO) can be regarded as "decent" if it proves to be damaging to human life or the environment (Guichard, 2013).

Based on the Psychology-of-Work Framework (PWF) (Blustein, 2006, 2013), Duffy et al. (2016) recently proposed a conceptualization of decent work that incorporates contextual factors into an index of one's own psychological experience. Duffy et al. (2016) also underline the fact that decent work is embedded in self-determination, which in turn leads to meaningful and fulfilling work.

In summary: It is clear that the definition of decent work is still open to discussion and debate. Further in-depth reflection and research are needed to arrive at a generally agreed upon definition (Guichard, 2013; Guichard and Di Fabio, 2015).

PERSPECTIVES ON POVERTY

The Philosophical Perspective on Poverty

The distinction between absolute and relative poverty lies at the root of the philosophical perspective on poverty (Peruzzi, 2015). Whereas absolute poverty refers to biological deprivation in terms of the daily minimum intake of food and water, relative poverty refers to the maintenance of a preferred standard of living that changes in accordance with societal or historically determined norms and standards. Many parts of Africa and Asia display the typical characteristics of absolute poverty. Peruzzi (2015) states that emergency help is often provided in circumstances of absolute poverty by external entities, but, as crucial as it is, this kind of intervention does not resolve the challenge of absolute poverty. Absolutely poor refugees, for instance, often escape from war and famine and are subsequently helped to meet their immediate needs - only to end up experiencing extreme relative poverty. This highlights the need to implement medium- and long-term projects to help (absolutely) 'poor people' develop and grow instead of merely survive. Narveson (2004, p. 347) argues that "the road to poverty is [often] paved with bad economics." No one single strategy or approach will work for all victims of poverty. Strategies should be devised to help people realize their full potential. A philanthropic approach alone will not help as feeling sorry for the poor can never be regarded as a long-term solution for poverty. What is needed is a defensible strategy, based on sound business practices, to help poor people earn a decent wage (Narveson, 2004). Education and knowledge acquisition, as the cornerstone requirements for any democracy, will promote a stable income and advance people's well-being (Peruzzi, 2009).

Cognizant of what constitutes a globally acceptable standard of living, more people will want to purchase goods that will help them meet that standard, and they will therefore need to work harder in order to earn more money, thereby stimulating economic activity. Failure to earn the money required to buy basic goods implies poverty and a lack of well-being. People who are affected often become despondent, fail to find employment, and are eventually denied access to a living wage. Failure to achieve the global standard of living means that people will either remain spectators and passively accept being poor and unhappy, or they will protest against laws they regard as condemning them to a life of poverty. The two main risks here are (a) the risk of unhappiness, and (b) the risk of promoting crime, both of which run contrary to basic ethical principles (Peruzzi, 2015).

Lastly, Peruzzi (2015) considers the challenge of poverty from a universal point of view taking all cultures into account, not just Western culture. This will facilitate more encompassing, culturally based interventions to reduce absolute and relative poverty.

The Juridical Perspective on Poverty

From a juridical perspective, poverty is a human condition characterized by deprivation in terms of the means to survive and make a reasonable living (United Nations [UN], 2003). The Despouy (1996, p. 2 and p. 13) (Part III) lists the following juridical criteria for poverty: "The denial of human rights as a whole [...] the extent to which poverty is a violation of economic and social rights, of civil, political and cultural rights, of the right to development"; "an accumulation of mutually reinforcing misfortunes: poor living conditions, insalubrious housing, unemployment, ill health, lack of education, marginalization, etc., a veritable 'horizontal vicious circle' of poverty"; "deprivation of one right can have repercussions on the exercise of the rest"; "tendency of the phenomenon to perpetuate itself by being passed on from one generation to the next: 'vertical vicious circle' of poverty"; "social consequence of poverty: exclusion and stigmatization of the poor."

These criteria make it possible to draw a "juridical" distinction between absolute poverty and relative poverty (Osia, 2010). While absolute poverty is considered as a state of being that deprives individuals of the means to meet their basic needs (Kokaz, 2007), relative poverty refers to comparative societal deprivation and different expectations of justice (Brandt, 1980). Burton (2007) lists the following criteria for assessing poverty: dearth, deficiency, indigence, paucity, and deprivation.

There are juridical indices of poverty such as the Human Poverty Index (HPI) and the Human Development Index (HDI) (United Nations Development Program [UNDP], 2004). Whereas the HPI is a summary measure of deprivation in terms of outcome indicators for identifying unmet basic needs, the HDI reflects the average achievements of countries in terms of citizens' ability to lead a long and healthy life, to be well educated, and to have a decent standard of living. Poverty is thus an outcome of economic processes and of interacting economic, social, and political forces.

The Economic Perspective on Poverty

From an economic perspective, poverty exists when income levels do not permit the satisfaction of basic needs. A distinction can be drawn between absolute and relative poverty (Dizionario di Economia e Finanza, 2012; Treccani Etymological Dictionary, 2012): absolute poverty is defined as the lack of the money needed at a given moment to purchase a basket of essential goods and services to just exist. Relative poverty refers to inequality and the income differences between diverse social groups. The International Standard of Poverty Line (ISPL) (Treccani Etymological Dictionary, 2012) is used to measure poverty (relative to a given population's average living standard). The Treccani Etymological Dictionary (2012) points out that the word "poverty" stems from the Latin words "parere" (to obtain or produce) and "pauper" (a person who produces little, has inadequate economic resources, and is therefore unable to support himself/herself).

A review of the evolution of the definitions of poverty over the past few years casts light on the economic perspective on the topic. For example, a distinction was drawn in the 19th century between groups referred to as "pauvre" and "indigent" (Hulme and McKay, 2005). While the pauvre experienced cyclical poverty when crops failed or when the demand for seasonal agricultural labor was low, the indigent were perpetually poor due to of ill health, accidents, old age, or intoxication. In the 20th century, the focus in definitions shifted to the persistence of poverty (at individual and household levels) as well as the high, positive correlation with poverty and the serious effects of poverty (Gaiha, 1993). Attention was also paid to the complexity of the phenomenon, the lack of resources, and the fact that people were increasingly being deprived of choices that would facilitate decent living conditions (United Nations Development Programme [UNDP], 1998), as well as to the escalating denial of human beings' right to fulfill their most basic needs (Yunus, 1994). According to Englama and Bamidele (1997), people suffering from poverty are unable to provide sufficiently for their themselves (e.g., clothing, decent accommodation, and food, Fallavier, 1998); cannot fulfill their social and economic responsibilities; cannot access beneficial employment and acquire the skills and resources needed to find suitable employment; and have insufficient access to economic and social infrastructures (e.g., health services, education, potable water, sanitation, and roads). Their economic opportunities are also often limited by, for instance, their parents' financial situation, their race, and their religious beliefs (Solon, 1999).

The 21st century witnessed the introduction of a variety of definitions of poverty that are related to the economic perspective. They include defining poverty in terms of income (or prosperity) level below the generally accepted minimum (Atoyebi et al., 2008); in terms of a high unemployment rate, a low median income, and significant income disparity (Addae-Korankye, 2014); and in terms of socioeconomic instability, vulnerability, occupational uncertainty, and social exclusion (Weiss and Montgomery, 2005). Others have defined poverty as the deprivation of basic necessities, pleasures, possessions, and services (usually taken for granted) (Weiss and Montgomery, 2005); as food shortage or lack of shelter; as being ill without access to a doctor; as losing a child who fell ill through drinking contaminated water; as incapacity; and as lack of representation at social and political forums or not being free (World Bank, 2005). Lastly, the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency [SIDA] (2005) defines poverty

as the lack of money and money-making opportunities, while Corbett (2007) describes poverty as the lack of basic necessities (e.g., adequate, nutritious food, clothing, housing, clean water, and access to health services) needed to execute a job efficiently.

The Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) (Alkire et al., 2015) is an international measure of acute poverty used in over 100 developing countries. It complements and extends traditionally applied income-based poverty measures by including the deprivations that many people experience in, for instance, education (e.g., only a few years of schooling and minimal school attendance), health (e.g., high child mortality and inadequate nutrition), and living standards (e.g., a lack of cooking fuel, sanitary facilities, water, electricity, and proper surfaces or ceilings in homes). An assessment of poverty at the individual level can be used to create a comprehensive image of people living in poverty; permits comparisons both across and within countries, regions, and the world by ethnic group and location (urban vs. rural); and enables policy makers to obtain an overview of resources and devise strategic plans to deal with poverty (Alkire et al., 2015). Chakravarty et al. (2015) propose the poverty line as a way of assessing poverty by defining it on the basis of income position. Absolute position ranks individual income relative to an accepted (minimum) daily income in terms of its purchasing power parity for household consumption. Relative position ranks individual income in terms of a reference income (e.g., the mean or median income).

The Sociological Perspective on Poverty

From a sociological perspective, poverty is defined as the inability to achieve a minimum standard of living – a state that is generally feared and viewed as extremely undesirable. Whatever citizens do should be aimed at preventing or eradicating poverty (World Bank, 1990). Ajuzie (2000) describes poverty as living without essential daily necessities such as adequate food, clothing, shelter, funding, and water supplies, thus accentuating inequality and social injustice, and Aworawo (2000) and Zakaria (2006) established links between poverty, loss of livelihood, inequality, and youth impatience. Okemakinde (2010) regards poverty as the inability to afford decent food, medical care, recreation, decent shelter and clothing, and to meet basic family needs and community obligations.

The sociological definition of poverty (Enciclopedia delle Science Sociali, 2015, Treccani) is that poverty has material features (e.g., lack of food and other essential goods), nonmaterial features (e.g., disrespect and undermined dignity), and intergenerational features (poverty is generally transmitted from one generation to another). Anti-poverty policies should therefore be aimed at promoting self-realization by all members of society, especially the poorest people. The sociological definition of poverty indicates lack of social, political, and cultural goods and services (Enciclopedia delle Science Sociali, 2015, Treccani) and implies that such policies should help people suffering from poverty achieve a decent living standard by creating the socioeconomic conditions needed to grant them equal access to opportunities. Adeola (2000) and Nwenearizi (2011) argue that poverty is a relative concept. Poor people lack material goods and also often have little confidence in others (Nwenearizi, 2011). The poor tend to live in inaccessible rural areas or in urban slums (Nwenearizi, 2011), and a link has also been established between poverty and minority status (e.g., black, Hispanic) and family structure, with unmarried or single people more likely to be poor (Cox and Healey, 2003).

Brady (2003) makes the following recommendations about what should be done about poverty: (1) a comparison should be drawn between different historical poverty and inequality trends, (2) poverty should be regarded as relative rather than absolute, (3) poverty should be conceptualized as and promotes social exclusion, (4) poverty indices should measure the profundity of inequality among the poor, and (5) taxes and state benefits (e.g., child grants) should be considered when family resources are calculated.

The Psychological Perspective on Poverty

Psychological and sociological conceptualizations of poverty differed widely in the past and still do today (Di Fabio, 2015). From a sociological perspective, poverty was previously regarded as being shaped by economic, political, and structural factors (e.g., conditions of unemployment or differences in educational opportunities) (Lewis, 1968), and from a psychological perspective, poverty was regarded as being caused by individuals' lack of effort and initiative and the result of character weakness (Allen, 1970). During the second half of the 20th century, psychology was largely unsuccessful in its attempts to broaden our understanding of poverty and to reduce poverty (Carr and Sloan, 2003). While the current sociological perspective on poverty takes into account the role of material deprivation as well as the lack of social, political, and cultural benefits and services (Kotecha et al., 2013), the current psychological perspective sees poverty in terms of people's feelings of insecurity as well as their unmet needs, including unmet cognitive and affective psychological needs (Underlid, 2007).

During the last decade of the previous century, psychology contributed to poverty alleviation in three major life domains, namely health and welfare, social and organizational change, and personal and educational development (Carr and MacLachlan, 1998). American Psychological Association [APA] (2000) announced its intention to reduce poverty and highlighted the severe effect of poverty on people's psychological wellbeing. However, psychologists have always found it difficult to conceptualize and define poverty satisfactorily because of the numerous causative factors and consequences, meaning that it cannot be studied as a unitary psychological construct in isolation (Brown and Lent, 2008).

Carr and Sloan (2003) argue that psychology's interest in poverty revolves around its relatedness to powerlessness and injustice and the fundamental insecurities that it causes. Prilleltensky (2003), too, emphasizes poverty's connection with powerlessness and believes psychology's interest relates to its avowed aim to promote wellness, to resist exploitation, and to help people fulfill their basic needs.

Some authors define poverty from an attribution theory perspective (Kelley, 1967; Furnham, 2003). From an individualist point of view, poverty is brought about by the behavior of the poor. While the structural position attributes poverty to external social and economic factors, the fatalistic position attributes poverty to the role of fate. Underlid (2007) believes that the subjective meaning of poverty should be considered in addition to cognitive considerations. Whereas cognitive aspects include poor people's experience of insecurity and their belief that significant others fail to support them, affective aspects of poverty relate to feelings of anxiety, panic, a devalued sense of self, anger, shame, guilt, sadness, and loss of autonomy. Poverty does not pertain only to an unwanted state experienced by most of the world's population but also relates to deprivation as an unwelcome psychological state that is associated with a variety of life-expectancy limiting emotional and physical health issues (Anand and Lea, 2011). This means that behavioral economics (the study of the effects of psychological, social, cognitive, and emotional factors on the economic decisions of individuals and institutions) should be included in any discussion about poverty (Anand and Lea, 2011). Psychological insight into attitudes to debt and credit, for instance, could help indigent individuals improve their financial situation and thus help alleviate poverty.

From a psychological point of view, poverty may be caused or prevented by negative or positive individual as well as contextual factors. Individual factors that may help prevent or help people escape from poverty include the ability to understand the concepts of credit availability and debt management (Livingstone and Lunt, 1992; Anand and Lea, 2011), diligence, leadership skills, social skills, confidence, openness, emotional stability, energy, and a well-developed sense of self-esteem (Farkas, 2003), self-discipline, and money management skills (e.g., managing financial affairs meticulously and avoiding excessive spending) (Webley and Nyhus, 2001). Contextual factors that may help people avoid the poverty trap include a financially stable family background (Bowles and Gintis, 1976) as well as stable and financially sound consumption patterns of comparable reference groups (Lea et al., 1995; Schor, 1998).

Most importantly, poverty influences people's choices negatively. Poor people have fewer choice options and often have a limited understanding of choices, which means that they are unlikely to choose appropriately from the choices available (Chakravarti, 2006). Likewise, poverty has a negative influence on people's ability to adapt (Schmitt and Pilcher, 2004; Blustein et al., 2014; Osborne and Weiner, 2015; Thompson, 2015), on their ability to enjoy life and to avoid pain (Andrews and Withey, 1976; Kahneman et al., 1999), and on their ability to realize their potential and use their resources and strengths optimally (Vázquez et al., 2006; Ryff and Singer, 2008). Moreover, poverty limits people's ability to assess the severity of threatening situations (Jacobson, 1991; Schneier, 2008), condemns them to membership of isolated groups with a similar status (Gylfason and Zoega, 2003; Blackford, 2006), and diminishes their quality of life and self-perceptions (in terms of, for example, their position in life in the context of their culture and value systems and with respect to their goals, expectations,

Psychology can contribute to poverty alleviation by (a) promoting psychosocial empowerment (e.g., by facilitating access to beneficial employment, formal education, and decent work; by promoting social equality, human rights, and by promoting engagement in decision-making and capacity-building networks) (Psychological Coalition at the United Nations [PCUN], 2012), mental health care and social protection, and psychosocial wellbeing (World Health Organization [WHO], 2002); (b) addressing the needs of marginalized and disenfranchised groups (those most at risk as regards poverty and related psychosocial and mental health problems); (c) evaluating the effectiveness of programs aimed at eradicating poverty; and (d) making calls to action to elicit an immediate response from established institutions and volunteers alike.

Regarding the development of psychological measures of attitudes toward poverty (widely regarded as a meaningful predictor of poverty), the *Attitude Towards Poverty* (*ATP*) scale (Gesinde et al., 2014) was developed to assess five major areas believed to perpetuate poverty, namely unemployment (lack of work), gambling (addiction to gambling), reckless spending (squandering money on unnecessary commodities), religion (some religions are less concerned about poverty reduction), and stealing (including robbery and theft). Used in a preventive framework for poverty reduction, this instrument can help identify effective poverty reduction strategies.

DISCUSSION

This article used a transdisciplinary interpretive lens to broaden reflections on decent work and poverty. Decent work and poverty were defined and elaborated on from philosophical, juridical, economic, sociological and psychological perspectives. Our aim was to propose a tentative transdisciplinary reflection on and comparison of the concepts of decent work and poverty. Below, we briefly summarize and compare the five perspectives referred to above.

According to Peruzzi (2015), the philosophical perspective on decent work focuses on dignity as intrinsic to decent work and emphasizes people's right to be different to other people (in terms of life and work). The author foregrounds four aspects of decent work, namely freedom, equity, security, and dignity. From a juridical perspective, decent work is defined in terms of basic rights, such as the right to work and freedom to choose employment, to fair working conditions, to protection against unemployment, to fair remuneration, and to worthy existence and human dignity (United Nations, 1948; Faioli, 2009). The economic perspective on decent work emphasizes remuneration (fair wages and equal remuneration for the same work, a decent living for workers and their families, a safe and healthy occupational environment, equal promotion opportunities for all, and sufficient rest, leisure opportunities, and reasonable working hours and holidays) (United Nations Economic and Social Council, 2006). Three work-related profiles are identified: a basic profile (pertaining to daily working conditions in general), a relations profile (pertaining to social aspects of the occupation), and a fairness profile (with all people having access to decent work, Lavagnini and Mennella, 2015). The sociological perspective considers decent work in terms of "[a summary of] the aspirations of people in their working lives, opportunities for work that is productive and delivers a fair income, security in the workplace and social protection for families, better prospects for personal development and social integration, freedom for people to express their concerns, organize and participate in the decisions that affect their lives and equality of opportunity and treatment for all women and men" (International Labour Organization [ILO], 2015, n.p.). It also prohibits abusive occupational practices such as bonded labor. The psychological perspective emphasizes needs satisfaction (e.g., the need for power, relationships, and self-determination) (Blustein, 2006), the promotion of opportunities for progress, the prevention of marginalization, the reduction of work stress (Bell and Newitt, 2010; Carr et al., 2013), helping people gain insight into their potential (The International Association for Educational and Vocational Guidance [IAEVG], 2001; Athanasou, 2010; Di Fabio and Maree, 2013), the boosting of individual resources (Di Fabio and Kenny, 2012; Di Fabio and Palazzeschi, 2012; Di Fabio and Saklofske, 2014), the advancement of individuals, families, communities, and nations, and the encouragement of sustainable development (The International Association for Educational and Vocational Guidance [IAEVG], 2001; Di Fabio, 2015; Guichard and Di Fabio, 2015).

Differences between Definitions of the Terms Decent Work and Poverty

Key differences have emerged between definitions of the terms decent work and poverty. Decent work refers explicitly to the right to work, freedom to choose employment, just and favorable working conditions, protection against unemployment, the right to equal pay for equal work, safe and wholesome working conditions, opportunities for adequate self-construction (realizing one's talents and potential), gender and racial equality, guaranteeing workers' rights, promoting social dialog related to decent work, self-determination, fair and sustainable development, health, and well-being. Poverty refers explicitly to deprivation, shortage, deficiency, indigence, paucity, privation, denial of human rights, social exclusion, stigmatization, powerlessness, anxiety, impaired sense of self or self-images, anger, shame, guilt, sadness, as well as loss of autonomy, and well-being.

Similarities in Terms Used to Describe Perspectives on Decent Work and Poverty

Similarities in terms use to describe perspectives on the concepts decent work and poverty are indicated by the following keywords or terms: human dignity or absence thereof, a decent or nondecent living standard, insecurity versus security, unmet versus meeting of basic and psychological needs, power versus lack of power, justice versus lack of justice, denial versus promotion of human rights, equality versus inequality, freedom versus lack of freedom, employment versus lack of employment, social protection versus lack of social protection, livable income versus lack of livable income, marginalization, and a lack of versus promotion of well-being.

The five perspectives provide a good basis for a more expansive definition of decent work and poverty.

Expanded Definition of Decent Work and Poverty

Considering what has been written above, it seems feasible to recommend that the following aspects be included in future definitions and operationalizations of decent work and poverty: Decent work helps all workers attain a sense of selfrespect and dignity, experience freedom and security in the workplace, and (as far as possible) is afforded the opportunity to choose and execute productive, meaningful and fulfilling work that will enable them to construct themselves adequately and without restrictions and make social contributions. Moreover, the focus in discussions on the topic should emphasize the importance of preventing marginalization of employees, helping them find long-term employment, receive equal pay for equal work, and are protected by labor laws (which includes the right to join labor unions). The latter also includes meeting workers' legitimate need for power, sound relationships in the workplace, acknowledgment of their work-related achievements, and authentic self-determination. Decent work ultimately aims to combat and alleviate poverty and precludes any and all forms of damage to workers.

We believe that this expanded definition could have important implications for the way in which researchers use these constructs (poverty and decent work) in their work and for interventions aimed at reducing poverty and promoting decent work. In the next section, we use this definition as a basis for discussing the quest for decent work and poverty alleviation.

Acquiring Well-Being by Accessing Psychological and Tangible Opportunities to Improve Individual Growth and Development

Guichard and Di Fabio (2015) believe that acquiring wellbeing by accessing psychological and tangible opportunities to improve individual growth and development is intrinsically embedded in definitions of decent work and poverty. However, while the International Labour Organization [ILO]'s (1999, 2015) key definition of decent work underscores the importance of promoting well-being, Blustein (2008), Swanson (2012), Wanberg (2012), and Guichard (2013) state that dignity (an aspect of well-being) should be included in definitions of decent work. Poverty reduction, too, is closely linked to the promotion of the well-being. This view is supported by the philosophical perspective on poverty, which holds that poverty reduction through education and knowledge acquisition (generally regarded as prerequisites for democracy) can lead to people's well-being (Peruzzi, 2009). The psychological perspective, more than any other perspective, links poverty

reduction to well-being (American Psychological Association [APA], 2000), yet it has not adequately inspired meaningful contributions to poverty reduction in terms of promoting individual well-being (Carr and Sloan, 2003; Maree, 2015b).

Viewed from a decent work and poverty perspective, the promotion of well-being relates to the distinction introduced by positive psychology (Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi, 2000; Seligman, 2002) between hedonic well-being (pleasure attainment and pain avoidance) (Andrews and Withey, 1976; Kahneman et al., 1999) and eudaimonic well-being (functioning optimally and realizing one's potential by exploiting one's resources and strengths) (Vázquez et al., 2006; Ryff and Singer, 2008). While the first step to attaining decent work is ensuring that survival needs are met (through fair wages, safe working conditions, family security - all of which are connected to hedonic well-being), the second step is to conceptualize it in terms of the opportunity to construct oneself adequately and that invokes the importance of eudaimonic well-being (which provides a measure of workers' well-being). People who give evidence of experiencing a sense of self-realization and meaning in work-related contexts inevitably give evidence of being more fully functioning than those who are not (Ryan and Deci, 2001). Work may thus be regarded as decent if it enables workers to obtain meaningfulness, fulfillment, self-realization (aspects of the authentic self) and facilitates purposeful identitarian awareness (Di Fabio, 2014b).

Employing Intrapreneurial Self-Capital to Promote Decent Work and Combat Poverty

Individual psychological resources are a key means of escaping from poverty and promoting the attainment of decent work. Marginalization and economic constraints impede the attainment of decent work; however, drawing on psychological experiences and resources can moderate the effect of these limiting contextual factors and thus promote attainment of decent work and reduction of poverty. In addition to the value of possessing a proactive personality (Li et al., 2010), critical consciousness (Watts et al., 2011), perceived social support (Blustein, 2011), and work volition (the capacity to make occupational choices despite constraints; Duffy et al., 2012), a novel nucleus of individual resources, namely Intrapreneurial Self-Capital (ISC) (Di Fabio, 2014a) warrants mentioning here. Measured by the Intrapreneurial Self-Capital Scale (Di Fabio, 2014a), ISC can be developed through training. It comprises a nucleus of individual intrapreneurial resources that enable people to manage frequent changes and transitions by creating innovative solutions when confronted with environmentally imposed restrictions and turn restrictions into resources (Di Fabio, 2014a). A higher order construct, the ISC consists of seven specific constructs considered fundamental resources to contend with challenges posed by the 21st century occupational environment. These constructs are Core Self-Evaluation in terms of self-esteem, self-efficacy, locus of control, and the absence of pessimism (Judge et al., 2003); Hardiness in terms of commitment, control, challenge (Maddi, 1990); Creative

Self-Efficacy (individuals' perceptions about being able to face and solve problems creatively; Tierney and Farmer, 2002); Resilience (the perceived ability to cope with and continue to withstand adversity adaptively; Luthar et al., 2000) and to implement adaptive strategies to manage discomfort and adversity (Tugade and Fredrickson, 2004); Goal Mastery (the pursuit of unceasingly developing one's own skills) (Midgley et al., 2000); Decisiveness (the perceived ability to make timeous decisions in all contexts) (Frost and Shows, 1993); and Vigilance (careful and adaptive examination of relevant information in decision-making processes) (Mann et al., 1997). There is empirical evidence that ISC scores correlate positively with scholastic success, employability, and career decisionmaking self-efficacy and negatively with career decision-making difficulties (Di Fabio, 2014a).

The ISC unlocks promising research perspectives and can be used to moderate between conditions of marginalization and economic constraints on the one hand and promote decent work and reduce poverty on the other hand. Moreover, a person's ISC can be developed through targeted, tailored training (Di Fabio, 2014a). Guichard highlights the potential value of ISC in enabling marginalized people to collaborate in organizing systems of local exchange trading systems (LETS, Guichard, 2013). Maree (2015a) states that currently the aim of life design counseling for career construction, guidance, and life counseling intervention is to help people, individually and in groups, deal with transitions brought about by fundamental changes in occupational contexts. Guichard (2013, 2015) believes that ISC development can play an important role in achieving this aim. Furthermore, guidance and counseling intervention in the 21st century should be aimed primarily at helping people facing major challenges (young people without work, peripheral workers, people who have been unemployed for a long time, and so on). This aim can be achieved by promoting the development of LETS and associated systems that support the creation and organization of LETS. Career and life counselors are urged to help in this regard. Lastly, it should be noted that LETS and LETSpreneurial Self-Capital should be contextualized in terms of the community to which they belong, taking into account cross-cultural factors. The enhancement of intrapreneurial selfcapital of individuals through targeted training can promote the development of personal resources that could enable them to emerge from conditions of exploitation, economic difficulties, the struggle to find decent work, and, eventually, combat poverty.

Limitations of the Study

First, we are cognizant of the fact that some colleagues may regard the fact that we did not strictly adhere to the 'standard' (semi-quantitative) procedure to conduct a systematic qualitative overview of the literature as a major limitation of the study. Second, some of the documents that we studied were not peerreviewed. Third, we are aware that other researchers, while analyzing the same sources, may arrive at different findings. Lastly, despite this being a collaborative, international study, we realize that our insights and findings are bound by time, space, and our idiosyncratic perspectives on matters.

CONCLUSION

The 17 sustainable goals for global development as stated by the UN (Sustainable development goals, 2015) include:

- (1) Ending poverty in all its forms everywhere.
- (3) Ensuring healthy lives and promoting the well-being of all people.
- (8) Promoting sustained, inclusive, and sustainable economic growth, full and productive employment, and decent work for all.

To achieve these three goals, it is more important to devise medium- and long-term projects to help victims of poverty not only survive but develop and grow than help people in emergency situations at a given point in time, which, on its own, will solve nothing and may even divert attention from the real aim, namely to help poor people escape from poverty and find decent work (Peruzzi, 2015). We recommend that decent work agendas should focus less on interventions at a tertiary prevention level and more on interventions at a secondary and, especially, a primary level of prevention (Hage et al., 2007; Kenny and Hage, 2009). This calls for a reprioritization of the levels of intervention and the re-allocation of available resources. Purposeful identitarian awareness needs to be instilled into helping agenda projects and actions. Interventions should be designed not only to respond to emergency situations but, especially, to break the vicious cycle of emergency occurring \rightarrow resolving the emergency \rightarrow another emergency occurring \rightarrow resolving the emergency \rightarrow another emergency occurring \rightarrow . It is essential to identify the level of intervention needed to resolve particular challenges and to tailor different kinds of interventions to deal not only with

REFERENCES

- Addae-Korankye, A. (2014). Causes of poverty in Africa: a review of literature. *Am. Int. J. Soc. Sci.* 3, 147–153.
- Adeola, F. (2000). Entrepreneurial skills, job creation, and poverty reduction in Nigeria. *Paper presented at the AIESEC Annual Alumni Conference*, Lagos.
- Agassi, J. B. (1982). Comparing the Work Attitudes of Men and Women. Aldershot: Gower.
- Ajuzie, M. U. (2000). "The UBE and the factor of poverty," in *Proceedings of the 4th National Conference of NAEND* (Okene: Federal College of Education).
- Alkire, S., Roche, J. M., Seth, S., and Sumner, A. (2015). Identifying the poorest people and groups: strategies using the Global Multidimensional Poverty Index. *J. Int. Dev.* 27, 362–387. doi: 10.1002/jid.3083
- Allen, V. L. (1970). Theoretical issues in poverty research. J. Soc. Issues 26, 149–167. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-4560.1970.tb01720.x
- American Psychological Association [APA] (2000). Resolution on Poverty and Socioeconomic Status. Available at: http://www.apa.org/about/policy/poverty-r esolution.aspx
- Anand, P., and Lea, S. (2011). The psychology and behavioral economics of poverty. *J. Econ. Psychol.* 32, 284–293. doi: 10.1016/j.joep.2011.01.001
- Andrews, F. M., and Withey, S. B. (1976). Social Indicators of Well-Being: America's Perception of Life Quality. New York, NY: Plenum.
- Arneson, R. J. (2007). Shame, stigma, and disgust in the decent society. J. Ethics 11, 31–63. doi: 10.1007/s10892-006-9007-y
- Athanasou, J. A. (2010). Decent work and its implications for careers. *Aust. J. Career Dev.* 19, 36–44. doi: 10.1177/103841621001900108
- Atoyebi, T. A., Owoeye, M. O., and Adeoye, A. M. A. (2008). Poverty and the attendant impacts on Nigerian rural women participation in polities:

the idiosyncratic challenges reactively but, more importantly, to devise strategies aimed at pro-active prevention of challenges because intervening at the level of primary prevention lies at the heart of any strategy. Radical intervention is needed to ensure that future generations not only survive but, more importantly, escape from poverty, develop, grow, and express themselves meaningfully through decent work.

The importance of timeous, pre-emptive, transnational intervention to ensure decent work for all workers and to alleviate poverty worldwide is clear. Rising unemployment across the globe and limited access to decent work have led to widespread poverty and feelings of profound frustration among many millions of people. This has played a key role in the global migration trends of the past few years, the growing socioeconomic inequality, and the ever-widening gap between the rich and the poor. The future of humankind will be bleak indeed if we do not join hands today to overcome these challenges in a spirit of collaboration.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AD conceptualized the review, collected the materials and organized them. Then AD and JM wrote the paper together and read and revised the manuscript several times together.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We express our sincere gratitude to Mr. Tim Steward for his editorial scrutiny of the text.

implication for sustainable democracy and good governance. *Hurage* 1, 274–290.

- Aworawo, D. (2000). Ethnic crisis and political instability in Equatorial Guinea. J. Cult. Stud. 2, 119–132. doi: 10.4314/jcs.v2i1.6236
- Bell, S., and Newitt, K. (2010). Decent Work and Poverty Eradication: Literature Review and Two-Country Study. London: Ergon Associates.
- Blackford, R. (2006). *Genetic Enhancement and the Point of Social Equality*. Willington, CT: Institute for Ethics and Emerging Technologies.
- Blustein, D. L. (2006). The Psychology of Working: A New Perspective for Career Development, Counseling, and Public Policy. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Blustein, D. L. (2008). The role of work in psychological health and well-being: a conceptual, historical, and public policy perspective. Am. Psychol. 63, 228–240. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.63.4.228
- Blustein, D. L. (2011). A relational theory of working. J. Vocat. Behav. 79, 1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2010.10.004
- Blustein, D. L. (2013). "The psychology of working: a new perspective for a new era," in Oxford Handbooks of the Psychology of Working, ed. D. L. Blustein (New York, NY: Oxford University Press).
- Blustein, D. L., Kenny, M. E., and Kozan, S. (2014). "Education and work as human birthrights: eradicating poverty through knowledge, innovation, and collaboration," in *Barriers to and opportunities for poverty reduction: Prospects for private sector led interventions*, ed. United Nations Development Program, 38–62. Istanbul: UNDP Istanbul Center for Private Sector in Development.
- Booth, A. (2001). Cochrane or cock-eyed? how should we conduct systematic reviews of qualitative research? *Paper Presented at the Qualitative Evidence-Based Practice Conference, Taking a Critical Stance.* Coventry: Coventry University.
- Bowles, S., and Gintis, H. (1976). Schooling in Capitalist America: Educational Reform and the Contradictions of Economic Life. New York, NY: Basic Books.

- Brady, D. (2003). The politics of poverty: left political institutions, the welfare state, and poverty. *Soc. Forces* 82, 557–588. doi: 10.1353/sof.2004.0004
- Brandt, W. (1980). North-South: A Programme for Survival. Report of the Independent Commission on International Development Issues. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 304
- Braun, V., and Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual. Res. Psychol. 3, 77-101. doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp0630a
- Brown, S. D., and Lent, R. W. (2008). Handbook of Counseling Psychology, 4th Edn. New York, NY: John Wiley.
- Burchell, B., Sehnbruch, K., Piasna, A., and Agloni, N. (2014). The quality of employment and decent work: definitions, methodologies, and ongoing debates. *Camb. J. Econ.* 38, 459–477. doi: 10.1093/cje/bet067

Burton, W. C. (2007). Burton's Legal Thesaurus. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

- Carr, S. C., and MacLachlan, M. (1998). Actors, observers, and attributions for third world poverty: contrasting perspectives from Malawi and Australia. J. Soc. Psychol. 138, 189–202. doi: 10.1080/00224549809600370
- Carr, S. C., and Sloan, T. S. (2003). *Poverty and Psychology: From Global Perspective to Local Practice*. New York, NY: Springer Science and Business Media.
- Carr, S. C., Thompson, L. F., Reichman, W., McWha, I., Marai, L., MacLachlan, M., et al. (2013). *Humanitarian Work Psychology: Concepts to Contributions. SIOP White Paper Series.* Bowling Green, OH: Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Inc.
- Chakravarti, D. (2006). Voices unheard: the psychology of consumption in poverty and development. J. Consum. Psychol. 16, 363–376. doi: 10.1207/s15327663jcp1604_8
- Chakravarty, S. R., Chattopadhyay, N., Nissanov, Z., and Silber, J. (2015). Reference Groups and the Poverty Line: An Axiomatic Approach with an Empirical Illustration (No. UNU-WIDER Research Paper WP2015/002). Helsinki: United Nations University World Institute for Development Economics Research.

Corbett, T. J. (2007). Poverty. In Encarta Encyclopaedia. Microsoft® Student 2008 (DVD). Redmond, WA: Microsoft Corporation.

- Cox, A., and Healey, J. (2003). "The poverty reduction strategies of the development cooperation agencies in the 1990s: their record and what they need to do," in *The New Poverty Strategies: What Have They Achieved? What Have They Learned?*, eds A. Booth and P. Mosley (Houndmills: Palgrave Macmillan), 21–43.
- Despouy, L. (1996). The Realization of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. Final Report on Human Rights and Extreme Poverty. UN Doc. E/CN.4/Sub.2/1996/13.
- Di Fabio, A. (2014a). Intrapreneurial Self-Capital: a new construct for the 21st century. J. Employ. Couns. 51, 98–111. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2014. 00045.x
- Di Fabio, A. (2014b). "The new purposeful identitarian awareness for the twentyfirst century: valorize themselves in the Life Construction from youth to adulthood and late adulthood," in *The Construction of the Identity in 21st Century: A Festschrift for Jean Guichard*, eds A. Di Fabio and J.-L. Bernaud (New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers), 157–168.
- Di Fabio, A. (2015). Poverty and decent work: widening the perspective with a transdisciplinary approach. *Paper Presented at the UNESCO Chair Conference in Florence 2015 How Can Career and Life Designing Interventions Contribute to a Fair and Sustainable Development and to the Implementation of Decent Work Over the World?* Florence: University of Florence.
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2012). Emotional intelligence and perceived social support among Italian high school students. J. Career Dev. 39, 461–475. doi: 10.1177/0894845311421005
- Di Fabio, A., and Maree, J. G. (2013). The effectiveness of the Career Interest Profile (CIP). J. Employ. Couns. 50, 110–123. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2013.00030.x
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2012). Incremental variance of the core self-evaluation construct compared to fluid intelligence and personality traits in aspects of decision-making. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 53, 196–201. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2012.03.012
- Di Fabio, A., and Saklofske, D. H. (2014). Comparing ability and self-report trait emotional intelligence, fluid intelligence, and personality traits in career decision. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 64, 174–178. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014. 02.024
- Dizionario di Economia e Finanza (2012). Dizionario di Economia e Finanza [Dictionary of Economy and Finance]. Firenze: Treccani.

- Duffy, R. D., Blustein, D. L., Diemer, M. A., and Autin, K. L. (2016). The psychology of working theory. J. Couns. Psychol. 63, 127–148. doi: 10.1037/cou0000140
- Duffy, R. D., Diemer, M. A., and Jadidian, A. (2012). The development and initial validation of the Work Volition Scale–Student Version. *Couns. Psychol.* 40, 291–319. doi: 10.1177/0011000011417147
- Enciclopedia delle Science Sociali (2015). Enciclopedia Delle Science Sociali [Encyclopedia of Social Sciences]. Firenze: Treccani.
- Englama, A., and Bamidele, A. (1997). "Measurement issues in poverty," in Poverty Alleviation in Nigeria, Selected Papers for the 1997 Annual Conference of the Nigerian Economics Society (Ibadan: Nigerian Economics Society), 141–156.
- Faioli, M. (2009). Decency at Work: Della Tensione del Lavoro Alla Dignità. Categorie Interculturali e Sapere Giuridico [Decency at Work: From Tension of Work to Dignity. Intercultural Categories and Juridical Knowledge]. Roma: La Nuova Cutura.
- Fallavier, P. (1998). Developing Micro-Finance Institutions in VIETNAM. Doctoral dissertation, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC.
- FAQs/Useful definitions (UN sources) (n.d.). FAQs/Useful Definitions (UN Sources). Available at: http://www.fao-ilo.org/fileadmin/user_upload/fao_ilo/ pdf/FAQs/Definitions_2_.pdf
- Farkas, G. (2003). Cognitive skills and noncognitive traits and behaviors in stratification processes. Annu. Rev. Sociol. 29, 541–562. doi: 10.1146/annurev.soc.29.010202.100023
- Ferrari, L. E. (2009). Decent employment and subjectivity in the workplace: notes for an agenda of labor policies in citizenship terms. *Orientat. Soc.* 9, 1–8.
- Frost, R. O., and Shows, D. L. (1993). The nature and measurement of compulsive indecisiveness. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 31, 683–692. doi: 10.1016/0005-7967(93)90121-A
- Furnham, A. (2003). "Poverty and wealth," Poverty and Psychology: From Global Perspective to Local Practice, eds S. C. Carr and T. S. Sloan (New York, NY: Springer), 163–183.
- Gaiha, R. (1993). Design of Poverty Alleviation Strategy in Rural Areas (No. 115). Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization.
- Gesinde, A. M., Temitope, A. A., and David, O. I. (2014). The development and validation of vignette-type instrument for measuring attitude toward poverty. *Proc. Soc. Behav. Sci.* 159, 442–446. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2014. 12.404
- Guichard, J. (2009). Self-constructing. J. Vocat. Behav. 75, 251-258.
- Guichard, J. (2013). "Career guidance, education, and dialogues for a fair and sustainable human development," in *Proceedings of the Inaugural Conference of* the UNESCO chair of Lifelong Guidance and Counselling (Wrocław: University of Wrocław).
- Guichard, J. (2015). How can career and life designing interventions contribute to a fair and sustainable development and to the implementation of decent work over the world? *Paper Read at the UNESCO Chair on Lifelong Guidance and Counseling World Conference in Florence 2015* (Florence: University of Florence).
- Guichard, J., and Di Fabio, A. (2015). "How can career and life designing interventions contribute to a fair and sustainable development and to the implementation of decent work over the world?," in *Invited Keynote at the* UNESCO Chair on Lifelong Guidance and Counseling World Conference in Florence 2015 (Florence: University of Florence).
- Gylfason, T., and Zoega, G. (2003). Education, social equality and economic growth: a view of the landscape. CESifo Econ. Stud. 49, 557–579. doi: 10.1093/cesifo/49.4.557
- Hage, S. M., Romano, J. L., Conyne, R. K., Kenny, M., Matthews, C., Schwartz, J. P., et al. (2007). Best practice guidelines on prevention practice, research, training, and social advocacy for psychologists. *Couns. Psychol.* 35, 493–566. doi: 10.1177/0011000006291411
- Higgens, J. P. T., and Green, S. (eds) (2011). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0. Available at: handbook.cochrane.org
- Hulme, D., and McKay, A. (2005). "Identifying and measuring chronic poverty: beyond monetary measures," in *Chronic Poverty Research Centre Working Paper* 30 (New Delhi: Indian Institute of Public Administration), 1–35.
- International Labour Organization [ILO] (1999). "Report of the director-general: decent work," in *Proceedings of the International Labour Conference 87th Session*, Geneva.

- International Labour Organization [ILO] (2015). Decent Work and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/global/t opics/sdg-2030/lang--en/index.htm
- Jacobson, D. (1991). "The conceptual approach to job insecurity," in *Job Insecurity: Coping with Jobs at Risk*, eds J. Hartley, D. Jacobson, and B. Klandermans (London: Sage), 23–39.
- Judge, T. A., Erez, A., Bono, J. E., and Thoresen, C. J. (2003). The core selfevaluations scale: development of a measure. *Pers. Psychol.* 56, 303–331. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.2003.tb00152.x
- Kahneman, D., Diener, E., and Schwarz, N. (eds) (1999). *Well-Being: Foundations of Hedonic Psychology*. New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Kelley, H. H. (1967). "Attribution theory in social psychology," in *Nebraska Symposium on Motivation*, ed. D. Levine (Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press).
- Kenny, M. E., and Hage, S. M. (2009). The next frontier: prevention as an instrument of social justice. J. Prim. Prev. 30, 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s10935-008-0163-7
- Kokaz, N. (2007). Poverty and global justice. *Ethics Int. Aff.* 21, 317–336. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-7093.2007.00102.x
- Kotecha, M., Arthur, S., and Coutinho, S. (2013). Understanding the Relationship Between Pensioner Poverty and Material Deprivation. DWP Research Report. London: The Department for Work and Pensions, 827
- Lavagnini, M., and Mennella, A. (2015). Decent Work in Italy: The Basic-Relations-Fairness Proposal: Forum for Social Economics (No. ahead-of-print). London: Routledge, 1–20.
- Lea, S. E., Webley, P., and Walker, C. M. (1995). Psychological factors in consumer debt: money management, economic socialization, and credit use. J. Econ. Psychol. 16, 681–701. doi: 10.1016/0167-4870(95)00013-4
- Lewis, O. (1968). La Vida [The Life]. London: Panther.
- Li, N., Liang, J., and Crant, J. M. (2010). The role of proactive personality in job satisfaction and organizational citizenship behavior: a relational perspective. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 95, 395–404. doi: 10.1037/a0018079
- Livingstone, S. M., and Lunt, P. K. (1992). Predicting personal debt and debt repayment: psychological, social and economic determinants. J. Econ. Psychol. 13, 111–134. doi: 10.1016/0167-4870(92)90055-C
- Luthar, S. S., Cicchetti, D., and Becker, B. (2000). The construct of resilience: a critical evaluation and guidelines for future work. *Child Dev.* 71, 543–562. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00164
- Maddi, S. R. (1990). "Issues and interventions in stress mastery," in *Personality and Disease*, ed. H. S. Friedman (New York, NY: Wiley), 121–154.
- Mann, L., Burnett, P., Radford, M., and Ford, S. (1997). The Melbourne Decision Making Questionnaire: an instrument for measuring patterns for coping with decisional conflict. J. Behav. Decis. Mak. 10, 1–19. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-0771(199703)10:1%3C1::AID-BDM242%3E3.0.CO;2-X
- Maree, J. G. (2015a). Career Construction Counseling: a thematic analysis of outcomes for four clients. J. Vocat. Behav. 86, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2014.10.001
- Maree, J. G. (2015b). Career construction counseling with a mid-career black male. *Career Dev. Q.* 64, 20–35. doi: 10.1002/cdq.12038
- Midgley, C., Maehr, M. L., Hruda, L. Z., Anderman, E., Anderman, L., Freeman, K. E., et al. (2000). *Manual for the Patterns of Adaptive Learning Scales*. Available at: http://www.umich.edu/~{}pals/PALS%202000v13Word97.pdf
- Narveson, J. (2004). Welfare and wealth, poverty and justice in today's world. *J. Ethics* 8, 305–348. doi: 10.1007/s10892-004-4895-1
- Nussbaum, M. C. (2004). *Hiding from Humanity: Disgust, Shame, and the Law.* Princeton, NY: Princeton University Press.
- Nwenearizi, F. O. (2011). Strategies for poverty alleviation in rural area for a sustainable economic development in Nigeria. J. Educ. Health Technol. Res. 1, 210–216.
- Okemakinde, T. (2010). Illiteracy and poverty in Nigeria: universal basic education as a panacea. J. Educ. Appl. Psychol. 3, 143–158.
- Osborne, D., and Weiner, B. (2015). A latent profile analysis of attributions for poverty: identifying response patterns underlying people's willingness to help the poor. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 85, 149–154. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2015.05.007
- Osia, K. (2010). Beyond Juridical Abstraction: Poverty in a World of Plenty. Available at: http://forumonpublicpolicy.com/vol2010.no4/archive.vol2010.no4/osia.pdf
- Paul, K. I., and Moser, K. (2009). Unemployment impairs mental health: metaanalyses. J. Vocat. Behav. 74, 264–282. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.01.001

- Peruzzi, A. (2009). Scienza per la Democrazia [Science for Democracy]. Pisa: Edizioni Ets.
- Peruzzi, A. (2015). Un Appello per la Dignità [A Plea for Dignity]. Counseling. Giornale Italiano di Ricerca e Applicazioni. Available at: http://rivistedigitali. erickson.it/counseling/archivio/vol-8-n-2/
- Prilleltensky, I. (2003). Understanding, resisting, and overcoming oppression: toward psychopolitical validity. Am. J. Community Psychol. 31, 195–201. doi: 10.1023/A:1023043108210
- Psychological Coalition at the United Nations [PCUN] (2012). Psychological Contributions to the Eradication of Poverty. Available at: http://www.worldpsy che.org/contents/14139/psychological-contributions-to-the-eradication-ofpoverty
- Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2001). On happiness and human potentials: a review of research on hedonic and eudaimonic well-being. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 52, 141–166. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141
- Ryff, C. D., and Singer, B. H. (2008). Know thyself and become what you are: a eudaimonic approach to psychological well-being. J. Happiness Stud. 9, 13–39. doi: 10.1007/s10902-006-9019-0
- Schmitt, D. P., and Pilcher, J. J. (2004). Evaluating evidence of psychological adaptation: how do we know one when we see one? *Psychol. Sci.* 15, 643–649. doi: 10.1111/j.0956-7976.2004.00734.x
- Schneier, B. (2008). *The Psychology of Security*. Available at: https://www.schneier.c om/essays/archives/2008/01/the_psychology_of_se.html
- Schor, J. B. (1998). The Overspent American. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Seligman, M. E., and Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive Psychology: An Introduction. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Seligman, M. E. P. (2002). "Positive psychology, positive prevention, and positive therapy," in *Handbook of Positive Psychology*, eds C. R. Snyder and S. J. Lopez (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 3–9.
- Sen, A. (1999). Development as Freedom. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Solon, G. (1999). "Intergenerational mobility in the labor market," *Handbook of Labor Economics*, Vol. 3, eds A. Orley, C. Ashenfelter, and D. Card (Amsterdam: North-Holland), 1761–1800.
- Somavia, J. (1999). *The Decent Work Agenda*. Available at: http://www.molsmed.go v.tt/Portals/0/Decent%20Work%20Agenda.pdf
- Stiglitz, J. E., Sen, A., and Fitoussi, J. P. (2010). Report by the Commission on the Measurement of Economic Performance and Social Progress. Paris: Commission on the Measurement of Economic Performance and Social Progress.
- Sustainable development goals (2015). 17 Goals to Transform Our World. Available at: http://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/development-agenda/
- Swanson, J. L. (2012). "Work and psychological health," in APA Handbook of Counseling Psychology, eds N. A. Fouad, J. A. Carter, and L. M. Subich (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 3–27.
- Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency [SIDA] (2005). *Health is Wealth*. Stockholm: SIDA.
- The International Association for Educational and Vocational Guidance [IAEVG] (2001). The Paris 2001 IAEVG Declaration on Educational and Vocational Guidance. Available at: http://iaevg.net/iaevg.org/IAEVG/nav3937.html?lang= 2andmenu=1andsubmenu=4
- Thompson, M. (2015). Poverty: third wave behavioral approaches. Curr. Opin. Psychol. 2, 102-106. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2014.11.010
- Tierney, P., and Farmer, S. M. (2002). Creative self-efficacy: its potential antecedents and relationship to creative performance. Acad. Manage. J. 45, 1137–1148. doi: 10.2307/3069429
- Treccani Etymological Dictionary (2012). Dizionario Etimologico Treccani [Treccani Etymological Dictionary]. Firenze: Treccani.
- Tugade, M. M., and Fredrickson, B. L. (2004). Resilient individuals use positive emotion to bounce back rom negative emotional experiences. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 86, 320–333. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.86.2.320
- Underlid, K. (2007). Poverty and experiences of insecurity. A qualitative interview study of 25 long-standing recipients of social security. *Int. J. Soc. Welf.* 16, 65–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2397.2006.00423.x
- UNESCO (2009). Poverty and Human Rights: UNESCO's Antipoverty Projects. Available at: http://portal.unesco.org/shs/en/ev.php-URL_ID=4666andURL_ DO=DO_TOPICandURL_SECTION=201.html
- United Nations (1948). Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Available at: http://www.un.org/en/documents/udhr/

- United Nations [UN] (2003). Searching for Innovations in Governance and Public Administration for Poverty Reduction: Concepts, Experiences and Lessons for the Future. New York, NY: United Nations.
- United Nations [UN] (2006). *Full and Productive Employment and Decent Work*. New York, NY: United Nations.
- United Nations Development Programme [UNDP] (1998). Human Development Report 1998. New York: United Nations Development Programme. Available at: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/reports/259/ hdr_1998_en_complete_nostats.pdf
- United Nations Development Program [UNDP] (2004). Human Development Report 2004: Cultural Liberty in Today's Diverse World. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- United Nations Economic and Social Council (2006). The Right to Work. General Comment No. 18. New York, NY: United Nations Economic and Social Council.
- Vázquez, C., Hervás, G., and Ho, S. (2006). Intervenciones clínicas basadas en la psicología positiva: fundamentos y aplicaciones. *Psicol. Conductual* 14, 401–432.
- Wanberg, C. R. (2012). The individual experience of unemployment. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 63, 369–396. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100500
- Watts, R. J., Diemer, M. A., and Voight, A. M. (2011). "Critical consciousness: current status and future directions," in *Youth Civic Development: Work at the Cutting Edge. New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, Vol. 134, eds C. A. Flanagan and B. D. Christens, (New York, NY: Wiley), 43–57.
- Webley, P., and Nyhus, E. K. (2001). Life-cycle and dispositional routes into problem debt. Br. J. Psychol. 92, 423–446. doi: 10.1348/0007126011 62275

- Weiss, J., and Montgomery, H. (2005). Great expectations: microfinance and poverty reduction in Asia and Latin America. Oxf. Dev. Stud. 33, 391–416. doi: 10.1080/13600810500199210
- Wilson, W. J. (1996). When Work Disappears: The World of the New Urban Poor. New York, NY: Knopf.
- World Bank (1990). World Development Report. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- World Bank (2005). *World Development Indicators 2005*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- World Health Organization [WHO] (2002). The World Health Report 2002: Reducing Risks, Promoting Healthy Life. Geneva: World Health Organization.

Yunus, M. (1994). Bunking on the Poor. Dhaka: Grameen Bank. Zakaria, Y. (2006). Youth, Conflict, Security, and Development. The Reality of

Aid 2006. Available at: http://www.realityofaid.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/ 02/RoA-Report-2006-Part-II.pdf

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Di Fabio and Maree. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





For a Psychosocial Approach to Decent Work

Jacques Pouyaud *

Laboratory of Psychology (EA 4139), University of Bordeaux, Bordeaux, France

The notion of decent work was developed by the International Labour Organization 20 years ago. The notion is now well known by lawyers, economists, and sociologists, and even if it appears difficult to define it clearly, it constitutes a useful general framework with which to think of the relationships between policy practices, work market globalization, and human rights principles. The fields of career guidance and counseling psychology are highly concerned by questions of social justice and human rights that people experience through work. Career choices being made in a liquid and unstable society, incompatibility between individualist values and collective work issues, increasing psychological health problems at work, work-family balance in precarious job situations, the growing necessity of mobility, adaptability or flexibility... all of these questions are at the heart of current career counseling practices, and concern the decent work debate. Nevertheless, the notion of decent work is not well developed in the field of vocational psychology. Despite its relevance, it is difficult to operationalize the policy and human rights principles during career counseling sessions. The article aims to explore the usefulness of the concept for career counselors, and to propose a psychosocial framework that incorporates decent work in career counseling practices. The first part of this article presents the theoretical bases of the notion of decent work and their possible use in the field of psychology. It deals with the necessity of a multilevel and psychosocial perspective, that takes into account both objective and subjective dimensions of decent work. The second part focuses on a case study illustrating how the notion of decent work emerges during counseling sessions. Four levels of the work experience linked with subjective and objective dimensions of decent work are explored; the personal level, the activity level, the collective level, and the social level. Finally, the third part discusses and proposes a framework based on the analysis of the four dimensions of work (activity, trade, others and society) in order to integrate a psychosocial view of decent work into career counseling.

Keywords: decent work, activity, career counseling, professional stance

INTRODUCTION

At first glance, the notion of "decent work" is not a psychological concept. It was first defined by the International Labour Organization (ILO) in 1999, and finds its roots in fundamental moral principles of justice and equality for human rights. The utility of the notion lies primarily in its ability to support and enhance political actions for sustainable development. Thus, multiple publications already explore decent work in the fields of policy, economics, law, and even

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Blustein, Boston College, USA

Reviewed by:

Jacobus Gideon Maree, University of Pretoria, South Africa Maureen E. Kenny, Boston College, USA

*Correspondence: Jacques Pouyaud Jacques.pouyaud@u-bordeaux.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 03 January 2016 Accepted: 09 March 2016 Published: 31 March 2016

Citation:

Pouyaud J (2016) For a Psychosocial Approach to Decent Work. Front. Psychol. 7:422. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00422 philosophy, but psychology remains mostly absent from the debate around decent work.

Nevertheless, decent work has recently begun to find a foothold in the field of career counseling psychology with the input of authors like J. Guichard and D. Blustein. For the former, we will refer to his conceptual work about self-construction (Guichard, 2009; Collin and Guichard, 2011), his association with the Life design constructivist perspective (Savickas et al., 2009), and his leadership of the Unesco Chair 'Lifelong Career Guidance and Counseling' where he encourages career practitioners and researchers to expand their concerns to more political dimensions (Guichard, 2015). For the latter, we shall refer to his theoretical perspective the "psychology of working" (Blustein, 2006, 2013), which provides a useful framework for the notion of decent work to be effective.

However, in order to use this concept in career counseling practice, it is still necessary to redefine or clarify it from a psychological perspective. Indeed, although the ILO definition explains the "objective" economical and moral conditions that make work decent, it does not explore more subjective aspects. The definition is therefore incomplete for a psychologist because of its lack of a subjective dimension. The core question is how the subjective meaning of work can be a part of the conditions that make work more or less decent for the individual *and* for society.

Several authors have already pointed out the imprecision of the initial ILO proposition and since 1999, conceptual efforts have been made to operationalize the concept (e.g., Deranty and MacMillan, 2012; Burchell et al., 2014; Di Ruggiero et al., 2015; Sehnbruch et al., 2015). The present article is based on these various propositions in order to formulate a psychosocial conceptualization of decent work, and to integrate the political aims inherent to decent work into career counseling practices.

The first part of this paper presents the theoretical bases of decent work and their possible use in the field of psychology. The second part focuses on a case study illustrating how the notion of decent work emerges during counseling sessions. The article will conclude with a discussion of concepts and methodologies to position a psychosocial view with the aim of integrating decent work into the career counseling field.

Research Aims

This study and the research it is based on aim to explore the usefulness of the notion of decent work for career counseling theorists, researchers, and practitioners. Moreover, it aims to propose a psychosocial framework for incorporating the decent work perspective into career counseling theory, research and practice.

Theoretical Question

From Economical Policy to Psychology

As an answer to the global economical crisis of the beginning of the 90's, the ILO "made 'decent work' the centerpiece of its recommended recovery strategy" (Bisom-Rapp, 2011, pp. 1–2). But what is decent work? Presented in 1999 by the director of ILO Juan Somavia, decent work "involves opportunities for work that is productive and delivers a fair income, security in the workplace and social protection for families, better prospects for personal development and social integration, freedom for people to express their concerns, organize, and participate in the decisions that affect their lives and equality of opportunity and treatment for all women and men" (http://www.ilo.org/). Deranty and MacMillan (2012) expound the history of the ILO initiative and explain how the definition lies within the ILO principles created in 1919, upon a tripartite foundation: governments, employers and unions. The objective was then to participate in social justice through better organization of employment. The partners need to agree on common standards to regulate the labor market with logic other than that of the market economy. This first initiative was then reaffirmed, actualized, and specified three times after this date: in 1944 in the "Declaration of Philadelphia," in 1998 in the "Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work," linked with the Human Rights Principles (United Nations Declaration of Human Rights, 1948) and in 2008 in the "Declaration on Social Justice for a Fair Globalization." The authors summarize these principles: "[first] labor is not a commodity [Second...] it is not enough for a person to be employed; rather their employment must also afford them the opportunity to fully express their skill and in so doing contribute to the common well-being to the greatest extent possible [Third, this means defining core labor standards which are...] freedom of association and effective recognition of the right to collective bargaining; the elimination of all forms of forced or compulsory labor; the effective abolition of child labor; and the elimination of discrimination in respect to employment and occupation " (pp. 388-389).

Finally, in 2008, four pillars of decency defined in relation to human rights were decided to constitute the ILO framework for a sustainable economic recovery: "employment promotion, social protection, social dialog, and fundamental rights" (Bisom-Rapp, 2011, p. 2).

This short historical overview clearly locates the notion of decent work in the fields of economics, law, and politics. It primarily stresses the importance of human values for the organization of society and the working world, but this approach has also been criticized for its imprecision and its difficulty to be operationalized. Burchell et al. (2014) and Sehnbruch et al. (2015) for example, underline the terminological confusion that occurs sometimes in publications between words like "job," "work," "employment," "job quality," and "quality of work." This confusion makes difficult the construction of clear and common indicators of what constitutes decent work. Furthermore, the lack of clear indicators makes international comparisons difficult, which explains the relatively low impact of the decent work proposition on policy, academic education, and research. The authors compare the decent work initiative to the "Human Development" or "Capacity" Approach (Sen, 1999, 2010; Nussbaum, 2000) which is, on the contrary, well operationalized (through the HDI-Human Development Index) and which, therefore, allows international comparisons and direct applications in policy decisions. The ideological roots of the concept, its aspirational dimension (Peccoud, 2003), and its grandeur seem to be a major constraint to its development and use. From a law perspective, this constraint is also clearly associated with the difficulty in establishing the legal and social responsibility of internationalized corporations (Javillier, 2007).

The main difficulty in elaborating a reliable measure of decent work is that it would needed to take into account multiple levels of analysis simultaneously. Ensconced in Urie Bronfenbrenner's theoretical model of Ecology of Human Development (Bronfenbrenner, 2005), a contextual and embedded view of decent work can be defined from the micro system (the actions and the relations between the individual and his/her actions), to the macro system (culture, religion, world of work, values...), passing through the meso and exo systems (groups in which individual interacts, and groups in which these groups are embedded). Without such a holistic perspective taking into account the various contexts of life, it is indeed difficult to understand how more or less decent work can be subjectively experienced by individuals.

From a legal studies perspective, MacNaughton and Frey (2011) show how decent work can be positively enhanced by the addition of a "holistic human rights approach." With the same logic, and in order to use the concept in psychology, a subjective definition of decent work must be added to the objective one, highlighting how interactions (between individuals in systemically organized embedded contexts) construct the conditions for equality and individual capacity to develop. (Burchell et al., 2014) underline that the capacity approach developed by Sen (1999) and elaborated by Nussbaum (2000) allows a method of addressing this question of subjective definition of work through the notion of "adaptative preferences." The capacity approach is characterized by "the ability of people to adapt to unfavorable circumstances (including poor employment conditions), which distorts their ability to evaluate their job characteristics objectively [...] Because expectations vary considerably between countries, it is often the case that a developed country has lower aggregate job satisfaction than does a developing country. The same process can explain why some less advantaged groups of workers (e.g., women) have higher satisfaction levels than workers with objectively better working conditions" (p. 465). These two perspectivesdecent work and capacity-appear to be more complementary to one another than opposing allowing the construction of a psychosocial view of the question. Decent work focuses on ideological conditions of work, while the capacity approach deals with the possibility inherent in the conditions of the individual's capacity and freedom.

Career Counseling and Decent Work: Defining a Strategic Stance

The previous two approaches, both of which come from the economic world, can resonate with a social, organizational, or career counseling psychologist, especially if this practitioner sees his/her work as an ethical and political one (Guichard, 2003). If, as a psychologist, one's core activity is to help individuals construct and develop a capacity for action in relation to others and for the well being of the society, then the professional stance is to serve, at the same time, as an agent for socialization and individualization.

From the theoretical perspective of "active socialization" (Curie, 2000), "the process of socialization and of individualization aren't opposite, they are supporting each

other" (p. 202, free translation). The strategic stance involves helping individuals realize a work to "interlace," on the one hand, society and institutions that are vectors of conflict and alienation, and on the other hand a personal history, which is the integrated story of an individual's fight against external constraints in an effort to expound a personal world in which one wants to live. The result is a more or less decent environment that we individually and collectively build according to our freedom of choice and social latitude.

For the career counseling psychologist, assisting this interlaced construction often means adopting a person-centered approach and an "unconditional valorization" of the individual (Rogers and Kinget, 1962, cited by Curie, 2000, p. 202), but it also draws on "an action of mediation of the individual in cooperation with others" (p. 203). In other words, this can be described as a co-construction of projects (Young et al., 1997) on the micro and meso systemic level.

More generally, this professional stance meets the aims of the critical psychology perspective (Teo, 2005; Fox and Prilleltensky, 2009; Stead and Perry, 2012) and the social role that psychology should play for fair and sustainable development. A holistic, constructivist, and ecologic approach to decent work that can be used in psychology may contribute to this mission. As pointed out by Prilleltensky and Prilleltensky (2006), the well being of a society depends on the well being of the individual, but conversely, the well being of the individual also depends on the well being of society. To define the strategic stance, Prilleltensky and Stead (2011), describe the client-counselor relation as a dilemma between adjustment and confrontation with the environment (society, work, institutions). This "Adjust-Challenge Dilemma" not only regulates the capacity of the counselor to participate in the development of the general question of well being (both for the individual and the society), but is also the key for action.

The career counselor who tries to support the individuals in developing their own well being through self-construction in relation to others and others' well being, acts as an agent of active socialization. In doing so, he takes a political part, an ethical stance centered on the processes of personalization. He thus helps individuals to "permanently recreate a space of freedom that allows them to signify to themselves and to others that they are not the ones that the institutions would like to confine them" (Curie, 2000, p. 204, free translation).

The main objective of career counseling for the development of decent work is then the creation of a space of personal and social freedom, taking into account "the social and subjective conditions through which a subject, as a person, during a whole lifetime, and with the help of others [...] objectifies and realizes the development of the potentialities that the personal history and the structures of socialization have let him/her glimpse (or have prevented)" (Beaumartin et al., 2010, p. 49, free translation).

A Multilevel but Fragmented Perspective on Work

To the question "what is good work or quality work?" psychologists already have some answers from a large corpus of work that has emerged since the beginning of organizational and career guidance, and counseling psychology. The primary

part of this corpus defines the factors (personal, cultural, socio economics, organizational) that constitute the main predictors of well being at work. Nevertheless, this research has sometimes forgone the subjective aspects of work. The second part of the corpus is centered on the explanation of what the work means for the individual, but this research neglects to take into account more political and social issues. Again, it is difficult to forge a multilevel analysis of what constitutes a good job. Three examples are presented now as short illustrations.

For the first example, a large body of scientific literature is based on studies of occupational health, quality of life, quality of work, stress, and psychosocial risks at work. Gollac and Bordier (2011) propose a good summary of the groups of factors that play a role in defining psychosocial risks at work. Six groups are described: (1) Work intensity and working time (complexity, duration, work-life balance); (2) Emotional demands (relationships to clients, emotional inhibitions, fear, relationships to stressful situations); (3) Autonomy at work (autonomy within tasks, monotonous tasks, unpredictability, possibility of using competencies, pleasure at work); (4) Social relations at work (integration, socialization, justice, procedural justice, recognition, relations with colleagues, with hierarchy, wage, link between task and individual, work evaluation, social valorization, attention paid to well being, violence at work); (5) Conflicts of values (ethical conflicts, prevented quality, useless work); (6) Insecurity (job, wage, career security, risks of changes at work). Using this classification system, decent work will be work for which conditions are decent regarding well being and health risks for the worker. Bennett et al. (2003) coalesce organizational health perspectives into three streams of practice and research focused, respectively, on a healthy workplace, practice-oriented and consultative models that promote organizational health, and comprehensive multi factor health promotion and disease management programs. The main problem the authors highlight is that "although the different streams speak to a comprehensive view of organizational wellness, they tend to emphasize different levels of health (individual, job, or organizational) [they suggest] that occupational health psychologists must play a more proactive role in assessing relationships and integrating strategies among these levels" (p. 70).

On the individual side, a very broad field of study on the meaning of work, work satisfaction, work commitment, performance, and motivation, provides a complementary view. As a recent example, Mercure and Vultur (2010) identify "work ethoses", that represent various relationships to work. Although, this approach is mainly sociological, based on the works of Bourdieu (1984), ethoses can refer to personal differences in work meaning, work values, and work engagement. Work ethoses are linked with life ethoses and are defined through three dimensions: centrality of work (and work-life balance), finality of work, and work engagement in relation to the dominant social and managerial norms. Six ethoses are described: Autarky (search for financial independence, autonomy); professionalism (search for personal development, valorization of competencies, peer recognition); utilitarism (search for personal satisfaction, consumerism); egotist (search for assertiveness through work and other life domains); *resignation* (work lived as a constraint); and *harmony* (search for consistency with personal values). These ethoses can be seen as personal translations of work experiences and work conditions. Objective decent work experiences defined through work conditions can be colored with various degrees of personal acceptance. Decent work is then work "lived as" decent through the filter of work ethoses. The authors also highlight that some ethoses (e.g., professionalism and egotist) are highly compatible with contemporary liberal management, which helps to internalize the core priorities of the new liberal spirit: valorization of the centrality of work, flexibility and mobility, and valorization of subjective engagement at work.

In the field of career counseling, the now classical approach of "social cognitive career theory" (Lent et al., 2000) provides an understanding of how individuals can create a personal perspective and experience work conditions to act and transform their environment. The theory is an application of the works of Bandura (1986), especially the concepts of self-efficacy and agency, on career issues. Work performance and career attitudes are results of "self-efficacy beliefs," built from the interaction between the individual and a more or less afforded environment. Again, decent work can be seen as the personal meaning that individuals grant to their capability to regulate conflicts with work. Other theoretical constructs such as career adaptability (Savickas and Porfeli, 2012) and intrapreneurial self-capital (Di Fabio, 2014) are gaining attention in the field today, but again the main point of difficulty is the focus on the individual that doesn't take into account ethical and political levels of responsibility. The risk here is a reduction of ethical and political intentions and responsibilities, because of the possible fluctuations of the perception of work decency between individuals.

CASE STUDY

The following case study illustrates how the notion of decent work appears in career counseling situations, from the individual level to more collective dimensions. It will later support a discussion of and proposition for a psychosocial perspective of decent work.

Client Background

Mrs. V is a 48 year-old woman who has been a social worker for about 26 years. Mrs. V says she always wanted to have a job helping others. During high school, she was already thinking of becoming a social worker. After she completed high school, she entered university, and moved away from her family. She then experienced several periods of depression because of loneliness. She completed her social worker diploma at the age of 25, and began working in an official institution. She got married and had two children. At 35, she divorced and 2 years later began a new relationship with another person. Her companion became ill and died 3 years later. During his illness, she began working part time in order to take care of him. Since then her profession has became harder to perform. One year ago, doctors diagnosed her with a serious disease, at which point she began to experience depression again. The occupational medicine department offered
her a part time job. She has started thinking she would like to change jobs and do something else, because she can't stand her work anymore. Consequently, the department proposed for her to start a "bilan de competence" (see below for the detail). She met with a counselor at the elicitation center ("Centre Interinstitutionnel de Bilan de Compétence") in order to find new professional prospects. At the beginning of the Bilan, Mrs. V said that she couldn't work anymore because she felt tired and powerless.

Counseling Process

The "bilan de competence" in France is a system of career guidance and counseling based on collaboration between social partners and state authorities. Since 1991, a law has established the right to attend a bilan and the way it must be organized. This program was proposed first for adults faced with the termination of employment and women wishing to return to work, then extended to young people without qualifications and to unemployed adults. Today, the bilan is available to all workers. Within companies, all employees with 5 years of experience, including at least 12 months in their present company, can request a leave of absence to draw up a "bilan." "The bilan is intended to determine the current state of the individual's competence, and personal and occupational skills. The bilan is based on an assessment which may include a variety of methods (interviews, diagnostic assessments, self-assessment, tests, etc.) in order to draw up an occupational plan and, if appropriate, a training plan. It is the property of the person concerned and may not be communicated to a third party without the permission of the subject" (Perker and Ward, 1996, p. 137). This personal and occupational bilan is organized in three phases: the preliminary phase (defining needs, setting up a working alliance and information), the investigation phase (exploring and/or assessing values, interests, aspirations, motivation, general and occupational knowledge, skills and experiences), and the concluding phase (drawing up a summary that is a personal and confidential document only dedicated to the person). Only public or private organizations external to the company have the right to offer this service, following the rules defined by law: reliable methods and empirically-based instruments for assessment; qualified counselors; and confidentiality (the results of the bilan are the property of the individual and not of the company or of the funding organization). In 2007, 194,000 persons underwent a bilan in one of the 1100 approved centers (Dares, 2009). The main association that provides this service in France the Centre Interinstitutionnel de Bilan de Compétence (CIBC), which has 330 centers. Workers can access a bilan at their own request, at the request of their employer, or through employment services (in case of a training project for example). It is most often financed by the training budget of the company, or from the companies' compulsory contribution. In the case of unemployed and young people, the state or the region pays for the service.

In the case of Mrs. V, the company proposed to finance her bilan in order to help her recover and find a more protective working environment or new training. Her bilan lasted 2 months. It consisted of 10 interviews of 2–3 h each, all with the same counselor. The bilan followed the three phases: analysis of needs, investigation, and writing of a "summary document." Like many bilan, even if the process is initially focused on work-related issues, it addresses health problems at work, as well as more global dimensions of people's lives. When Mrs V. came to the CIBC, she was asked to participate in research on career counseling practices.

Research Procedure

The case of Mrs V. is an illustration taken from a project conducted on the effect of counseling sessions in France (bilan de compétences). It is part of a larger research agenda, designed to study the effect of the dialogical and dynamic relationship between clients and counselors. The design was inspired by grounded theory (Fassinger, 2005), triangulation of perspectives in action research (Kidd and Kral, 2005; Polkinghorne, 2005), and self-confrontation procedure (Young et al., 1994). The research used multiple participants to make various analysis of the bilan in order to highlight the dynamic and developmental processes during counseling sessions. As pointed out by Polkinghorne, "by comparing and contrasting these perspectives, researchers are able to notice the essential aspects that appear across the sources and to recognize variations in how the experience appears. In this sense, multiple participants serve as a kind of triangulation on the experience, locating its core meaning by approaching it through different accounts. [...] The use of multiple participants serves to deepen the understanding of the investigated experience \gg (2005, p. 140). The research procedure, which can be described as Participatory Action Research (Kidd and Kral, 2005), was organized in 6 parts:

- 1 -Over 1-3 months, the 10 interviews of the bilan de competence are performed by a counselor from the CIBC. The interviews are videotaped. A first descriptive thematic analysis (Bardin, 1977) is conducted with advanced students in psychology in order to define the key moments and the dynamic structure of the bilan.
- 2 -One month after the bilan, a collective discussion session is organized between the students and the counselor. The discussion is recorded and provides an opportunity for the researcher to gain a second point of view on the key moments and the dynamic of the bilan. This session also allows the counselor to reconsider her process with the help of the students and their observations. The novice questioning of the students turns this session into a kind of "collective supervision," in the sense that the counselor can rediscover her practice in the eyes of beginners. The objective of this session for the researcher is to validate the key moments marked previously, in order to determine the impact of each one for future work with the client.
- 3. Two months after the bilan, a career construction interview (Savickas, 2011) is conducted with the client. The interview is recorded and analyzed by the researcher in order to verify the choice of key moments. The objective is to have a third perspective on the key moments, and to analyze them in the light of the subjective career and life themes.

- 4. The researcher puts together a video with the key moments from the bilan. These key moments are the result of the triangulated perspective and analyses of the counselor, the client, and the students, as well as the researcher's analyses of the career construction interview. These key moments are turning points, in which the development of the relationship and the progress of the counseling take place (moments of unveiling, resistance, transference, etc.). The video is then viewed during a "self-confrontation session" (close to the interpersonal process recall procedure: Watson and Rennie, 1994; Larsen et al., 2008) between the counselor and the client, led by the researcher. The researcher helps the client and the counselor to jointly analyze what is occurring in the key moments, understood as instances of development. The selfconfrontation session is also videotaped for an analysis of the change process.
- 5. At the end of the process, the counselor and researcher together choose some key moments of the assessment that will serve as an illustration to use with the CIBC team. A second video of key moments is made for this purpose. It may be used either collectively at a team meeting, or during another self-confrontation session with two colleagues wishing to pursue the process with one of their clients.

Ethics

In this case, the research didn't need to be formally approved by an ethic committee for two main reasons. One, institutional ethical clearance is not required for interview studies. Two, the article presents a case study based on a counseling encounter as an illustration. Thus, the work referenced with the participant in the article was not research per se, but it was an intervention that was used to inform the article, from a research action perspective. Nevertheless, the research procedure followed the ethical standards of the latest version of the Declaration of Helsinki revised in Fortaleza (World, Medical Association [WMA], 2013), and of the French society of Psychology Ethical Guidelines (French Psychological Association, 2012). Prior to the interview, the research procedures were explained and the participants agreed to participate in the study by signing the informed consent. All participants were informed about their rights to withdraw from the study at any time.

Data Analysis

In order to analyze how the notion of decent work appears during Mrs V.'s bilan, we have used the thematic analysis (Bardin, 1977) performed by the supervised students during phase 1. The present analysis consists in bringing together the thematic analyses and a psychosocial model of decent work.

RESULTS

At the beginning, Mrs. V said that she could no longer work as a social worker because she felt exhausted and couldn't find the necessary strength to accompany people anymore. In addition, she thinks her work has evolved to no longer be appropriate for her. She explains that her institution does not allow her to give fair and equitable support to people in difficulty. For example, she was very upset when she saw that electricity was cut off to people in need who could not pay their bills.

According to her, working conditions have deteriorated over the years, and are now particularly degraded, with less autonomy, much more oversight, and a loss of team work and of collaboration with colleagues. The result is a more individualistic work environment in which she has to face the misery alone. For her, struggling with poverty is increasingly hard to bear. Every day she experiences the failure of bringing any real help. Ultimately, she thinks she is doing her job badly. But when she looks back at her career, she wonders if she really wanted to do this job, even at the beginning. She mainly describes the circumstances that guided her, but now that the demands of work have become more difficult she wonders if she is really made for that field. She has just emerged from a very difficult period during which her husband died. She is now alone with her two children who are almost adults.

She says the job has become less and less recognized and respected, even by the beneficiaries who only "use" her services in a "technical" way (i.e., to search for financial support) without engaging in a true helping relationship. She feels discouraged and tired of trying to help people in trouble without any means or recognition.

She asked the following questions to the counselor: Why does this occupation exhaust me so much? And how can I find another occupation that fits my values more? A thematic analysis shows five main themes that the counselor and Mrs. V discussed during the course of the bilan. The themes are illustrated below with direct quotes from Mrs. V (extracted from the first three meetings).

Theme 1: Find the energy to re-engage in a project.

"Today I have the impression that, in fact, there is no creativity at all. There is no surprise, and a certain weariness. It's actually so confining that it leaves little space to open new things, and to start projects" (Interview 1)

"The counseling will be successful if I can get involved in a project with motivation and not by default, if I have enough energy to get involved" (Interview 1)

Theme 2: Allow myself to "remove barriers"-in relation to the institutional framework, to social norms, to the expectations of the environment, what is correct or not correct, and not be afraid to say what I really want to do.

"For me the bilan will be successful if I can break down barriers, fears and have faith in myself, and it will help me to know what I want to do, and it will help me to give myself the means" (Interview 1)

"I really need to be able to say what I want, not staying in... because again I... I have some barriers... I do not dare.... I really need to dare to say what I want because... at the moment I tell myself that it's not possible, or that I am not able to, or that it will not allow me to earn a living" (Interview 1)

Theme 3: Social worker, why is it a job that no longer suits me?

"There is no more interest, no more interest to work as a social worker,... how the procedures currently replace... when I started in this profession, it was a profession that involved much more relationships and much less proceedings... Now that I am a social worker, there are lot of procedures, and we live in an increasingly restrictive society... so we are no longer helping people, we have to put people in boxes, and that's not why I chose this job" (Interview 1)

Theme 4: Human relationships are at the heart of my job dissatisfaction—along with isolation and loss of collaboration.

"When you personally meet with the people and witness all the suffering just because, I think there is such a degradation of the social fabric, that the situations are more and more heavy, and one's shoulders must be a bit strong..., I feel less and less capable to feel empathy. People quickly irritate me" (Interview 1)

"It's actually a big question for me...for example, in human relationships, the relationship... the human approach...all that, it has always been of great importance to me, be it for commercial purposes etc... it was the human relationship. These days... it's a bit ambivalent. I'm tired, and it's a kind of what I was saying previously... listening to people, it's really a mental strain..." (Interview 2)

Theme 5: Communicate and work with team

"I know that I'm a bit... like that. I sympathize, I have my colleagues, I sympathize... that's not a problem but I'm pretty individualistic in my way of working" (Interview 3)

"I mean if it's recognized, that I'm able to work with partners, well with partners... with colleagues... it's also a way to be recognized. Compared to my hierarchy... that will allow me to have a place in relation to my skills, that I do not know how to sell... My skills I make them on my own, in my corner.... I make them individually, in the moment... it's very interesting for me but it does not allow me professionally... I will not be able to work in a... and be recognized so that I can get a position in relation to that" (Interview 3)

Through these five themes, the counseling process with Mrs. V dealt with a gradual deterioration of her relationship to work and an increasing perception of her work as indecent. To her, the degradation seems connected to a personal fatigue (her recently painful life story, her midlife career situation, a need for change and a lack of positive perspective of evolution), and to the objective degradation of working conditions, in the institution, but also more generally in society. The "indecent dimension" of her work is thus related to the conjunction of subjective and objective relationships to work:

"That's what is difficult actually, to really see... is it the evolution of our profession that wore me out or is it personal? Because I think it's the two" (Interview 1)

More generally, four levels can finally be highlighted for defining the decency of work:

Personal Level: Life Story

The work situation of Mrs. V resonates with personal fears that exist and persist in her life story. For example, the fear of not being able to be free and to express herself and the need (as a life theme) to be original, and to avoid to be constrained.

"My thought at that time was... I wanted to know... have more knowledge of what life is in order to help people and that is, not be restricted (...) I needed to see other things."

"This dissatisfaction that I still drag now, is a dissatisfaction growing old"

The Level of Activity: (Work as Concrete Action)

Gradually, the work of social worker has moved from an independent counseling relationship, to a relationship based on a search for social control. Mrs. V mainly expresses her loss of empowerment with a feeling of helplessness and worthlessness.

"My current role is a role of social control... control... it's no longer a helping relationship, it is a control relationship"

Collective Level: Interaction with Peers

Mrs. V expresses that her work is more and more individualized. She also regrets the increasing difficulty to be recognized for the work she provides.

"I have trouble communicating with my colleagues... I am not the only one...well I mean it may be a state of mind...it's what I'm thinking, that maybe it's a general state of mind of our profession." (Interview 3)

Social Level: Values

Finally, the evolving general mindset of society contributes to Mrs. V's subjective experience of her work devolving:

"In a society in crisis, I do not want to be Private Ryan anymore" (Interview 2)

The result of this multilevel degradation is an impassable situation—congested with fear, isolation and feelings of injustice—which leads Mrs. V to be unable to say what she wants. And for her, it is no longer possible to believe in her future.

DISCUSSION

A Psychosocial Perspective on Decent Work

A strategic perspective on decent work in the field of career counseling must be rooted in a comprehensive, multilevel psychosocial analysis of work. Such a perspective certainly needs to consider work as a major life domain through which to explain self-construction and society. The question of the centrality of work in relation to other life domains is, then, of major importance.

The framework of the psychology of working (Blustein, 2006) clearly integrates this dimension. The theoretical perspective

is based on Richardson's propositions (Richardson, 1993) that suggest enlarging the concept of career and opening research on work to pluralistic theoretical approaches such as constructivism and social-constructionism. Some core tenets constitute the basis of this framework (Blustein, 2013, pp. 7-9): It is necessary to use diverse epistemologies to understand the nature of working; Work is central in life and to mental well being, and has the ability to fulfill core human needs (survival, relatedness, and self-determination); Work is broader than career and includes "non paid work," non work, working for survival, indecent work, and others because all these activities contribute to people's lived experiences in various contexts; Culture and relationship are core tools of meaning making for people's experiences; Understanding work means identifying how social, economic, and political forces influence the distribution of resources and affordances on a macro level. From Blustein's perspective, "there is considerable variability in individual's experiences regarding volition, and poor and working class individuals may experience little choice regarding their working lives [...] 'Working' is thus a more universal and inclusive term than 'Career'" (Swanson, 2013). In considering working rather than career, this approach allows us to think of the relationships between concrete subjective experiences of work, and more social, organizational and political issues.

In the same way, the capability approach of Sen (1999), complementary to Bandura's agency, allows a multilevel conception of decent work. It helps understand how the micro and macro levels are linked together. As explained by Sen (1995), the capability approach involves "concentration on freedoms to achieve in general and the capabilities to function in particular" (1995, p. 266). The author distinguishes between functionings and capabilities. "A functioning is an achievement, whereas a capability is the ability to achieve. Functionings are, in a sense, more directly related to living conditions, since they are different aspects of living conditions (e.g., personal, social, and environmental characteristics). Capabilities, in contrast, are notions of freedom, in the positive sense: what real opportunities you have regarding the life you may lead" (Sen, 1987, p. 36).

It is between functionings and capabilities that a psychosocial definition of decent work can take place. The multilevel analysis that can support a psychosocial view of decent work can be described from the micro to the macro level:

"The capability approach to a person's advantage is concerned with evaluating it in terms of his or her actual ability to achieve various valuable functionings as a part of living. The corresponding approach to social advantage—for aggregative appraisal as well as for the choice of institutions and policy—takes the set of individual capabilities as constituting an indispensable and central part of the relevant informational base of such evaluation" (Sen, 1993, p. 30). Well-being is thus defined as people's capability to function (to work, to relate to others) and to freely undertake the actions and activities that they want to engage in, in order to be whom they want to be.

A psychosocial definition of decent work should consider work experience (in its relation to other life domains) as a central part of self-construction. The working experience is then a major dimension of an identity structure that can be described as a dynamic system of subjective identity forms (Guichard, 2009; Guichard et al., 2011; Guichard and Pouyaud, 2014). A subjective identity form (SIF) is a construction and implementation of oneself in a particular setting (a set of ways of being, acting, interacting, and thinking of oneself in a particular role). This does not mean that the professional role constitutes a more important SIF than the familial or social ones, but it means that the adjustments inside this system, between work and non work subjective identity forms, will contribute to work being perceived as more or less decent. In that sense, the working identity form plays a central role in self-construction as it helps to design and construct the self in other meaningful non-work subjective identity forms. Indecent work (work that doesn't respect the human rights principles) is then work that degrades the dynamism of the identity structure because of living, working or organizational conditions. As illustrated by Mrs. V's case, the four thematic levels of analysis highlight how her working subjective identity form as a social worker (in terms of personal history, professional action, values, and social role) is not allowing her to develop anymore.

This centrality of the working life is also well described by the French psychoanalyst Dejours for whom working is "a subjective activity that mobilizes the emotional, cognitive, and moral capacities of the individuals, and in return transforms them, for better or for worse" (Deranty and MacMillan, 2012, p. 395). For Dejours, work plays a "decisive role in the elaboration of the civil relationships whereby individuals can live and act together [this is...] the thesis of the political centrality of work" (Dejours, 2009, p. 14, free translation). The idea is close to Rawls' view about the meaning of work: "the lack of opportunity for meaningful work and occupation is destructive of citizen's self-respect" (1996, p. 159, cited by Deranty and MacMillan, 2012).

Deranty and MacMillan (2012) endorse Dejours' propositions for a more comprehensive view of decent work. The authors explain that "an important aspect in determining whether work is decent or not is constituted by the activity entailed in work or by the content of work" (pp. 402–403). "[...] the focus on the very activity of work in its unfolding, and on the impact of this unfolding on subjective capacities, provides crucial indications as to what can make work interesting, a vector of intelligence and initiative, and indeed a place of concrete democratic action" (p. 395).

Following their proposition, and as briefly illustrated by Mr. V's case, a multilevel analysis of the dynamic system of identity forms during counseling sessions allows an understanding of the psychosocial meaning of work. The following framework combines the previous theoretical stances to propose a guide to structure this multilevel exploration.

This framework is illustrated in **Figure 1** and is based on the following 5 proposals:

- Four levels of embedded contexts constitute the developmental environment for the individual (the workplace in connection with other living environments constitutes the interactional contexts where the system of subjective identity forms can occur).

- A spiral suggests possible development in this environment. Development is rooted in the conflict lived by individuals at

work, between the task and the activity (as a response to the task). Within this response is potential: capability and personal agency, which depend on the freedom granted by the embedded contexts.

- The "psychosocial set" that allows the potential for development is the "trade" or "profession," as defined in the theoretical framework of the "Activity Clinic" approach (Clot, 2009). It is constructed through four dimensions of relation to working: personal/intrapersonal/interpersonal/and transpersonal dimension.

- Decent work, viewed as the psychosocial conditions of well being, is a trade that draws the individual into a dynamic system of subjective identity forms supported by the four dimensional architecture of work (and mainly by the personal and intrapersonal ones, which link the psycho and the social).

- Finally, this set impacts health, well-being and identity both at the individual and collective levels.

The following sections explain more clearly theses proposals.

Activity

The starting point corresponds to the micro level of action. Work is defined here as an activity and, more specifically, as a dialectic with the working environment. This theoretical view is the classical distinction made by French-speaking ergonomists between task and activity (Ombredane and Faverge, 1955). As pointed out by Clot, "Whereas international ergonomics focused on the engineering of task and artifacts, French-speaking ergonomics was organized around activity and health with the intention of preserving and developing the operators' power to act in the workplace" (2009, p. 286). The work situation demands that the individual answer to a prescription (a task) taking into account internal conditions (age, health, gender, intelligence, etc.) and external conditions (tools, peers, hierarchy, management, noise or temperature conditions, etc.). But the answer that the individuals are constructing within these conditions is always different from the expected task. This construction is called activity and the gap between the task and the activity is an indicator of what the individual subjectively adds in order to overcome the conflict. As depicted in Figure 1, this conflict is the starting point of individual and social development at work. For Mrs. V., this conflict is circumscribed, as the professional action is impossible for her to sustain.

The theoretical approach of Activity Clinic (Clot, 2009; Kloetzer et al., 2015) expands the ergonomic point of view, especially on the basis of Vygotsky's concepts. Two complementary analyses are made, one on the notion of activity, and the other on the notion of "Profession."

For the first, Clot distinguishes what can be observed from the activity (gestures, actions, interactions, tools used) called "realized activity," from what may have been done, but did not survive in the working conditions, called "the reality of the activity."

As pointed out by Vygotsky, "behavior is a system of victorious reactions... at every moment, the individual is full of unrealized possibilities" (Vygotsky, 1999, pp. 266–267). The reality of the activity refers to "what is not done, what can't be done, what one tries to do without succeeding, the failures,

what one would or could do, what one thinks or dreams to do elsewhere [...] what is done to avoid to do what is to be done, or even what is done without the will to do it. Not to mention what has to be redone" (Clot, 1999, p. 119, free translation).

Activity is defined as a story of the development of action and of the subjective investment of the individual in order to "be" and to "do" beyond any conflict with the task. What can be observed from the activity is a trace, a result of this story. Helping people at work means co-constructing the resources of the development of their activity, and re-opening the possibilities for self-construction through work. For Clot, "the transformation of actions for developing the subjects' power to act is the object itself of a basic and field-based science of psychology" (2009, pp. 287–288). From a decent work perspective, Deranty and MacMillan express that "at this first level, decent work would be work in which the design of the job and the organization of work enable the individuals to make full use of their capacities in the deployment of their activity" (2012, p. 399).

Profession and Decent Work

The second analysis on activity made by Clot helps to understand how this could be possible. The Activity Clinic approach extends the notion of activity by explaining how the individual level is dependent on more collective and social levels. The notion of "Profession" can be used to analyze the importance of others (e.g., professional collectives, peers, managers, institutions) in the development of activity, and in the enhancement of individual capacities at work. A profession is defined through four dimensions, which consolidate a subjective armature of work activity (see **Figure 1**). All dimensions can be places for work development, as well as for decent work development.

The first dimension is the "personal" one and refers to the first level described previously. It corresponds to "the specific way one is performing one's activity, according to one's specific skills, knowledge, history, life story, professional experience, preferences, moods, expectations, worries, goals, hopes, and desires" (Kloetzer et al., 2015, p. 61). The second dimension, called "interpersonal," moves the analysis to the interaction zone. Indeed, activity exists and evolves within action and interaction with others. Personal action is always mediated by others who can support, restrain, or change its development. On the third level, called "transpersonal," the activity becomes collective. The profession exists at this level as a "transpersonal memory" of shared activities. Historically built from the collective development of the professional milieu, this collective memory plays the role of a constraint (as an unofficial culture, like the rules to be followed in order to be recognized as a good professional by peers), and a resource because it helps resolve the common professional conflicts of work activities. This level also involves a "professional identity" built upon a common way of working in a particular profession, product of the collective history of professional activity. It refers to "the usual ways of acting and interacting, speaking, doing, and relating to people and things in a professional way that are established in a specific work environment" (Kloetzer et al., 2015, p. 61). As depicted in Figure 1, this can be defined as a Professionnal Subjective Identity form. This level is of major importance, because "it is a



binding characteristic across generations and individuals, always at risk of disappearing if it is not reconstructed in the course of personal and interpersonal activities" (Kloetzer et al., 2015, p. 61). The personal and interpersonal activities (first and second dimensions) refer to the "professional style." This is where the "professional identity" can develop by integrating the individual and interindividual creativity used to resolve the dialectic of working. It thus involves the processes of personalization. If the first two dimensions are places for novelty and innovation, the intrapersonal dimension is a first level of cooperation and solidarity at work and a first source for a personal recognition. It is the starting point for the employment promotion, social protection, social dialog, and fundamental rights that constitute the four pillars of decent work. For this reason, psychologists can find the link that allows them, in their own work, to contribute to the enhancement of decent work by working on the processes of personalization that reconstruct professional subjective identity forms. However, these efforts can't be effective without social and institutional recognition regarding more impersonal descriptions of the profession, which refer back to the task. Indeed, the fourth dimension defines the profession as "impersonal." It corresponds to all the official characteristics of work organization (e.g., tasks, job profiles, career rules) that build work outside the individual level.

As pointed out by Kloetzer et al. "in this model, all four dimensions are bound together, but antagonisms may provoke a loosening of these bonds. The feeling of sharing the same experience at work may disappear due to interpersonal conflicts. A trade that is deprived of transpersonal mediation may degenerate into destructive opposition between a personal, solitary work exercise, and impersonal, spurious work injunctions from the organization, with all workers at risk of work depersonalization" (Kloetzer et al., 2015, p. 62). For example, in the case of Mrs. V., the way she perceives herself in terms of values or skills (which are parts of the description of subjective identity forms) is no longer supported by her professional environment. We may say that the professional scenarios no longer sustain her professional self.

Career counseling psychologists who want to integrate the decent work perspective into their practice could have an interest in understanding how the dynamic system of subjective identity forms of their clients integrates these four levels as resources or constraints for self-construction and personal and social recognition (see **Figure 1**).

In doing so, they could play a role in helping clients to engage in new "ecological transitions" (reflecting their relationships to peers, to task, to hierarchy and to institution). Nevertheless, such a practice will also needs another type of intervention that can help the professional milieu to be more inclusive in order to accept such ecological transitions, development and capacity to transform society.

Others

Decent work exists within the relationship between a subjective meaning of work and an objective definition of what constitutes good working conditions. It withholds the structure of personal identity at work. But this structure also needs to be supported by others. Two levels underlined by Deranty et al. concern the relationships to others—work as cooperation (which can refer to the transpersonal dimension of work) and work as political culture (the impersonal dimension).

We have already outlined that the collective of peers could be helpful for individuals to perform tasks and resolve activity conflicts. The collective also has the power to recognize the quality of good work (recognize a "professional style" as a good one), and to support human rights at work. As noted by Dejours, the only true recognition of the quality of work is made by peers who can have a "judgment of beauty" about the work (Dejours, 2009, pp. 42–43). Decent work is then work that can be recognized by peers according to the conditions of certainty and cooperation. These two conditions are essential for the profession to be a mediating agent of personal and collective development alongside the institutional prescriptions. Career psychologists need to think of how they can contribute to engaging organizations and institutions to be more cooperative and positive places.

One main difficulty in career counseling is that career interviews are often "disconnected" from concrete work situations, and especially from their collective dimensions. The involvement of pairs in the co-construction of possible solutions and potential development is, however, of high importance. In the case of Mrs V., this certainly constitutes a core issue. Because she is already in conflict with her colleagues, and interviews are conducted outside her work, it can be difficult for the counselor to intervene further than personal dimension. One of the main challenges for the career counseling field is perhaps to extend the practical interventions to the collective and political levels inside the workplace.

The specific methodology used by the Activity Clinic (see Kloetzer et al., 2015, for an example) can provide a complementary approach to individual interviews. It consists

of grounded research-action methodologies based on the idea that working is a process of learning and development. In building, for example, cross self-confrontation situations, the researchers elaborate a dialogical Zone of Proximal Development with workers that can support the development of the fourdimensional dynamic architecture of the profession (personal, interpersonal, transpersonal, and impersonal dimensions). Phases 4 and 5 of the participatory action research described previously explicitly refer to such perspectives, with the aim of developing the profession of counselor into the CIBC, and allowing the counselors to enhance their power to act (and for example help them to integrate the decent work concerns into practices). Because the main developmental tool within this methodology is professional controversy, cooperation and support are the first assumptions that must be sustained.

Society

As depicted in Figure 1, yet another level of analysis needs to be developed. As noted by Dejours "the fact that the relationship between work and life turns into happiness or misfortune does not depend on individual economy. Success in the face of the personal challenges that constitute the subjective experience of work depends on the social conditions of work" (2009, pp. 42-43, free translation). The social conditions of work are part of the political culture. Everyone can see how the reality of the precarious and flexible job market makes solid self-construction difficult. Authors like Dejours have a severely pessimistic view of the impact of our organizational, economic and political culture on post-modern identity construction, and on the global capacity of our society to maintain democratic and human rights values. For Dejours, the organization of today's work makes malicious behaviors commonplace, and endangers democracy. The economic war, at the heart of the neoliberal system, has created a lot of wealth, but also a lot of inequality, injustice, unemployment, discrimination, marginalization, and precariousness (Piketty, 2013). The work conditions today are lead by fear (fear of unemployment, fear of the future, fear of climatic evolution, fear of communities, fear of exclusion). Economic health is determined by the stock market's confidence thermometer, like an aggregate of all individual fears. The result is suffering and malicious behavior that have become structural components of today's societies. When fear is accepted as a natural dimension of working conditions, work becomes a theater for the normalization of evil (where inequalities and inequities are perceived as natural). The result is, for Dejours, the development of attitudes of submission and domination at work, with these behaviors becoming reasonable, justified, and rational (as social norms). Every "post modern citizen" is therefore supposed to follow one of these two options and accept living in an indecent world, framed as an injunction to be realistic. Today's organization of work is the theater of a fight between domination (alienation) and democracy for one, and between individualism (isolation) and solidarity for another. Fear at work as a norm is the origin of isolation and of the loss of democracy, because it muzzles cooperation and collective action. On the other hand, work can also be seen as a major key to human development, if the cultural and organizational conditions allow

work collectives to sustain personal identity. As pointed out by Deranty et al. "because it can be such a destabilizing experience for individual subjective identities, the very organization of the work process can be a major factor in entrenching general forms of social domination [...] By contrast, because it can also be a major vehicle for the development of cognitive, emotional, and moral capacities, work can also be a vehicle for democratic life and respect of others" (Deranty and MacMillan, 2012, p. 401). The strategic stance of career practitioners should enable them to contribute to political and economic changes through the development of individuals and institutions in which they are included.

Finally, the following "formula" could be used as a first step in that direction:

Work is decent when it allows the individual and the society to be healthy, in the following ways:

- By consolidating social and individual identity to allow the realization of tasks

- By developing work activities, through recognition, evaluation, and confrontation with others (especially peers)

- By integrating concern for others into work (for more justice, equity and democracy).

CONCLUSION

The notion of decent work is not easy to define from a psychological perspective. But from the point of view of career counseling, the notion clearly points out the importance of human rights in career issues and practices at work. Most of the theoretical approaches in guidance and career counseling consider "at risk work" as degraded work before it becomes degrading. The case of Mrs. V. is certainly not illustrative of every career issue. As a consequence, it cannot be generalized. Nevertheless, as a case study, it points out the main characteristics that make decent work a powerful concept to address today's challenges for research and practice in the field of career counseling. A main difficulty of today's world of work is that working conditions are deteriorating. Work has become increasingly precarious and constraining. This change does not only concern the poorest countries, where work may not even allow survival, but also rich ones, where work has become a form of alienation, even if it provides sufficient income. Thus, middle class populations are now concerned with the problem of decent work. This is the case for Mrs V. The purpose of this case study was mainly to highlight that decent work issues now concern all workers. It also points out the need for a clear and effective

REFERENCES

- Bandura, A. (1986). Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Bardin, L. (1977). L'analyse de Contenu [the Content Analysis]. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France.
- Beaumartin, A., Baubion-Broye, A., and Hajjar, V. (2010). Socialisation active et nouvelles perspectives en psychologie de l'orientation [Active socialization and new perspectives in career guidance and

definition and framework. This notion allows us to focus on what makes a work situation disintegrated to the point that it is not acceptable, as framed by the principles of human rights.

The distinction is of great importance. Indeed, while degraded work can be upgraded, repaired, and prevented, indecent work needs to be fought with multiple political, economic, humanitarian, collective, and individual actions. A psychosocial definition of decent work raises the question of individual and socially acceptable limits of working conditions. While these limits can more easily be established on the basis of law or economics, individual acceptability is more difficult to define. For example, some constraints are legitimated by individuals even if they correspond to degrading working conditions (e.g., because of poverty, but also the neoliberal system that produces inequality to the point of questioning the individual attitudes of solidarity and democracy).

Thus, it may be easier to fight for decent work on a collective level than on an individual level. The main issue is indeed to understand how the conditions of decent work meet individual significance in order to allow or constrain an area of freedom, a space for action, and the capability for health. As underlined by Ricoeur, "suffering is not defined solely by physical pain, nor even by mental pain, but by the reduction, even the destruction, of the capacity for acting, of being-able-to-act, experienced as a violation of self-integrity" (Ricoeur, 1992, p. 190). Canguilhem's definition of health suggests a similar idea. "I feel good, because I feel myself capable of taking responsibility for my actions, of making things happen and of creating new connections among things that were not possible without me, but that wouldn't be the same without them. This is why I feel the need to learn what they are so that I can change them" (Canguilhem, 2002, p. 68, free translation). The starting point for this is therefore the subjective relationship to work, which can gradually be incorporated into collective and social issues. It follows the movement from the subjective to political dimensions through relationships with others. This movement primarily concerns the career counseling psychologist, whose action begins within the individual relationship, and continues through spiraling levels of collective action that promotes a progressive capability for self construction (a psychosocial activity of self-construction through work).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and approved it for publication.

- Bennett, J. B., Cook, R. F., and Pelletier, K. R. (2003). "Toward an integrated framework for comprehensive organizational wellness?: workplace health promotion," in *Handbook of Occupational Health Psychology*, eds J. C. Quick and L. E. Tetrick (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 69–95.
- Bisom-Rapp, S. (2011). Introduction: decent work in a post-recessionary world. Emp. Rights Employ. Policy J. 15, 1–4.

- Blustein, D. L. (2006). *The Psychology of Working*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Blustein, D. L. (Ed.). (2013). *The Oxford Handbook of the Psychology of Working*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bourdieu, P. (1984). *Questions de Sociologie [Questions of Sociology]*. Paris: Éditions de Minuit.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (2005). Making Human Being Human: Biological Perspectives on Human Development. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Burchell, B., Sehnbruch, K., Piasna, A., and Agloni, N. (2014). The quality of employment and decent work: definitions, methodologies, and ongoing debates. *Camb. J. Econ.* 38, 459–477. doi: 10.1093/cje/bet067
- Canguilhem, G. (2002). Écrit sur la médecine [Writings on medicine]. Paris: Le Seuil.
- Clot, Y. (1999). La fonction Psychologique du Travail [The psychological function of work]. Paris: PUF.
- Clot, Y. (2009). "Clinic of activity: the dialogue as instrument," in *Learning and Expanding with Activity Theory*, eds A. Sannino, H. Daniels, and K. D. Gutierrez (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 286–302.
- Collin, A., and Guichard, J. (2011). "Constructing self in career theory and counseling interventions," in *Construction self in work and career. Concepts, Cases and Contexts,* eds P. J. Hartung and L. Subish (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 89–106.
- Curie, J. (2000). Travail, Personnalisation, Changements Sociaux. Archives Pour les Histoires de la Psychologie du Travail [Work, Personalization, Social Changes. Archives for the Histories of the Psychology of Work]. Toulouse: Octares.
- Dares (2009). L'offre de formation continue en 2007 [The training offer in 2007]. *Premièr. Inf. Synt.* 40, 4, 1–6.
- Dejours, C. (2009). Travail Vivant 1 : Sexualité et Travail [Alive Work 1: Sexuality and Work] Paris: Payot.
- Deranty, J. P., and MacMillan, C. (2012). The ILO's decent work initiative: Suggestions for an extension of the notion of decent work. J. Soc. Philos. 43, 386–405. doi: 10.1111/josp.12003
- Di Fabio, A. (2014). Intrapreneurial self-capital: a new construct for the 21st century. J. Employ. Counsel. 51, 98–111. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2014.00045.x
- Di Ruggiero, E., Cohen, J. E., Cole, D. C., and Forman, L. (2015). Competing conceptualizations of decent work at the intersection of health, social and economic discourses. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 133, 120–127. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.03.026
- Fassinger, R. E. (2005). Paradigms, praxis, problems, and promise: Grounded theory in counseling psychology research. J. Counsel. Psychol. 52, 156–166. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.156
- Fox, D., and Prilleltensky, I. (2009). *Critical Psychology: An Introduction 2nd Edn.* Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- French Psychological Association (2012). Code de Déontologie des Psychologues [Psychologist Ethical Guidelines]. Available online at: http://www.sfpsy.org/ Code-de-deontolgie-des.html (Accessed January 3, 2016).
- Gollac, M., and Bordier, M. (dir.). (2011). Mesurer les Facteurs Psychosociaux de Risque au Travail Pour les Maîtriser: Rapport du Collège D'expertise Sur le Suivi des Risques Psychosociaux au Travail. Paris: Ministère du travail, de l'emploi et de la santé.
- Guichard, J. (2003). Career counseling for human development: An international perspective. *Career Dev. Q.* 51, 306–321. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-0045.2003.tb00612.x
- Guichard, J. (2009). Self constructing. J. Vocation. Behav. 75, 251–258. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.03.004
- Guichard, J. (2015). "Objectifs et finalités de l'accompagnement à l'orientation à l'ère anthropocène [Aims and ultimate purposes of career- and lifedesign interventions in the Anthropocene era]," in Apprendre et s'orienter Dans un Monde de Hasard. Actes du Colloque de Cerisy d'août 2015 [Learning and Designing a Life in a World of Unforeseen Circumstances. Proceedings of the August 2015 Cerisy Colloquium], ed F., Danvers. doi: 10.13140/RG.2.1.4040.1369
- Guichard, J., and Pouyaud, J. (2014). "Processes of identity construction in liquid modernity: actions, emotions, identifications, and interpretations," in *Counseling and Action*, eds R. A. Young, L. Valach, and J. F. Domene (New York, NY: Springer), 91–114.
- Guichard, J., Pouyaud, J., and Dumora, B. (2011). "Self-identity construction and reflexivity," in *Career Counseling and Constructivism*, eds M.

Mcmahon and M. Watson (New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers Inc), 57-72.

- Javillier, J. (Ed.). (2007). Gouvernance, Droit International et Responsabilité Sociétale des Entreprises. Genève: Institut International d'études sociales.
- Kidd, S. A., and Kral, M. J. (2005). Practicing participatory action research. J. Counsel. Psychol. 52, 187–195. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.187
- Kloetzer, L., Clot, Y., and Quillerou-Grivot, E. (2015). "Stimulating dialogue at work: the activity clinic approach to learning and development," in *Francophone Perspectives of Learning Through Work: Conceptions, Tradidions and Practices*, eds L. Filliettaz and S. Billett (Dordrecht: Springer Publishing), 48–70.
- Larsen, D., Flesaker, K., and Foundation, H. (2008). Qualitative interviewing using interpersonal process recall: investigating internal experiences during professional-client conversations. *Internet Res.* 7, 18–37. doi: 10.1177/160940690800700102
- Lent, R., Brown, S., and Hackett, G. (2000). Contextual supports and barriers to career choice: a social cognitive analysis. J. Counsel. Psychol. 47, 36–49. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.47.1.36
- MacNaughton, G., and Frey, D. F. (2011). Decent work for all: a holistic human rights approach. *Am. Univ. Int. Law Rev.* 26, 441–483.
- Mercure, D., and Vultur, M. (2010). La Signification du Travail. Nouveau Modèle du Travail et Ethos du Travail au Québec [The Signification of Work: New Model of Work and Ethoses of Work in Quebec]. Quebec: Presses de l'Université Laval.
- Nussbaum, M. (2000). Women and Human Development: The Capabilities Approach. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Ombredane, A., and Faverge, J. (1955). *L'analyse du Travail [The Analysis of Work]*. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France.
- Peccoud, D. (Ed.). (2003). *Philosophical and Spiritual Perspectives on Decent Work*. Geneva: International Labour Office.
- Perker, H., and Ward, C. (1996). Assessment of experiential learning in England and France. Res. Post Compul. Educ. 1, 133–149.
- Piketty, T. (2013). Le Capital au 21ème siècle. [Capital in the 21th century]. Paris: Editions du Seuil.
- Polkinghorne, D. E. (2005). Language and meaning: Data collection in qualitative research. J. Counsel. Psychol. 52, 137–145. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.137
- Prilleltensky, I., and Prilleltensky, O. (2006). Promoting Well-being: Linking Personal, Organizational, and Community Change. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Prilleltensky, I., and Stead, G. B. (2011). Critical psychology and career development: unpacking the adjust-challenge dilemma. J. Career Dev. 39, 321–340. doi: 10.1177/0894845310384403
- Richardson, M. S. (1993). Work in people's lives: a location for counseling psychologists. J. Counsel. Psychol. 40, 425–433.
- Ricoeur, P. (1992). Oneself as Another. Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press.
- Rogers, C., and Kinget, G. (1962). *Psychothérapie et Relations Humaines* [*Psychotherapy and Human Relations*]. Paris: Béatrice-Nauwelaerts.
- Savickas, M. L. (2011). *Career Counseling*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Savickas, M. L., Nota, L., Rossier, J., Dauwalder, J.-P., Duarte, M. E., Guichard, J., et al. (2009). Life designing: A paradigm for career construction in the 21st century. J. Vocation. Behav. 75, 239–250. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.04.004
- Savickas, M. L., and Porfeli, E. J. (2012). Career Adapt-Abilities Scale: Construction, reliability and measurement equivalence across 13 countries, *J. Vocation. Behav.* 80, 661–673. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2012.01.011
- Sehnbruch, K., Burchell, B., Agloni, N., and Piasna, A. (2015). Human development and decent work: why some concepts succeed and others fail to make an impact. *Dev. Change* 46, 197–224. doi: 10.1111/dech.12149
- Sen, A. (1987). "The standard of living," in *The Standard of Living*, ed G. Hawthorn (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 1–38.
- Sen, A. (1993). "Capability and well-being," in *The Quality of Life*, eds M. Nussbaum and A. Sen (Oxford: Clarendon Press), 30–53.
- Sen, A. (1995). "Gender inequality and theories of justice," in Women, Culture, and Development: A Study of Human Capabilities, eds M. C. Nussbaum and J. Glover (Oxford: Clarendon Press), 259–273.

Sen, A. (1999). Development as Freedom. New York: Knopf.

Sen, A. (2010). The Idea of Justice. London: Penguin.

- Stead, G. B., and Perry, J. C. (2012). Toward critical psychology perspectives of work-based transitions. J. Career Dev. 39, 315–320. doi: 10.1177/0894845311405661
- Swanson, J. L. (2013). "Traditional and emerging career development theory and the psychology of working," in *The Oxford Handbook of Psychology* of Working, ed D. L. Blustein (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 37–49.
- Teo, T. (2005). The Critique of Psychology. From Kant to postcolonial theory. New York, NY: Springer.
- United Nations Declaration of Human Rights (1948). UN General Assembly, Universal Declaration of Human Rights, 217 A (III). Available online at: http:// www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6b3712c.html (Accessed December 10, 1948).
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1999). "Consciousness as a problem in the psychology of behaviour. (N. Veresov, Trad)," in *Undiscovered Vygotsky*, ed N. Veresov (Frankfurt am Main: Peter Lang), 256–281.
- Watson, J. C., and Rennie, D. L. (1994). Qualitative analysis of clients' subjective experience of significant moments during the exploration of problematic reactions. J. Counsel. Psychol. 41, 500–509.
- World, Medical Association [WMA] (2013). World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 310, 2191–2194. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.281053

- Young, R. A., Valach, L., Dillabough, J. A., Dover, C., and Matthes, G. E. (1994). Career research from an action perspective: the self-confrontation procedure. *Career Dev. Qu.* 43, 185–196.
- Young, R. A., Valach, L., Paseluikho, M. A., Dover, C., Matthes, G. E., Paproski, D. L., et al. (1997). The joint action of parents and adolescents in conversation about career. *Career Dev. Q.* 46, 72–86.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer MK and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2016 Pouyaud. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





From Decent Work to Decent Lives: Positive Self and Relational Management (PS&RM) in the Twenty-First Century

Annamaria Di Fabio^{1*} and Maureen E. Kenny²

¹ Department of Education and Psychology, University of Florence, Florence, Italy, ² Lynch School of Education - Boston College, Chestnut Hill, MA, USA

The aim of the present study is to empirically test the theoretical model, Positive Self and Relational Management (PS&RM), for a sample of 184 Italian university students. The PS&RM model specifies the development of individuals' strengths, potentials, and talents across the lifespan and with regard to the dialect of self in relationship. PS&RM is defined theoretically by three constructs: Positive Lifelong Life Management, Positive Lifelong Self-Management, Positive Lifelong Relational Management. The three constructs are operationalized as follows: Positive Lifelong Life Management is measured by the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS), the Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS), the Meaningful Life Measure (MLM), and the Authenticity Scale (AS); Positive Lifelong Self-Management is measured by the Intrapreneurial Self-Capital Scale (ISC), the Career Adapt-Abilities Scale (CAAS), and the Life Project Reflexivity Scale (LPRS); and Positive Lifelong Relational Management is measured by the Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire (TEIQue), the Multidimensional Scale for Perceived Social Support (MSPSS), and the Positive Relational Management Scale (PRMS). Confirmatory factor analysis of the PS&RM model was completed using structural equation modeling. The theoretical PS&RM model was empirically tested as defined by the three hypothesized constructs. Empirical support for this model offers a framework for further research and the design of preventive interventions to promote decent work and decent lives in the twenty-first century.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pablo Fernández-Berrocal, University of Malaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Blake Allan, Purdue University, USA Kayi Ntinda, University of Swaziland, Swaziland

> *Correspondence: Annamaria Di Fabio adifabio@psico.unifi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 21 January 2016 Accepted: 28 February 2016 Published: 23 March 2016

Citation:

Di Fabio A and Kenny ME (2016) From Decent Work to Decent Lives: Positive Self and Relational Management (PS&RM) in the Twenty-First Century. Front. Psychol. 7:361. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00361 Keywords: decent work, decent life, Positive Self and Relational Management (PS&RM), respectivity, relationality

INTRODUCTION

Across the lifespan, individuals inevitably confront multiple challenges in the domains of work and relationship. While these are longstanding human challenges, recent economic, and social changes related to unemployment, globalization, and the changing nature of work have created a crisis involving underemployment, unemployment, and subsequent loss of financial security. The field of vocational psychology can assume a leadership role in responding to the current crisis by advancing theories, research, and practices that address the impact of these pressing social and economic challenges (Blustein, 2011b; Guichard, 2013b). While these challenges are experienced across all social classes, those who are poor and less educated are most vulnerable to the ill effects of social and economic change. Conditions of unemployment and employment that offers less than a living wage increase the number of persons living in poverty (Fryer and Fagan, 2003; Smith, 2010), along with the loss of psychological power (Prilleltensky, 2003) and heightened educational, health, and nutritional insecurities that accompany loss of material resources (Carr and Sloan, 2003; Sachs, 2005).

Vocational psychologists must seek to advance knowledge and services not only for the middle-class who exercise some degree of choice in their lives, but also for the poor and unemployed who typically have less volition with regard to their education and work lives (Blustein, 2006, 2011b). With few notable exceptions (Super, 1957; Saks, 2005), however, vocational psychology has not devoted significant attention to research and intervention for the poor or the unemployed (Blustein, 2011b). This study seeks to assess a model of Positive Self and Relational Management (PS&RM) intended to be applicable for promoting the strengths of individuals across varied social classes in meeting the economic and workplace challenges of the twentyfirst century.

Current economic conditions are diminishing access to decent work for many segments of the population (ILO, 2015), while the salience of decent work as a fundamental human right central to human dignity and well-being has been widely affirmed. The concept of decent work was first introduced as part of the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights (United Nations, 1948), which states that: "Everyone has the right to work, to the free choice of employment, to just and favorable conditions of work and to protection against unemployment; everyone, without any discrimination, has the right to equal pay for equal work; everyone who works has the right to just and favorable remuneration ensuring for himself and his family an existence worthy of human dignity, and supplemented, if necessary, by other means of social protection." The Universal Declaration was confirmed by the International Labour Organization (ILO), the United Nations agency that aims to promote social justice and basic human and labor rights, stating that decent work should be assured for all workers (1999, 2015). Like the earlier UN proclamation, the ILO (1999, 2015) emphasized the importance of work availability for all those who want to work, basic rights for workers in the workplace (e.g., absence of discrimination or harassment and opportunities to exercise voice and participation through self-chosen representation), and working conditions that are safe, secure, and respect family and social values, provide a liveable income, and permit access to adequate health care.

The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO, 2009) has also reaffirmed the right for decent work, and the UNESCO Chair ≪Lifelong Guidance and Counselling≫ (Guichard, 2013a) has identified the indepth study of decent work, including a more equitable approach to economic growth and sustainable opportunities for the working poor, as one of the challenges for the Chair (Guichard, 2013a; Guichard and Di Fabio, 2015). The Chair, founded at the University of Wroclaw, Poland in 2013, part of UNITWIN/UNESCO Chairs Program, facilitates the networking of scholars from internationally recognized world universities, to develop an integrated system of research, training, information and documented activities in educational and vocational counseling. The Chair moreover aims to foster equal

opportunity, occupational mobility, and the development of vital career-related competencies through counseling projects and programs. The development of the PS&RM model was designed to meet the UNESCO call for research and intervention to develop personal competencies that will expand entry into decent work for the broad population.

In industrial and organizational psychology, the inclusive psychology of working (Blustein, 2006) offers a central theoretical framework relevant for conceptualizing the psychological importance of decent work for all people. According to this framework, decent work satisfies needs for power, relationship, and self-determination or the experience of engaging in activities that are experienced as authentic and motivating (Blustein, 2006). The psychology of working (Blustein, 2006) also recognizes that work and non-work experiences are highly interrelated, particularly in the sphere of human relationships. Blustein (2011a) enriched his theoretical articulation on the centrality of relationships in the relational theory of working, which recognizes that every work decision, experience, and interaction is influenced and shaped by relationships within and beyond the workplace (Blustein, 2011a). Decent work should thus foster competencies and conditions to support adaptive relationships in the workplace and beyond (Blustein, 2011a; Di Fabio, 2013a, 2014c). Moreover, given the importance of work and relationships as the major contexts of people's lives (Richardson, 2012), theory and practice need to be responsive to changes in contemporary life and guide people in constructing healthy lives through work and relationships. The PS&RM model affirms the role of work and relationships as interrelated and central to well-being for all people.

Additional theoretical shifts have emerged in vocational psychology in the twenty-first century in response to new challenges and transitions that have influenced and defined the PS&RM model. These theoretical developments include the shift from planning for career development to enhancing career management (Savickas, 2011b) and self-management skills (Guichard, 2013b; Di Fabio, 2014c). These theoretical developments are taking place in response to changes in work and life more broadly. While in the twentieth century individuals (at least those who were part of the broad middle class or above) were able to develop careers within a stable organization, career stability and security are less available for all in the twenty-first century (Savickas, 2011a). In the twenty-first century, work is often temporary and organizations are fluid (Savickas, 2011a). Rather that progressing through a predetermined and predictable series of stages (Super, 1957, 1980) or succession of vocational activities across the life span (Osipow, 1990), individuals now require a set of flexible career management and self-management skills to gain insight or reflexivity about themselves and their environments and to successfully navigate their increasingly unpredictable and chaotic career paths (Savickas, 2011b). For example, individuals have to maintain their employability when unemployed and actively manage their careers through adaptability, intentionality, life-long learning, autobiographical reasoning, and meaning-making (Savickas, 2011a). Life design is recognized as extending beyond career (Guichard, 2005) and integrating work and relationship in a dialectical manner across the entire life span (Di Fabio, 2014c). The notion of career management through self-management (Di Fabio, 2014c) thus emphasizes the importance of strengthening many aspects of self (Di Fabio, 2014b; Di Fabio et al., in press), including building resilience in order to adapt to changes in one's career and life pathways (Di Fabio et al., 2014; Di Fabio and Kenny, 2015). Career management and self-management draw upon psychological resources to maintain personal and social wellbeing in the midst of changing social and economic conditions and structures.

In the context of life design, the development of self and reflexivity are central processes (Savickas, 2011c; Guichard, 2013b). People are considered as having plural selves, with an individual's identity composed of a dynamic system of subjective identity forms (Guichard, 2005, 2013b). People interact in different contexts and with different experiences through which they develop different images of the self and take on roles that are different from one context to another (Guichard, 2005, 2013b). Through a dynamic and continuous process of reflexivity, individuals expand self-awareness and attribute meaning to their life experiences (Savickas, 2011a; Guichard, 2013b; Bernaud, 2015). In counseling dialogues, reflexivity enables individuals to discover their complexity and plurality, create personal meaning, define future objectives, and construct a future self with purpose and authenticity (Guichard, 2004, 2005; Di Fabio, 2014f).

In addition to shifts in vocational theory, the PS&RM model builds on developments in positive youth development (PYD, Catalano et al., 2004; Lerner et al., 2005; Di Fabio et al., 2014; Kozan et al., 2014) and positive psychology (Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi, 2000; Seligman, 2002), with a focus on the attainment of well-being from hedonic and eudaimonic perpsectives. Hedonic well-being refers to pleasure attainment and pain avoidance (Kahneman et al., 1999), while eudaimonic well-being refers to an optimal state of functioning, focusing on the cultivation of resources and strengths, personal selfrealization, and the attainment of personal meaning and pursuing life according to the true or authentic self (Ryan and Deci, 2001; Vázquez et al., 2006; Ryff and Singer, 2008; Waterman et al., 2010). Whereas hedonic and eudaimonic well-being are both valuable, eudaimonic well-being is particularly relevant to lifelong positive development. The pursuit of happiness or pleasure can lead persons to embrace goals and engage in activities that are not ultimately aligned with the realization of one's full potential or of benefit to society (Ryan and Deci, 2001; Ryff and Singer, 2008).

PYD emphasizes the importance of building individual resources and strengths, not only as protective factors for coping with challenge, but as resources that allow youth to fully thrive and contribute meaningfully to society (Di Fabio et al., in press). Positive Adult Development (PAD; Helson and Srivastava, 2001; Commons, 2002) similarly emphasizes the capacity of individuals to cope adaptively with change and challenge across the life course (Helson and Srivastava, 2001; Commons, 2002). Positive Lifelong Development (PLD; Colby and Damon, 1992) highlights resources that contribute to optimal health and life quality (Colby and Damon, 1992). In consideration of the above frameworks, PS&RM specifies positively lifelong development

as "the development of individuals' strengths, potentials, and varied talents from a lifespan perspective and the positive dialectic of the self in relationship" (Di Fabio, 2014b). The PS&RM model focuses on the promotion of self and relational management across varied personal and professional transitions toward the attainment of identitarian purposeful awareness and positive lifelong development (Di Fabio, 2014f). Identitarian purposeful awareness entails the realization of the authentic self, accompanied by a sense of meaning and purpose (Di Fabio, 2014f), and is thus congruent with eudaimonic conceptions of well-being.

In sum, the PS&RM model (Di Fabio, 2014b, 2015a) model was formulated for addressing the complex work and life challenges of the twenty-first century (Di Fabio, 2014b, 2015a) and the integral dialect of relationship across work and life contexts (Guichard, 2004; Blustein, 2011a; Savickas, 2011a; Di Fabio, 2014b, 2015a). PS&RM adopts a preventive perspective (Hage et al., 2007; Kenny and Hage, 2009; Di Fabio et al., in press), underlining the importance of individual strengths (Di Fabio and Palazzeschi, 2008a,b, 2009, 2012; Di Fabio and Blustein, 2010; Di Fabio and Kenny, 2012a; Di Fabio et al., 2012, 2013, 2014; Di Fabio and Saklofske, 2014a,b) and relational strengths (Blustein, 2011a; Di Fabio and Kenny, 2012b) to face the challenges of the twenty-first century and promote overall-well-being. PS&RM embraces Positive Psychology (Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi, 2000; Seligman, 2002), is aligned with PYD (Lerner, 2002; Kenny, 2007), and is informed by the inclusive psychology of working (Blustein, 2006), the relational theory of working (Blustein, 2011a), and contemporary developments in career theory, including Career Construction (Savickas, 2005), Self-Construction and Life-Construction (Guichard, 2005, 2013b), Life Meaning (Bernaud, 2015), and meta-reflection and reflexivity emphasizing self-insight and awareness (Guichard, 2009, 2013b; Maree, 2013; Di Fabio, 2014c).

At a more specific level, the PS&RM theoretical model is defined by three constructs: Positive Lifelong Life Management, Positive Lifelong Self-Management, and Positive Lifelong Relational Management. The operationalization of this model is as follows. The first construct, Positive Lifelong Life Management encompasses hedonic and eudaimonic well-being, and is measured by the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS, Watson et al., 1988) and the Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS, Diener et al., 1985), as indices of hedonic well-being; by Meaningful Life Measure (MLM, Morgan and Farsides, 2009) and the Authenticity Scale (AS; Wood et al., 2008), as indices of eudaimonic well-being, emphasizing life meaning and authenticity. The second construct, Positive Lifelong Self-Management emphasizes individual level resources and selfinsight for coping adaptively with change in the work domain and is assessed by Intrapreneurial Self-Capital Scale (ISC; Di Fabio, 2014d), the Career Adapt-Abilities Inventory (Savickas and Porfeli, 2012), and the Life Project Reflexivity Scale (Di Fabio, 2015b). The third construct, Positive Lifelong Relational Management assesses resources for relational adaptation within the workplace and beyond and is operationalized by the Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire (TEIQue; Petrides and

Furnham, 2004), the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS; Zimet et al., 1988), and the Positive Relational Management Scale (Di Fabio, 2015c).

The operationalization of the three PS&RM constructs is based upon a significant body of existing research. The measures of Positive Lifelong Life Management are widely used assessments of hedonic and eudaimonic well-being, including life meaning and authenticity, and have been associated with a range of valued life outcomes for individuals and for society (Ryan and Deci, 2001). Positive Lifelong Self-Management incorporates well-known constructs and measures, such as the Career Adapt-Abilities Inventory, developed, and studied by vocational psychologists interested in the individual resources needed for adapting to an uncertain and changing career context (Porfeli and Savickas, 2012; Savickas and Porfeli, 2012). Intrapreneurial self-capital (ISC) was developed by Di Fabio (2014c) to further specify and assess skills relevant for innovative and effective problem-solving in the context of uncertainty and change. The ISC metaconstruct encompasses nine individual factors (e.g., hardiness, resilience, positive self-concept, creative self-efficacy, decisiveness, and goal mastery) found in prior research to be associated with career adaptability, employability, and well-being (Di Fabio, 2014b). Di Fabio (2014c) confirmed the factor structure of the ISC metaconstruct as derived from the seven underlying constructs. The new ISC scale was found to correlate positively with career decision-self efficacy, perceived employability and school grade point average (GPA), and negatively with career decision-making difficulties. The Positive Lifelong Relational Management construct similarly incorporates widely used relational and social skills measures, such as emotional intelligence and social support, as well as a measure developed specifically to assess competencies relevant to the current challenges. The new Positive Relational Management Scale (PRMS, Di Fabio, 2015c) focuses on three positive dimensions of relationships, respect, care, and connection, that are relevant across multiple life domains.

The aim of this study is to empirically test the PS&RM theoretical model. Specifically, the present study addresses the following question: is there empirical evidence for the conceptualization of PS&RM as constituted by the three constructs of Positive Lifelong Life Management, Positive Lifelong Self-Management, Positive Lifelong Relational Management? In other words, does evidence exist for the latent constructs of Positive Lifelong Life Management, Positive Lifelong Self-Management, and Positive Lifelong Relational Management?

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Participants are 184 Italian students of the University of Florence. Regarding gender, 81 participants were male (44%) and 103 participants were female (56%). The age of the participants ranged from 22 to 27 years (M = 24.13; SD = 1.79). Participants were predominantly White Italians from middleclass backgrounds.

Measures

Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS)

To evaluate positive affect (PA) and negative affect (NA), the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS, Watson et al., 1988) in the Italian version by Terracciano et al. (2003) was used. The PANAS is composed of 20 adjectives of which 10 refer to Positive Affect (PA; e.g., enthusiastic, interested, determined) and 10 to Negative Affect (NA; e.g., afraid, upset, distressed). The participants has to indicate to what extent they generally feel on average on a Likert scale from 1 = Very slightly or not at all to 5 = Extremely. The Cronbach's alpha coefficients were:0.71 for Positive Affect and 0.81 for Negative Affect in the present study;0.72 for Positive Affect and 0.83 for Negative Affect in the Terracciano et al. (2003) study. Regarding the validity of the Italian version of the PANAS, a positive but moderate relation was found between Positive Affect and Extraversion and an inverse but moderate relation was found between Negative Affect and Neuroticism, similar to findings with the original American version (Terracciano et al., 2003). Furthermore the Italian version of the PANAS showed predictive validity in relation to depression (Terracciano et al., 2003).

Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS)

To evaluate life satisfaction, the Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS, Diener et al., 1985) in the Italian version by Di Fabio and Gori (2015) was used. The scale consist of five items (e.g., "I am satisfied with my life," "The conditions of my life are excellent") on a 7-point Likert scale from 1 = Strongly disagree to 7 = Strongly agree. The scale has a one-dimensional factorial structure. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient is 0.88 in the present study and 0.85 in the Di Fabio and Gori (2015) study that validated the Italian version of the scale. Regarding concurrent validity, Di Fabio and Gori found the Italian version of the SWLS to be positively correlated with the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (Rosenberg, 1965).

Meaningful Life Measure (MLM)

To evaluate meaning in life, the Meaningful Life Measure (MLM, Morgan and Farsides, 2009) in the Italian version by Di Fabio (2014e) was used. The questionnaire is composed of 23 items on a 7-point Likert scale from 1 = Strongly disagree to 7 = Strongly agree. The MLM detects five dimensions: Exciting life (e.g., "Life to me seems always exciting"), Accomplished life (e.g., "So far, I am pleased with what I have achieved in life"), Principled life (e.g., "I have a personal value system that makes my life worthwhile"), Purposeful life (e.g., "I have a clear idea of what my future goals and aims are"), Valued life (e.g., "My life is significant"). The Cronbach's alpha coefficients were: for Exciting life, 0.85 in the present study and 0.87 in the study relative to the Italian version; for Accomplished life 0.83 in the present study and 0.86 in the Di Fabio (2014e) study that validated the scale for the Italian context; for Principled life, 0.84 in the present study and 0.85 in the Italian validation study; for Purposeful life, 0.84 in the present study and 0.87 in the Italian validation; for Valued life, 0.83 in the present study and 0.85 for the Italian validation. Regarding the concurrent validity of the Italian version of the MLM, positive

relationships emerged with life satisfaction and positive affect and inverse relationships with negative affect (Di Fabio, 2014e).

Authenticity Scale (AS)

To evaluate authenticity, the Authenticity Scale (AS; Wood et al., 2008) in the Italian version by Di Fabio (2014a) was used. The measure is composed of 12 items with a response format on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = Does not describe me atall to 7 = Describes me very well. The scale provides a total score of authenticity and also the scores for three dimensions of authenticity: Self-alienation (e.g., "I feel out of touch with the real me"), Authentic living (e.g., "I am true to myself in most situations"), and Accepting external influence (e.g., "I always feel I need to do what others expect of me"). The Cronbach's alpha coefficients were: for Self-alienation, 0.83 in the present study and 0.81 in the Di Fabio (2014a) study that validated the Italian version; for Authentic living, 0.80 in the present study and 0.79 in the Italian validation study; for Accepting external influence, 0.81 in the present study and 0.84 in the Italian validation study. Regarding concurrent validity of the Italian version of the AS, positive relationships emerged with self-esteem, life satisfaction, and positive affect and inverse relationships with negative affect (Di Fabio, 2014a).

Intrapreneurial Self-Capital Scale (ISC)

The Intrapreneurial Self-Capital Scale (ISC; Di Fabio, 2014c) was used to assess a higher order construct related to the individual resources for innovation and problem solving in the context of uncertainty. The ISC scale is composed of 28 items (e.g., "I am able to deal with most of my problems," "I'm able to improve the ideas produced by others," "One of my goals in training is to learn as much as I can") with a response format on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = Strongly agree to 5 = Strongly disagree. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient was 0.84 in the present study and 0.86 in the Di Fabio (2014c) study reporting on the development of the scale. Regarding the validity of the ISC, a positive relationship between ISC and academic performance in terms of Grade Point Average supported predictive validity of the scale (Di Fabio, 2014c). Furthermore the positive relationship of the ISC with perceived employability and career decision selfefficacy and the inverse relation of ISC with career decisionmaking difficulties supported concurrent validity of the scale (Di Fabio, 2014c).

Career Adapt-Abilities Scale (CAAS)

To evaluate career adaptability, the Career Adapt-Abilities Scale (CAAS; Savickas and Porfeli, 2012) in the Italian version for young adults (Di Fabio, 2016c) was used. The scale is composed of 24 items with a response format on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = Strongest to 5 = Not strong. The scale assesses four dimensions of career adaptability: Concern (e.g., "Thinking about what my future will be like," "Realizing that today's choices shape my future"), Control (e.g., "Taking responsibility for my actions," "Doing what's right for me"), Curiosity (e.g., "Looking for opportunities to grow as a person," "Becoming curious about new opportunities"), Confidence (e.g., "Performing tasks efficiently," "Working up to my ability"). The Cronbach's alpha

coefficients were: for Concern, 0.83 in the present study and 0.85 in the Di Fabio (2016c) study that validated the Italian version for young adults; for Control, 0.84 in the present study and 0.86 in the Di Fabio (2016c) study; for Curiosity, 0.82 in the present study and 0.83 in the Di Fabio (2016c) study; for Confidence, 0.81 in the present study and 0.82 in the study relative to the Italian version for young adults. Regarding the Italian version of the CAAS for young adults, relationships emerged between the CAAS and both self-perceived employability and authenticity (Di Fabio, 2016c).

Life Project Reflexivity Scale (LPRS)

The Life Project Reflexivity Scale (LPRS; Di Fabio, 2015b) was used to assess reflexivity on one's future career and life projects according to the authentic self, as opposed to acquiescing to others. The scale is composed of 21 items and three dimensions (e.g., Project actuality: "The projects for my future life are clear and defined"; Authenticity: "The projects for my future life are aligned with my most authentic values"; Acquiescence: "The projects for my future life are aligned with societal values, rather than with my most authentic values") with a response format on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = Strongly agree to 5 = Strongly disagree. The Cronbach's alpha coefficients were: for Project actuality, 0.76 in the present study and 0.77 in the scale development study (Di Fabio, 2015b); for Authenticity, 0.79 in the present study and 0.78 in the Di Fabio (2015b) study; for Acquiescence, 0.82 in the present study and 0.80 reported by Di Fabio (2015b). Regarding the concurrent validity, positive relationships emerged between the LPRS and both authenticity and meaning in life (Di Fabio, 2015b).

Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire (TEIQue)

To evaluate trait emotional intelligence, the Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire (TEIQue; Petrides and Furnham, 2004) in the Italian version by Di Fabio (2013b) was used. The questionnaire is composed of 153 items with response options on a 7-point Likert scale format ranging from 1 =Completely disagree to 7 = Completely agree. The questionnaire provides a total score, and scores for four principal dimensions: Wellbeing (e.g., "I feel that I have a number of good qualities," "On the whole, I'm pleased with my life," "I generally believe that things will work out fine in my life"), Self-Control (e.g., "I'm usually able to calm down quickly after I've got mad at someone," "I would describe myself as a calm person," "Controlling my urges is not a big problem for me"), Emotionality (e.g., "I often find it difficult to recognize what emotion I'm feeling," "I find it difficult to tell others that I love them even when I want to," "It is very important to me to get along with all my close friends and family"), and Sociability (e.g., "I can deal effectively with people," "If I wanted to, it would be easy for me to make someone angry," "I have many reasons for not giving up easily"). The Cronbach's alpha coefficients were: for Well-being 0.88 in the present study and 0.90 in the Di Fabio (2013b) study that developed the Italian version; for Self-control, 0.82 in the present study and 0.83 in the Di Fabio (2013b) study;0.83 in the present study and 0.86 in Di Fabio (2013b); for Sociability, 0.82 in the present study and 0.85 in Di Fabio (2013b). Regarding convergent and discriminant validity of the Italian version of the TEIQue (Di Fabio, 2013b), positive correlations emerged between TEIQue and Bar-On Emotional Quotient Inventory (Bar-On EQ-I, Bar-On, 1997). In contrast, low and non-significant correlations between the TEIQue and ability-based emotional intelligence detected through the Mayer, Salovey and Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test (MSCEIT, Mayer et al., 2002), indicating that these measures tap two different aspects of the same construct. Furthermore, low to moderate positive correlations between the TEIQue and personality traits emerged, indicating that Trait EI presents some overlap with aspects of personality, but is also a distinct construct.

Multidimensional Scale for Perceived Social Support (MSPSS)

The total score of Multidimensional Scale for Perceived Social Support (MSPSS; Zimet et al., 1988) in the Italian version by Di Fabio and Palazzeschi (2015) was used to evaluate perceived social support from family, friends, and significant others. The scale is composed of 12 items (e.g., "My family works very hard to help me," "I can speak about my problems with my friends," "When I need someone, there is always a special person who stands by me," with response options in a 7-point Likert scale format ranging from 1 = Strongly disagree to 7 = Strongly agree. The Cronbach's alpha coefficients were: for family support, 0.91 in the present study and 0.92 in the Di Fabio and Palazzeschi (2015) study that validated the Italian version; for friends support, 0.94 in the present study and 0.90 in Di Fabio and Palazzeschi (2015); for the significant others support, 0.90 in the present study and 0.93 in the Di Fabio and Palazzeschi (2015) study. Regarding concurrent validity, positive relationships emerged between the MSPSS, and social support (Di Fabio and Palazzeschi, 2015).

Positive Relational Management Scale (PRMS)

The Positive Relational Management Scale (PRMS; Di Fabio, 2015c) assesses three positive dimensions of relationships, including respect (my respect for others, respect of others for myself, my respect for myself), care (my care for others, care of others for myself, my care for myself), and connection (my connection with family, with friends, with significant others). The scale is composed of 12 items and three dimensions (e.g., Respect: "I keep a balance between respect toward others and toward myself"; Caring: "I often take care of others"; Connection: "I have good relationships with my family") with a response format on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = Strongly agree to 5 = Strongly disagree. The Cronbach's alpha coefficients were: for Respect 0.80 in the present study and 0.81 in the Di Fabio (2015c) study reporting on the development of the scale; for Caring, 0.80 in the present study and 0.79 in the Di Fabio (2015c) study; for Connection, 0.81 in the present study and 0.80 in Di Fabio (2015c). Regarding the concurrent validity, positive relationships emerged between the PRMS and perceived social support (Di Fabio, 2015c).

Procedure and Data Analysis

The questionnaires were administered to groups of participants by trained psychologists. Students participated voluntarily in the study and were not compensated. The order of administration of the questionnaires were counterbalanced to control for possible effects of presentation during the administration. The questionnaires were administered according to the laws of privacy and informed consent of the Italian law (Law Decree DL-196/2003). Concerning ethical standards for research, the study followed procedures consistent with the latest version of the Declaration of Helsinki revised in Fortaleza [World Medical Association (WMA), 2013].

Descriptive statistics and Pearson's r correlations were computed. Confirmatory factor analysis of the PS&RM model conducted through structural equation modeling using AMOS version 6 (Arbuckle, 2005). The adequacy of the model was tested based upon the χ^2 /df, the Comparative Fit Index (CFI, Bentler, 1990) and the Non-Normed Fit Index (NNFI, Tucker and Lewis, 1973), and the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA, Browne and Cudeck, 1993).

RESULTS

Means, standard deviations, and correlations between the variables included in the model are reported in **Table 1**.

To test the PS&RM model through confirmatory factor analysis, structural equation modeling was conducted using the total scores for each variable included as an oberved variables in the model. The observed variables as previsouly described include: positive affect and negative affect (PANAS, Watson et al., 1988), life satisfaction (SWLS, Diener et al., 1985), meaning in life (MLM, Morgan and Farsides, 2009) and authenticity (Wood et al., 2008) to assess Positive Lifelong Life Management; Intrapreneurial Self-Capital (ISC; Di Fabio, 2014d), career adaptability (Concern, Control, Curiosity, Confidence; Savickas and Porfeli, 2012), and life project reflexivity (Di Fabio, 2015b) to assess Positive Lifelong Self-Management; and the four TEIQue dimensions (Well-being, Self-Control, Emotionality, Sociability; Petrides and Furnham, 2004), perceived social support (Zimet et al., 1988), and positive relational management (Di Fabio, 2015c) to assess Positive Lifelong Relational Management. Goodness of fit for the model was evaluated using established criteria (See Figure 1). Values of the χ^2/df between 1 and 3 are considered indices of a good model fit. The Comparative Fit Index (CFI, Bentler, 1990) and the Non-Normed Fit Index (NNFI, Tucker and Lewis, 1973) are considered indicative of a good fit when the values are higher than 0.90 (Bentler, 1990). Also values for the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA, Browne and Cudeck, 1993) lower than 0.08 also indicate a good model fit. In Table 2 fit indices and fit changes for different compared models are reported. The first model corresponds to the theoretical hypothesized model with a latent construct PS&RM operationalized by three lower order latent constructs: Positive Lifelong Life Management with five indicators, Positive Lifelong Self-Management with three indicators, and Positive Lifelong Relational Management with three indicators. Inspection of the modification indices suggested several changes to improve the model fit. Considering that the correlations among the indicators, as apparent in Table 1 and theoretical support for these correlations, subsequent models L L

| TABLE 2 | Fit indices and fit changes for model 1 trough model 7. |
|---------|---|
| | |

| Model 1 59.42(43) 0.11 Cl [0.10, 0.13] 0.89 0.89 $p < 0$ Model 2 58.34(42) 0.10 Cl [0.09, 0.11] 0.89 0.90 1.08(1) $p < 0$ Model 3 55.74(41) 0.09 Cl [0.08, 0.10] 0.90 0.90 2.60(1) $p < 0$ Model 4 54.37(40) 0.09 Cl [0.07, 0.10] 0.91 0.90 1.37(1) $p < 0$ Model 5 52.73(39) 0.08 Cl [0.06, 0.09] 0.91 0.91 1.64(1) $p < 0$ Model 6 50.54(38) 0.07 Cl [0.06, 0.08] 0.92 0.91 2.19(1) $p < 0$ | | | | | | | |
|---|---------|---------------|----------------------|------|------|-----------------------------|-----------------|
| Model 2 58.34(42) 0.10 Cl [0.09, 0.11] 0.89 0.90 1.08(1) $p < 0$ Model 3 55.74(41) 0.09 Cl [0.08, 0.10] 0.90 0.90 2.60(1) $p < 0$ Model 4 54.37(40) 0.09 Cl [0.07, 0.10] 0.91 0.90 1.37(1) $p < 0$ Model 5 52.73(39) 0.08 Cl [0.06, 0.09] 0.91 0.91 1.64(1) $p < 0$ Model 6 50.54(38) 0.07 Cl [0.06, 0.08] 0.92 0.91 2.19(1) $p < 0$ | | χ^2 (df) | RMSEA | CFI | NNFI | $\Delta \chi^2 (\Delta df)$ | ∆ Sig. |
| Model 355.74(41)0.09 Cl [0.08, 0.10]0.900.902.60(1) $p < 0$ Model 454.37(40)0.09 Cl [0.07, 0.10]0.910.901.37(1) $p < 0$ Model 552.73(39)0.08 Cl [0.06, 0.09]0.910.911.64(1) $p < 0$ Model 650.54(38)0.07 Cl [0.06, 0.08]0.920.912.19(1) $p < 0$ | Model 1 | 59.42(43) | 0.11 CI [0.10, 0.13] | 0.89 | 0.89 | | p < 0.05 |
| Model 4 54.37(40) 0.09 Cl [0.07, 0.10] 0.91 0.90 1.37(1) $p < 0$ Model 5 52.73(39) 0.08 Cl [0.06, 0.09] 0.91 0.91 1.64(1) $p < 0$ Model 6 50.54(38) 0.07 Cl [0.06, 0.08] 0.92 0.91 2.19(1) $p < 0$ | Model 2 | 58.34(42) | 0.10 CI [0.09, 0.11] | 0.89 | 0.90 | 1.08(1) | p < 0.05 |
| Model 552.73(39)0.08 Cl [0.06, 0.09]0.910.911.64(1) $p < 0$ Model 650.54(38)0.07 Cl [0.06, 0.08]0.920.912.19(1) $p < 0$ | Model 3 | 55.74(41) | 0.09 CI [0.08, 0.10] | 0.90 | 0.90 | 2.60(1) | p < 0.05 |
| Model 6 50.54(38) 0.07 Cl [0.06, 0.08] 0.92 0.91 2.19(1) p < 0 | Model 4 | 54.37(40) | 0.09 CI [0.07, 0.10] | 0.91 | 0.90 | 1.37(1) | p < 0.05 |
| | Model 5 | 52.73(39) | 0.08 CI [0.06, 0.09] | 0.91 | 0.91 | 1.64(1) | p < 0.05 |
| Model 7 44.77(37) 0.05 CI [0.04, 0.06] 0.93 0.93 5.77(1) $p < 0$ | Model 6 | 50.54(38) | 0.07 CI [0.06, 0.08] | 0.92 | 0.91 | 2.19(1) | p < 0.05 |
| | Model 7 | 44.77(37) | 0.05 CI [0.04, 0.06] | 0.93 | 0.93 | 5.77(1) | <i>p</i> < 0.01 |

allowed residual errors among the indicators to correlate. As such, we inserted one covariance (starting from the more significant) in each model, with the final model showing covariance of indicators within model constructs.

The goodness-of-fit indices for the best model are the following: $\chi^2/df = 1.21$, RMSEA = 0.05, confidence interval [0.04, 0.06], NNFI = 0.93, CFI = 0.93.

An evaluation of these indices in relation to the results of the analysis for this study reveals good fit and support for the PS&RM model.

DISCUSSION

< 0.001.

- d***

"*p < 0.01;

*p < 0.05;

84.

The aim of the present study was to provide empirical support for the conceptualization of PS&RM (Di Fabio, 2014b, 2015a). The study sought to establish the empirical validity of the latent construct PS&RM operationalized by three lower order latent constructs: Positive Lifelong Life Management, Positive Lifelong Self-Management, and Positive Lifelong Relational Management.

Structural equation modeling confirmed the hypothesized structure articulated by the three lower order latent constructs: Positive Lifelong Life Management, Positive Lifelong Self-Management, and Positive Lifelong Relational Management. The construct of Positive Lifelong Life Management integrates hedonic and eudaimonic well-being, meaning in life and authenticity. Given that rapid social, economic, technological, and career change can disrupt a sense of meaning, coherence, and well-being (Masten, 2014), the capacity for sustaining wellbeing, meaning, and authenticity in the context of change and disruption are considered adaptive. Positive Lifelong Life Management incorporates hedonic well-being, including the presence of positive affect, the absence of negative affect (Watson et al., 1988) and the presence of life satisfaction (Diener et al., 1985). It also encompasses dimensions of eudaimonic well-being hypothesized as fundamental for optimal life management. These dimensions are aligned with prior research on the realization of authenticity (Wood et al., 2008), the authentic self (Di Fabio, 2014f), meaning in life (Morgan and Farsides, 2009), authentic meaning (Bernaud, 2015), and purposeful identitarian awareness (Di Fabio, 2014f). Di Fabio (2014a,e) recently introduced the construct of purposeful identitarian awareness as a preventive life-management competency that includes awareness of the authentic self, including knowledge of one's intrinsic interests

| | Ν | Sa | - | N | e | 4 | 2 | 9 | 7 | ø | 6 | 10 | ÷ | 42 | 13 | 14 | 15 | 16 | 17 |
|-------------------------------------|--------|-------|---------|---------|--------|--------|---------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|---------|----|----|
| 1. Positive Affect | 20.12 | 6.13 | I | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 2. Negative Affect | 20.19 | 5.35 | 0.76*** | I | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Life satisfaction | 21.65 | 5.97 | 0.57** | -0.45** | I | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 4. Meaning in life | 92.40 | 14.17 | 0.40** | -0.33** | 0.43** | I | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 5. Authenticity | 44.60 | 7.48 | 0.32** | -0.28* | 0.47** | 0.52** | I | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 6. ISC | 101.54 | 10.24 | 0.49** | -0.48** | 0.43** | 0.57** | 0.37** | I | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 7. Concern | 19.69 | 4.65 | 0.30** | -0.29* | 0.35** | 0.33** | 0.13 | 0.36** | I | | | | | | | | | | |
| 8. Control | 20.54 | 4.52 | 0.26** | -0.24* | 0.39** | 0.37** | 0.23* | 0.45** | 0.44** | I | | | | | | | | | |
| 9. Curiosity | 21.28 | 4.14 | 0.29** | -0.24* | 0.33** | 0.30** | 0.12 | 0.34** | 0.36** | 0.49** | I | | | | | | | | |
| 10. Confidence | 21.86 | 4.54 | 0.30** | -0.22* | 0.37** | 0.32** | 0.23** | 0.50** | 0.41** | 0.68** | 0.56** | I | | | | | | | |
| 11. LPRS | 70.88 | 10.13 | 0.32** | -0.29** | 0.36** | 0.37** | 0.20* | 0.45** | 0.28** | 0.42** | 0.19* | 0.29** | Ι | | | | | | |
| 12. Well-being | 15.10 | 4.81 | 0.48** | -0.41** | 0.44** | 0.37** | 0.37** | 0.61** | 0.21* | 0.40** | 0.19* | 0.39** | 0.44** | I | | | | | |
| 13. Self-control | 14.20 | 4.61 | 0.22* | -0.21** | 0.46** | 0.39** | 0.25** | 0.40** | 0.17 | 0.25** | 0.07 | 0.28** | 0.20** | 0.25** | I | | | | |
| 14. Emotionality | 15.00 | 4.70 | 0.33** | -0.31** | 0.44** | 0.40** | 0.47** | 0.37** | 0.23** | 0.32** | 0.30** | 0.23* | 0.25** | 0.44** | 0.30** | I | | | |
| 15. Sociability | 14.61 | 4.60 | 0.35** | -0.33** | 0.48** | 0.38** | 0.41** | 0.50** | 0.29** | 0.29** | 0.26** | 0.34** | 0.19* | 0.51** | 0.16 | 0.50** | I | | |
| 16. MSPSS | 23.29 | 4.65 | 0.26** | -0.30** | 0.28** | 0.25** | 0.19* | 0.12 | 0.13 | 0.10 | 0.03 | 0.12 | 0.16 | 0.24** | 0.05 | 0.14 | 0.16 | I | |
| 17, PRSM | 47.33 | 200 | **OC U | ×*Y0 ∪ | **07 0 | **0000 | ** 00 0 | ***000 | | ***00 | **0000 | *00 0 | **0000 | **04 0 | Ť | **0000 | ** ** 0 | | |



(Sheldon and Houser-Marko, 2001) and a striving toward goals that matter both personally and socially (Di Fabio, 2014d).

The second construct Positive Lifelong Self-Management emphasizes self and intraindividual resources considered important for coping proactively with the challenges of the post-modern era (Di Fabio, 2014c). These resources encompass the meta-competencies of ISC, adaptability, and reflexivity (Di Fabio, 2014f). Adaptability resources, including concern about the future; control or the application of self-discipline, effort, and persistence to shape and prepare for the future; curiosity or the capacity to think about oneself in a variety of future roles; and confidence that one can pursue hoped-for choices and aspirations, can be drawn upon to cope with undefined, unfamiliar, and uncertain life demands (Savickas and Porfeli, 2012). Reflexivity (Guichard, 2004, 2005; Maree, 2013) contributes to personal efforts to construct personal meaning, identification of the essence of one's authentic self, and development of one's own purposeful identitarian awareness (Di Fabio, 2014f).

The third construct Positive Lifelong Relational Management includes personal (e.g., trait emotional intelligence; Petrides and Furnham, 2004) and social resources (perceived social support; Zimet et al., 1988) and the dialectic of self in relationship (positive relational management; Di Fabio, 2015c) hypothesized as central for adaptive relational functioning while managing the life challenges of the twenty-first century. The contributions of emotional intelligence and social support for adaptive social, emotional and career functioning have been widely documented in prior research (Di Fabio and Kenny, 2012a,b; Di Fabio et al., 2014). The value of positive relational management has been confirmed in studies with Italian university students and Italian workers (Di Fabio, 2016a,b), showing associations between positive relational management and acceptance of change, perceived employability, well-being, and academic and workplace relational civility in terms of relational readiness, relational culture, and relational decency toward the others.

In sum, the current study provides empirical support for the conceptualization of PS&RM as Positive Lifelong Life Management, Positive Lifelong Self-Management, Positive Lifelong Relational Management. Considered collectively, the three dimensions consider the importance of advancing a state of well-being that benefits the individual and society and promotes personal skills to adapt to change and uncertainty while integrating and balancing individual, relational, and community concerns and interests. Together, the dimensions are supportive of decent work and decent life.

Although the results of the present study test the PS&RM model (Di Fabio, 2014b, 2015a), some limitations need to be considered. The sample characteristics limit generalizability of the findings. In fact, the present research included a group of Italian university students who were not representative of Italian context. Future studies should include participants more representative of the broader Italian population, taking into consideration other geographical areas. Future studies should test the model and replicate the findings with larger samples. Future research will also need to test the PS&RM model in other international contexts and with samples across varied social classes and employment statuses. Since our goal is to develop and test an inclusive construct, establishing the construct validity of the model for diverse populations will be vital. Although the constructs and measures incorporated into the model have been validated in prior research as predictive of social, psychological and career adaptation and life-long well-being, the value of this model and its parsimony in explaining positive adaptation and well-being in comparison with alternative models needs to be established, especially with diverse populations. While our model is specified as lifespan relevant, future research should assess its applicability and value in the context of specific life transitions.

If the PS&RM model is tested and validated in future research with diverse populations, it may offer a useful framework for preventive intervention. As a preventive framework (Hage et al., 2007; Kenny and Hage, 2009; Di Fabio et al., in press), PS&RM underlines the importance of building individual (Di Fabio and Blustein, 2010; Di Fabio and Kenny, 2012a; Di Fabio and Palazzeschi, 2012; Di Fabio et al., 2012, 2013, 2014; Di Fabio and Saklofske, 2014a,b) and relational strengths (Blustein, 2011a; Di Fabio and Kenny, 2012b) that should be helpful in adapting and thriving despite the disruptions of the twentyfirst century. The focus of the model on building strengths draws from positive psychology (Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi, 2000; Seligman, 2002) and emphasizes the attainment of higher levels of eudaimonic well-being, including meaning, authenticity and social purpose. Since social and economic change can be disruptive to a sense of meaning and coherence, maintaining well-being is an adaptive capacity. The PS&RM model also highlights the dialectic of the self in relationship (Blustein, 2011a; Di Fabio, 2014b, 2015a) as relevant for creating a rich career and life project (Di Fabio, 2014c) and for decent work, simultaneously balancing and integrating needs for power, for relationship, and for self-determination (Blustein, 2006). The capacity for building strengths and resources aligned with this model through preventive intervention is already being documented by initiatives of the International Laboratory of Research and Intervention in Vocational Guidance and Career Counseling and the International Laboratory in Positive Psychology and Prevention at the University of Florence (Di Fabio et al., in press). The Laboratory is engaged in the design and evaluation of school and workplace based interventions to build self and career management through the narrative assessment of career competencies, life design activities, and the promotion of specific competencies, such as emotional intelligence and intrapreneurial self-capital. The further validation of this model will provide a strong conceptual foundation for furthering these and other efforts to build culturally and contextually sensitive interventions.

It is our hope that the preventive and relational framework specified by the PS&RM model can contribute to building decent work and decent lives for many people in the twenty-first century. We propose that life construction (Guichard, 2013b) should seek to expand well-being with a focus on positive life management, positive self-management and positive relational management. PS&RM might thus be a framework for building well-being and psychological decency through attention to the authentic self (Di Fabio, 2014f), purposeful identitarian awareness (Guichard, 2013b; Di Fabio, 2014f), and the centrality of relational processes (Blustein, 2011a). It is essential to recognize that the model is entirely psychological and thus limited in its capacity to foster decent work and decent lives. We focus in this model on the subjective experience of decent work and life and what vocational and relational psychology can do to assist persons in developing the resources to thrive despite challenging and disruptive life circumstances. In recognition that this state of uncertainty and disruption may be persistent, we emphasize the value of the individual's psychological resources in positively and constructively managing one's self, life, and career. Nonetheless we are also hesitant to place too much responsibility for adaption and well-being on individuals. In a multidisciplinary framework, the psychological perspective complements the perspectives of economics and public policy in framing interventions to promote decent work. The psychological perspective does not, however, preclude the economic, social, organizational, and political policies and actions that need to be implemented to broaden opportunity and access to resources, so that equal access to decent work, rather than adjustment to scarcity, insecurity, uncertainty, and inequality, is the context for life construction.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AD and MK conceptualized the study, chose the theoretical framework and chose the measures. AD collected the data and with MK wrote the methods and results. Then the authors wrote the paper together and read and revised the manuscript several times.

REFERENCES

Arbuckle, J. L. (2005). Amos 6.0 User's Guide. Chicago, IL: SPSS Inc.

- Bar-On, R. (1997). The Emotional Intelligence Inventory (EQ-i): Technical Manual. Toronto, ON, Canada: Multi-Health Systems.
- Bentler, P. M. (1990). Comparative fit indexes in structural models. *Psychol. Bull.* 107, 238–246. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.107.2.238
- Bernaud, J.-L. (2015). Psychologie de L'accompagnement: Concepts et Outils pour Développer le Sens de la vie et du Travail. Paris: Dunod.
- Blustein, D. L. (2006). The Psychology of Working: A New Perspective for Career Development, Counseling and Public Policy. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Blustein, D. L. (2011a). A relational theory of working. J. Vocat. Behav. 79, 1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2010.10.004
- Blustein, D. L. (2011b). Vocational psychology at the fork in the road: staying the course or taking the road less traveled. J. Career Assess. 19, 316–322. doi: 10.1177/1069072710395537
- Browne, M. W., and Cudeck, R. (1993). "Alternative ways of assessing model fit," in *Testing Structural Equation Models*, eds K. A. Bollen and J. S. Long (Newbury Park, CA: Sage), 136–162.
- Carr, S. C., and Sloan, T. S. (2003). Poverty and Psychology: From Global Perspective to Local Practice. New York, NY: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Catalano, R. F., Berglund, M. L., Ryan, J. A. M., Lonczak, H. S., and Hawkins, J. D. (2004). Positive youth development in the United States: research findings on evaluations of positive youth development programs. *Ann. Am. Acad. Polit. Soc. Sci.* 591, 98–124. doi: 10.1177/0002716203260102
- Colby, A., and Damon, W. (1992). Some Do Care: Contemporary Lives of Moral Commitment. New York, NY: Free Press.
- Commons, M. L. (2002). Introduction: attaining a new stage. J. Adult Dev. 9, 155–157. doi: 10.1023/A:1016099908688
- Di Fabio, A. (2013a). "De la tradition à l'innovation dans la recherche en Italie pour le conseil et l'orientation tout au long de la vie [From tradition to innovation in research in Italy for lifelong counseling and guidance]," in *Problématiques de* Recherche *dans le* Domaine *du* Conseil *et de l'Orientation [Research* Problems *in the* Field *of* Counseling *and* Guidance], eds G. Aisenson and V. Cohen Scali (Chairs) (Wroclaw: Symposium conducted at the International scientific conference Chaire UNESCO in Life long guidance).
- Di Fabio, A. (2013b). Trait emotional intelligence questionnaire (TEIQue): Un contributo alla validazione della versione italiana [Trait emotional intelligence questionnaire (TEIQue): a contribution to the Italian version]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* 6, 351–362.
- Di Fabio, A. (2014a). Authenticity scale: un primo contributo alla validazione della versione italiana [Authenticity scale: a first contribution to validation of the Italian version]. *Couns. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* 7, 231–238.
- Di Fabio, A. (2014b). Career counseling and positive psychology in the 21st century: new constructs and measures for evaluating the effectiveness of intervention. *J. Counsell.* 1, 193–213.
- Di Fabio, A. (2014c). "Constructing my Future Purposeful Life: A new Life Construction intervention," in *The Construction of the Identity in 21st Century:* A Festschrift for Jean Guichard, eds A. Di Fabio and J.-L. Bernaud (New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers), 219–239.
- Di Fabio, A. (2014d). Intrapreneurial Self-Capital: a new construct for the 21st century. J. Employ. Counsel. 51, 98–111. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2014.00045.x
- Di Fabio, A. (2014e). Meaningful Life Measure: Primo contributo alla validazione della versione italiana [Meaningful life measure: first contribution to the validation of the Italian version]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* 7, 307–315.
- Di Fabio, A. (2014f). "The new purposeful identitarian awareness for the twentyfirst century: valorize themselves in the Life Construction from youth to adulthood and late adulthood," in *The Construction of the Identity in 21st Century: A Festschrift for Jean Guichard*, eds A. Di Fabio and J.-L. Bernaud (New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers), 157–168.
- Di Fabio, A. (2015a). Beyond fluid intelligence and personality traits in social support: the role of ability based emotional intelligence. *Front. Psychol.* 6:395. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00395
- Di Fabio, A. (2015b). Life Project Reflexivity Scale: Un nuovo strumento orientativo per il XXI secolo [Life project reflexivity scale: a new career counseling tool for the 21st century]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* Retrieved from: http://rivistedigitali.erickson.it/counseling/archivio/vol-8-n-3/

- Di Fabio, A. (2015c). Positive relational management scale per rilevare positività e complessità [Positive relational management scale to detect positivity and complexity]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* Retrieved from: http://rivistedigitali.erickson.it/counseling/archivio/vol-8-n-3/
- Di Fabio, A. (2016a). Positive relational management: accettazione del cambiamento, employability, well-being [positive relational management: acceptance of change, employability, well-being]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* Retrieved from: http://rivistedigitali.erickson.it/counseling/archivio/vol-9-n-1/
- Di Fabio, A. (2016b). Positive relational management: from academic to workplace relational civility [positive relational management: from academic to workplace relational civility]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.*
- Di Fabio, A. (2016c). Career adapt-abilities scale: proprietà psicometriche della versione italiana per giovani adulti [Career adapt-abilities scale: psychometric properties of the Italian version for young adults]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* 9. doi: 10.14605/CS911609
- Di Fabio, A., and Blustein, D. L. (2010). Emotional intelligence and decisional conflict styles: some empirical evidence among Italian high school students. *J. Career Assess.* 18, 71–81. doi: 10.1177/1069072709350904
- Di Fabio, A., and Gori, A. (2015). Measuring adolescent life satisfaction: psychometric properties of the satisfaction with life scale in a sample of italian adolescents and young adults. *J. Psychoeducational Assess.* doi: 10.1177/0734282915621223
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2012a). The contribution of emotional intelligence to decisional styles among Italian high school students. J. Career Assess. 20, 404–414. doi: 10.1177/1069072712448893
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2012b). Emotional intelligence and perceived social support among Italian high school students. J. Career Dev. 39, 461–475. doi: 10.1177/0894845311421005
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2015). The contributions of emotional intelligence and social support for adaptive career progress among Italian youth. J. Career Dev. 42, 48–49. doi: 10.1177/0894845314533420
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2008a). Emotional intelligence and self-efficacy in a sample of Italian high school teacher. Soc. Behav. Pers. 36, 315–326. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2008.36.3.315
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2008b). Indécision vocationnelle et intelligence émotionnelle: quelques données empiriques sur un échantillon d'apprentis italiens. *Prat. Psychol.* 14, 213–222. doi: 10.1016/j.prps.2007.11.006
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2009). Emotional intelligence, personality traits and career decision difficulties. *Int. J. Educ. Vocat. Guid.* 9, 135–146. doi: 10.1007/s10775-009-9162-3
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2012). Incremental variance of the core self-evaluation construct compared to fluid intelligence and personality traits in aspects of decision-making. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 53, 196–201. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2012.03.012
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2015). Multidimensional scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS): un contributo alla validazione italiana. [Multidimensional scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS): a contribution to Italian validation]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* Retrieved from: http://rivistedigitali.erickson.it/ counseling/archivio/vol-8-n-3/
- Di Fabio, A., and Saklofske, D. H. (2014a). Comparing ability and self-report trait emotional intelligence, fluid intelligence, and personality traits in career decision. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 64, 174–178. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014.02.024
- Di Fabio, A., and Saklofske, D. H. (2014b). Promoting individual resources: The challenge of trait emotional intelligence. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 65, 19–23. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014.01.026
- Di Fabio, A., Kenny, M. E., and Claudius, M. (in press). "Fostering adaptive career management and psychological well-being in uncertain times," in *Cambridge Handbook of International Prevention Science*, eds M. Israelashvili and J. L. Romano (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).
- Di Fabio, A., Kenny, M. E., and Minor, K. (2014). "School-based research and practice in Italy," in *Handbook of Positive Psychology in the Schools, 2nd Edn.*, eds M. J. Furlong, R. Gilman, and E. S. Huebner (New York, NY: Routledge, Taylor and Francis), 450–464.
- Di Fabio, A., Palazzeschi, L., and Bar-On, R. (2012). The role of personality traits, core self-evaluation and emotional intelligence in career decision-making difficulties. *J. Employ. Counsel.* 49, 118–129. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2012.00012.x

- Di Fabio, A., Palazzeschi, L., Asulin-Peretz, L., and Gati, I. (2013). Career indecision versus indecisiveness: associations with personality traits and emotional intelligence. *J. Career Assess.* 21, 42–56. doi: 10.1177/1069072712454698
- Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsen, R. J., and Griffin, S. (1985). The satisfaction with life scale. J. Pers. Assess. 49, 71–75. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa4901_13
- Fryer, D., and Fagan, R. (2003). Toward a critical community psychological perspective on unemployment and mental health research. Am. J. Community Psychol. 32, 89–96. doi: 10.1023/A:1025698924304
- Guichard, J. (2004). Se faire soi. L'Orientation Scolaire et Professionnelle 33, 499–534. doi: 10.4000/osp.226
- Guichard, J. (2005). Life-long self-construction. Int. J. Educ. Vocat. Guid. 5, 111–124. doi: 10.1007/s10775-005-8789-y

Guichard, J. (2009). Self-constructing. J. Voc. Behav. 75, 251-258.

- Guichard, J. (2013a). "Career guidance, education, and dialogues for a fair and sustainable human development," in *Inaugural Conference of the UNESCO Chair of Lifelong Guidance and Counselling*, (Poland: University of Wroclaw).
- Guichard, J. (2013b). "Forms of reflexivity and transformations of systems of subjective identity forms during life designing dialogues," in *Lecture Presented at the SIO International Conference "Life Designing and Career Counseling: Building Hope and Resilience"* (Padua).
- Guichard, J., and Di Fabio, A. (2015). How can Career and Life Designing Interventions Contribute to a Fair and Sustainable Development and to the Implementation of Decent Work Over the World? Invited Keynote at the UNESCO Chair on Lifelong Guidance and Counseling World Conference in Florence 2015, Florence: University of Florence (Italy); University of Wroclaw (Poland).
- Hage, S. M., Romano, J. L., Conyne, R. K., Kenny, M., Matthews, C., Schwartz, J. P., et al. (2007). Best practice guidelines on prevention practice, research, training, and social advocacy for psychologists. *Couns. Psychol.* 35, 493–566. doi: 10.1177/0011000006291411
- Helson, R., and Srivastava, S. (2001). Three paths of adult development: conservers, seekers, and achievers. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 80, 995–1010. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.80.6.995
- ILO (1999). "Report of the Director-General: decent work," in *International Labour Conference*, 87° Session, (Geneva).
- ILO (2015). Decent Work. Available online at: http://www.ilo.org/global/topics/ decent-work/lang--en/index.htm
- Kahneman, D., Diener, E., and Schwarz, N., (Eds.). (1999). Well-being: The Foundations of Hedonic Psychology. New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Kenny, M. E. (2007). "Positive youth development and social justice in U.S. urban schools," *Invited Address at the XI Simposio Internacional e Multidisciplinar do Centro de Psicopedagogia da Univeridade de Coimbra*, (Portugal).
- Kenny, M. E., and Hage, S. M. (2009). The next frontier: prevention as an instrument of social justice. J. Prim. Prev. 30, 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s10935-008-0163-7
- Kozan, S., Di Fabio, A., Blustein, D. L., and Kenny, M. E. (2014). The role of social support and work-related factors on the school engagement of Italian high school students. J. Career Assess. 22, 345–354. doi: 10.1177/1069072713493988
- Lerner, R. M. (2002). Concepts and Theories of Human Development, 3rd Edn. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Lerner, R. M., Lerner, J. V., Almerigi, J. B., Theokas, C., Phelps, E., Gestsdottir, S., et al. (2005). Positive Youth Development, Participation in community youth development programs, and community contributions of fifth-grade adolescents findings from the first wave of the 4-H study of Positive Youth Development. J. Early Adolesc. 25, 17–71. doi: 10.1177/0272431604 272461
- Maree, J. G. (2013). Counselling for Career Construction: Connecting Life Themes to Construct Life Portraits: Turning Pain into Hope. Rotterdam: Sense.
- Masten, A. S. (2014). Global perspectives on resilience in children and youth. *Child Dev.* 85, 6–20. doi: 10.1111/cdev.12205
- Mayer, J. D., Salovey, P., and Caruso, D. R. (2002). Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test. MSCEIT. User's Manual. Toronto, ON, Canada: Multi-Health Systems.
- Morgan, J., and Farsides, T. (2009). Measuring meaning in life. J. Happiness Stud. 10, 197-214. doi: 10.1007/s10902-007-9075-0
- Osipow, S. H. (1990). Convergence in theories of career choice and development. *J. Vocat. Behav.* 30, 122–134. doi: 10.1016/0001-8791(90)90020-3

- Petrides, K. V., and Furnham, A. (2004). Technical Manual of the Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire (TEIQue). London: University of London, Institute of Education.
- Porfeli, E. J., and Savickas, M. L. (2012). Career Adapt-Abilities Scale-USA form: psychometric properties and relation to vocational identity. J. Vocat. Behav. 80, 748–753. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2012.01.009
- Prilleltensky, I. (2003). Understanding, resisting, and overcoming oppression: toward psychopolitical validity. Am. J. Community Psychol. 31, 195–201. doi: 10.1023/A:1023043108210
- Richardson, M. S. (2012). Counseling for work and relationship. *Couns. Psychol.* 40, 190–242. doi: 10.1177/0011000011406452
- Rosenberg, M. (1965). Society and the Adolescent Self-Image. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2001). "To be happy or to be self-fulfilled: a review of research on hedonic and eudaimonic well-being," in *Annual Review of Psychology Vol. 52*, ed S. Fiske (Palo Alto, CA: Annual Reviews), 141–166.
- Ryff, C. D., and Singer, B. H. (2008). Know thyself and become what you are: a eudaimonic approach to psychological well-being. J. Happiness Stud. 9, 13–39. doi: 10.1007/s10902-006-9019-0
- Sachs, J. (2005). The End of Poverty: How We Can Make it Happen in Our Lifetime. London, UK: Penguin.
- Saks, A. M. (2005). "Job search success: a review and integration of the predictors, behaviors, and outcomes," in *Career Development and Counseling: Putting Theory and Research to Work*, eds S. D. Brown and R. W. Lent (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley), 155–179.
- Savickas, M. L. (2005). "The theory and practice of career construction," in *Career Development and Counseling: Putting Theory and Research to Work*, eds S. D. Brown and R. W. Lent (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons), 42–70.
- Savickas, M. L. (2011a). *Career Counseling*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Savickas, M. L. (2011b). New questions for vocational psychology: premises, paradigms, and practices. J. Career Assess. 3, 251–258. doi: 10.1177/1069072710395532
- Savickas, M. L. (2011c). "The self in vocational psychology: object, subject and project," in *Developing Self in Work and Career: Concepts Cases, and Contexts,* eds P. J. Hartung and L. M. Subich (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 17–33.
- Savickas, M. L., and Porfeli, E. J. (2012). Career Adapt-abilities scale: construction, reliability, and measurement equivalence across 13 countries. J. Vocat. Behav. 80, 661–673. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2012.01.011
- Seligman, M. E. P. (2002). "Positive psychology, positive prevention, and positive therapy," in *Handbook of Positive Psychology*, eds C. R. Snyder and S. J. Lopez (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 3–9.
- Seligman, M. E., and Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive Psychology: An Introduction. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Sheldon, K. M., and Houser-Marko, L. (2001). Self-concordance, goal attainment, and the pursuit of happiness: can there be an upward spiral? *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 80, 152–165. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.80.1.152
- Smith, L. (2010). Psychology, Poverty, and the End of Social Exclusion: Putting our Practice to Work, Vol. 7. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Super, D. E. (1957). The Psychology of Careers. New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Super, D. E. (1980). A life-span, life-space approach to career development. J. Vocat. Behav. 16, 282–298. doi: 10.1016/0001-8791(80)90056-1
- Terracciano, A., McCrae, R. R., and Costa, P. T. Jr. (2003). Factorial and construct validity of the Italian Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS). *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 19, 131–141. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759.19. 2.131
- Tucker, L. R., and Lewis, C. (1973). A reliability coefficient for maximum likelihood factor analysis. *Psychometrika* 38, 1–10. doi: 10.1007/BF02291170
- UNESCO (2009). Poverty and Human Rights: UNESCO's Antipoverty Projects. Available online: http://portal.unesco.org/shs/en/ev.php-URL_ID=4666& URL_DO=DO_TOPIC&URL_SECTION=201.html
- United Nations (1948). Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Available online: http://www.un.org/en/documents/udhr/
- Vázquez, C., Hervás, G., and Ho, S. (2006). Intervenciones clinicas basadas en la psicologia positiva: fundamentos y aplicaciones [Clinical interventions based on positive psychology: foundations and applications]. *Psicología Conductual* 14, 401–432.

- Waterman, A. S., Schwartz, S. J., Zamboanga, B. L., Ravert, R. D., Williams, M. K., Bede Agocha, V., et al. (2010). The Questionnaire for Eudaimonic well-being: psychometric properties, demographic comparisons, and evidence of validity. *J. Posit. Psychol.* 5, 41–61. doi: 10.1080/17439760903435208
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., and Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of Positive and Negative Affect: the PANAS Scales. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 54, 1063–1070. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Wood, A. M., Linley, P. A., Maltby, J., Baliousis, M., and Joseph, S. (2008). The authentic personality: a theoretical and empirical conceptualization and the development of the Authenticity Scale. *J. Couns. Psychol.* 55, 385–399. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.55.3.385
- World Medical Association (WMA) (2013). WMA Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. Available online at: http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/
- Zimet, G. D., Dahlem, N. W., Zimet, S. G., and Farley, G. K. (1988). The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. J. Pers. Assess. 52, 30–41. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa5201_2

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Di Fabio and Kenny. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Discussing the Notion of Decent Work: Senses of Working for a Group of Brazilian Workers without College Education

Marcelo A. Ribeiro^{1*}, Fabiano F. Silva² and Paula M. Figueiredo¹

¹ Department of Social and Work Psychology, Psychology Institute, University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ² Mackenzie University, São Paulo, Brazil

Despite recent stability and socioeconomic development, Brazil's history is marked by

social inequality, informality, precarious work, and psychosocial vulnerability, with little opportunity for decent and meaningful work, as recommended by the International Labour Office (ILO), for people in the country. Nevertheless, based on a social constructionist view, the hypothesis can be raised that there is no substantive definition of decent work, but rather a psychosocial one, constructed based on the discourse, narratives, and practices produced through the relational processes which grant sense and meaning to work. Therefore, the examination of narratives and discourses is an important methodological strategy to understand the socio-occupational reality of Brazil. Thus, this study aims to understand the senses attributed to working through content analysis of the narratives produced by a set of 20 urban workers and contrast them with the ILO definition of decent work, in an effort to analyze the relationships, similarities, and differences between an established collective social discourse and the interviewees' singular narratives. The main results point out that the participants look for working with fair wages, social protection, safety, and personal development opportunities, as the ILO recommends. The main difference is that these characteristics do not derive from the State's actions, as in the employment and formal qualification model, but come from informal sources, such as family and community relationship networks. The informal relationship networks produce job opportunities as well as social protection; qualification takes place through practical learning from more experienced colleagues; the opportunity to be able to keep working (employed or working informally) leads to success and safety; and the possibility to make choices and have control over one's life translates into personal and occupational development. In conclusion, the participants searched for working according to the principles recommended by the ILO. Nevertheless, in contexts of vulnerability and with restricted support from the State, these principles are constructed in the community and not offered by the public power, which generates distinguished forms of decent work.

Keywords: decent work, social constructionism, career counseling, vulnerability, Brazil

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Blustein, Boston College, USA

Reviewed by:

Peter Mcliveen, University of Southern Queensland, Australia Jean-Luc Bernaud, Conservatoire National des Arts et Métiers, France

> *Correspondence: Marcelo A. Ribeiro marcelopsi@usp.br

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 29 November 2015 Accepted: 03 February 2016 Published: 23 February 2016

Citation:

Ribeiro MA, Silva FF and Figueiredo PM (2016) Discussing the Notion of Decent Work: Senses of Working for a Group of Brazilian Workers without College Education. Front. Psychol. 7:207. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00207

INTRODUCTION

Touraine (2007), Castel (2009), Krein (2013), and Antunes (2015) propose that the contemporary working world has been marked by ruptures and weakening of its traditional structures and the emergence of more fluid working dynamics, making it more flexible, heterogeneous, and complex. This creates, on the one hand, room for changes and innovations but, on the other hand, frequent precariousness, instability and insecurity, as well as greater onus on the workers themselves for their working activity and career in an era of so-called contemporary stability, as stated by Ribeiro (2014).

The contemporary stability we envision refers to a form of stability generated by the current working conditions and would not be marked by instability, but by a new form of stability, achieved through the people's active positions in their relationships with working contexts, in order to produce experiences of continuity and sense in working (Ribeiro, 2014).

In that vein, international institutions like the International Labour Office (ILO) have tried to promote safety, dignity, and protection in contemporary working, through proposals like decent work and an activity agenda to guarantee decent work: "Decent work sums up the aspirations of people in their working lives. It involves opportunities for work that is productive and delivers a fair income, security in the workplace and social protection for families, better prospects for personal development and social integration, freedom for people to express their concerns, organize and participate in the decisions that affect their lives and equality of opportunity and treatment for all women and men" (International Labour Office [ILO], 1999).

Nevertheless, the notions of security, stability, social protection, social integration, precariousness, freedom, equality, participation, decision-making power, working, and career have gradually changed, along with the senses and meanings of work, outside of variations in different contexts (Bescond et al., 2003; Auer, 2007; Mocelin, 2011; Sato, 2013; Michaelson et al., 2014; Bendassolli and Coelho-Lima, 2015; Mattos, 2015).

The concepts of meaning and sense (or meaningfulness, as proposed for this special issue), can either be considered synonyms in academic studies and research or a distinction can be made. In this article, we assume that the senses and meanings of working differ from one another, in line with the social constructionist perspective – the theoretical perspective in this research. Hence, meanings are "constructions collectively elaborated in a certain concrete historical, economic and social context. The senses, then, are a personal production deriving from the individual apprehension of the collective meanings, in the daily experiences" (Coutinho, 2009, p. 193).

Thus, sense relates to individual interpretation or the way people make meaning of themselves and their relationships with the world, for example, their working activity. This concept lies in contrast to meanings that are collective and consensual interpretations produced in a given context.

According to Bendassolli and Coelho-Lima (2015), senses are unlimited, unstable, and dynamic, while meanings are stable, category-based, reflect the accumulated cultural repertoire of a given group, and instruct its members on how to act on reality. In this paper, we are interested in understanding the unique senses about working constructed by Brazilian workers and contrasting them with collective meanings, such as the notion of decent work of the ILO.

In line with Blustein (2006), we will use the conception of "working" instead of "work," as "working" is a more dynamic and structuring conception that indicates action and process in a given context (verb representing an action), while "work" is a more abstract, stable and structured conception constructed in a given context and incorporated in others (substantive representing a state). Hence, "working" represents the abstract concept of "work" in action through human activities in a specific socio-historical context.

In the introduction to this article, we present several questions, inquiries, and dilemmas regarding decent work that we have derived from the literature, to be discussed based on field research in a specific socio-occupational context located in the Southern hemisphere – Brazil.

Several authors have questioned the range and universality of the notion of decent work. Rodgers (2002), Rosenfield and Pauli (2012), and Mattos (2015) defend the idea of decent work as dignified working, but question what definition of dignity the notion of decent work should rest on: universal or historically constructed as an open axiological category (Rosenfield and Pauli, 2012).

Rodgers (2002) signals the strong relationship between the concept of decent work and the notion of human dignity, as working is the sphere in which people's economic and social objectives converge; that is, decent work is the bridge between the economic and the social (Druck, 2011). Castel (2009) stresses that working is the fundamental means to guarantee social protection and security to the majority of people without property who do not gain security from accumulated wealth.

Ghai (2002), Standing (2002), Mocelin (2011) and Mattos (2015) raise doubts on the ILO's position that social protection and stability derive from paid working and that typical (industrial) jobs should be the model of decent work. Mocelin (2011) concludes that an *a priori* normalization of a typical job as decent work is important, but idealized and limited; after all, why would a typical (industrial) job be good if the model has been questioned for a long time? Typical jobs may lack quality and, in addition, Mocelin (2011) argues, the stability they provide does not guarantee meaningfulness and security in working, as it serves as an ambiguous indicator, because a continuous and stable job potentially represents both security and meaning, as well as stagnation and lack of sense in working.

Another important point of analysis is the contrast between decent work and precarious work. Rodgers (1989) and Evans and Gibb (2009), in a synthesis of the international literature, consider that precarious work is associated with instability or uncertainty regarding the continuity of working, lack of protection in situations of need, very bad working conditions or unacceptable occupational practices, and insufficient income, which entails social vulnerability. Barbier (2004), Mocelin (2011), Baltar (2013), and Burchell et al. (2014) criticize the dichotomy between decent work and precarious work, which the ILO generally advances from, as the contemporary complexity of the working world does not permit dichotomizations and pure types (Costa, 2010), as well as the fact that precarious work means different things in different national and disciplinary contexts (Barbier, 2004). Saunders (2003), in turn, calls attention to the fact that the international literature has used vulnerable worker as a synonym for workers in precarious situations, but that concept also leaves room for countless interpretations, due to the existence of distinct forms of occupational vulnerability (Proni, 2013).

At that, Mattos (2015) summarizes the thinking of many contemporary authors and raises the question: is there one decent work or are there distinct versions of decent work, varying in function across distinct contexts? Are there one or several ways to reach the same goal?

Ghai (2002, p. 2) states, "the decent work paradigm provokes questions about its universality and particularity." Bescond et al. (2003) proposed that decent work means different things to distinct groups of people. Di Ruggiero et al. (2015) and Hauf (2015) indicate that there are competing discourses on decent work in different economies and contexts, because "asymmetries in power relations shape different conceptualizations of decent work" (Di Ruggiero et al., 2015, pp. 120–121).

The concept of decent work was elaborated based on consensus among groups representing different regions around the world. Its attempts to rescue full employment and renews typical work (paid work) as a model of attachment to working still exert strong influence, which excludes most underdeveloped regions that have not fully established social welfare States.

In contexts like Brazil (locus of study), which Ghai (2002) ranks among the developing countries with a "development model" of decent work, as opposed to industrialized countries with a "classical model" and countries moving from communism to a market economy with a "transition model," it is important to take into account the particularities of this development. According to Costa (2010), as opposed to what happened in many of the social welfare nations, full employment has never been part of the Brazilian reality, in which a significant part of the population has always worked beyond the formal employment bonds, being active in unprotected and unregulated jobs. Therefore, one might say that informality is a matter of structural and constitutional order of the Brazilian working world, not a transitory dysfunction of that world. Recent data by the Institute of Applied Economic Research (Instituto de Pesquisa Econômica Aplicada [IPEA], 2015) show that, in Brazil, 32.5% of the economically active population (EAP) works in the informal economy (Proni and Rocha, 2010; Proni, 2013; Ribeiro, 2014).

The concept of informality or informal economies emerged in the United Nations System based on European experts' observations of the repercussions of capitalism in African countries, as well as on studies focused on the effects of industrialization in peripheral economies, mainly in Latin America. It is understood in opposition to the idea of formality, which occurs in developed economies that are centered on employment or paid working (Cacciamali, 2000; Trebilcock, 2005; Sato, 2013). Like decent work, however, it is a controversial and polysemic concept with distinct meanings in different contexts (Cacciamali, 2000; Sato, 2013; Bendassolli and Coelho-Lima, 2015). Informality tends to be interpreted dichotomously (formal versus informal), as the negative side of paid working, a model that has also been criticized in the literature, mainly in Latin America (Noronha, 2003; Nouroudine, 2011; Sato, 2013).

Feijó et al. (2009), Nouroudine (2011), and Sato (2013) propose focusing on the positive aspects of these informal working modalities, which can offer elements to set up the social protection that is missing. The core problem of informal working is not the lack of formalization, as informal working has organization modes, agreements and rules, but the lack of social protection.

Alves and Tavares (2006), Rosenfield (2011), Proni (2013), and Tavares (2015) point out the two sides of informal working, marked by autonomy or precariousness, and often mixed up with the individualist discourse of entrepreneurism (Appay, 2005; Rosenfield, 2011) that produces undue tolerance for several forms of precariousness (Feijó et al., 2009). Castel (2009) argues that a smaller part of the population would be able to exercise modern individualism in the construction of their lives, that is, to be independent and take an individualist stand due to too many subjective investments and self-assertion (entrepreneur notion), while most of the population practices negative individualism due to disaggregation and lack of collective references of support with a consequent lack of social protection (characteristic of informality).

Therefore, according to Trebilcock (2005), in contexts like the Brazilian reality, the promotion of decent work depends on the elimination of negative aspects of informality, mainly the lack of social protection. Hence, International Labour Office [ILO] (2002, 2004), Feijó et al. (2009), Spink (2009), and Mocelin (2011) acknowledge that there exists no clear border between formal and informal working, but a *continuum* ranging from extreme lack of protection and precariousness to extreme protection with intermediary levels, producing degrees of formality and informality. "Our working hypothesis is to assume that, just like the border between formal and informal sector, one can also identify a *continuum* of situations in which the premises of decent work are more or less present" (Feijó et al., 2009, p. 331).

According to Druck (2011), in the Brazilian reality, several types of precariousness exist, such as vulnerability associated with social participation and inequality, intensification of working and outsourcing, insecurity and occupational health, loss of individual and collective identities, weakening of workers' organizations and disposal of Labor Law. "Unemployment, low wages, informality and lack of protection are severe problems that affect a significant part of the Brazilian workers" (Proni, 2013, p. 826), despite distinct degrees of vulnerability and occupational precariousness in Brazil.

That is the picture in which, in Brazil, the study of informality has gained room, according to some recent studies (Spink, 2009; Abramo, 2010; Costa, 2010; Araújo, 2012; Araújo and Lombardi, 2013; Dedecca and Menezes, 2012; Sato, 2013; Antunes, 2015; Bendassolli and Coelho-Lima, 2015; Tavares, 2015). These studies privilege specific angles on the phenomenon, such as social relationships (sociability), incomes, working conditions, gender and race relations, subjective wellbeing, health, quality of life, meaningfulness in work, organizational processes and, according to Bendassolli and Coelho-Lima (2015), predominantly the consideration of the dynamism of informality and its extensive multiplication – including informal practices as a part of the formal economy (Costa, 2010; Krein and Proni, 2010; Tavares, 2010; Antunes, 2015), or the concept of new informality (Noronha, 2003).

In that sense, in contrast to many studies the ILO has published, the soundest route would be the creation of decent work in the informal economy, rather than the elimination of informality in order to achieve decent work, as Tokman (2009) highlighted. After all, poorer or developing countries often have a heterogeneous and important informal economy that should be maintained. "However, it should not be a job at any price or under any circumstances" (Trebilcock, 2005, p. 3), but the four dimensions of decent work should be minimally guaranteed (rights, employment, social protection, organization and social dialog). Hence, according to Ghai (2002), the paradigm of decent work is universal, but requires contextualization for the sake of effectiveness, as each country needs to find its own way to produce decent work (Boyer, 2006), a notion that highlights the importance of social dialog for the conception of decent work (Rodgers, 2002).

"This is expressed today as decent work for all, whether the activity is carried out in a formal or an informal context" (Trebilcock, 2005, p. 1). Thus, the strategies to guarantee decent work and fundamental rights to informal workers should aim to accomplish the same objectives (Hanssene, 1999), which, according to Chen et al. (2004), are promoting opportunities, securing rights, promoting protection, and promoting voice. "To the previously consolidated notion of a high-quality job, the concept of decent work adds the notions of rights" (Abramo, 2010, p. 152).

In summary, as discussed to date, the main issues associated with studying decent work in Latin America, and specifically in Brazil are: (a) What notion of dignity is associated with decent work? (b) Should decent work depart from the typical employment model? (c) Should a generic or a contextualized conception of decent work be adopted, with the consequent need to relativize the concepts for the sake of a psychosocial discussion of decent work? (d) Does decent work exist in the singular (universal concept) or plural (singularized concepts)? (e) Should decent work be created in the informal economy or should informality be eliminated for the purpose of decent work?

In view of these inquiries and to understand the matter of decent work in the Brazilian reality, we consider the contributions of Richardson (1993), Ghai (2003), Blustein (2006, 2011), Deranty and MacMillan (2012), Michaelson et al. (2014), and Bendassolli and Coelho-Lima (2015), and argue in this paper for the importance of including the psychosocial dimension in an assessment of whether a work is decent or not and defending "a more nuanced analysis of the activity of work based upon the subjective investment that people make in their work to determine whether the work experience is a decent one or not" (Di Ruggiero et al., 2015, p. 126), which lead us to the analysis of the relational co-construction of the senses and meanings of working in a given context (Blustein, 2011; Duarte, 2015; Savickas, 2015).

Michaelson et al. (2014, p. 77) affirm that "in the human quest for meaning, work occupies a central position." Together with Tolfo and Piccinini (2007) and Bendassolli and Gondim (2014), they point out that, traditionally, the senses and meanings of working were constituted as themes different authors have investigated from the perspective of several epistemological branches and based on different psychological and psychosocial phenomena produced by the quality of life at work (Hackman and Oldhan, 1975). This phenomenon has been studied in different ways. First, researchers have looked at the results of working and desirable organizational consequences, such as job satisfaction, engagement, wellbeing, work values, work involvement, work orientation, job performance, organizational citizenship behavior, organizational commitment, and occupational identification (Michaelson et al., 2014). Second, studies have focused on the articulation of variables like importance, regulation, and resulting from working (Meaning of Work International Research Team [MOW], 1987), or significance, orientation and coherence (Morin, 2001). As pointed out earlier in the text, here we use the concept of sense to define what working simply means to each person.

In this research, the focus is to understand the senses attributed to working so as to be able to compare these senses with the meanings produced by institutional discourses, such as the ILO's notion of decent work (International Labour Office [ILO], 1999). This procedure aims to analyze the correspondences and incongruences between the narratives of workers from a specific context and generic discourses of international institutions since, in line with Kaplan (2002, p. 180), "Policy instruments operate as rhetorical and normative modes of discourse to convince others to take action."

Thus, we will attempt to understand if a given working activity is "meaningful, that is, is purposeful and significant" (Michaelson et al., 2014, p. 79), since "the fact that work has a particular meaning does not necessarily determine that it is meaningful... meaningfulness refers to the amount of significance something holds for an individual" (Rosso et al., 2010, p. 95). Therefore, in this article, we will take "sense of work" as a synonym for "meaningfulness in working."

Burchell et al. (2014) and Sehnbruch et al. (2015) emphasize that the term "decent work" has not been used in the academic literature and that psychology has focused more on studying working as employment, often without including multiple coexisting forms of working. Thus incorporating the concept of decent work into the psychological literature constitutes a great opportunity to investigate, assess, and understand phenomenon like informality or the informal economy, which are characteristic of the Brazilian reality (Amin and Singh, 2002; Sato, 2013).

Bendassolli and Coelho-Lima (2015) indicate that exploring the meanings of informality can be one way to discover the symbolic/cultural meanings produced by/in capitalism with regard to informality. These explorations can reveal positive meanings institutionally produced about informality (entrepreneurism, self-initiative, autonomous, and eventually informal forms of working), as well as depreciative meanings in the sense of informality being defined as the negative of formal employment (Sato, 2013) through the macro-narrative of formal employment.

Hence, we can hypothesize, from a social constructionist view, the theoretical perspective of this study, that decent work should not be substantively but rather psychosocially defined. This definition must be constructed based on the discourses, narratives, and practices produced by the workers themselves through the relational processes of signification that grant them senses (or meaningfulness) and meanings. This method of definition allows for distinct versions of decent work to vary as a function of distinct contexts.

Blustein (2011, p. 4) proposes that the notion of sense in working "includes one's sense of purpose in working and the way in which one understands his/her work life." Richardson (1993, p. 427) complements this view by proposing that the "focus on the study of work in people's lives in which work is considered to be a central human activity that is not tied to or solely located in the occupational structure" and Flum (2015, p. 148) points out that "to work is to relate ... A sense of being-in-the-world is based on interaction. It is a combination of an awareness of connection and meaningful action." The authors agree that sense "is given shape in social interactions in which one's own constructions of working are embedded in relational understandings" (Blustein, 2011, p. 4) as part of a process of self-construction (Guichard, 2009) or life construction (Duarte, 2009). Savickas (2005, p. 44) states that: "rather than choose among attractive options, some individuals may have to take the only job that is available to them, often a job that grinds on the human spirit because its tasks are difficult, tedious, and exhausting. Nevertheless, the work that they do can be meaningful to them and matter to their community."

Therefore, as also suggested by Spink (2007), we should concentrate on understanding the daily life of "unseen" people, asking about the theories and practices that guide their lives, as well as their conceptions of dignity and citizenship, in an attempt to answer what decent work means to them. We must not be constrained by an idealized view of paid and stable working, but focus on what we have – whether we like it or not – because it is extremely important to "give voice to those who have not much voice in our research" (Blustein, 2006, p. 307). As pointed by Savickas et al. (2009, p. 243): "If there exist multiple ways to interpret one's own diverse life experiences, different life perspectives and designs become possible."

To accomplish this task, this study is based on three basic conceptions proposed by social constructionism. First, the psychosocial element is central and can be defined, based on Frosh (2012), "as a process that is neither 'psychological' nor 'social,' but transcends the separation of these elements to create something new – the psychosocial" (Ribeiro, 2015, p. 20). Second, social constructionist thought is based on the notion of relational ontology according to Gergen (1997), who states that the "reality is not objectively constituted, but intersubjectively constructed by means of the narratives and social practices generated in relational processes" (Ribeiro, 2015, p. 20). And, finally, it is based on the notion of narratability proposed by the life designing paradigm (Savickas

et al., 2009) and understood as the psychosocial capacity to meaningfully narrate one's life history to oneself and others.

According to Brockmeier and Harré (2003), narratives constitute an important methodological strategy for understanding the working world through the people who act in it. These narratives potentially define the ways in which people construct senses in their psychosocial relationships, turning them into narrative realities in line with Savickas et al. (2009), which would allow analysis of the multiple forms and meanings of the current social discourse.

The main objective in this study was to understand the sense of working for a group of 20 formal and informal workers in the city of São Paulo, Brazil and contrast them with the ILO's definition of decent work, aiming to analyze the relationships, similarities, and differences between an established collective social discourse and the interviewees' singular narratives, as well as to contribute to the discussions on the notion of decent work and its possibilities and limits in terms of theoretical conceptions and practical applications. Thus, we intend to discuss the following research problem: How do workers from socio-occupational contexts marked by inequality, informality, instability, and precariousness construct senses in their working experience?

MATERIALS AND METHODS

In this research, the qualitative narrative approach (Polkinghorne, 1988) is used because of the minimal existing literature on the subject and the need to explore the fieldwork to formulate new hypotheses from the everyday experience and senses related to working built by people throughout their lives. The main reason for using narrative interviews is that they can capture the lived experience of working both in terms of the construction of working life over time, as well as the senses constructed in relation to work. In this regard, the models of quantitative research and qualitative research based on pre-existing categories of analysis would not be appropriate to achieve the objectives of this research.

The qualitative narrative approach (Polkinghorne, 1988) was used to co-construct the life histories and significant experiences in the participants' daily working, stimulating their unrestricted speech and allowing them to direct the narrative. It aimed to exploring the basic points of the ILO's definition of decent work (International Labour Office [ILO], 1999), which are: opportunity for work with fair income, security in the workplace and social protection, prospects for personal development and social integration, and respect for fundamental rights. The singular autobiographical narratives of life and daily working the participants co-constructed with the researchers permitted contact with the way each person was influenced by social relationships and discourses. They reconstructed the senses and strategies they used as a function of the properties of the narratability, that is, the ability to narrative one's life history with a sense of identity and psychosocial legitimacy, in line with Savickas et al. (2009).

Alvesson and Willmott (2002) and Bendassolli and Coelho-Lima (2015) highlight that, when studying singular narratives, one necessarily gets in touch with the way each person intersects with social relationships and discourses, creating a space for the emergence of social discursive productions; the autobiographical narrative is a singularity in which the others can see themselves through social discursive productions, which construct the collectively shared meanings. The reliability of a personal narrative would therefore derive from the fact that it is constituted based on collective agreements constructed inside a given community that shares central social discourses, which are produced with and related to common meanings and practices (Denzin, 1989).

Hence, the study did not seek statistical generalizations and is more based on the validity of the analysis than on the representativeness of events and the confirmation among methodologically similar studies undertaken previously. "The advantage of using qualitative methods is that we have an opportunity to learn about new concepts and experiences in relation to working that are above and beyond what we already know" (Blustein, 2006, p. 232).

Socio-Occupational Context of the Participants

First, the participants' socio-occupational context needs to be characterized – the city of São Paulo, which is the largest Brazilian city with approximately 12 million inhabitants, is located in the Southeast of Brazil, which, together with the South, is responsible for 71.8% of the Brazilian Gross Domestic Product (GDP). It is considered a globalized, multicultural city with large groups of immigrants (both from other countries and other Brazilian regions). It is also a wealthy city, and is the main financial and corporate center of South America, based on industries and services, with plenty of working opportunities. Moreover, it is marked by a more collective than individual relational tradition (Brewer and Chen, 2007), in which social embeddedness is very meaningful to people's experiences.

In educational terms, the achievement rates in São Paulo are comprised as such: 33.4% have a primary school education, 19.7% a middle school education, 29.3% are high school graduates, and 17.6% have graduated from college (International Labour Office [ILO], 2013).

In terms of the job market, 7.4% of the population is unemployed, 64.9% are engaged in the formal job market, and 27.7% are informal workers, with a mean monthly income of US\$365. Ninety percent of new jobs in the formal market demand at least a high school education. In recent decades, there has been a gradual increase in people working with greater social protection due to the socio-economic development of the country. However, the research participants, due to the length of their careers, have had little benefit from this national improvement.

The context is also marked by great socioeconomic inequality (sixth city in the world in terms of number of billionaires but with 10% of the population living below the poverty line), spatial segregation and contact between formal and informal economies. This inequality creates an important space in which we can analyze the role of decent work in contexts not predominantly marked by the typical employment model.

Participants

The participants were recruited using intentional selection at a college career counseling service and each of them met the inclusion criteria of being: urban workers, without a college education, from São Paulo, Brazil, with at least 20 years of (formal and/or informal) working experience, who were working at the time of the research. The criterion of having at least 20 years of working experiences was included to understand the changes and continuities in participants' lives and daily working histories, in terms of the personal senses constructed and the prevailing social meanings, which would not be possible in shorter periods of working experience.

The number of participants was not defined *a priori*, but during the data collection phase, based on the rules of representativeness (differently from the sample, the goal is to highlight significant informants on the investigated theme), homogeneity (minimal common criteria to choose the participants) and saturation, when repeated narratives started to be found (Bardin, 1977).

The choice of this specific set of participants was not with the intention of being representative of Brazilian low-skilled workers, but aimed to highlight significant informants on the investigated theme, mainly because they were a group of understudied workers who sought a career counseling service, and were clearly eager to discuss the working world. In addition, the main difference between workers who qualified for the study and those who did not is that, in general, understudied workers hold informal jobs and skilled workers hold formal jobs. Thus, the sample was driven by the interest of the current research in working experiences not guided by the logic of typical work as a model for decent work.

The set of participants is formed by 20 urban workers (10 men and 10 women), without a college education, between 35 and 55 years of age, from São Paulo, Brazil, with 20-40 years of working experience. Most participants were married, mulatto¹, between 41 and 50 years of age, had completed middle school, had between 31 and 40 years of working experience beginning at the age of 10-15 years, varied between formal and informal working activities in the course of their career, and were working at the time of the research, mainly as blue-collar workers, domestic servants, doormen, and street hawkers, as it can be seen in Table 1. It is important to note the division of working by gender; women were more likely to be domestic servants and street hawkers, activities characterized as more flexible, while the men were more likely to be blue-collar workers and doormen, activities that traditionally have more fixed work hours, supporting a trend in the Brazilian job market toward these occupations (Instituto de Pesquisa Econômica Aplicada [IPEA], 2015). Their main motivation to participate in this study was to

¹In the Brazilian context, the term "mulatto" is used to designate everyone who is son of white man and black woman or vice versa.

TABLE 1 | Characterization of the set of participants.

| Features | Participants ($n = 20$) |
|-----------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Gender | Men – 10 (50%) |
| | Women – 10 (50%) |
| Skin color | Black – 5 (25%) |
| | Mulatto – 11 (55%) |
| | White – 4 (20%) |
| Marital status | Married – 17 (85%) |
| | Single - 1 (5%) |
| | Divorced – 1 (5%) |
| | Widow – 1 (5%) |
| Age groups | 30–40 years 5 – (25%) |
| | 41-50 years 10 - (50%) |
| | ≥51 years 5 – (25%) |
| Educational level | Elementary school – 5 (25%) |
| | Middle school – 5 (25%) |
| | High school – 10 (50%) |
| Career length | 20–30 years – 9 (45%) |
| | 31–40 years – 11 (55%) |
| Career beginning | 5-10 years old - 4 (20%) |
| | 10–15 years old – 10 (50%) |
| | ≥16 years 6 – 6 (30%) |
| Predominant kind of working model | Formal economy |
| over the career | (Private sector employee) – 6 (30%) |
| | Informal economy – 4 (20%) |
| | Mix of working models |
| | (formal/informal) – 10 (50%) |
| Current working activity | Blue collar worker – 5 (25%) |
| | Housekeeper – 5 (25%) |
| | Doorman – 4 (20%) |
| | Street vendor – 2 (10%) |
| | Others – 4 (20%) |

contribute to the improvement of the career counseling service they were attending to rethink their careers.

Instruments and Procedures

The instrument used was the thematic autobiographical narrative, defined as an open-ended report on the participant's working life history, which the researchers can consult for clarifications, complementation, further development, and approach of unexplored themes (Van Langenhove and Harré, 1993). After the institutional authorization to pursue the research and with the participants' consent, the interviews were held at the college career counseling service the participants were attending. Each interview took between 60 and 180 min. The interviews started with the following request to the participants: "Please, tell me about your daily working experiences in the course of your history." First, the participants talked about their daily working life experiences through free speech, in which the people recounted their own history (autobiography) and, in the course of the narratives, the researchers intervened as necessary for explanations, additional information, and unexplored issues, creating a co-construction process of the autobiographical narratives (heterobiography). The complete interviews were then submitted to content analysis of the autobiographical narratives.

The interviews were recorded as an audio file, the dialog was transcribed, and then analyzed as described below.

Analysis of the Narratives

Based on descriptive narrative investigation (Polkinghorne, 1988), the narratives were submitted to content analysis as proposed by Bardin (1977), in combination with additional suggestions by Van Langenhove and Harré (1993), through the following steps:

(a) Pre-analysis Phase

Individual independent reading of each transcription of the autobiographical narratives to organize a content structure for the personal senses and collective meanings that informed on the participants' life histories and the significant daily working experiences, making them operational in terms of the exploration of the earlier mentioned basic points in the ILO's definition of decent work (International Labour Office [ILO], 1999).

(b) Vertical Analysis

Identification of each participant's key indicators, as well as a survey of registration units that represented the key indicators. The registration units are the smallest content parts expressed by phrases or ideas extracted from the narratives, and an indicator is understood as content that can summarize the main elements of a given psychosocial phenomenon, like is the case of the senses of working in this study.

(c) Horizontal Analysis

Grouping of the narratives based on their shared content (registration units and indicators), resulting in the identification and systemization of the fundamental social discourses of the specific context studied on decent work and their respective indicators. These were contrasted with the ILO's definition of decent work (International Labour Office [ILO], 1999), with the aim of analyzing the relations, similarities and differences between a universally established collective social discourse (ILO), the fundamental social discourses of a given specific context (meanings of decent work in Brazil) and the interviewees' singular narratives in this specific context (senses of decent work for a set of Brazilian workers).

An intercoder reliability system was used in which three independent judges identified and categorized the contents of the participants' narratives according to the research objectives, seeking the intercoder agreement between them (Tinsley and Weiss, 1975) that resulted in the emic categories listed in the results section.

Ethical Standards

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Institutional Ethics Committee with written informed consent from all participants. All participants gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and with Resolution 466/12 by the Brazilian Committee for Research Ethics (Conselho Nacional de Saúde [CONEP], 2012).

Senses of Working for Brazilians

RESULTS

The results are presented and discussed based on the shared senses of working the participants constructed within the specific context of Brazil (senses of decent work for a set of Brazilian workers based on their singular narratives crossed and coconstructed by the fundamental social discourses of the meanings of decent work in Brazil). These senses will gradually be contrasted with the central principles of the ILO's conception of decent work (International Labour Office [ILO], 1999), which is the universally established collective social discourse on decent work and is comprised of: (a) Opportunities to work with fair income; (b) Security at work and social protection; (c) Perspectives of personal development and social integration; (d) Freedom of expression, organization and decision; and (e) Respect for fundamental rights. The author of the vignette will be characterized between parentheses in each excerpt of the singular narratives cited (for example, P1, man, 45 years - participant 1).

We chose emic categories, that is, categories constructed based on excerpts of the singular narratives, to summarize and name the main senses of working. These are: (a) Without at least having the possibility to choose; (b) Everything I have learned, I did on my own; (c) I met a person who invited me to work; (d) I accept what is coming, because my income has never been very good and success means to keep on working; (e) It seems that everything is always temporary, remuneration is always unsatisfactory and the working is hard; (f) It's working and making money, I don't think about the future; and (g) Decent work is . . .

Without at Least Having the Possibility to Choose

The large majority of the interviewees said that they started their working trajectory in childhood or youth in the North and Northeast of Brazil as a form of financial help to the family, generally in a small family business and often some type of informal work. As the opportunities in their natal city were restricted, migration to the Southeast of Brazil provided an option to be able to work, both for participants who grew up in urban areas ("I migrated from the small city to the big city to be able to work" – P1, man, 45 years), as well as in rural zones ("I migrated from the farm to the big city to be able to work" – P2, man, 35 years).

The beginning of participants' professional working trajectories were marked by an inability to choose and decide on what work to engage in, as described by P4 (man, 36 years), who said that he started "to work due to family pressure and, since then, [is] choosing what comes up" and P5 (woman, 49 years), who said that: "I did not choose this profession, it was the job that came up."

This working trajectory start seems to determine the sequence of the subsequent trajectory of the majority, as represented in some statements. P3 and P2 talked about never stop working. P3 (man, 50 years) said: "I started early and I have never stopped working," as well as P2 (man, 35 years) told: "without at least having the possibility to choose . . . you can never stop working." P3, P12, and P16 talked about the impossibility to choose. P3 (man, 50 years) stated: "In fact, I did not choose a profession, but the circumstances led me to this option," P12 (man, 50 years) said: "I did not choose any of the jobs I had, I always had to accept the opportunities that emerged on each occasion," and P16 (man, 52 years) declared: "I accepted anything that would come up, that came up."

In summary: "I have always worked on what came up without being able to choose anything" (P3, man, 50 years), began "a story of many difficulties and instabilities, I don't know where I made a mistake or what would be the right course" (P8, man, 56 years). Although "work is good, I have nothing to complain about, I will have to work until the end of my life" (P10, woman, 38 years).

Castel (2009) considers that the possibility of making choices is directly related to power in social relationships and that, for a large part of the population who does not have choices, what remains is negative individualism, marked by a lack of social support, in which choices are determined by psychosocial contingencies, not people's decisions. The lack of opportunity to make choices and decisions marked by "doing what comes up" (P16, man, 52 years) produces polyvalences due to negative individualism. On the one hand, this situation provides a flexibility that guarantees employability and, on the other hand, it often makes the sense of working and of making any kind of planning impossible, turning the future into a reproduction *ad infinitum* of the present, as discussed by P2 (man, 35 years): "My future perspectives are to continue in the same thing I am doing now."

This long-term circumstance conflicts with two principles of decent work as recommended by the International Labour Office [ILO] (1999): perspectives of personal development and social integration and freedom to decide. Further, this state truly seems to worsen the working experiences of the interviewees, in accordance with Rodgers (1989) and Evans and Gibb (2009).

Everything I have Learned I did on My Own

If the trajectory of working starts early and if it is marked by difficulty choosing and defining what work to engage in, there is also an alternative form of learning embedded in this trajectory. This learning is not centered on education in schools, but is practical learning, which most participants value. For example, they say "I haven't studied and I don't miss that" (P1, man, 45 years) and "I don't see that much need for a college degree in the work I do" (P4, man, 36 years), breaking with the dominant logic that education would prepare individuals for working and that good performance is directly related with previous specialized learning. "I never imagined that I would work in what I have worked and I think I did not even know what that was when I went to work the first day, but I have always received compliments for my performance at working" (P5, woman, 49 years).

The majority of participants says that "everything I have learned I did on my own"; "my main source of learning was the errors, trials and errors ... on my trajectory there were many things I found hard to achieve and which I was able to do" (P8, man, 56 years). P1 agrees, stating: "I introduced myself to the owner of the business, I said I was able to do anything. I got the job, but I didn't know exactly what I was gonna do ... I have always learned everything in practice and I've always been successful" (P1, man, 45 years).

Most participants share this feeling of being able to learn in practice. P10 summarizes this shared perception well: "I feel proud of myself. Sometimes I think, can I handle it? Did I handle it? Did I manage? So I feel proud of myself. I didn't study but I managed, like many others I know who have done the same ... And I feel proud of myself, yes" (P10, woman, 38 years). Again, according to Castel (2009), it is negative individualism, due to a lack of social and State support; not individualism due to too many subjective investments and assertions of self (notion of entrepreneur), but an alleged autonomy established through threats to opportunities for working and studying, as described by Alves and Tavares (2006); Rosenfield (2011), Proni (2013), and Tavares (2015).

The International Labour Office [ILO] (1999) discusses personal development perspectives but based on the logic of institutional formality, and the State's responsibility to provide learning conditions. In the cases reported, however, learning is a construction of the person himself/herself in relation to his/her context. Therefore, it is a psychosocial construct (Ribeiro, 2014), which depends on the informal relationship network: "I feel happy for overcoming the difficulties alone, with the help of my family only" (P9, man, 51 years).

I Met a Person Who Invited Me to Work

There is a significant point in the senses the participants' working life that is distinct from what the ILO's conception of decent work proposes; the workers need a support network for their trajectories and working life, but it should be provided formally by the State, instead of informal relationship networks. In countries like Brazil, where the occupational care network is not structured and comprehensive enough to reach everyone, informal networks help to solve the issues of working life. Further, they go beyond the realm of working, constituting true relationships of solidarity in light of the partial absence of the State.

P1 (man, 45 years) says that, "whenever I leave a job with something at hand, even when that did not happen, I was able to get a job rapidly because of my friends," emphasizing that everything he achieves in his personal and working life comes through indication and friendship – "everything is an exchange of favors." The base for the protection and security to keep working is his ability to use his contacts, in accordance with the idea of Flum (2015, p. 148) that "to work is to relate."

P4 (man, 36 years), like other participants, said that he did not turn to the public occupational care network in situations of unemployment, but instead relied on the informal contact network: "after a while, a friend introduced me to his friend who invited me to work" (P8, man, 56 years). Therefore, to keep working, "you need to have a lot of friendships, if you're a good person to others, you achieve many things" (P13, man, 50 years). Therefore, many people maintain and participate in support networks that work "to get formal as well as informal working activities" (P6, woman, 38 years), as "the type of work does not matter, what matters is to keep on working" (P10, woman, 38 years).

I Accept What is Coming, Because My Income has Never been Very Good and Success Means to Keep on Working

Most participants switched between formality and informality in the course of their working trajectories, without any preference for one or the other working modality, with the mere need to "keep on working" (P9, man, 51 years). To continue working is what guarantees security and stability, in line with Castel (2009)'s proposition that working is fundamental to guaranteeing social protection. Success and security are perceived as the ability to continue working, whether formally or informally, distinctions that do not seem to be as clearly divided as the literature proposes. Indeed, the participants' experiences support the idea of a *continuum* from extreme lack of protection and precariousness to extreme protection with intermediary levels, creating degrees of formality and informality, as stated by International Labour Office [ILO] (2002, 2004), Feijó et al. (2009), Spink (2009), and Mocelin (2011).

The participants gave several examples of vacillation between formal and informal working activities along their trajectories. P1 points out (man, 45 years): "One day they needed a person for a 3-day job in a bar and I accepted. I ended up reconciling the two jobs, one formally registered and the other not," as well as P6 (woman, 38 years): "when I am not formally employed in companies, I do the weekly cleaning at houses in the city where I live." P2 (man, 35 years) stated that: "This thing with formal and informal, I've never understood it very well, because there are good and bad things to any job," as well as P1 (man, 45 years) who said that: "We had to win in life ... success is the ability to pay all expenses without getting unemployed," and P4 (man, 36 years) who explained that: "without a job, then there's a problem, but when I don't have a job, I turn to acquaintances and they help rapidly." These quotes align the informal support network for working with the idea argued by Feijó et al. (2009), Nouroudine (2011), and Sato (2013) that the main problem with informality is the lack of social protection it affords and that the promotion of decent work depends on the elimination of the negative aspects of informality (Trebilcock, 2005).

Hence, the idea that social protection and stability exclusively accompany paid working and that typical (industrial) employment should be the model of decent work does not seem to resound with the participants, supporting the criticism by Ghai (2002), Standing (2002), Mocelin (2011), and Mattos (2015). In that sense, in response to one of the questions raised in the Introduction about the relationship between decent work and informality, it seems the participants indicate the need to create decent work in the informal economy, instead of the need to eliminate informality for the sake of decent work. This argument validates the idea that informality is a structural and constitutional matter of the Brazilian working world (Proni, 2013; Instituto de Pesquisa Econômica Aplicada [IPEA], 2015).

It Seems that Everything is Always Temporary, Remuneration is Always Unsatisfactory, and Working is Hard

Despite this apparent lack of distinction between formal and informal working for decent work, stability always seems to be temporary, in terms of contemporary stability, in line with Ribeiro (2014) and Sultana (2013). As P2 reports (man, 35 years): "I have never experienced great moments of stability in life, it seems that everything is always temporary;" it is as if "I had no control over my career" (P5, woman, 49 years); and, although "working is good, you cannot complain, but I'll have to work until the end of life" (P10, woman, 38 years). Stability seems to be a synonym for "keeping on working," as P9 summarized well (man, 51 years), which is guaranteed by informal support and relationship networks.

In addition, there are great difficulties in gaining appropriate remuneration, which conflicts with the principle of opportunity to work for a fair income in the ILO's recommendation (International Labour Office [ILO], 1999). P2 demonstrates this point (man, 35 years): "remuneration has never been totally satisfactory, right?" P7 says (woman, 45 years): "my career ambition is to increase my income, but I end up accepting what comes, because my salary is never that good," and P13 describes (man, 50 years): "I leave one job because the salary is low and because I think I would get something I thought would be better." In short, the main problem is the existence of "great rush and working, little financial gain" (P13, man, 50 years).

Besides the unsatisfactory remuneration, working journeys are intense and working activities are very hard: "There is little time for leisure and personal life, I work every day, almost without leave" (P1, man, 45 years), "Ah, I really find myself in a mad life, I never get time to relax" (P14, woman, 50 years). These experiences may cause withdrawal: "I spent two and a half years there and I resigned, I was working a lot" (P17, woman, 42 years) and are often, marked by a double working journey. For example, "I used to work as a guard in the condominium and, after my shift, I used to go to the trailer and sell my things" (P9, man, 51 years). These double working experiences are generally aiming to offer more comfort to the family: "After all, all the conquests I have made and what I am able to give to my daughters comes from 16 h of continuous working in this trailer selling things" (P9, man, 51 years).

Further, there is the gender issue, marked by the double shift (working and household chores) characteristic of the socalled bipolarity of women's working (Bruschini and Lombardi, 2000). This phenomenon appeared in the reports of P14 (woman, 50 years): "And there's something else, besides working out of the house, you have to work at home," and of P17 (woman, 42 years): "Women still have to work out and at home." The double shift is a chronic problem of unequal opportunities and working conditions for men and women pointed out by the International Labour Office [ILO] (1999, 2004, 2013) and discussed by Abramo (2010), Araújo (2012), and Araújo and Lombardi (2013) who highlight the considerable differences in income and hours dedicated to domestic work between men and women. This situation conflicts with another principle recommended by the International Labour Office [ILO] (1999), the respect for fundamental rights, which, in this case, includes the right to relax from working. Further, this situation seems to represent a precarious working situation, due to the instability or uncertainty about the continuation of working, lack of protection in situations of need, and insufficient income (Rodgers, 1989; Evans and Gibb, 2009; Proni, 2013).

It's Working and Making Money, I Don't Think About the Future

This situation influences individuals' view of the future, which the majority of participants often did not conceive of as a possibility. Instead, the perceptions of the future are based on present tasks and achievements: "I am unable to think of tomorrow, to make plans, those things. I am unable to do that. I let things come, I don't think, I don't keep on making plans, now I'm gonna do this or that" (P10, woman, 38 years), "I think more of the present and of keeping on working" (P9, man, 51 years), after all "my future perspectives are to continue doing the same thing I am doing now" (P2, man, 35 years).

The participants' future predictions can be summarized in two ways. On the one hand, there is the material aspect of improving one's remuneration, as described by P1 (man, 45 years): "I intend to increase my monthly income," and P10 (woman, 38 years): "It's working and making money, I don't think about the future." On the other hand, there is the search for meaningfulness in working and control over one's trajectory, as articulated by P1 (man, 45 years): "I want to develop a job to work alone, being more independent," and P6 (woman, 38 years): "I would like work that paid more and offered more professional accomplishment." In response to missing a working identity, some participants agree with P8 who said, "when analyzing my trajectory, I am unable to identify an identity, a theme to say it is mine" (P8, man, 56 years), although some conform to the situation: "I don't think of what my future would be, I am not qualified for a better job" (P5, woman, 49 years) and "I regret not having been able to save money in the course of my life" (P1, man, 45 years).

Hence, in both formal work and informal work, the notion of dignity seems to be equally based, relationally co-constructed and not established *a priori* in terms of material conquests (fair income) and one's accomplishments in working (senses of working), in accordance with Richardson (1993), Blustein (2011), and Flum (2015).

Discussion: Decent Work is ...

In synthesis, each participant constructed a singular view on what decent work is supposed to be, which varied across several psychosocial dimensions of working life, some in tune with the ILO's decent work concept (International Labour Office [ILO], 1999), others not.

There are four singular views that support the ILO's concept of decent work (International Labour Office [ILO], 1999). The first is related to the dimension of future protection. According to P1 (man, 45 years), "decent work allows you to save money in the course of your life" and P10 (woman, 38 years), "decent work

means to be able to have a future after you stop working" (social protection according to the ILO). The second is the dimension of the opportunity to make decisions and have some degree of control over one's life. As P2 stated (man, 35 years), "decent work is to be able to make choices," and P7 agreed (woman, 45 years), "decent work is to have control and autonomy in life" (freedom to decide according to the ILO). The third is the dimension of security and good income. According to P11 (man, 47 years), "decent work is to have a fixed job and make good money," P12 (man, 50 years), "decent work means security, even if temporary," P13 (man, 50 years), "decent work means autonomy, security and remuneration," and P16 (man, 52 years), "decent work means having security, right?" (security at work and opportunities to work with a fair income according to the ILO). And, finally, the fourth is the dimension of the de-intensification of working, as described by P14 (woman, 50 years) and P17 (woman, 42 years), "decent work means calmer work" (respect for fundamental rights according to the ILO).

There are three singular views that did not fully support the ILO's concept of decent work (International Labour Office [ILO], 1999). The first is the dimension of career stability, described as being able to work continuously, as articulated by P4 (man, 36 years) and P5 (woman, 49 years): "decent work is being able to keep on working." The second is the dimension of possibility of meaningfulness in working, mainly expressed by P6 (woman, 38 years), "Flexibility guarantees work, but withdraws the possibility of meaningfulness in working," and P8 (man, 56 years), "decent work is being able to find an identity in one's work." The third is the observation by P9 (man, 51 years) that, in contexts like the Brazilian working world, "decent work is being able to overcome difficulties, even without the support of the State."

In summary, the participants' working trajectory starts early in childhood and youth, is marked by a sequence of non-chosen, badly paid working activities that make up an intense working journey. Learning occurs informally as part of working practice, and is developed with little valuation of formal education and great acknowledgment of personal efforts. Informal relationship networks and support constitute the psychosocial base for security and for the conquests of working life, which generally is a movement of transition between formality and informality. Hence, the factors that grant meaningfulness in working and could be described as characteristics of decent work are appropriate remuneration, being able to continue working, having an informal support network, being polyvalent, being able to make choices, and having control over one's trajectory.

This presentation about diverse and relationally constructed senses of decent work, which intersect with one another, supports the need to relativize the concepts with a view to a psychosocial discussion of decent work, producing not a generic, but a contextualized concept of decent work. After all, according to Bescond et al. (2003), Di Ruggiero et al. (2015), and Hauf (2015), decent work has different meanings for distinct groups of people, demonstrated by the need to take into account the particularities of how working is developed in Brazil, because "asymmetries in power relations shape different conceptualizations of decent work" (Di Ruggiero et al., 2015, pp. 120–121).

Despite the need for contextualization, universal elements and dimensions are equally important as guidelines. There exists a tension between the universal and particular nature of the decent work concept; "on the one hand, the existence of an absolute and universal value, inherent in all human beings anytime and anywhere; and, on the other hand, the particular nature" (Rosenfield and Pauli, 2012, p. 322). This tension is marked by several concepts of decent work that more concretely refer to cultural and historically determined social groups. Both are important and, in this sense, the authors propose that "the universal is not the starting point, but the end point" (Rosenfield and Pauli, 2012, p. 322), that is, both contextual elements and universal elements are extremely important for decent work.

Hence, the research participants from the Brazilian context attempt to work for fair income, social protection, security and better personal development opportunities, as the ILO recommends (International Labour Office [ILO], 1999). These elements are juxtaposed with the universally established collective discourse the ILO puts forward and the specific social discourse of the Brazilian context, constructed based on the singular narratives of the participant group, which can represent potential universal elements of the decent work discourse.

However, the main difference between the ILO's discourse and the participants' narratives indicates that the elements described earlier as potentially universal do not come from the action of the State, like in the formal employment and qualification model, but from the informal economy, composed of mainly family and community relationship networks. Hence, the context-specific concepts inherent to decent work, in a more concrete form of the narratives of the participants from the city of São Paulo, Brazil, is that working opportunities, as well as social protection, are produced by informal relationship networks; qualification takes place through informal learning in practice from more experienced colleagues; success and security are perceived as the opportunity to continue working (employed or working in informality); and personal and professional development is defined as the possibility to make choices and have control over one's life.

These findings show the need to focus on understanding the daily reality of "unseen" people (Spink, 2007), granting them voice in our studies (Blustein, 2006) in an attempt to define what decent work means to these persons, not based on an idealized view of paid and stable working, but based on what emerges concretely.

CONCLUSION

In response to the questions formulated in the introduction to this article, the participants in this study coming from the Brazilian reality of the city of São Paulo produced four conclusions. First, the notion of dignity associated with decent work should be a synthesis of the tension between the universal and the particular. Second, the decent work model should not be based exclusively on the model of typical working, out of respect for contexts in which that is not the predominant working model and alternative working forms have been produced, such as in the case of the Brazilian context, particularly the city of São Paulo. Third, the concept of decent work that should be adopted, should contain universal elements, but these elements should be relativized as a function of the context in which working happens from a psychosocial perspective of decent work (plural concepts of decent work). And, fourth, in contexts in which informality structures the working world, decent work should be advanced in the formal as well as informal economy.

In conclusion, the synthesis of the participants' singular narratives indicated the presence of the principles the International Labour Office [ILO] (1999) recommended. However, in more collective contexts with vulnerability and restricted State support, these principles are co-constructed in the community, but not offered by the public power, which produces a distinguished form of decent work.

The main contribution this study offers is the analysis of the concept of decent work through the narratives of workers who do not make a clear distinction between formal and informal working, and who works in collective contexts marked by inequality, vulnerability, and partial absence of the State as a source of security and social protection.

However, the core limitations lie in the analysis occurring in a more collective and unequal context, which somewhat diminishes the relevance of the findings for individual and equalitarian contexts with strong State action to guarantee decent work. Further, gender, race and social class were not analyzed, which intersect with and constitute the experiences of the study

REFERENCES

- Abramo, L. (2010). Trabalho decente: o itinerário de uma proposta [Decent work: the itinerary of a proposal]. *Bahia Anál. Dados* 20, 151–171.
- Alves, M. A., and Tavares, M. A. (2006). "A dupla face da informalidade do trabalho: 'autonomia' ou precarização [The double face of labor informality: "autonomy" or precariousness]," in *Riqueza e Miséria do Trabalho no Brasil* [Wealth and Labor Misery in Brazil] org, ed. R. Antunes (Campinas: Boitempo), 425–444.
- Alvesson, M., and Willmott, H. (2002). Identity regulation as organizational control: producing the appropriate individual. J. Manag. Stud. 39, 619–644. doi: 10.1111/1467-6486.00305
- Amin, A. T. M. N., and Singh, A. (2002). The Informal Sector in Asia from the Decent Work Perspective. Geneva: International Labour Office.
- Antunes, R. (2015). The new morphology of the working class in contemporary Brazil. *Social. Regist.* 51, 178–198.
- Appay, B. (2005). La Dictature du Succès [The Dictatorship of the Success]. Paris: L'Harmattan.
- Araújo, A. (2012). "Informalidade e relações de gênero [Informality and gender relations]," in Novas Configurações do Trabalho e Economia Solidária [The New Work Settings and Solidarity Economy] org, eds I. Georges and M. Leite (São Paulo: Annablume), 135–172.
- Araújo, A., and Lombardi, M. (2013). Trabalho informal, gênero e raça no Brasil do século XIX [Informal work, gender and race in nineteenth-century Brazil]. *Cad. Pesqui.* 43, 452–477. doi: 10.1590/S0100-15742013000200005
- Auer, P. (2007). Security in Labour Markets: Combining Flexibility with Security for Decent Work. Geneva: International Labour Office.
- Baltar, R. (2013). Desenvolvimento, globalização e trabalho decente [Development, globalization and decent work]. Cad. CRH 26, 105–122. doi: 10.1590/S0103-49792013000100008
- Barbier, J.-C. (2004). Precarious Employment in Europe (ESOPE). Luxembourg: European Comission.
- Bardin, L. (1977). L'Analyse de Contenu [Content Analysis]. Paris: PUF.

participants. That said, the issue of gender inequality in the working world clearly emerged in the narratives of the women interviewed and issues of social class and race determined the career construction possibilities of the participants. Moreover, the discussion about work stress, burnout and work addiction, in addition to an analysis about work health, work conditions, and the contribution of these concepts in the definition of decent work was not presented.

Quantitative studies and similar research with other sets of workers, mainly analyzing intersectionality between gender, race, and social class would be very important.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed, have made substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by CNPq – Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico, Brasil (National Council for Scientific and Technological Development, Brazil; 308786/2013-0) and by FAPESP – Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo, Brasil (São Paulo Research Foundation, Brazil; 13/24735-0).

- Bendassolli, P. F., and Coelho-Lima, F. (2015). Psicologia e trabalho informal: a perspectiva dos processos de significação [Psychology and informal work: the meaning-making perspective]. *Psicol. Soc.* 27, 383–393. doi: 10.1590/1807-03102015v27n2p383
- Bendassolli, P. F., and Gondim, S. M. (2014). Significados, sentidos e função psicológica do trabalho: discutindo essa tríade conceitual e seus desafios metodológicos [Meaning, meaningfulness and psychological function of work: discussing this conceptual triad and its methodological challenges]. Av. Psicol. Latinoam. 32, 131–147. doi: 10.12804/apl32.1.2014.09
- Bescond, D., Chataignier, A., and Mehran, F. (2003). Seven indicators to measure decent work: an international comparison. *Int. Lab. Rev.* 142, 179–211. doi: 10.1111/j.1564-913X.2003.tb00258.x
- Blustein, D. L. (2006). The Psychology of Working: A New Perspective for Career Development, Counseling, and Public Policy. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Blustein, D. L. (2011). A relational theory of working. J. Vocat. Behav. 79, 1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2010.10.004
- Boyer, R. (2006). *Employment and Decent Work in the Era of 'Flexicurity.*' Available at: http://www.un.org/esa/desa/papers
- Brewer, M. B., and Chen, Y. R. (2007). Where (who) are collectives in collectivism? Toward conceptual clarification of individualism and collectivism. *Psychol. Rev.* 114, 133–151. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.114.1.133
- Brockmeier, J., and Harré, R. (2003). Narrativa: problemas e promessas de um paradigma alternativo [Narrative: issues of an alternative paradigm]. *Psicol. Reflex. Crit.* 16, 525–535. doi: 10.1590/S0102-79722003000 300011
- Bruschini, C., and Lombardi, M. R. (2000). A bipolaridade do trabalho feminino no Brasil contemporâneo [The two poles of women's work in contemporary Brazil]. *Cad. Pesq.* 110, 67–104.
- Burchell, B., Sehnbruch, K., Piasna, A., and Agloni, N. (2014). The quality of employment and decent work: definitions, methodologies, and ongoing debates. *Camb. J. Econ.* 38, 459–477. doi: 10.1093/cje/bet067
- Cacciamali, M. (2000). Globalização e processo de informalidade [Globalization and informal process]. Econ. Soc. 14, 53–174.

- Castel, R. (2009). La Montée des Incertitudes: Travail, Protections, Statut de L'individu [The Increased Uncertainty: Work, Protections, and Status of the Individual]. Paris: Seuil.
- Chen, M., Vanek, J., and Carr, M. (2004). *Mainstreaming Informal Employment and Gender in Poverty Reduction*. London: Commonwealth Secretariat.
- Conselho Nacional de Saúde [CONEP] (2012). Resolução 466, de 12 de Dezembro de 2012 (Resolution 466). Available at: http://www.conselho.saude.gov.br/web_comissoes/conep/index.html (accessed December 12, 2012).
- Costa, M. (2010). Trabalho informal: um problema estrutural básico no entendimento das desigualdades na sociedade brasileira [Informal labor: a basic structural problem in the understanding of inequalities in Brazilian society]. *Cad. CRH* 23, 171–190. doi: 10.1590/S0103-49792010000100011
- Coutinho, M. C. (2009). Sentidos do trabalho contemporâneo: as trajetórias identitárias como estratégia de investigação [Senses of contemporary work: the trajectories of identification as a research strategy]. Cad. Psicol. Soc. Trab. 12, 189–202. doi: 10.11606/issn.1981-0490.v12i2p189-202
- Dedecca, C. S., and Menezes, W. F. (2012). A informalidade no mercado de trabalho brasileiro: rendimentos e principais características [The informality in the Brazilian job market: incomes and main features]. Next Econ. 6, 11–41.

Denzin, N. (1989). Interpretive Biography. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

- Deranty, J.-P., and MacMillan, C. (2012). The ILO's decent work initiative: suggestions for an extension of the notion of "decent work." *J. Soc. Philos.* 43, 386–405. doi: 10.1111/josp.12003
- Di Ruggiero, E., Cohen, J. E., Cole, D. C., and Forman, L. (2015). Competing conceptualizations of decent work at the intersection of health, social and economic discourses. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 133, 120–127. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.03.026
- Druck, G. (2011). Trabalho, precarização e resistências: novos e velhos desafios? [Labor, precarization and resistances: old and new challenges]. Cad. CRH 24, 37–57. doi: 10.1590/S0103-49792011000400004
- Duarte, M. E. (2009). The psychology of life construction. J. Vocat. Behav. 75, 259-266. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.06.009
- Duarte, M. E. (2015). "Some reflections on guidance and career counselling in the 21st century," in *The Construction of the Identity in 21st Century*, eds A. Di Fabio and J.-L. Bernaud (New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers), 59–72.
- Evans, J., and Gibb, E. (2009). *Moving from Precarious Employment to Decent Work*. Geneva: ILO.
- Feijó, C., Nascimento, D., and Souza, A. (2009). Quão heterogêneo é o setor informal brasileiro? Uma proposta de classificação de atividades baseada na Ecinf [How heterogeneous is the Brazilian informal sector? A proposal of classification of activities based on Ecinf]. *Rev. Econ. Contemp.* 13, 329–354. doi: 10.1590/S1415-9848200900200007
- Flum, H. (2015). "Relationships and career development: an integrative approach," in APA Handbook of Career Intervention: Foundations, Vol. 1, eds P. J. Hartung, M. L. Savickas, and W. B. Walsh (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 145–158.
- Frosh, S. (2012). "Psychosocial theory," in *Encyclopedia of Critical Psychology*, ed. T. Teo (New York, NY: Springer), 144–149.
- Gergen, K. J. (1997). Realities and Relationships. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University.
- Ghai, D. (2002). Decent Work: Universality and Diversity. Geneva: ILO.
- Ghai, D. (2003). Decent work: concept and indicators. *Int. Lab. Rev.* 142, 113–145. doi: 10.1111/j.1564-913X.2003.tb00256.x
- Guichard, J. (2009). Self-constructing. J. Vocat. Behav. 75, 251–258. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.03.004
- Hackman, J., and Oldhan, G. (1975). Development of job diagnostic survey. J. Appl. Psychol. 60, 159–170. doi: 10.1037/h0076546
- Hanssene, M. (1999). Decent Work. Geneva: International Labour Office.
- Hauf, F. (2015). The paradoxes of decent work in context: a cultural political economy perspective. *Glob. Lab. J.* 6, 138–155. doi: 10.15173/glj.v6i2.2327
- Instituto de Pesquisa Econômica Aplicada [IPEA] (2015). Análise do mercado de trabalho [Labour market analysis]. *Merc. Trab* 58, 9–16.
- International Labour Office [ILO] (1999). Report on Decent Work. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/public/english/standards/relm/ilc/ilc87/rep-i.htm
- International Labour Office [ILO] (2002). Decent Work and the Informal Economy. Geneva: ILO.

- International Labour Office [ILO] (2004). A Fair Globalization: Creating Opportunities for All. Geneva: ILO.
- International Labour Office [ILO] (2013). Decent Work Country Profile: A Sub-National Perspective in Brazil. Brasília: ILO.
- Kaplan, T. (2002). "Reading policy narratives: beginnings, middles and ends," in *The Argumentative Turn in Policy Analysis and Planning*, eds F. Fischer and J. Forestor (Durham: Duke University Press), 167–185.
- Krein, J. D. (2013). As transformações no mundo do trabalho e as tendências das relações de trabalho na primeira década do século XXI no Brasil [The changes in the working world and trends of labor relations in the first decade of the 21st century in Brazil]. Rev. NECAT 2, 6–25.
- Krein, J. D., and Proni, M. W. (2010). Economia Informal [Informal Economy]. Brasília: Organização Internacional do Trabalho Brasil.
- Mattos, M. B. (2015). Conquistas sociais a partir da promoção do trabalho decente no Brasil [The social achievements by the promotion of decent work in Brazil]. *Rev. Dir. Trab. Pol. Soc.* 1, 252–275.
- Meaning of Work International Research Team [MOW] (1987). The Meaning of Working. London: Academic Press.
- Michaelson, C., Pratt, M. G., Grant, A. M., and Dunn, G. P. (2014). Meaningful work: connecting business ethics and organization studies. J. Bus. Ethics 121, 77–90. doi: 10.1007/s10551-013-1675-5
- Mocelin, D. G. (2011). Do trabalho precário ao trabalho decente? A qualidade do emprego como perspectiva analítica [From precarious work to decent work? Job quality as analytical perspective]. *Rev. Ciênc. Soc.* 42, 47–62.
- Morin, E. (2001). Os sentidos do trabalho [Meanings of work]. *Rev. Adm. Empres.* 41, 8–19. doi: 10.1590/S0034-75902001000300002
- Noronha, E. (2003). "Informal", ilegal, injusto: percepções do mercado de trabalho no Brasil ["Informal", illegal, unfair: work market perceptions in Brazil]. *Rev. Bras. Ci. Soc.* 18, 111–129. doi: 10.1590/S0102-6909200300000007
- Nouroudine, A. (2011). Como conhecer o trabalho quando o trabalho não é mais trabalho? [How to recognize work when is not work anymore?]. *Trab. Educ. Saúde* 9, 69–83. doi: 10.1590/S1981-77462011000400004
- Polkinghorne, D. E. (1988). Narrative Knowing and the Human Sciences. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Proni, M., and Rocha, T. T. (2010). A OIT e a promoção do trabalho decente no Brasil [ILO and the decent work agenda in Brazil]. *Rev. ABET* 9, 11–33.
- Proni, M. W. (2013). Trabalho decente e vulnerabilidade ocupacional no Brasil [Decent work and occupational vulnerability in Brazil]. *Econ. Soc.* 22, 825–854. doi: 10.1590/S0104-06182013000300009
- Ribeiro, M. A. (2014). Carreiras: Novo Olhar Socioconstrucionista Para um Mundo Flexibilizado [Careers: A New Social Constructionist View for a Flexible World]. Curitiba: Juruá.
- Ribeiro, M. A. (2015). Contemporary patterns of career construction of a group of urban workers in São Paulo (Brazil). J. Vocat. Behav. 88, 19–27. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2015.02.008
- Richardson, M. S. (1993). Work in people's lives: a location for counseling psychologists. J. Couns. Psychol. 40, 425–433. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.40.4.425
- Rodgers, G. (1989). "Precarious employment in Western Europe: the state of the debate," in *Precarious Jobs in Labour Market Regulation: The Growth of Atypical Employment in Western Europe*, eds G. Rodgers and J. Rodgers (Geneva: International Institute for Labour Studies), 1–16.
- Rodgers, G. (2002). "El trabajo decente como una meta para la economía global [Decent work as a goal for the global economy]," in *Boletín Técnico Interamericano de Formación Profesional 153: Formación Profesional, Productividad y Trabajo Decente*, ed. Organización Internacional del Trabajo (Montevideo, MN: Cintefor), 9–28.
- Rosenfield, C. L. (2011). Trabalho decente e precarização [Decent work and precariousness instability]. *Tempo Soc.* 23, 247–268. doi: 10.1590/S0103-20702011000100012
- Rosenfield, C. L., and Pauli, J. (2012). Para além da dicotomia entre trabalho decente e trabalho digno: reconhecimento e direitos humanos [The dichotomy between decent labor and worthy labor and beyond: recognition and human rights]. *Cad. CRH* 25, 319–329. doi: 10.1590/S0103-49792012000 200009
- Rosso, B. D., Dekas, K. H., and Wrzesniewski, A. (2010). On the meaning of work: a theoretical integration and review. *Res. Org. Behav.* 30, 91–127. doi: 10.1016/j.riob.2010.09.001

- Sato, L. (2013). Recuperando o tempo perdido: a psicologia e o trabalho nãoregulado [Recovering the lost time: psychology and non-regulated work]. *Cad. Psicol. Soc. Trab.* 16, 99–110. doi: 10.11606/issn.1981-0490.v16ispe1p99-110
- Saunders, R. (2003). *Defining Vulnerability in the Labour Market*. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Policy Research Networks.
- Savickas, M. L. (2005). "The theory and practice of career construction," in *Career Development and Counseling: Putting Theory and Research to Work*, eds S. D. Brown and R. W. Lent (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons), 42–70.
- Savickas, M. L. (2015). "Career counseling paradigms: guiding, developing, and designing," in *APA Handbook of Career Intervention: Foundations*, Vol. 1, eds P. J. Hartung, M. L. Savickas, and W. B. Walsh (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 129–143.
- Savickas, M. L., Nota, L., Rossier, J., Dauwalder, J. P., Duarte, M. E., Guichard, J., et al. (2009). Life designing: a paradigm for career construction in the 21st century. J. Vocat. Behav. 75, 239–250. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.04.004
- Sehnbruch, K., Burchell, B., Agloni, N., and Piasna, A. (2015). Human development and decent work: why some concepts succeed and others fail to make an impact. *Dev. Change* 46, 197–224. doi: 10.1111/dech.12149
- Spink, P. K. (2007). Equity and public action: facing the challenge of Brazil's inequality. *Harv. Rev. Lat. Am.* 6, 33–36.
- Spink, P. K. (2009). Micro cadeias produtivas e a nanoeconomia: repensando o trabalho decente [Micro productive chains and the nanoeconomy: rethinking decent work]. *Cad. Psicol. Soc. Trab.* 12, 227–241. doi: 10.11606/issn.1981-0490.v12i2p227-241
- Standing, G. (2002). Beyond the New Paternalism: Basic Security as Equality. London: Verso.
- Sultana, R. G. (2013). Flexibility and security? 'Flexicurity' and its implications for lifelong guidance. Br. J. Guid. Couns. 41, 145–163. doi: 10.1080/03069885.2012.721125
- Tavares, M. A. (2010). O trabalho informal e suas funções sociais [Informal work and its social functions]. *Rev. Praia Vermelha* 20, 21–36.
- Tavares, M. A. (2015). O trabalho informal e sua suposta autonomia: uma modalidade flexível de exploração [The informal work and its supposed autonomy: a flexible mode of exploitation]. *Rev. Dir. Trab. Pol. Soc.* 1, 39–58.

- Tinsley, H. E. A., and Weiss, D. J. (1975). Interrater reliability and agreement of subjective judgements. J. Couns. Psychol. 22, 358–376. doi: 10.1037/h00 76640
- Tokman, V. (2009). "Flexissegurança com informalidade: opções e restrições [Flexicurity with informality: options and restrictions]," in O Novo Cenário Laboral Latino-Americano: Regulação, Proteção e Políticas Ativas nos Mercados de Trabalho [The New Latin American Labour Scene: Regulation, Protection, and Active Policies on Labour Markets], ed. J. Weller (Santiago: United Nations/Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Denmark), 183–206.
- Tolfo, S. R., and Piccinini, V. (2007). Sentidos e significados do trabalho: explorando conceitos, variáveis e estudos empíricos brasileiros [Senses and meanings of work: exploring Brazilian concepts, variables and empirical studies]. *Psicol. Soc.* 19, 38–46. doi: 10.1590/S0102-71822007000 400007
- Touraine, A. (2007). A New Paradigm for Understanding Today's World. Cambridge: Polity.
- Trebilcock, A. (2005). *Decent Work and the Informal Economy*. Helsinki: World Institute for Development Economics (UNU-WIDER).
- Van Langenhove, L., and Harré, R. (1993). "Positioning and autobiography: telling your life," in *Discourse and Lifespan Identity*, eds N. Coupland and J. F. Nussbaum (London: Sage), 81–99.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Ribeiro, Silva and Figueiredo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Self-Determination and Meaningful Work: Exploring Socioeconomic Constraints

Blake A. Allan^{1*}, Kelsey L. Autin² and Ryan D. Duffy²

¹ Department of Educational Studies, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, USA, ² Department of Psychology, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, USA

This study examined a model of meaningful work among a diverse sample of working adults. From the perspectives of Self-Determination Theory and the Psychology of Working Framework, we tested a structural model with social class and work volition predicting SDT motivation variables, which in turn predicted meaningful work. Partially supporting hypotheses, work volition was positively related to internal regulation and negatively related to amotivation. In turn, internal regulation was positively related to meaningful work, whereas external regulation and amotivation were negatively related to meaningful work. Indirect effects from work volition to meaningful work via internal regulation and amotivation were significant, and indirect effects from social class to meaningful work via external regulation and amotivation were significant. This study highlights the important relations between SDT motivation variables and meaningful work. However, results also reveal that work volition and social class may play critical roles in predicting internal regulation, external regulation, and amotivation.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Annamaria Di Fabio, University of Florence, Italy

Reviewed by:

Letizia Palazzeschi, University of Florence, Italy Saliha Kozan, University of California, San Diego, USA

> *Correspondence: Blake A. Allan ballan@purdue.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 22 October 2015 Accepted: 13 January 2016 Published: 02 February 2016

Citation:

Allan BA, Autin KL and Duffy RD (2016) Self-Determination and Meaningful Work: Exploring Socioeconomic Constraints. Front. Psychol. 7:71. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00071 Keywords: meaningful work, work volition, social class, self-determination theory, psychology of working

INTRODUCTION

Meaningful work is a fundamental component of well-being (Rosso et al., 2010) that contributes to a more meaningful and fulfilling life (e.g., Baum and Stewart, 1990; Emmons, 2003; Steger and Dik, 2009; Allan et al., 2015). Therefore, understanding causes of meaningful work and helping people manage and construct more meaningful work is an important focus of scholarship and career interventions, both on individual and organizational levels (Guichard, 2013). Meaningful work is the subjective experience that one's work has significance, facilitates personal growth, and contributes to the greater good (Steger et al., 2012). Scholars consider meaningful work to be a key outcome of self-determination, which itself is derived from having decent work (Duffy et al., in press b). Although self-determination may lead to more meaningful work, not all people have access to self-determined work (Blustein, 2001; Duffy et al., in press b). People who are perhaps the most constrained include people from lower social class backgrounds often lack access to societal resources (e.g., education) and may be coping with frequent economic insecurity, limiting the freedom to choose work that meets intrinsic needs, given the urgency of satisfying external needs (Blustein, 2001, 2013).

Therefore, in the current study, we broadly examined the notion that external factors restrict self-determination, which in turn predict the experience of meaningful work. Specifically, we tested whether social class and work volition (the perceived ability to choose one's work) negatively predict internal regulation at work and, in turn, whether these variables positively predict meaningful work. We worked from two existing frameworks: (i) Self-Determination Theory (SDT; Ryan and Deci, 2002), which extensively outlines intrinsic and extrinsic human motivation and (ii) the Psychology of Working Framework (Blustein, 2001, 2013), which outlines the role of access to privilege and power in the satisfaction of work needs and overall work well-being.

Self-Determination Theory

Self-Determination Theory is a macro theory of human motivation that describes and explains psychological needs, the continuum of external and internal regulation of behavior, and the attainment of psychological well-being (Ryan and Deci, 2002). Over the past forty years, SDT has been abundantly supported by empirical studies and has expanded to include applications of health (Ryan et al., 2008), work (Gagné and Deci, 2005), education (Black and Deci, 2000), relationships (Patrick et al., 2007), and psychotherapy (Ryan and Deci, 2008). It rests on the assumption that people display different types of motivation that are driven by three basic needs: autonomy, relatedness, and competence.

Autonomy refers to the extent to which one's internal world is holistically integrated and self-regulated (Ryan and Deci, 2002). When people are acting autonomously, they have an internal locus of control and perceive their actions as self-directed. *Relatedness* refers to the extent to which one is cared for by and connected to others. When people's relatedness needs are satisfied, they feel that they belong and have a sense of safety within their communities (Baumeister and Leary, 1995; Ryan and Deci, 2002). *Competence* refers to feeling a sense of mastery in one's ability to interact with one's environment as well as obtaining opportunities to express capacities on a regular basis (Ryan and Deci, 2002). When people's competency needs are met, they feel confident in their abilities to navigate specific life domains and to control the outcomes of different activities.

According to SDT theory, psychological health and wellbeing are determined by the extent to which these three needs are satisfied and how much behavior is internally regulated. The extent to which one's behavior is internally motivated is increased when psychological needs are met. Ryan and Deci (2008) described five types of motivation that range from intrinsic motivation, in which the individual engages in a given activity purely for personal fulfillment and enjoyment, to external regulation, in which one acts purely for external reward or to avoid a negative consequence. They also discuss amotivation, the absence of an intention to act. The types of motivation that fall between intrinsic and extrinsic motivation - introjected regulation, identified regulation, and integrated regulation are forms of internal regulation that range in the extent to which behavior is self-directed. For introjected regulation, behavior is partially internalized but functions to avoid negative

emotions and maintain self-esteem. In identified regulation, behavior is more autonomous and valued personally. In the most autonomous form of internal regulation, integrated regulation, regulations are assimilated into one's self in accordance with one's own values and needs. However, they are still partially external because behaviors are not done for their inherent enjoyment but, instead, for some other outcome.

Studies suggest that intrinsic motivation plays a key role in meaningful work and related constructs. One hypothesis is that engaging in intrinsically motivated work behavior creates congruence between work behaviors and one's self-concept, which results in feelings of meaningfulness (Rosso et al., 2010). Despite the limited number of studies in this area, existing research supports this idea. For example, Steger et al. (2012) found significant correlations between intrinsic motivation and meaningful work, and Kashdan and Steger (2007) found that higher levels of state and trait curiosity at work led to greater perceptions of meaningfulness, more frequent growth-oriented behavior, and higher levels of life satisfaction. Recent literature on viewing one's work as a calling (see Duffy and Dik, 2013 for a review) also provides evidence for a link between intrinsic motivation and experienced meaningfulness. A key-implied aspect of career calling is that it is intrinsically motivated work and satisfies the worker beyond external reward. Numerous studies have linked living a calling with increased life satisfaction, commitment to one's career, life meaning, and meaningful work (Duffy and Dik, 2013). Taken together, the evidence provides support for a positive relation between intrinsic motivation and well-being in and outside of work.

Psychology of Working Framework

Like SDT, Blustein's (2001, 2013) PWF focuses on the satisfaction of universal human needs and their relation to well-being. Blustein (2001, 2013) proposed three groups of basic needs that have the potential to be satisfied through working: survival/power needs, relational needs, and self-determination needs. Unique to the PWF, however, is its core focus on the role of privilege and social power in satisfaction of needs and its encouragement of inclusivity and social justice in work research, policy, and practice. Scholars building upon the PWF have proposed the Psychology of Working Theory (PWT), which integrates notions of decent work (Duffy et al., in press b). Specifically, the PWT proposes that economic constraints and social marginalization impact access to decent work, work that is dignified, safe, and offers fair wages and social protection (International Labour Organization [ILO], 2015). Duffy et al. (in press b) further argue that decent work leads to self-determination, which in turn leads to meaningful and fulfilling work. Although many of these links have empirical support, others are yet to be tested, especially the links from self-determination to meaningful work.

From the perspectives of the PWF and the PWT, an important question is the extent to which workers have access to intrinsically motivated work. From the PWF lens, two primary factors that impact access to meaningful work are social class and work volition. Social class is a multidimensional construct that reflects a person's status in society (Diemer and Ali, 2009). Recommended practices for assessment of social

class include both objective and subjective measures (Diemer and Ali, 2009). Objective measures include income, education level, and occupational prestige – often referred to together as socioeconomic status (SES). In contrast, subjective social status (SSS) refers to people's perceptions of their standing in society as compared to the general population and is obtained through self-report measures. Studies have found that SSS predicts psychological well-being above and beyond SES (Adler et al., 2008), which may make SSS a better choice when using psychological outcomes (Liu et al., 2004). Past studies have linked higher SES and SSS to greater levels of career commitment, meaningful work, and likelihood of living out a calling (Duffy et al., 2013; Allan et al., 2014).

A second key variable in access to intrinsically motivated work is work volition. Work volition refers to a person's perception of freedom in work choice (Duffy et al., 2012). Work volition is an important construct that may be crucial for decent work. Specifically, inherent in the idea of decent work is that workers have the ability to choose work that is not exploitative or degrading and that offers greater opportunities for engaging in intrinsically motivating tasks. Although contextual variables like social class and objective work barriers - relate to work volition, the correlations are weak; indicating that work volition is a person input distinct from social class (Allan et al., 2014). Previous research suggests that work volition is strong, positive predictor of meaningful work. For example, career calling studies show that work volition positively predicts a person's likelihood to be living out their calling (Duffy and Autin, 2013; Duffy et al., in press a). Moreover, variance in work volition predicts living a calling above and beyond the effects of income and level of education (Duffy et al., in press b). The authors suggested that perceptions of constraints in work choice may impede people from obtaining intrinsically rewarding work.

Only one known study has examined both social class and work volition in predicting meaningful work. In a two-part study, Allan et al. (2014) examined (i) sources of meaningful work and (ii) levels of meaningful work in people from various social class backgrounds. They found that, although people from higher social class backgrounds were more likely to endorse meaningful experiences at work, people from across social class backgrounds endorsed similar sources of meaningful work. In particular, prosocial impact was reported by the vast majority of participants when asked what made their jobs meaningful, regardless of social class background. This suggests that the underlying mechanisms of meaningful work may be similar across class backgrounds; however, it appears that being from a lower class background is associated with barriers to meaningful work.

Although Allan et al. (2014) laid a foundation for examining social class and meaningful work, their study had several limitations. First, the study was limited in its measurement of social class. Specifically, the authors used only SES and a categorical measure of SSS, despite best practice recommendations to use continuous measures of SSS (Diemer and Ali, 2009). Second, although the authors referred to SDT and implicitly incorporated SDT assumptions, they did not directly test motivational variables. Therefore, in the current study, we aim to build on Allan et al. (2014) by (i) using a more sophisticated measure of social class and (ii) testing the extent to which SDT motivation variables predict meaningful work.

The Present Study

The overall goal of this study was to better understand how SDT and PWF variables predict meaningful work. Building off previous research (Blustein, 2001, 2013; Ryan and Deci, 2002; Steger et al., 2012), we sampled a large and diverse group of employed adults and proposed a structural model with social class and work volition predicting SDT motivation variables and with these variables predicting meaningful work. Specifically, we predicted that social class and work volition would both show strong positive relations to internal regulation and strong negative relations to extrinsic motivation and amotivation. In turn, we hypothesized that internal regulation would predict greater meaningful work but that amotivation and extrinsic motivation would predict less meaningful work. We also hypothesized there would be indirect effects from work volition and social class to meaningful work via the motivation variables. Reflecting our hypotheses above, we predicted that indirect effects through amotivation and extrinsic motivation would be negative and that the indirect effects through the internal regulation would be positive.

To investigate the viability of this model we also tested two alternative models. In the first alternative model, we tested a model similar to Allan et al. (2014). This study found work volition to mediate the relation between social class and meaningful work, suggesting that social class could potentially be a predictor, rather than a correlate, of work volition. In the second alternative model we tested a different permutation of the indirect effects. Given that our hypotheses were based on cross-sectional data, meaningful work could be positioned before work motivation. Specifically, work may become perceived as internally regulated when people perceive it as meaningful. Therefore, we tested an alternative model with meaningful work mediating the relation between social class and work volition and the six motivation variables.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The sample consisted of 339 working adults living in the United States. Participants ranged in age from 18 to 71 (M = 35.33 and SD = 11.78) and self-identified as female (N = 187, 55.2%), male (N = 146, 43.1%), transgender (N = 2, 0.6%), and other (N = 3, 0.9%). In terms of race/ethnicity, participants were able to select multiple answers. Participants mainly self-identified as White/European American/Caucasian (N = 272, 80.2%), with remaining participants identifying as African/African-American (N = 27, 8.0%), Asian/Asian American (N = 22, 6.5%), Hispanic/Latinao American (N = 19, 5.6%), American Indian/Native American (N = 9, 2.7%), Asian Indian (N = 6, 1.8%), Arab American/Middle Eastern (N = 15) had a trade or vocational school diploma, 33.0% (N = 112) had some

college, 36.9% (N = 125) had a college degree, and 13.0% (N = 44) had a professional or graduate degree. The sample captured a wide range of occupations with 248 unique job titles represented. The most frequently reported job titles included customer service representative (3.5%; N = 12), administrative assistant (3.2%; N = 11), sales representative (3.2%; N = 11), computer programmer (1.8%; N = 6), teacher (1.8%; N = 6), writer (1.8%%; N = 6), and office manager (1.5%, N = 6).

Instruments

Social Class

Social class was measured with the MacArthur Scale of subjective social status (Adler et al., 2000). Participants are given a picture of a ladder and the following instructions: "Think of this ladder as representing where people stand in our society. At the top of the ladder are the people who are the best off, those who have the most money, most education, and best jobs. At the bottom are the people who are the worst off, those who have me least money, least education, and worst jobs or no jobs." Participants are then asked to indicate where they fall on the ladder on a scale from 1 = bottom rung to 10 = top rung. Adler et al. (2000) found the measure to relate to measures of psychological functioning and health-related factors (e.g., heart rate), and most relations remained significant after controlling for objective social status (e.g., income, education, etc.). Other studies have found scores on the measure to significantly and positively correlate with level of employment, education, income, wealth, standard of living, and perceptions of financial security (Adler et al., 2008).

Meaningful Work

The degree to which participants felt their work was meaningful was measured with the 10-item Work as Meaning Inventory (WAMI; Steger et al., 2012). Steger et al. (2012) found the scale to load onto three factors (i.e., positive meaning, meaning-making through work, and greater good motivations) that loaded onto a higher order meaningful work factor. Sample items include "I have found a meaningful career," and "The work I do serves a greater purpose." Participants answered items on a 7-point scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). Points from each item were summed to calculate a total score, with higher scores representing higher levels of meaningful work. In the instrument development study, Steger et al. (2012) found the scale to correlate in the expected direction with overlapping variables, such as career commitment, presence of life meaning, job satisfaction, and calling. Furthermore, Steger et al. (2012) found the WAMI to have high internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.93$), and in the present study, the estimated internal consistency was $\alpha = 0.94.$

Work Volition

Work volition was measured with the Work Volition Scale (WVS; Duffy et al., 2012). Duffy et al. (2012) found items from the WVS to load onto three factors (i.e., volition, financial constraints, and structural constraints) that, in turn, loaded onto a higher order work volition factor. The scale includes 13 items on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*). Sample items include, "I feel total control

over my job choices," "Due to my financial situation, I need to take any job I can find" (reverse coded), and "Negative factors outside my personal control had a large impact on my current career choice" (reverse coded). Higher scores are associated with higher work volition. Duffy et al. (2012) found the WVS to correlate in the expected directions with work locus of control, job satisfaction, discrimination, and career barriers. They also reported an estimated internal consistency of $\alpha = 0.86$. The estimated internal consistency for the present study was $\alpha = 0.91$.

Work Motivation

Work motivation was assessed with the Work Extrinsic and Intrinsic Motivation Scale (WEIMS; Tremblay et al., 2009). The scale consists of 18 items on a 7-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (does not correspond at all) to 7 (corresponds exactly). The measure includes six subscales, each containing three items, corresponding to Ryan and Deci's (2000) increasing levels of self-determination. Tremblay et al. (2009) found scores on the scale to load predictably on the six factors and to correlate in the expected directions with one another and work-related outcomes, such as job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and turnover intentions. The authors also reported estimated internal consistencies of $\alpha = 0.80$ (intrinsic motivation), $\alpha = 0.83$ (integrated regulation), $\alpha = 0.67$ (identified regulation), $\alpha = 0.70$ (introjected regulation), $\alpha = 0.77$ (external regulation), and $\alpha = 0.64$ (amotivation), acceptable internal consistencies given that the scales only consisted of three items each. The estimated internal consistencies for the six subscales in the present study were $\alpha = 0.89$ (intrinsic motivation), $\alpha = 0.89$ (integrated regulation), $\alpha = 0.76$ (identified regulation), $\alpha = 0.75$ (introjected regulation), $\alpha = 0.69$ (external regulation), and $\alpha = 0.83$ (amotivation).

Procedure

Participants joined the study through Mechanical Turk (MTurk). MTurk is an online participant source that allows people to complete surveys for monetary compensation, although most respondents report completing surveys for enjoyment (Buhrmester et al., 2011). Recent reviews and studies examining MTurk have largely concluded that it produces valid data that is comparable to laboratory and other internet recruitment methods (Buhrmester et al., 2011; Sprouse, 2011). A link including an informed consent document and the survey itself was posted on MTurk, and in order to participate, participants had to (i) be over the age of 18, (ii) reside within the United States, and (iii) be employed at least part-time. Participants were given \$0.25 for completing the survey completed, which is consistent with typical amounts offered to participants on MTurk.

The initial sample included 430 participants. However, 22 were unemployed and therefore did not meet inclusion criteria, and 21 people only answered demographic questions. Additionally, 36 participants did not respond correctly to three validity items. Finally, 12 cases only completed the first two questionnaires and were, therefore, missing data on seven or more study variables. All these cases were removed, leaving a final sample size of 339. Of this sample, 283 (83.5%) participants had complete data, 49 (14.5%) were missing data on one study

variable, and 7 (2.1%) were missing data on two study variables. For the remaining missing data, we used Full Information Maximum Likelihood (FIML) to impute values for missing data (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2007). FIML uses all available information to calculate estimates with added error so as to not bias estimates. Experts (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2007) argue that approaches like FIML are superior to the traditional techniques, such as list-wise deletion and mean substitution, which tend to discard valuable information and bias estimates.

Data Analysis

To test the hypotheses discussed above, we used structural equation modeling in AMOS 22. We first conducted preliminary analyses to evaluate for non-normality and the existence of outliers and to obtain correlations among study variables. We then tested a measurement model to evaluate if all indicators loaded onto their respective factors with good fit, then moved onto testing the structural model. To assess model fit, we used indices that minimized the likelihood of Type I and Type II error (Hu and Bentler, 1999). These were the chi-square test (χ^2) , the comparative fit index (CFI), and the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA). A significant χ^2 can indicate a poor fitting model, but this test is not reliable in larger samples (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2007). Criteria for the CFI and RMSEA have ranged from less conservative (CFI > 0.90and RMSEA \leq 0.10) to more conservative (CFI \geq 0.95 and RMSEA \leq 0.08; Hu and Bentler, 1999; Weston and Gore, 2006). However, criteria should not be used as strict cut-offs, and researchers should consider sample size and model complexity when judging the fit of models (Weston and Gore, 2006).

After testing the structural model, we calculated its indirect effects. Because AMOS 22 only gives significance tests for the combined indirect effects (i.e., the effect of work volition on meaningful work through all three work motivation variables), we used RMediation (Tofighi and MacKinnon, 2011) to produce confidence interval estimates tests for individual indirect effects. These indirect effects are significant when they do not include zero. Finally, we evaluated the fit of our alternative models and compared their fit to the structural model.

RESULTS

Preliminary Analyses

No variables had scores above 3.25 standard deviations from the mean, so no cases were removed due to outliers. All study variables had absolute values of skewness and kurtosis less than one, and all except for amotivation appeared normally distributed on visually inspected histograms and boxplots. Amotivation appeared positively skewed due to many low scores on the scale. However, given that its absolute value of skewness was under one (0.85) and that amotivation scores fell relatively normally other than the floor effect, we did not transform the variable.

We also ran preliminary correlations on the manifest study variables. The four variables representing internally motivated behavior were highly correlated (r = 0.73-0.77). This raised issues of multicollinearity and the potential for the variables

to represent a single factor. This is consistent with Tremblay et al.'s (2009) suggestions of summing subscales into selfdetermined (intrinsic motivation, integrated regulation, and identified regulation) and non-self-determined (introjected, external, and amotivation) subscales. The authors found these subscales to predict work-related variables, such as organizational commitment, in the expected directions, and scholars have used these subscales in subsequent studies (e.g., Shu, 2015). To explore this further, we ran an exploratory factor analysis on all WEIMS items. We used principal axis factoring with promax rotation based on Eigenvalues greater than one (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2007). The items loaded on three factors at values of 0.51 or above. The first factor included all items from the internal regulation variables (i.e., intrinsic motivation, integrated regulation, identified regulation, and introjected regulation), the second factor included the external regulation items, and the third factor included the amotivation items.

Therefore, similar to the recommendation made by Tremblay et al. (2009) we measured a single internal regulation variable (intrinsic motivation, integrated regulation, and identified regulation). However, given the results of the exploratory factor analysis above, we loaded introjected regulation onto the internal regulation variable. First, the three items form this subscale had high factor loadings from the exploratory factor analysis (0.62, 0.75, and 0.53). Second, introjected regulation represents behaviors undertaken to regulate self-esteem based on external factors. However, it is partially internalized (Ryan and Deci, 2002) and could reasonably be grouped with other internally regulated variables. Regardless, only its shared variance with the self-determined variables would be included in the latent factor.

Also contrary to Tremblay et al. (2009), we did not load introjected regulation, external regulation, and amotivation onto a single factor. In our sample, amotivation was unrelated to introjected regulation (r = 0.10 and p = 0.08) and external regulation (r = 0.00 and p = 1.00), and external regulation had only a small correlation with introjected regulation (r = 0.12, p < 0.05). Although these correlations are consistent with Tremblay et al.'s (2009) results, they reveal that these variables clearly do not represent a single construct, especially when viewed in light of the exploratory factor analysis described above. Therefore, we kept them separate in the structural model (**Figure 1**).

| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
|------------------------|---------|--------|---------|-------|-------|------|
| 1. Work volition | - | | | | | |
| 2. Social class | 0.35** | - | | | | |
| 3. Meaningful work | 0.57** | 0.22** | - | | | |
| 4. Internal regulation | 0.55** | 0.26** | 0.84** | - | | |
| 5. External regulation | -0.001 | 0.11 | -0.16** | -0.04 | - | |
| 6. Amotivation | -0.40** | 0.05 | -0.25** | -0.06 | 0.03 | _ |
| Mean | 55.36 | 4.98 | 46.78 | 51.54 | 15.20 | 7.42 |
| Standard deviation | 16.99 | 1.64 | 14.49 | 16.80 | 3.83 | 4.40 |
| | | | | | | |

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01.



Measurement Model

Before testing the structural mediation model, we tested a measurement model with all study variables. The three subscales for work volition and meaningful work and the individual items for external regulation and amotivation were loaded onto their respective factors. The sum of the subscales for intrinsic motivation, integrated regulation, identified regulation, and introjected regulation were loaded onto an internal regulation latent variable. Because social class was a single item, it was included as a manifest variable. All variables were allowed to correlate. This model was an acceptable fit to the data, $\chi^2(105) = 369.47, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.92, and RMSEA = 0.09,$ 95% CI [0.8, -0.10], and all indicators loaded on their factors with coefficients of 0.44 or higher. Table 1 depicts the factor correlations among study variables. Meaningful work was significantly and positively related to work volition (0.57), social class (0.22), and internal regulation (0.84). Meaningful work was also negatively related to external regulation (-0.16) and amotivation (-0.25).

Structural Model

The structural model included work volition and social class predicting meaningful work via the work motivation variables. As with the measurement model, all indicators loaded on their latent factors, except for social class, which was represented as a manifest variable. We tested both partial and full mediation models. The partial mediation model included direct paths from work volition and social class to meaningful work. This model had good fit to the data, $\chi^2(105) = 369.47$, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.92, and RMSEA = 0.09, 95% CI [0.8, -0.10]. The full mediation model did not include direct paths from social class and work volition to meaningful work, and it also had acceptable fit, $\chi^2(107) = 371.49$, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.92, and

RMSEA = 0.09, 95% CI [0.8, -0.10]. Given that the difference in chi-square between models was not significant, $\chi^2(2) = 2.02$, p = 0.64, we retained the full mediation model for its parsimony. **Figure 1** displays the final, structural model with standardized regression coefficients. This model explained 77% of the variance in meaningful work.

Indirect Effects

We tested each indirect effect from work volition and social class to meaningful work via the three work motivation variables. The indirect effects from work volition to meaningful work via internal regulation (c' = 0.60, SE = 0.08, 95% CI = 0.44, 0.76) and amotivation (c' = 0.13, SE = 0.03, and 95% CI = 0.07, 0.20) were significant but the indirect effect via external regulation (c' = 0.01, SE = 0.01, and 95% CI = -0.02, 0.04) was not. The indirect effects from social class to meaningful work via internal regulation (c' = 0.25, SE = 0.16, and CI = -0.08, 0.57) was not significant, but the indirect effects via external regulation (c' = -0.06, SE = 0.04, and CI = -0.14, -0.001) and amotivation (c' = -0.16, SE = 0.05, and CI = -0.27, -0.06) were significant.

Alternative Models

First, we tested an alternative model following from the model described by Allan et al. (2014). In this model, social class directly predicted work volition but did not predict the work motivation variables. This model had comparable fit to the structural model, χ^2 (110) = 390.21, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.92, and RMSEA = 0.09, 95% CI [0.8, -0.10], but it had a significantly greater chi-square, χ^2 (3) = 18.72 and p < 0.001, indicating that the fit of the structural model was better. As described above, we also tested another alternative model that replaced meaningful work with work motivation as the outcome variable. In this model work volition and social class predicted meaningful

work, which in turn predicted internal regulation, external regulation, and amotivation. This model had significantly worse fit than the structural model, χ^2 (111) = 424.23, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.91, and RMSEA = 0.09, 95% CI [0.8, -0.10]; χ^2 (4) = 52.74 and p < 0.001. Because neither alternative model significantly improved the fit of the model or the understanding among the study variables, we retained the structural model.

DISCUSSION

The goal of the current study was to advance the literature on meaningful work by examining how core variables within SDT (Ryan and Deci, 2002) and the Psychology of Working Framework (Blustein, 2013) predict meaningful work and, in turn, the degree to which these variables are predicted by socioeconomic constraints. Both social class and work volition predicted amotivation whereas only work volition predicted internal regulation and only social class predicted external motivation. All three types of work motivation significantly predicted meaningful work. However, when all three variables were included in the same model, internal motivation emerged as the largest predictor. The strength of this path coefficient provides initial evidence that being internally motivated at work may be essential to experiencing meaningful work.

In the current paper internal regulation was represented by intrinsic motivation, introjected regulation, identified regulation, and integrated regulation. All of these motivation styles refer to being internally motivated but differ with regards to the degree of self-direction amongst behaviors (Ryan and Deci, 2002). Despite this difference our factor analysis demonstrated these four styles were best represented by one underlying internal regulation construct. The overlap of internal regulation and meaningful work was so high that it could imply a construct overlap. However, when examining the internal regulation instrument items, it is clear that these are less about meaning and more about viewing work as satisfying, enjoyable, and connected to one's present and future self. When work is approached in this way, our findings indicate that, as hypothesized, there is an extremely high likelihood of experiencing meaningful work. Although previous studies have found strong correlates of meaningful work (e.g., living a calling, career commitment, person environment fit; Duffy et al., 2013, 2015), none have approached the level found in the current study with internal regulation, suggesting it may be an necessary predictor variable.

Also supporting hypotheses, external motivation and amotivation were each negatively related to meaningful work, even when accounting for the high amount of variance contributed by internal motivation. Although the strength of these path estimates were small, they are still important to consider, because people who were extrinsically motivated to work (e.g. for income, security) or who had a lack of motivation (e.g., unsure why they are working at all) were less likely to experience their work as meaningful. This latter motivation category is especially important to consider when assessing the role of socioeconomic constraints in the overall model.

Our findings indicated that although neither work volition nor social class directly predicted meaningful work, their indirect effects were evident through internal regulation, external regulation, and amotivation. As hypothesized, work volition was a strong, positive predictor of internal regulation and a strong, negative predictor of amotivation. Specifically, people who felt more in control of their career decision making were more likely to have high levels of internal regulation and low levels of amotivation, which in turn predicted meaningful work. These findings demonstrate the freedom of choice-motivation link, which is an underlying principle of SDT. When individuals feel autonomy and choice in a certain life domain they will be more likely to feel motivated and engaged in that domain, resulting a positive appraisal of that domain (e.g., meaning, satisfaction, and persistence; Ryan and Deci, 2002). Importantly, the converse is also true: people with little choice in their careers will likely feel lower levels of internal regulation, higher levels of amotivation, and in turn less meaningful work.

Finally, there were small but significant positive links from social class to amotivation and external regulation. Bivariate relations among these variables were not significant, and only in the full model do these paths become significant, implying that greater social class is linked with greater external regulation and amotivation. This counterintuitive finding implies that people from higher social class backgrounds are more likely to demonstrate an attention to extrinsic rewards and a lack motivation toward work. However, this was evident only when work volition was included alongside social class in the model, which likely suppressed the relations from social class to external regulation and amotivation. In other words, those from higher social class backgrounds were more likely to be externally regulated and amotivated once their degree of work volition was accounted for. It is possible that without the higher work volition associated with higher social classes, people are more vulnerable to external regulation (e.g., working for money) and amotivation. This may represent findings from a small group of people in higher social classes who are privileged but feel stuck in their jobs. Although this is speculative, future studies may wish to further investigate this surprising result.

Limitations and Future Directions

The results and conclusions from this study need to be considered in light of a number of limitations, each of which offer directions for future research. First and foremost, the data gathered for this study were cross-sectional, and we were unable to make causal assertions of how these variables affect one another over time. For example, a longitudinal study could provide more information about whether or not social class and work volition are best positioned as correlates or if work volition is an outcome of social class over time (Allan et al., 2014). Additionally, it may be that meaningful work predicts or has recursive effects on work motivation, another area that could be examined with longitudinal data. Second, data for this study were collected only from US participants. Although large-scale studies have documented how SDT works cross culturally (Church et al., 2013), it is necessary to understand if the setup of variables in this study's model also hold across cultures.

Third, this study contains SDT variables related to motivation but does not include variables related to need satisfaction, such as autonomy, relatedness, and competence. These are theoretically proposed to proceed motivation (Ryan and Deci, 2002), and it would be important to test a more complete model which includes these variables as potential mediators connecting aspects of social class to work motivation. Fourth, future research in this area might expand outcomes to include variables related to overall well-being. For example, it would be relevant to understand how meeting needs at work predicts life meaning and satisfaction in addition to meaningful work. Doing so would allow for a more complete picture of predictors and outcomes of SDT constructs in the work domain. Fifth, it will be important for future researchers to connect results from the current study to other variables within the PWF. Specifically, there is little empirical data on decent work. The construct of decent work represents a much of the real world applicability of research on work and life meaning, given the lack of access to decent work for many people. Future researchers might strengthen the knowledge base in this area by linking decent work to SDT motivation and need satisfaction variables.

REFERENCES

- Adler, N. E., Epel, E. S., Castellazzo, G., and Ickovics, J. R. (2000). Relationship of subjective and objective social status with psychological and physiological functioning: preliminary data in healthy white women. *Health Psychol.* 19, 586–592. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.19.6.586
- Adler, N. E., Singh-Manoux, A., Schwartz, J. E., Stewart, J., Matthews, K., and Marmot, M. G. (2008). Social status and health: a comparison of British civil servants in Whitehall II with European– and African-Americans in CARDIA. Soc. Sci. Med. 66, 1034–1045. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2007. 11.031
- Allan, B. A., Autin, K. L., and Duffy, R. D. (2014). Examining social class and work meaning within the psychology of working framework. J. Career Assess. 22, 543–561. doi: 10.1177/1069072713514811
- Allan, B. A., Duffy, R. D., and Douglass, R. (2015). Meaning in life and work: a developmental perspective. J. Posit. Psychol. 10, 323–331. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2014.950180
- Baum, S. K., and Stewart, R. B. (1990). Sources of meaning through the lifespan. Psychol. Rep. 67, 3–14. doi: 10.2466/PR0.67.5.3-1410.2466/pr0.1990.67.1.3
- Baumeister, R. F., and Leary, M. R. (1995). The need to belong: desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychol. Bull.* 117, 497–529. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.117.3.497
- Black, A. E., and Deci, E. L. (2000). The effects of instructors' autonomy support and students' autonomous motivation on learning organic chemistry: a selfdetermination theory perspective. *Sci. Educ.* 84, 740–756. doi: 10.1002/1098-237X(200011)84:6<740::AID-SCE4>3.0.CO;2-3
- Blustein, D. L. (2001). Extending the reach of vocational psychology: toward an inclusive and integrated psychology of working. J. Vocat. Behav. 59, 171–182. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.2001.1823
- Blustein, D. L. (2013). The Psychology of Working: A New Perspective for Career Development, Counseling, and Public Policy. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Buhrmester, M., Kwang, T., and Gosling, S. D. (2011). Amazon's Mechanical Turk: a new source of inexpensive, yet high-quality, data? *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 6, 3–5. doi: 10.1177/1745691610393980
- Church, A. T., Katigbak, M. S., Locke, K. D., Zhang, H., Shen, J., de Jesús Vargas-Flores, J., et al. (2013). Need satisfaction and well-being: testing selfdetermination theory in eight cultures. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 44, 507–534. doi: 10.1177/0022022112466590

A final limitation of this study illustrates the PWF's criticism of vocational research in general (Blustein, 2001). Our sample was largely White, had more income than average, and was highly educated. This is partially a problem with online data collection in that it reflects disparities in who uses and has most access to the internet (Etter and Perneger, 2001; Rhodes et al., 2003) and could bias our results in favor of people with relatively more power and privilege. Therefore, our results should be tested and replicated with samples that proportionally reflect different groups in the United States. Relatedly, future studies should actively recruit members of diverse groups, whether participants are being recruited online or from the community.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BA and KA conceptualized the study, chose the theoretical framework, chose measures, designed the questionnaire, and collected the data. BA analyzed the data and wrote the methods and results. KA wrote the introduction. RD read the paper, provided suggestions for revisions, and wrote the discussion after revisions were made. All authors read and revised the manuscript several times.

- Diemer, M. A., and Ali, S. R. (2009). Integrating social class into vocational psychology: theory and practice implications. J. Career Assess. 17, 247–265. doi: 10.1177/1069072708330462
- Duffy, R. D., Allan, B. A., Autin, K. L., and Bott, E. M. (2013). Calling and life satisfaction: it's not about having it, it's about living it. J. Couns. Psychol. 60, 42–52. doi: 10.1037/a0030635
- Duffy, R. D., and Autin, K. L. (2013). Disentangling the link between perceiving a calling and living a calling. J. Couns. Psychol. 60, 219–227. doi: 10.1037/a0031934
- Duffy, R. D., Autin, K. L., and Bott, E. M. (2015). Work volition and job satisfaction: examining the role of work meaning and P-E fit. *Career Dev. Q.* 63, 126–140. doi: 10.1002/cdq.12009
- Duffy, R. D., Autin, K. L., and Douglass, R. P. (in press a). Examining how aspects of vocational privilege relate to living a calling. *J. Posit. Psychol.*
- Duffy, R. D., Blustein, D. L., Diemer, M. A., and Autin, K. L. (in press b). The psychology of working theory. J. Couns. Psychol.
- Duffy, R. D., Diemer, M. A., Perry, J. C., Laurenzi, C., and Torrey, C. L. (2012). The construction and initial validation of the Work Volition Scale. J. Vocat. Behav. 80, 400–411. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2011.04.002
- Duffy, R. D., and Dik, B. J. (2013). Research on calling: what have we learned and where are we going? J. Vocat. Behav. 83, 428–436. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2013. 06.006
- Emmons, R. A. (2003). "Personal goals, life meaning, and virtue: wellsprings of a positive life," in *Flourishing: Positive Psychology and the Life Well Lived*, eds C. M. Keyes and J. Haidt (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 105–128. doi: 10.1037/10594-005
- Etter, J. F., and Perneger, T. V. (2001). A comparison of cigarette smokers recruited through the Internet or by mail. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 30, 521–525. doi: 10.1093/ije/30.3.521
- Gagné, M., and Deci, E. L. (2005). Self-determination theory and work motivation. J. Organ. Behav. 26, 331–362. doi: 10.1002/job.322
- Guichard, J. (2013). "Career guidance, education, and dialogues for a fair and sustainable human development," in *Proceedings of the Inaugural Conference of the UNESCO Chair of Lifelong Guidance and Counselling* (Wroclaw: University of Wroclaw).
- Hu, L. T., and Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equ. Modeling* 6, 1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118

- International Labour Organization [ILO] (2015). Decent Work. Available at: http:// www.ilo.org/global/topics/decent-work/lang--en/index.htm
- Kashdan, T. B., and Steger, M. F. (2007). Curiosity and pathways to well-being and meaning in life: traits, states, and everyday behaviors. *Motiv. Emot.* 31, 159–173. doi: 10.1007/s11031-007-9068-7
- Liu, W. M., Soleck, G., Hopps, J., Dunston, K., and Pickett, T. J. (2004). A new framework to understand social class in counseling: the Social Class Worldview Model and Modern Classism Theory. J. Multicult. Couns. Dev. 32, 95–122. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1912.2004.tb00364.x
- Patrick, H., Knee, C. R., Canevello, A., and Lonsbary, C. (2007). The role of need fulfillment in relationship functioning and well-being: a Self-Determination Theory perspective. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 92, 434–457. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.92.3.434
- Rhodes, S. D., Bowie, D. A., and Hergenrather, K. C. (2003). Collecting behavioural data using the world wide web: considerations for researchers. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 57, 68–73. doi: 10.1136/jech.57.1.68
- Rosso, B. D., Dekas, K. H., and Wrzesniewski, A. (2010). On the meaning of work: a theoretical integration and review. *Res. Organ. Behav.* 30, 91–127. doi: 10.1016/j.riob.2010.09.001
- Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2002). "Overview of self-determination theory: an organismic dialectical perspective," in *Handbook of Self-determination Research*, eds R. M. Ryan and E. L. Deci (Rochester, NY: The University of Rochester Press).
- Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2008). A self-determination theory approach to psychotherapy: the motivational basis for effective change. *Can. Psychol.* 49, 186. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.44.9.1175
- Ryan, R. M., Patrick, H., Deci, E. L., and Williams, G. C. (2008). Facilitating health behaviour change and its maintenance: interventions based on selfdetermination theory. *Eur. Health Psychol.* 10, 2–5.
- Shu, C.-Y. (2015). The impact of intrinsic motivation on the effectiveness of leadership style on work engagement. *Contemp. Manage. Res.* 11, 327–350. doi: 10.7903/cmr.14043
- Sprouse, J. (2011). A validation of Amazon Mechanical Turk for the collection of acceptability judgments in linguistic theory. *Behav. Res. Methods* 43, 155–167. doi: 10.3758/s13428-010-0039-7

- Steger, M. F., and Dik, B. J. (2009). If one is looking for meaning in life, does it help to find meaning in work? *Appl. Psychol. Health Well Being* 1, 303–320. doi: 10.1111/j.1758-0854.2009.0 1018.x
- Steger, M. F., Dik, B. J., and Duffy, R. D. (2012). Measuring meaningful work: the Work and Meaning Inventory (WAMI). J. Career Assess. 20, 322–337. doi: 10.1177/1069072711436160
- Tabachnick, B. G., and Fidell, L. S. (2007). *Using Multivariate Statistics*, 5th Edn. Boston, MA: Pearson Education.
- Tofighi, D., and MacKinnon, D. P. (2011). RMediation: an R package for mediation analysis confidence intervals. *Behav. Res. Methods* 43, 692–700. doi: 10.3758/s13428-011-0076-x
- Tremblay, M. A., Blanchard, C. M., Taylor, S., Pelletier, L. G., and Villeneuve, M. (2009). Work Extrinsic and Intrinsic Motivation Scale: its value for organizational psychology research. *Can. J. Behav. Sci.* 41, 213–226. doi: 10.1037/a0015167
- Weston, R., and Gore, P. J. (2006). A brief guide to structural equation modeling. *Couns. Psychol.* 34, 719–751. doi: 10.1177/00110000062 86345

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer Letizia Palazzeschi and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2016 Allan, Autin and Duffy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Thematic Analysis of Career Adaptability in Retirees Who Return to Work

Jennifer Luke¹, Peter McIlveen^{1*} and Harsha N. Perera²

¹ School of Linguistics, Adult and Specialist Education, University of Southern Queensland, Toowoomba, QLD, Australia, ² School of Education, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Retirement can no longer be conceptualized as disengagement, as the end of a person's career, as it is in the life-span, life-space theory. Increasingly, retirees are returning to work, in paid, and unpaid positions, in a part-time or full-time capacity, as an act of re-engagement. Vocational psychology theories are yet to adequately conceptualize the phenomenon of retirees' re-engagement in work. The research reported in this paper is the first attempt to understand re-engagement through the theoretical lens of career construction theory (CCT) and its central construct, career adaptability. The study involved intensive interviews with 22 retirees between the ages of 56 and 78 years (M = 68.24), who had retired no less than 1 year prior to the study. Participants were engaged in a discussion about their reasons for returning to the world of work. Thematic analysis of interview transcripts extracted evidence of the four career adaptability resources: concern, control, curiosity, and confidence. In addition, the influence of family and making a contribution were discerned as important themes. These findings are the first evidence that the CCT and career adaptability provide a new conceptual lens to theorize and conduct research into the phenomenon of retirement.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Annamaria Di Fabio, University of Florence, Italy

Reviewed by:

Letizia Palazzeschi, University of Florence, Italy Jean-Luc Bernaud, Conservatoire National des Arts et Métiers, France

*Correspondence:

Peter McIlveen peter.mcilveen@usq.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 November 2015 Accepted: 01 February 2016 Published: 17 February 2016

Citation:

Luke J, McIlveen P and Perera HN (2016) A Thematic Analysis of Career Adaptability in Retirees Who Return to Work. Front. Psychol. 7:193. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00193 Keywords: retirement, bridge employment, career adaptability, career construction theory, career development

INTRODUCTION

Retirement may be an existential transition that prompts many individuals to become temporarily introspective, giving pause to question past accomplishments and current life situation (Malette and Oliver, 2006). Psychological research into pre-retirement planning and post-retirement intentions and activity can make a positive contribution to policy and programs for older workers (Adams and Rau, 2011; Earl et al., 2015; Griffin, 2015), particularly the generation now exiting the workforce en masse: the Baby-Boomers (Quine and Carter, 2006; Shultz and Wang, 2011). It is against this backdrop—the putative exodus of skilled workers—that the notions of "encore career" (Figgis, 2012) and "bridge employment" (Wang and Shultz, 2010; Pleau and Shauman, 2013; Wang and Shi, 2014) became the focal points of the current research. Bridge employment is a substantial topic of research into retirement (Shultz and Wang, 2011; Beehr, 2014; Wang and Shi, 2014), particularly given that bridge employment may be beneficial to retirees' health and well-being (Zhan et al., 2009) and organizations' access to a flexible labor supply (Wang and Shi, 2014). The notion of bridge employment is usually associated with transition into retirement; it is not associated with transitioning out of retirement, back into the world of work. This ostensibly

inverse phenomenon is under-theorized and there is a need to conceptualize re-engagement from a vocational psychological perspective.

The current research is a product of the zeitgeist to reform of career development-to make its ways of being, knowing, and doing, as a collection of disciplines and professional activities, relevant to a post-industrial world of work in which "decent work", in context of the Sustainable Development Goals (United Nations, 2015), is posited as a human right for all (Blustein, 2006, 2013; Guichard, 2013). These scholars of decent work reflect on a world of work that is precarious and devoid of the benefits of traditional psychological contracts between employer and employee (e.g., mutuality, loyalty). The psychology of working framework (PWF; Blustein, 2006, 2013) posits three sets of fundamental needs that may be met by decent work: survival and power, social connection, and self-determination. With respect to older workers in need of decent work, one may ask, "What are the psychological dimensions of decent work for a retiree who returns to work?" PWF scholars (Sterns and Sterns, 2013) have identified issues associated with older workers (e.g., decline in physical and cognitive performance) and argued for workplace adjustments, including ergonomic enhancements to workspaces and equipment so as to prolong the worker's productive years.

Toward the objective of conceptualizing retirees' returning to work, the current research uses the career construction theory (CCT; Savickas, 2002, 2005, 2013) as an extension of the developmental life-span life-space theory (Super, 1980, 1990). A specific aim of the research is to explore the relevance of the CCT's construct *career adaptability* to retirees' experiences of working. Thus, the research explores the psychological factors that may contribute to an older person being actively productive in the workforce.

There are several general theories of adult development (Levinson et al., 1978; Erikson, 1993) and models of retirement (Shultz and Wang, 2011), including retirement as decision-making, an adjustment process, and a career stage (Wang and Shi, 2014). Notwithstanding their qualities, we focus on the vocational psychology perspective for two reasons. First, the volume of empirical research and professional applications of Super's theory (Super, 1980, 1990) to working life and career is significant, extending over six decades (Hartung, 2013), and outweighs that of other theories, such as that of Levinson et al. (1978; Sharf, 2010). Second, from a developmental perspective on career, adjustment to career and working life is seen as central to and continuous with self-concept (Super, 1988, 1990).

The life-span, life-space theory comprises five stages (i.e., life-span) of growth, exploration, establishment, maintenance, and disengagement/decline, with each stage addressing career development tasks and roles (i.e., life-space). Retirement occurs in the final developmental stage of disengagement. Readiness and successful transition from one life stage to the next involves physical and psychological adjustment, representative of career maturity. Deceleration from employment and entry into retirement are activities included within the disengagement stage. Super acknowledged life events as a cause for a person to revisit earlier career life stages such as a retiree deciding to reenter employment in a worker role. Accordingly, an individual

who returns to work may be thought about as going through a process that Super described as a mini-cycling, whereby interests, abilities, and values are reappraised using processes seen in an earlier developmental stage such as the maxi-cycle stage, crystallization.

Recent research by Wang (2007) confirms the presence of three growth patterns in retirees' transitions: the maintaining pattern (i.e., life satisfaction remains stable), recovering pattern (i.e., life satisfaction increases after leaving work), and U-curve pattern (i.e., life satisfaction initially dips after retirement and then recovers with an adjustment). Variations in these curves arise from "job characteristics (i.e., physical demands and work stress), job attitude (i.e., job satisfaction), health attributes (i.e., objective health declines), transition characteristics (i.e., retirement planning and timing), and family context variables (i.e., marital status, spouse working status, and marriage quality)" (Wang, 2007, p. 470). These patterns may be interpreted as variations of the stage disengagement and point to potential correlates of re-engagement in work.

The life-span, life-space theory does not, however, offer sufficient theoretical perspectives on the psychological processes associated with mini-cycling in post-retirement. Thus, the current research offers a conceptual and empirical response to the existential question posited in the broader literature of planning for retirement, that is, "What will I do?" (Adams and Rau, 2011). More specifically, the research addresses the question from the perspective of the CCT (Savickas, 2002, 2005, 2013): How does career adaptability manifest in individuals who return to work after several years of full-time retirement?

In formulating the research questions we attended to how CCT extends on the life-span, life-space theory (Savickas, 1997, 2002) and earlier renditions of the notions vocational maturity (Super, 1977), adjustment (Super, 1988), and adaptability (Super and Knasel, 1981), which evolved into CCT's core construct, career adaptability (Savickas, 1997, 2005). Career adaptability comprises four resources: concern, control, curiosity, and confidence. Savickas (2013) summarized the qualities of these resources:

- Concern: planning, awareness, involvement, and preparation.
- Control: as decisiveness, assertiveness, discipline, and willfulness.
- Curiosity: inquisitiveness, exploration, risk taking, and an inquiring approach.
- Confidence: is expressed as efficacy, problem solving, and industriousness. (p. 158).

Recent research classified the behavior of retirees: continuers, adventurers, easy gliders, searchers, and retreaters (Maggiori et al., 2014). Continuers evince the maintaining pattern; they retain their occupational identity, may continue working at reduced hours and/or use their skills in a voluntary capacity. Adventurers enjoy the boon in time and use this resource to learn new skills and take on new projects. Easy gliders take a moratorium on commitments and leave all their options open. Searchers explore all that is available to them, try new opportunities, and frequently change their commitments. These three types may reflect Wang's (2007) recovering or U-curve pattern. Adventurers, for example, may experience heightened life satisfaction in the joy of knowing what time is available to them to pursue rewarding activities; whereas searchers may experience a U-curve dip in satisfaction until they begin to choose and then engage in rewarding activities. Retreaters disengage and withdraw from life and could not be seen as adaptively adjusting to retirement in terms of Wang's three patterns. Apart from retreaters, it is possible that all of these types may return to work but for very different reasons.

Subjective life expectancy (SLE) is a person's estimate of the number of years of life he or she has remaining. Griffin (2015) suggests that an employee's motivations turn toward social and emotional goals rather than learning and work goals, as a function of consciousness of years remaining and inevitable death. In a longitudinal study of older workers (M = 62 years), SLE not only predicted decision to retire, but also predicted return to work after retirement by those individuals who had already retired at Time 1 (Griffin et al., 2012). These findings suggested that a greater SLE is positively associated with return to work. Thus, the existential question "What will I do?" in retirement (Adams and Rau, 2011) is partly answered by the greater existential question, "When will I die?" These findings correspond to longitudinal research indicating that relatively younger retirees, who, ipso facto, expect more years of life, are more likely to engage in bridge employment (Wang et al., 2008).

Feeling tired of work predicted pre-retirees' and retirees' preference for not continuing work, paid or voluntary, and, although a pro-active behavioral style and feeling overloaded in work predicted pre-retirees intention to undertake paid or voluntary work in retirement, these qualities did not predict retirees' intentions (Griffin and Hesketh, 2008). These findings are consistent with research that found physical and psychological health, and the quality of retirees' exit from the workforce (e.g., choice, timing), predicted their adjustment to retirement (Wong and Earl, 2009; Donaldson et al., 2010) and engagement in bridge employment (Wang et al., 2008). Conversely, retirees who experienced involuntary exit from the labor market may experience difficulty in securing bridge employment (Dingemans et al., 2015). Furthermore, retirees who experienced strain in their career job have been found to take bridge employment in a different field (Gobeski and Beehr, 2009).

Donaldson et al. (2010) found that a psychological sense of mastery (Pearlin and Schooler, 1978) was equivalent in magnitude to conditions of exit as a predictor of adjustment to retirement and stronger than health. Thus, retirees who believe they have independence, choice, and control in their lives are better adjusted. Conversely, recent research revealed a disturbing finding that some individuals evinced the stark contrast in their beliefs that they would never be able to retire out as act of choice because of chronic illness and earning a low income (Schofield et al., 2013). Individuals in this situation return to work as a matter of survival rather than choice and control.

Models of retirees working after retirement (e.g., Beehr and Bennett, 2015) are consistent with the latent and manifest

benefits (LAMB) of employment perspective (Jahoda, 1982) that focuses on the social and psychological benefits of employment (e.g., friendship, routine). Financial security, missing the social aspects of the workforce, or a wish to upgrade skills are reasons given for returning to work (Schlosser et al., 2012). Social contact and friendships provide a conducive context for retirees to consider returning to work post-retirement (Wöhrmann et al., 2013) and this is evident in findings of retirees experiencing aging as social loss (i.e., feeling loneliness) or growth (i.e., continuing to make plans) who were, respectively, 1.8 and 2.10 times more likely to return to work (Fasbender et al., 2014). Conversely, experiences of aging as learning more about oneself reduced the chances of employment (Fasbender et al., 2014). Notwithstanding the potential psychosocial benefits (Wang and Shi, 2014), it should be noted that there is evidence of psychosocial harm in the form of discrimination against older workers (Hippel, 2011; Adair et al., 2013)

The social and economic context of the current research is a response to alarming reports into the aging Australian population (e.g., Productivity Commission, 2005; Department of the Treasury, 2010; Actuaries Institute, 2012). So pressing is the need to retain individuals in the labor force that the Australian Government Intergenerational Report (Department of the Treasury, 2010) called for removal of barriers to workforce participation as a requirement to encourage the growing mature age population to remain within or re-join the labor market. Initiatives recommended by the Australian Government (Department of the Treasury, 2010) and the Productivity Commission (2005) aim to retain individuals in the workforce longer (e.g., raising the qualifying age for retirement). Beyond material incentives and disincentives recommended in these reports, there is a need to identify the psychological factors that motivate or de-motivate a retiree to return to paid or unpaid work. The most recent research by the Australian Bureau of Statistics [ABS] (2013a) found that in individuals 45 years and over who had retired and returned to work did so because of financial need or as a way of combating boredom.

Career adaptability in older workers not yet retired is positively associated with job satisfaction; however, the effect is significantly stronger in relatively younger workers (Zacher and Griffin, 2015). Furthermore, older workers' motivation to continue working did not moderate the relationship between career adaptability and job satisfaction (Zacher and Griffin, 2015). For the current research, we aimed to explore the psychological reasons and benefits for retirees returning to work, viewed from the perspective of the CCT (Savickas, 2005, 2013). In particular, we sought to explore how retirees expressed their career adaptability with respect to the directionality of its effects. That is, we aimed to explore whether career adaptability is associated with returning to work as a potentiating factor for returning to work, or as an outcome benefit of returning to work. Thus, career adaptability is yet to be explored among retirees and the current study is the first to qualitatively explore retirees' expression of career adaptability

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Epistemological Assumptions

This research project was formulated on the basis of the post-positivist paradigm (Morrow, 2005). Accordingly, we proceeded on the basis that each participant's narrative is an idiographic assessment, yet psychological experiences may be discerned from the data and interpreted as themes that subsume meanings common to the participants as a group.

Researcher-as-Instrument Statement

Again, following Morrow's (2005) recommendations for conducting and reporting qualitative research, here we present a précis of our characteristics as researchers so that the reader may better understand our different perspectives and potential biases. All three researchers have postgraduate degrees; thus, creating a research team comprising a transdisciplinary admixture of adult education, career development, and psychology. The first two authors have worked in aged-care settings, retirement, and mental health, respectively. There were meetings between the first and second authors to discuss data collection and analysis, and, similarly, there were regular meetings between the second and third author to discuss the same, except with the third author acting as an objective auditor separated from data collection and analysis. The university's Human Research Ethics Committee approved the research.

Participants

The participants were 22 retirees, 13 male and 9 female, whose ages ranged from 56 to 78 years (M = 68.24 years, SD = 6.41, Mdn = 69). Participants were invited to participate by use of a promotional message distributed via the social network of retirees who had an association with the aged care service at which the first author worked on a parttime basis. The key recruitment criteria stipulated that each participant be self-identified as a retiree who had retired up to 1 year prior to the study (M = 6.72 years, SD = 4.17, Mdn = 6.25), and currently engaged in some form of paid or unpaid (i.e., "volunteer") employment. There were no recruitment conditions set on the type of work completed during the participants' lifetime. Participants reported a mix of high-skill and semi-skilled occupations. Their work included higher-level corporate management occupations in Industrial Relations, Finance, Information Technology and Manufacturing, as well as school teachers, a church minister, an academic professor, administrators, a TV/radio technician, agricultural workers, and a small business person. Just one participant had solely worked along one career path throughout preretirement working life as a high school teacher before becoming a Department Head. All other participants reported a mixture of different work throughout their careers. Nonetheless, there was at least one participant in each of the major industry categories recognized by the Australian Bureau of Statistics [ABS] (2013b).

Procedure

Data collection comprised individual face-to-face semistructured interviews, with a maximum time limit of 1 h per interview. Each interview started with the researcher asking the participant to describe their career history from their first job through to the time of retirement. Interviews were conducted within a participant's home or a location they nominated and agreed upon with the researcher. Interviews were recorded and transcribed for later data coding and analysis. To enhance the trustworthiness of the data and its subsequent interpretation, the interviews were conducted in two phases. The first author conducted 17 interviews in the first phase of the research. Following the initial data analysis, described below, the second author conducted another five interviews to ascertain if similar results would be drawn from different interviews by a different interviewer. This audit procedure (Yardley, 2007) was conducted to ensure the credibility and dependability (Morrow, 2005) of the data and data analysis.

During the course of the interviews, participants were encouraged by the interviewer to discuss their employment history, reasons for their decision to "un-retire", career adaptabilities, and their retirement adjustment and planning. These interview topics were further broken down into additional subtopics that were asked when opportunities for further exploration emerged in the conversation between a participant and the researcher. The majority of participants did elaborate on many of these additional questions that covered subtopics such as their feelings toward working with younger colleagues, their perceived idea of what the younger generation felt toward them, their social support base and their personal level of control over their current life situation. Overall, each participant actively involved themselves in their individual interview with the researcher and spoke about their past career history and their current experiences as a retiree who returned to either paid employment or volunteer work.

Data Analysis

Thematic Analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2006, 2013) was applied to the qualitative data collected from participant interviews and this allowed transitions in interpretations from a broad reading of the data to a more focused discovery of patterns and developing themes.

First stage: Data Familiarization

The first stage of the thematic analysis involved the researcher transcribing each of the digitally recorded interviews, then reading and re-reading through the transcripts to ensure accuracy and to also become familiar with and immersed within the data.

Second Stage: Generating Initial Codes

Developing and assigning coding categories that represented identified topics and themes were then completed during the second stage. Each interview transcript was re-read with initial codes added to any word, sentence or paragraph that the researcher considered as noteworthy to the overall analysis and relevant to the research scope. The initial codes are shown in **Figure 1**.

Third Stage: Searching for Themes

As a third stage, the coded data identified from the interview transcripts were gathered together and then the codes were organized into groupings of higher level themes. Braun and Clarke (2006) suggest the development of a thematic map or network to aid the generation of themes. While conducting this form of analysis, the interviewer produced a thematic map shown in **Figure 1**, which assisted in identifying emerging themes by linking and grouping initial codes into overall themes.

Fourth Stage: Reviewing Themes

This stage involved checking the themes against the interview transcripts to determine that they told a convincing story of the data and answered the research question. A refinement of the thematic map highlighted that a number of initial codes were now being shared with more than one theme, which illustrated to the researcher that relationships were forming between themes. To bolster the study's credibility and dependability, the second author frequently reviewed the first author's interviews, reactions to interviews, and formulation of results, and also engaged in co-analysis of results with respect to theory. Furthermore, the second author conducted a set of independent interviews to ascertain the credibility and dependability of the findings. Confirmability was addressed by detailed reporting of results, inclusive of verbatim statements, and revelation of researchers' biases.

Fifth Stage: Defining and Naming Themes

This stage involved developing a detailed analysis of each theme as well as working out the scope, focus and story of each. The final naming of each theme was completed with consideration made to names that would convey an immediate understanding of a theme's reasoning and relevance to the research scope. At this stage, the analysis process became recursive as the researcher ensured the final themes selected were integral to the overall research goal. Theses five stages were reiterated for the data collected in the second phase (i.e., the audit). Thematic analysis of the second set of interviews was conducted in the same way as the first set. Saturation was quickly evident in the same themes being extracted from the secondary interviews.

Sixth Stage: Producing the Report

This final stage involved weaving together the analytic narrative and data extracts, and contextualizing the analysis in relation to existing literature. This involved selecting quotes from the interview transcripts that were poignant and most represent the research findings. By using thematic analysis, the researcher was able to link the various concepts and opinions of the participants and compare these with the data that have been gathered from the literature review.

RESULTS

Twenty-two initial codes were identified during the first stage of the thematic analysis of the interview transcripts. Five key themes were identified on collation of the initial codes of the data: career adaptability resources, reasons to disengage (i.e., retire), reasons



to re-engage (i.e., rehire), family, and benefits to workforce. There were aspects of the participants' interview comments that caused many initial codes to overlap across more than one of these five themes. A mind-map depiction of the themes is presented as **Figure 1**.

Here, the results are reported in terms of the career adaptability resources posited in the CCT (i.e., concern, control, curiosity, and confidence). To conceptually enrich the interpretation, the results are reported in terms of the PWF with respect to work fulfilling needs of survival and power, social connection, and self-determination (i.e., relatedness, autonomy, competence).

Career Adaptabilities

Concern for the future, sense of control, curiosity of opportunities, and confidence in adapting to future occupations are four career adaptabilities (Savickas, 2013) and each appeared within the interviews when the researcher asked participants to describe their current post-retirement employment situation and future plans. Participant #009 was particularly clear on the theme of adapting by stating that "you adapt or you don't survive". Considering retirement as a career transition for each of the participants who returned to paid employment, participants such as #003 stated reasons such as "social interactivity keeping you healthy and active" while participant #005 believed that "contributing to the workforce is about self-worth".

Career Adaptability in Retirees

Concern

Keeping busy was a strong need that ran through many of the interviews, making it one of the first initial codes used by the researcher to categorize transcripts. Over half of the participants admitted to 'semi-retiring' in that they did retire from their full time employment but immediately went looking for work again as they didn't want to stop. Three of these participants with ages ranging between 61 and 70 are now working full time hours as high school teachers and a quote from one of them (participant #016) sums up the sentiment they all expressed regarding the reason to keep working. "Unless you're really committed to retiring and retire. I don't know if people really want to retire when they do".

Regarding concerns for the future, participant #005 who is a recently retired high school teacher, expressed worry that her entry into retirement would stop opportunities for her to "grow as a person" both professionally and socially. This fear has made the participant more determined to build on her confidence in adapting to future opportunities or occupations. Participant #016 who is a retiree that returned to employment as a high school teacher noted that many of the younger teachers he works with "are insular and think they know it all". Instead of arguing against this attitude and showing concern, the participant decided to adapt to the situation and understand how better to approach his teaching colleagues as peers.

Future plans were addressed to participants to gauge how strong their motivation was in regards to planning future use of their skills and experience. Participants such as #011 spoke of having "simplified the goals section" of their life in retirement and would rather react to a situation as it occurs. With a third of the participants identifying previous work within a Christian ministry, participants such as #013 stated that his faith would lead him in future decisions and "will not worry himself into an early grave as he has seen others do".

Curiosity

The curiosity of opportunities was strongly shown by many of the participants in their spoken desires to keep learning new skills. The retired teachers or retirees who returned to teaching were the most vocal during their interviews when the question of further learning opportunities was broached. Participant #009 was open to learning further skills in teaching but not "go out of my way to do something that will be a waste on me". He made this statement when explaining that he believed additional skills training was better suited to his younger colleagues as he'd already been through this same training over and over again.

Computer skills in particular were highlighted as a necessity with participant #005 believing "you must be computer literate" as it "keeps you in good stead with work related researching" and participant #001 acknowledged that though he is concerned that he is not up to date on computer skills, he understands it is a necessity for him to learn as part of his role as a teacher. Informal learning by gathering skills and knowledge via working with colleagues was also highlighted by a number of participants with participant #010 interested in learning new skills but preferably in a work environment where she can actively learn from other workmates instead of attending a course. This participant has

learnt from younger workmates and reciprocated by passing on her experience in a "give and take" gesture. Participant #005 also acknowledged that she enjoys working with younger colleagues in her post-retirement sales role as they have various experiences in the workplace and she "likes to learn from them". Participant #014 saw retirement as being a chance to try different things and do what he wants to do. This focus leads into the fourth adaptability of control.

Control

All participants were asked how much control they felt they had over their retirement lives, with responses ranging from control over finances, time flexibility to family situations. The majority of participants responded that they felt they had a fair amount of control over the course their retirement path followed, though there were a couple of participants who did not. In particular, participant #010 stated that at her current age there were a lot of outside influences such as family that gave her a lot of responsibility but not really any sense of control. Similar to the first explored theme of Motives (to re-enter Workforce), there were a large number of responses that referred to the reasons for re-employment being due to having control over personal timetables and enjoying a flexibility not experienced pre-retirement.

Participant #011 enjoys having the flexibility to work to the hours he wants now with no pressing obligations while participant #012 initially retired due to health issues but decided to only semi-retire from a high level corporate career. Moving into consulting work gave him the freedom to still work in his area of expertise but not have the stress of tight schedules and heavy responsibilities that were experienced beforehand. Participant #011 also spoke of the necessity to adapt to his postretirement employment due to financial reasons but added that he still wanted control because "when you get past your 60's, there are private entitlements that you're entitled to and mine is to keep my privacy and basically run my life as I want to at this particular time." This statement also highlights the beliefs and values of this participant and leads into the last theme explored for this research, that is, how retirees can be a benefit to the workforce.

Confidence

Confidence was explored in depth with each of the interview participants through questioning that focused on their personal belief in their abilities, how it motivated them to return to employment, and also how they persevere in any setbacks to their post-retirement employment and goals.

Participants expressed how they perceived the younger generation would view them as work colleagues. Responses focused on a concern that there would be an ageism issue directed at them by these colleagues. Participant #014, a retired teacher, personally believed that younger workers want things done quickly, which is not how he acts now as a retiree. He believed he would clash with the younger generation if he had to work with them because of this reason. Participant #002 related her fear of having younger colleagues believe she was only working again due to financial hardship and that she would be seen as "elderly". Participant #004 admitted that after retirement from his work as a pastor he had investigated out of interest, whether it was viable to return to his first career path within the electrical industry. When advised that he would have to undergo further training he decided that being a "white haired apprentice" turned him away from the idea. This same participant though also spoke of his sense of worth and of feeling comfortable in being himself when saying he "Doesn't believe in trying to act young when you're not. Comes across as artificial".

The worth of their skills and abilities in the workforce was explored. Participant #005, though very confident in her abilities, admitted that 12 months after retirement, her confidence level is probably lower and that others would judge her ability if she returned to classroom teaching. Similar to this statement, participant #013 also has faith in his skills and abilities but believed that if he returned to his first career as a mechanic, he would not be quick enough to pick up the needed updated skills and that it would be "too stressful and time consuming". Past experience tainted the thoughts of another participant who believed that Australia had the attitude of not being interested in employing a person in their 60's. This experience led the participant to work in the UK for a number of years after retirement, where he felt himself and his skills were more accepted. Another interesting comment was made by participant #010 in saying that with all the various jobs she has completed either paid or voluntary over the years, she did not realize that these could all be collated into her résumé or curriculum vitae. This admission, illustrated that she did not recognize the amount of skills she already possessed and of which would be of interest to an employer. Besides a personal non-recognition of skills, a fear of being seen as lesser than others was also highlighted by a considerable number of participants with the following statement particularly descriptive in explaining the underlying worry. "If they hit me with technical questions, I would have a great deal of trouble and they would look at me and think I was nothing" (participant #015).

When focusing on the motivations to succeed in their postretirement work and how they keep a self-belief in their abilities, there was a range of responses from participants. Participant #014 expressed his excitement for the volunteer and paid employment work he does, as it gives him a feeling that his skills and abilities are contributing to the community in a positive and helpful way. Participant #001 who had previously explained his frustration at being "overlooked" by colleagues, interestingly provided an explanation to how he does maintain his self-belief in his abilities. "People still keep expecting me to fall off the perch, not literally as in dying but as in retiring. I have no intention of doing that". This participant felt that everyone just expected him to give up and go away into retirement. His frustration in this constant attitude toward himself (whether perceived or not) makes him more determined to stay and show everyone how wrong they are about him, as he knows he has the ability and skill to succeed. This determined attitude or stubbornness fed his confidence.

Psychology of Working Framework

With the primary aim of discerning evidence of career adaptability now complete we turn to the paradigmatic PWF with

the aim of revealing evidence of working as a means of fulfilling psychological needs.

Survival and Power

Consistent with Australian Bureau of Statistics [ABS] (2013a) research that found financial reasons for returning to work in Australian retirees over 45 years of age, the current research affirmed financial exigencies in this much older cohort. Though a number of participants stated that they received a minimal pension or had a small "nest egg" they depended on (i.e., savings, superannuation), it was of interest to find that only six of the twenty-two retiree participants clearly identified financial concerns as a motive for re-seeking employment. Participant #003 spoke of "still working to provide financially... to keep control" while participant #002 was concerned about a dwindling nest egg and not being eligible for full government assistance due to assets. Participant #003 explained further that he did not wish to continue working but it was required at this time to fulfill the retirement plans both he and his wife had currently on hold. At the other end of the scale in regards to financial motives there was one participant who identified time flexibility over money as the main motivation while another stated that "financial need not be the important issue" and is happy to live a life of small expenses and happier for it.

The National Seniors Productive Ageing Centre surveyed mature age Australians about their experiences and perceptions of age discrimination in the labor market (Adair et al., 2013) with the fear of age discrimination and age stereotypes being highlighted as the main perceived threats. Hippel (2011) argued that a person does not necessarily have to believe a stereotype is personally true for it to create a threat to their self-belief or selfefficacy. With this in mind and with reference to the research question asking to what extent friends, family, colleagues, and mass media influence a retired person's perceived capabilities and interest in returning to work, the research identified where real or perceived threats became apparent in many of the participants' interview comments. With the initial codes of Dislikes, Frustration, Regrets, Worth and Worries/Concerns being associated with these comments, they were collated under the overall theme of Negative Feelings.

Social Connection and Relatedness

When participants were asked to what extent family and friends influenced their confidence and decision making, there was a strong leaning toward the attitude of "putting the family before yourself" as participant #010 explained. As a single parent, participant #011 spoke of how he took a large pay cut and left a high-end corporate life for a career that followed a more flexible path that accommodated his family commitments. This path followed him until retirement and now he works very flexible hours as a handyman so as to be available for his now adult children when needed. Similarly, participant #006 also explained both her and her husband made decisions on where to live in retirement based on the needs of their adult children. This line of thinking ran through a number of participant interviews, highlighting the strong family commitment many retirees factor into their living situation, which of course would also impact on what type of post-retirement employment they aimed for. Children were not the only family members that retirees considered in their retirement plans though. Participant #009 plans to soon look after his wife's parents in a shared living arrangement, while participant #013 explained that his initial responsibility when he retired was to care for his elderly widowed father. These examples of family commitment illustrate that family, no matter what generation can impact greatly on the decisions of retirees and can impact on their motivation and decisions when looking at re-employment options.

Many of the participants also spoke of the social aspect of their work and acknowledged it as something they missed initially at retirement and became a strong motivator for them to stay active. Participant #008 did not miss the pressure or responsibilities of her previous management job but did miss the public customer service side of her job immensely. Within a few days of retiring this participant was actively looking for volunteer work and found a club that she could become a part of. A number of years later, this participant is still actively involved in the management side of the club and appreciates the constant support from her social and volunteer circles. Participant #011 spoke about self-responsibility and referred to the social aspect as most important in providing motivation to keep working as well as being available to provide advice if required. Similar in providing advice, participant #004 hopes to open up communication and foster a grandparent/grandchild relationship with the younger generation that he ministers too in a voluntary capacity. In each of these situations, the participant has seen the social element outweigh any other motive to continue working into retirement.

Autonomy

Frustration with their current situation was a strong feeling that surfaced in a small number of the interviews, particularly amongst the male retirees interviewed. Financial, as mentioned under the Motivation theme was one cause of frustration but a more insidious issue was that of not feeling their worth and their past experience not being acknowledged. As a highly qualified and experienced teacher, participant #001 described in detail how he felt in his post-retirement teaching role at a school by stating that "I'm sort of stuck in the predicament where I'm enjoying what I'm doing here but only half my skills are being tapped into". Feeling there is no way to fix this issue of being overlooked, this participant expressed how "fed up" he was in doing courses and burning himself out, with no promotional outcomes. Similarly, participant #009 strongly believes he was considered an "old grump" at his final school, which caused him to make the drastic decision to retire out of anger. This issue was linked back by the participant during the interview to a sense of frustration he felt at the time within the school and one he regretted following into the path of retirement. In both accounts, these participants highlighted the dislikes, regrets and frustrations they experienced as older workers and how their personal feelings of worth were shaken due to how they felt their colleagues treated them. "Initially retired due to not feeling appreciated and validated" (participant #009). Self-responsibility with a job that gave a flexible timetable attracted participant #011 to continue with some form of employment after retirement.

Both of these examples highlighted personal for autonomy over financial needs as the motivation to work post-retirement.

Six of the participants worked solely as volunteers with no financial incentive and with none of them identifying financial concerns. A participant who volunteers his time as a retired pastor stated that the small pension he does receive is seen "as a bonus" and not what he relies on solely. Instead of the financial benefits, it was more about the idea of control being the motivation and he saw retirement as the chance for leaving behind the feeling of compulsion and now allowing himself to be involved "when he wants and because he decided to". Many of the participants expressed the desire of selecting work in retirement that gave them the flexibility or control over when and where they worked with participant #011 best describing the decision as being able to enjoy work that is now "more comfortable and you don't have people breathing down the back of your neck".

Competence

With a father "who grew up in the Depression and made do", participant #013 explained his attitude toward always recycling and reusing resources being the link to his feeling of still wanting to be active in retirement and reuse the abilities he has. Participant #012 who is an industrial chemist and engineer that moved into senior management then consulting roles stated that from experience he believed that anyone in consulting work had to have a very clear understanding of their industry or "they won't be asked again". Initially after retiring he was "headhunted" by corporations for his technical expertise that even after 25 years he still found "was fresh" in regards to his skills and knowledge. Participant #007 had a similar experience post-retirement in that his previous high level management work in Information Technology and the Finance industry made him a sought after trouble-shooter consultant for corporations and government agencies. In both these examples, the participants' experience and knowledge was still relevant to their respective industries and an asset to the following generation. Participant #013 also follows these examples by stating that he "sees the younger generation bringing the enthusiasm and technology... and he brings experience and knowledge".

Transferring previous skills into a new career path postretirement was also highlighted by a selection of participants. In particular, participant #005 now works post-retirement as a part-time salesperson for a well-known kitchen appliance brand but previously to this her work as a high school teacher focused on home economics and catering subjects. During the interview with the researcher, the participant acknowledged that she was carrying on her teaching specialty into her new sales work without having realized it. Again, this example shows how industry skills and experience are still relevant into retirement and sought after by the workforce.

While speaking of their career histories, all participants whether they were aware or not, automatically included an explanation of their work ethic with responses including terms such as "self-worth", "staying focused", "responsible", "you adapt" and "good communication". Participant #013 mentioned that his early career life in the military prepared him "to make sacrifices and not be selfish" which he sees as an advantage he has over the younger generation. The majority of participants spoke of experience being a major advantage they had in regards to their previous careers and many have been involved in and seen "huge changes in technology". Communication and people skills were also mentioned as highly valuable by a number of participants when noting their worry about the younger generations. Participant #010 highlighted that younger colleagues she worked with "did not know how to approach people" and she believed she could teach them by example. All of these competencies mentioned by participants are writ large in the literature on employability as being in demand in the workforce (Rothwell, 2015).

DISCUSSION

This research discerned a group of retirees' reasons to re-engage in working, to seek "rehirement". The motives for a retiree to reenter the workforce, the negative feeling they experienced during this life transition, the self-efficacy issues they now experience, how they adapt to this new stage of their life and finally what benefits they bring to the workforce. The research found participants expressed the need to be re-hired was about keeping busy and wanting to experience a feeling of self-worth. For these research participants, a post-retirement job represented a chance to contribute to society, interact with co-workers and/or keep their minds and bodies active. In this way, the current study found results that are consistent with the argument that working meets psychological needs, as posited in the PWF (Blustein, 2006, 2013). As for the primary objective, this study reveals the presence of the four career adaptability resources with retirees.

Methodological Trustworthiness and Limitations

This qualitative study used thematic analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2006) to investigate career adaptability in a bounded sample of retirees who had returned to work. The design and analytic protocol of this study ensures trustworthiness with respect to the criteria of sound qualitative research according to Morrow (2005). For the sake of establishing credibility of the results, this study followed the published and established protocol for thematic analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2006). The iterative process of discussions between the three authors (i.e., 1 with 2, and 2 with 3) during the coding and development of themes ensured that the findings were credible and dependable. This iterative process operationalized an audit, following the recommendations by Yardley (2007).

With respect to transferability of the findings, it is important to note that the participants were relatively well resourced with respect to capital—financial, social, and psychological. Therefore, the results of this study should not be taken as transferable to retirees who lack such capital. Thus, the results may be used to inform considerations of the experiences of retirees who return to work several years after their separation from the full-time workforce and who enjoy a relatively secure financial and social status.

Implications for Theory and Research

Exploring retirement from the perspective CCT (Savickas, 2005, 2013) is novel, if not ironic, because career theories are predominantly focused on career in the traditional sense (i.e., a person's working life) and not so much retirement, which is the transition representative of the putative final stage in a career, namely, disengagement/decline (Super, 1980). The findings of this research add to current body of empirical research that pertains to the notion of career adaptability in the CCT (Savickas, 2013). The participants expressed concern with respect to their future; they expressed control with respect to keeping active and engaged; they expressed curiosity with respect to learning new skills and knowledge; and, they expressed confidence in knowing that they could make a positive contribution. Thus, the current study provides evidence that career adaptability is not only a psychological dimension of emerging adults and mid-career adults in the workplace. This research indicates that career adaptability may be a life-long psychological resource for all people interested in working. Finding manifestations of career adaptability in retirees demonstrates its potential as a developmental theory (Savickas, 2002) that conceptually challenges current conceptualizations of the stage disengagement/decline.

The Career Adapt-Abilities Scale (CAAS; Savickas and Porfeli, 2012) has been designed specifically to align with career adaptability as defined in the CCT. However, extant research into career adaptability and its measurement is focused predominantly on youth and relatively younger adults, and not retirees. Given this limitation, the findings of this study are reason to explore the psychometric properties of the CAAS in older adults, both those in the transition of retirement and those returning to work after retiring. Such research may provide evidence of convergence with other psychometric measures that tap psychological dimensions of retirement, such as the Retirement Resources Inventory (Leung and Earl, 2012) or the Transition to Retirement Questionnaire (Maggiori et al., 2014). For example, measures of social support in the Resources Retirement Inventory may moderate a relationship between Career Adapt-Ability and engagement in bridge employment. Alternatively, there may be different levels of Career Adapt-Ability within the different types of retirees (e.g., Adventurers, Retreaters) differentiated by the Transition to Retirement Ouestionnaire.

Career adaptability can be conceptually associated with the notion of employability (Fugate et al., 2004; Rothwell, 2015) and intrapreneurship (Di Fabio, 2014). Although a retiree may want to decent work, his or her desire may not correspond with his or her employability in the labor market at any point in time, particularly given issues of age-related biases (Guilbert et al., 2015). Thus, it is appropriate to investigate if the factors that constitute young workers' employability are similar to the factors for older workers. Accordingly, exploring the measurement properties of scales of employability (e.g., Fugate and Kinicki, 2008; Rothwell et al., 2008, 2009) across different age groups may bear conceptual and pragmatic fruits.

Senescence is associated with changes in cognitive performance, which has been highlighted by PWF scholars as an issue of concern for retaining older workers in the labor market (Sterns and Sterns, 2013). Although, there is some debate about the conceptualization and measurement of emotional intelligence (Mayer et al., 2008), there is an emerging body of research that reveals relations between academic cognitive performance and emotional intelligence (Qualter et al., 2012; Perera, 2015). Given the association between career adaptability and emotional intelligence (Coetzee and Harry, 2014) it is tempting to speculate that emotional intelligence may have a compensatory effect on cognitive decline older workers'. Indeed, there is a promising program of vocational psychology research that demonstrates that emotional intelligence contributes above and beyond cognitive ability to resilience (Di Fabio and Saklofske, 2014; Di Fabio, 2015) and career decision-making (Di Fabio and Kenny, 2011; Di Fabio et al., 2013; Di Fabio and Palazzeschi, 2014) in younger people. Thus, there is scope to explore how best to utilize older workers' emotional intelligence to enhance their employability in association with resilience and career decision-making.

Implications for Practice and Policy

Employability is of central concern to career development practitioners and policy makers (Guilbert et al., 2015) and there is scope to design programs to assist retiree job seekers to recognize, rebuild, and reuse their expertise to refresh the labor market. Such interventions may be incorporated in retirement planning that takes a psychological perspective, not just a financial perspective (e.g., Donaldson et al., 2010; Adams and Rau, 2011). Career intervention programs could be developed to incorporate relevant constructs, such as career adaptability, so that employment and training services, and financial planning services, can appropriately support retiree job seekers (Earl et al., 2015). Despite the ostensible benefits of planning for quality of life in retirement (Adams and Rau, 2011), some caution is warranted because there is evidence that neither pre-retirement nor post-retirement planning contributes to adjustment (Donaldson et al., 2010).

REFERENCES

- Actuaries Institute (2012). Australia's Longevity Tsunami: What Should we do?. Sydney, NSW: Institute of Actuaries Australia.
- Adair, T., Temple, J., Ortega, L., and Williams, R. (2013). Age Discrimination in the Labour Market: Experiences and Perceptions of Mature Age Australians. Melbourne, VIC: National Seniors Productive Ageing Centre.
- Adams, G. A., and Rau, B. L. (2011). Putting off tomorrow to do what you want today: planning for retirement. Am. Psychol. 66, 180–192. doi: 10.1037/a0022131
- Australian Bureau of Statistics [ABS] (2013a). 6238.0 Retirement and Retirement Intentions, Australia, July 2012 to June 2013. Canberra, ACT: Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics [ABS] (2013b). *1220.0 ANZSCO Australian and New Zealand Standard Classification of Occupations*. Canberra, ACT: Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- Beehr, T. A. (2014). To retire or not to retire: that is not the question. *J. Organ. Behav.* 35, 1093–1108. doi: 10.1002/job.1965

It is important to note that the developmental needs of younger workers and students are different to the needs of older workers and students. Therefore, PWF scholars have argued that holistic career development and employment services for adult workers should be visible, accessible, and designed for their specific needs (Juntunen and Bailey, 2013). Indeed, there is a lack of specificity evident in the Sustainable Development Goals (United Nations, 2015). The wording of the Goals is sufficient to cover older people with respect to diminishing poverty (i.e., Goal 2) and improving city design (Goal 11); however, Goal 8 (viz., Promote sustained, inclusive, and sustainable economic growth, full, and productive employment and decent work for all) does not specifically address the unique needs of older workers. The wording is directed at young people and people with a disability. Perhaps, as the Goals are progressively implemented by various nations, older workers will be given more of a presence in subsequent revisions of their wording, particularly as governments clamber to fill gaps in the labor market.

CONCLUSION

This research shows that it is possible for an aged person to continue to be concerned and curious about work, in control of opportunities and resources, and confident that they may thrive and make an authentic contribution. We suggest that the notion of career adaptability can be an important focus of research and development so as to foster retirees' healthy re-engagement in the world of work.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors were involved in conceptualization of the research problem, research design, and interpretation of data. JL and PM collected data from interviews with participants, and HP acted as the auditor of results and interpretation. All authors contributed to the final writing process.

- Beehr, T. A., and Bennett, M. M. (2015). Working after retirement: features of bridge employment and research directions. *Work Aging Retirement* 1, 112–128. doi: 10.1093/workar/wau007
- Blustein, D. L. (2006). The Psychology of Working: A New Perspective for Career Development, Counseling, and Public Policy. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Blustein, D. L. (2013). "The psychology of working: a new perspective for a new era," in *The Oxford Handbook of the Psychology of Working*, ed. D. L. Blustein (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 3–18.
- Braun, V., and Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualit. Res. Psychol. 3, 77-101. doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp0630a
- Braun, V., and Clarke, V. (2013). Successful Qualitative Research: A Practical Guide for Beginners. London: Sage Publisher.
- Coetzee, M., and Harry, N. (2014). Emotional intelligence as a predictor of employees' career adaptability. J. Vocat. Behav. 84, 90–97. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2013.09.001
- Department of the Treasury (2010). Australia to 2050: Future Challenges Retrieved from VOCEDplus Database. Available at: http://archive.treasury.gov.au/igr/ igr2010/report/pdf/IGR_2010.pdf

- Di Fabio, A. (2014). Intrapreneurial self-capital: a new construct for the 21st century. J. Employ. Counsel. 51, 98–111. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2014.00045.x
- Di Fabio, A. (2015). Beyond fluid intelligence and personality traits in social support: the role of ability based emotional intelligence. *Front. Psychol.* 6:395. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00395
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2011). Promoting emotional intelligence and career decision making among Italian high school students. J. Career Assess. 19, 21–34. doi: 10.1177/1069072710382530
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2014). Incremental variance of trait emotional intelligence compared to personality traits in career decision-making difficulties. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 60(Suppl.), S31. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2013.07.060
- Di Fabio, A., Palazzeschi, L., Asulin-Peretz, L., and Gati, I. (2013). Career indecision versus indecisiveness associations with personality traits and emotional intelligence. J. Career Assess. 21, 42–56. doi: 10.1177/1069072712454698
- Di Fabio, A., and Saklofske, D. H. (2014). Promoting individual resources: the challenge of trait emotional intelligence. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 65, 19–23. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014.01.026
- Dingemans, E., Henkens, K., and Solinge, H. V. (2015). Access to bridge employment: who finds and who does not find work after retirement? *Gerontologist* doi: 10.1093/geront/gnu182 [Epub ahead of print].
- Donaldson, T., Earl, J. K., and Muratore, A. M. (2010). Extending the integrated model of retirement adjustment: incorporating mastery and retirement planning. J. Vocat. Behav. 77, 279–289. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2010. 03.003
- Earl, J. K., Muratore, A. M., Leung, C., and Yu, T. W. (2015). "Career interventions: retirement," in APA Handbook of Career Intervention, Volume 2: Applications, eds P. J. Hartung, M. L. Savickas, and W. B. Walsh (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 535–548.
- Erikson, E. H. (1993). Childhood and Society. New York, NY: WW Norton & Company.
- Fasbender, U., Deller, J., Wang, M., and Wiernik, B. M. (2014). Deciding whether to work after retirement: the role of the psychological experience of aging. *J. Vocat. Behav.* 84, 215–224. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2014.01.006
- Figgis, J. (2012). Reskilling for Encore Careers for (What Were Once) Retirement Years. Research Report. Adelaide, ACT: National Centre for Vocational Education Research.
- Fugate, M., and Kinicki, A. J. (2008). A dispositional approach to employability: development of a measure and test of implications for employee reactions to organizational change. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 81, 503–527. doi: 10.1348/096317907X241579
- Fugate, M., Kinicki, A. J., and Ashforth, B. E. (2004). Employability: a psychosocial construct, its dimensions, and applications. J. Vocat. Behav. 65, 14–38. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2003.10.005
- Gobeski, K. T., and Beehr, T. A. (2009). How retirees work: predictors of different types of bridge employment. J. Organ. Behav. 30, 401–425. doi: 10.1002/job.547
- Griffin, B. (2015). "Promoting the work adjustment of late career employees," in APA Handbook of Career Intervention, Volume 2: Application, eds P. J. Hartung, M. L. Savickas, and W. B. Walsh (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 439–451.
- Griffin, B., and Hesketh, B. (2008). Post-retirement work: the individual determinants of paid and volunteer work. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 81, 101–121. doi: 10.1348/096317907X202518
- Griffin, B., Hesketh, B., and Loh, V. (2012). The influence of subjective life expectancy on retirement transition and planning: a longitudinal study. J. Vocat. Behav. 81, 129–137. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2012.05.005
- Guichard, J. (2013). Career guidance, education, and dialogues for a fair and sustainable human development, *Paper Presented at the Inaugural Conference of the UNESCO Chair of Lifelong Guidance and Counselling*, University of Wroclaw, Wroclaw.
- Guilbert, L., Bernaud, J.-L., Gouvernet, B., and Rossier, J. (2015). Employability: review and research prospects. *Int. J. Educ. Vocat. Guidance* 1–21. doi: 10.1007/s10775-015-9288-4
- Hartung, P. J. (2013). "The life-span, life-space theory of careers," in *Career Development and Counseling Putting Theory and Research to Work*, 2nd Edn, eds S. D. Brown and R. W. Lent (Hoboken, NJ: Wiley), 83–113.
- Hippel, C. (2011). Stereotype Threat and Mature Age Workers. Melbourne, VIC: National Seniors Productive Ageing Centre.

- Jahoda, M. (1982). Employment and Unemployment: A Social-Psychological Analysis, Vol. 1. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Juntunen, C. L., and Bailey, T.-K. M. (2013). "Training and employment services for adult workers," in *The Oxford Handbook of the Psychology of Working*, ed. D. L. Blustein (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 292–310.
- Leung, C. S. Y., and Earl, J. K. (2012). Retirement resources inventory: construction, factor structure and psychometric properties. J. Vocat. Behav. 81, 171–182. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2012.06.005
- Levinson, D. J., Darrow, C. M., Klein, E. B., Levinson, M. H., and McKee, B. (1978). *The Seasons of a Man's Life*. New York, NY: Knopf.
- Maggiori, C., Nihil, R., Froidevaux, A., and Rossier, J. (2014). Development and validation of the Transition to Retirement Questionnaire. J. Career Assess. 22, 505–523. doi: 10.1177/1069072713498684
- Malette, J., and Oliver, L. (2006). Retirement and existential meaning in the older adult: a qualitative study using life review. *Counsel. Psychother. Health* 2, 30–49.
- Mayer, J. D., Salovey, P., and Caruso, D. R. (2008). Emotional intelligence: new ability or eclectic traits? Am. Psychol. 63, 503–517. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.63.6.503
- Morrow, S. L. (2005). Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counseling psychology. J. Counsel. Psychol. 52, 250–260. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.250
- Pearlin, L. I., and Schooler, C. (1978). The structure of coping. J. Health Soc. Behav. 19, 2–21. doi: 10.2307/2136319
- Perera, H. N. (2015). The role of trait emotional intelligence in academic performance: theoretical overview and empirical update. J. Psychol. 150, 227– 249. doi: 10.1080/00223980.2015.1079161
- Pleau, R., and Shauman, K. (2013). Trends and correlates of postretirement employment, 1977–2009. *Hum. Relat.* 66, 113–141. doi: 10.1177/0018726712447003
- Productivity Commission (2005). *Economic Implications of an Ageing Australia*, Research Report, Canberra. Available at: http://www.pc.gov.au/inquiries/comp leted/ageing/report/ageing.pdf
- Qualter, P., Gardner, K. J., Pope, D. J., Hutchinson, J. M., and Whiteley, H. E. (2012). Ability emotional intelligence, trait emotional intelligence, and academic success in British secondary schools: a 5-year longitudinal study. *Learn. Individ. Differ.* 22, 83–91. doi: 10.1016/j.lindif.2011.11.007
- Quine, S., and Carter, S. (2006). Australian baby boomers' expectations and plans for their old age. *Austral. J. Ageing* 25, 3–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-6612.2006.00147.x
- Rothwell, A., Herbert, I., and Rothwell, F. (2008). Self-perceived employability: construction and initial validation of a scale for university students. J. Vocat. Behav. 73, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2007.12.001
- Rothwell, A., Jewell, S., and Hardie, M. (2009). Self-perceived employability: investigating the responses of post-graduate students. J. Vocat. Behav. 75, 152–161. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.05.002
- Rothwell, A. T. (2015). "Employability," in APA Handbook of Career Intervention, Volume 2: Applications, eds P. J. Hartung, M. L. Savickas, and W. B. Walsh (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 337–350.
- Savickas, M. L. (1997). Career adaptability: an integrative construct for lifespan, life-space theory. *Career Dev. Q.* 45, 247–259. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-0045.1997.tb00469.x
- Savickas, M. L. (2002). "Career construction: a developmental theory of vocational behavior," in *Career Choice and Development*, 4th Edn, ed. D. Brown. San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & Sons, 149–205.
- Savickas, M. L. (2005). "The theory and practice of career construction," in *Career Development and Counseling: Putting Theory and Research to Work*, eds S. D. Brown and R. W. Lent (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons), 42–70.
- Savickas, M. L. (2013). "Career construction theory and practice," in *Career Development and Counseling: Putting Theory and Research to Work*, 2nd Edn, eds S. D. Brown and R. W. Lent (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons), 147–183.
- Savickas, M. L., and Porfeli, E. J. (2012). Career adapt-abilities scale: construction, reliability, and measurement equivalence across 13 countries. J. Vocat. Behav. 80, 661–673. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2012.01.011
- Schlosser, F., Zinni, D., and Armstrong-Stassen, M. (2012). Intention to unretire: HR and the boomerang effect. *Career Dev. Int.* 17, 149–167. doi: 10.1108/13620431211225331

- Schofield, D., Callander, E., Kelly, S., and Shrestha, R. (2013). Working Beyond 65 -What's Realistic? The Influence of Health on Longer Working Lives. Melbourne, VIC: National Seniors Productive Ageing Centre.
- Sharf, R. S. (2010). Applying Career Development Theory to Counseling, 5th Edn. Belmont, CA: Brooks/Cole Cengage Learning.
- Shultz, K. S., and Wang, M. (2011). Psychological perspectives on the changing nature of retirement. Am. Psychol. 66, 170–179. doi: 10.1037/a0022411
- Sterns, H. L., and Sterns, A. A. (2013). "Approaches to aging and working," in *The Oxford Handbook of the Psychology of Working*, ed. D. L. Blustein (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 160–184.
- Super, D. E. (1977). Vocational maturity in mid-career. Vocat. Guidance Q. 25, 294–302. doi: 10.1002/j.2164-585X.1977.tb01242.x
- Super, D. E. (1980). A life-span, life-space approach to career development. J. Vocat. Behav. 16, 282–298. doi: 10.1016/0001-8791(80)90056-1
- Super, D. E. (1988). Vocational adjustment: implementing a self-concept. *Career Dev. Q.* 36, 351–357. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-0045.1988.tb00509.x
- Super, D. E. (1990). "A life-span, life-space approach to career development," in *Career Choice and Development*, eds D. Brown and L. Brooks (San Fransisco, CA: Jossey-Bass), 167–261.
- Super, D. E., and Knasel, E. G. (1981). Career development in adulthood: some theoretical problems and a possible solution. Br. J. Guidance Counsel. 9, 194– 201. doi: 10.1080/03069888108258214
- United Nations (2015). Transforming Our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Available at: http://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol
- Wang, M. (2007). Profiling retirees in the retirement transition and adjustment process: examining the longitudinal change patterns of retirees' psychological well-being. J. Appl. Psychol. 92, 455–474. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.92. 2.455
- Wang, M., and Shi, J. (2014). Psychological research on retirement. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 65, 209–233. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115131
- Wang, M., and Shultz, K. S. (2010). Employee retirement: a review and recommendations for future investigation. J. Manag. 36, 172–206. doi: 10.1177/0149206309347957

- Wang, M., Zhan, Y., Liu, S., and Shultz, K. S. (2008). Antecedents of bridge employment: a longitudinal investigation. J. Appl. Psychol. 93, 818–830. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.93.4.818
- Wöhrmann, A. M., Deller, J., and Wang, M. (2013). Outcome expectations and work design characteristics in post-retirement work planning. J. Vocat. Behav. 83, 219–228. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2013.05.003
- Wong, J. Y., and Earl, J. K. (2009). Towards an integrated model of individual, psychosocial, and organizational predictors of retirement adjustment. J. Vocat. Behav. 75, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2008.12.010
- Yardley, L. (2007). "Demonstrating validity in qualitative psychology," in *Qualitative Psychology: A Practical Guide to Research Methods*, ed. J. A. Smith (London: Sage Publisher), 235–251.
- Zacher, H., and Griffin, B. (2015). Older workers' age as a moderator of the relationship between career adaptability and job satisfaction. *Work Aging Retirement* 1, 227–236. doi: 10.1093/workar/wau009
- Zhan, Y., Wang, M., Liu, S., and Shultz, K. S. (2009). Bridge employment and retirees' health: a longitudinal investigation. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 14, 374–389. doi: 10.1037/a0015285

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer LP and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling Editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2016 Luke, McIlveen and Perera. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Assessing Workplace Relational Civility (WRC) with a New Multidimensional "Mirror" Measure

Annamaria Di Fabio * and Alessio Gori

Department of Education and Psychology (Psychology Section), University of Florence, Florence, Italy

This article first introduces a new psychological construct and then presents the psychometric properties of a new multidimensional measure for assessing workplace relational civility (WRC). This new self-report mirror measure has two specular sections (Part A—Me with others; Part B—Others with me) that can assess individuals' relational patterns regarding civility and that can help reduce the bias in the assessment process. The results of exploratory factor analysis revealed a factor structure with three robust dimensions [relational decency (RD), relational culture (RCu), and relational readiness (RR)] exhibiting good values of internal consistency. Confirmatory factor analysis showed, in turn, a good fit of the model to the data. The correlations between the sections of the measure and the 11 instruments used were significant and in the expected directions. These results suggest that this new, brief mirror measure for assessing WRC can be easily employed in different organizational contexts to open different typologies of actions on the basis of the three dimensions, thereby facilitating the construction of a safer and more decent relational work environment.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Radha R. Sharma, Hero MotoCorp., Management Development Institute, India

Reviewed by:

Gary Lee Mangiofico, Pepperdine University, USA Marthie Sophia Van Der Walt, North-West University, Potchefstroom Campus, South Africa

*Correspondence:

Annamaria Di Fabio adifabio@psico.unifi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 11 February 2016 Accepted: 30 May 2016 Published: 20 June 2016

Citation:

Di Fabio A and Gori A (2016) Assessing Workplace Relational Civility (WRC) with a New Multidimensional "Mirror" Measure. Front. Psychol. 7:890. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00890 Keywords: workplace civility, decent work, relationships and work, relational civility, relational theory, relational decency, relational culture, relational readiness

INTRODUCTION

Positive psychology is being used more frequently these days to improve the quality of work life and organizational effectiveness. Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi (2000) maintain that the purpose of positive psychology is "to begin to catalyze a change in the focus of psychology from preoccupation only with repairing the worst things in life to also building positive qualities" (Seligman and Csikszentmihalyi, 2000, p. 5). Positive psychology aims at helping individuals develop their potential and make the best choices for their personal and professional lives (Seligman, 2002; Ryff and Singer, 2008; Waterman et al., 2010; Savickas, 2011; Guichard, 2013).

In other words, positive psychology helps individuals develop effective and lifelong self and relational management (Di Fabio, 2015a) across the numerous personal and professional transitions and complex challenges of the 21st century (Blustein, 2011; Di Fabio and Maree, 2013; Di Fabio, 2014a; Di Fabio and Kenny, 2015).

This effective and lifelong self and relational management (Di Fabio and Kenny, 2016) can impact directly and indirectly on the sphere of professional life and help develop and improve psychological resources and talents. It can also promote opportunities for women and men to obtain decent and productive work in conditions of freedom, equality, security, and human dignity (ILO, 1999). According to the United Nations (1948), everyone who works has the right to just and

favorable remuneration ensuring for himself and his family an existence worthy of human dignity, and supplemented, if necessary, by other means of social protection (United Nations, 1948). The concept of decent work is thus characterized by dignity and decency in the workplace, which are part and parcel of equality of opportunity, social protection, social security, and quality of work (Faioli, 2009). Quality of work, in particular, is the basis of decent work and can be linked to the quality of relationships in the workplace; in other words, decent work is linked to positive relational outcomes (Blustein et al., 2016; Di Fabio and Kenny, 2016; Kenny et al., 2016). It then follows that quality of work and quality of relationships influence each other. In fact, some authors see work and relationships as major social constructs (Blustein, 2011; Richardson, 2012).

The relational theory of working (Blustein, 2011) provides a framework for understanding how working is embedded in external and internal relational contexts and how it can be viewed as an inherently relational act. Thus, on the one hand, the psychology-of-working framework seeks to explore the impact of intrapsychic, relational, social, economic, political, and historical factors on people's work lives, and, on the other hand, it seeks to identify three human needs that working optimally can fulfill: the need for survival and power, the need for social connection, and the need for self-determination (Blustein, 2006, 2011). The theory also emphasizes the importance of creating optimal conditions for the development of adaptive relationships among peers and supervisors at work (Blustein, 2011): relationships that need to be characterized by civility.

Traditionally, the work and organizational literature has focused on workplace incivility (WI) rather than civility at work. Andersson and Pearson (1999) define WI as "low intensity deviant behavior with ambiguous intent to harm the target, in violation of workplace norms of mutual respect. Uncivil behaviors are characteristically rude and discourteous, displaying a lack of regard for others" (p. 457). Cortina et al. (2001) refer to it as a form of interpersonal mistreatment in the workplace characterized by violence, aggression, bullying, tyranny, harassment, deviance, and injustice (Cortina et al., 2001). Other authors talk about physical forms of aggression (VandenBos and Bulatao, 1996; Griffin et al., 1998; Leather et al., 1999) or psychological forms of aggression that intentionally cause injury (Baron and Neuman, 1996; Folger and Baron, 1996; Neuman and Baron, 1997; Glomb, 1998).

This article seeks to go beyond the conceptualization of incivility at work and to focus rather on the utility of models that include positivity and early interventions as forms of prevention (Hage et al., 2007; Kenny and Hage, 2009). These are more effective when efforts to increase resources and competencies (Boyatzis et al., 2002, 2015a; Di Fabio, 2006; Boyatzis and Saatcioglu, 2008; Di Fabio and Bernaud, 2008; Boyatzis, 2009; Di Fabio and Palazzeschi, 2012, 2015a, 2016a; Di Fabio et al., 2013; Di Fabio and Saklofske, 2014a,b; Di Fabio and Bucci, 2015) are combined with efforts to decrease risks, in line with recent advances reported in the positive psychology literature (Di Fabio and Kenny, 2012a,b; Kenny et al., 2014). So, given the importance of the concepts of relationality and civility, we move from the idea of decent work and well-being at work—through relationality to the idea of respect and caring for the self and others and the relationships between people (Blustein, 2006; Di Fabio and Maree, 2012, 2016; Maree, 2013; Di Fabio, 2015b; Di Fabio and Bucci, 2016a). To this end, we developed a new construct: the relational civility (RC) construct.

RELATIONAL CIVILITY: CONSTRUCT DEFINITION

Civility has been defined in different ways, but almost all definitions state that this construct is characterized by respect and courtesy and a general awareness of the rights of others (Elias, 1982; Carter, 1998).

The *Random House Dictionary* defines civility as "courtesy and politeness toward fellow human beings" (2015). Civility has also been defined as a source of power, a means of gaining favor and asserting cultural superiority, attaining social advantage (Elias, 1982; Morris, 1996), and "the sum of the many sacrifices we are called to make for the sake of living together" (Carter, 1998, p. 11). Some researchers stress the virtue aspects of the moral implications of civility (Elias, 1982; Carter, 1998) while others emphasize the "way of signaling the existence of selfcontrol" in civility (Wilson, 1993, p. 83). Most researchers agree, however, that the need for civility becomes greater when the interaction among people increases in complexity and frequency (Goffman, 1967; Elias, 1982; Chen and Eastman, 1997; Carter, 1998). To paraphrase Blustein (2006), we could say that civility is intrinsically relational.

We developed the concept of RC on these premises as a form of relational style characterized by respect and concern for the self and others, interpersonal sensitivity, personal education, and kindness toward others. RC also includes civil behaviors such as treating others with dignity and respecting social norms to facilitate peaceful and productive cohabitation.

RC underlines the importance of interpersonal behavior and is based on the assumption that people with their own expectations, cognitive schemas, and cultural backgrounds interact and influence each other. In other words, RC is a dynamic concept that can be adapted to different contexts. For example, we can refer to RC at work, RC in sport, RC in academia, and so on. This construct can thus be adapted to many spheres in our lives.

The definition of the construct covers many factors related to civility and many factors related to relationality which can be grouped into three principal dimensions: relational decency (RD), relational culture (RCu), relational readiness (RR).

RD, a new concept in the psychology literature, is inspired by positive psychology (Fredrickson and Losada, 2005) and concerns optimal relational functioning characterized by decency in relationships, respect for the self and for others, being able to express opinions freely, being assertive, and being tactful. Having a high level of RD means being able to understand the relational dynamics in a situation and integrating them in order to devise and promote constructive relationships. In other words, RD enables individuals to have positive and decency-based relationships characterized by assertiveness, freedom to express ideas, respect for others, and tact in sustaining convictions. RD can thus contribute to relational well-being and happiness.

RCu, another new concept in the psychology literature, is inspired by relational cultural theory (Miller, 1976; Miller et al., 2004). It concerns the complexity of human relationships in terms of connection and disconnection and also recognizes and explores the social implications of psychology theory and the influence of culture on the quality and nature of relationships and the subsequent effect on healthy coexistence (McCauley, 2013). RCu thus comes from a distance and can vary across cultures. People with good RCu are able to communicate with kindness and deal with others in a polite manner through effective diversity management (Harris et al., 2013; Di Fabio, 2016b).

RR, a further new concept in the psychology literature concerns speed in understanding the feelings of others and showing proactive sensibility. People with good IR are thus able to read the emotions of others easily and to demonstrate delicacy, empathy, compassion, and attention to their reactions.

RC can be seen as a collection of relational factors that are central to developing satisfactory relationships with others and promoting well-being among people.

The need for greater civility is evident when interactions among people become more complex requiring them to attune their behavior to that of others (Andersson and Pearson, 1999) in order to prevent misunderstandings (Elias, 1982) and to promote well-being (Boyatzis, 2009). In line with these premises, the present study aimed at presenting a much-needed new multidimensional measure to assess workplace relational civility (WRC).

Differences and Similarities With Similar Constructs

When developing a new construct it is essential to compare it—in this case WRC—with other similar constructs in order to identify and analyze the similarities and the differences.

In the field of work and organizational psychology, constructs similar to WRC are organizational citizenship behavior (OCB) and prosocial organizational behavior (POB). First of all, we can speculate that WRC is a prerequisite for prosocial and citizenship behaviors; in fact, when there is a high level of WRC, it can be assumed that there will also be high levels of prosocial and citizenship behaviors. Because WRC precedes these other two constructs and is necessary for the development of healthy attachments, some specific differences must exist.

OCB is defined as "an individual behavior that is discretionary, not directly or explicitly recognized by the formal reward system, and that in the aggregate promotes the effective functioning of the organization" (Organ, 1988, p. 4). Here, the variables that may most frequently overlap between WRC and OCB are the courtesy, the altruism, and the civic virtues.

Regarding the courtesy virtue of the OCB, emphasis is placed on keeping colleagues and superiors informed about organizational matters and working conditions. The courtesy virtue of the WRC, on the other hand, seems to be broader and to concern a general lifestyle and consequently a way of being, a relational modality geared to education, kindness, and courtesy in the workplace. The courtesy of the WRC may thus subsume the courtesy of the OCB.

There could also be similarities between the RCu factor of the WRC and the altruism factor of the OCB. RCu is a relational style that is polite, kind, and courteous, and because of the high level of education and politeness of people with a high level of RCu, it is generally easy for them to behave altruistically. In OCB, the altruism factor is restricted to helping people in their work activities whereas in RCu, it is more specifically focused on being comfortable with and recognizing other people as human beings. Civic virtue (CV), defined as having an interest in the organization as a whole and a willingness to participate actively in its governance, may have links with some aspects of RR, particularly regarding interest in others. CV can also be linked to RCu in respect of the subcategory of level of education, which, in turn, is linked to CV.

POB, defined as the behavior of a member of an organization who provides services to co-workers, customers, teams, or the organization itself (McNeely and Meglino, 1994) on a voluntary basis (Clary et al., 1998), can be considered part of civility at work. However, POB seems to refer to relevant aspects of work and not necessarily to relationships in general, unlike WRC. Also, the self-improvement aspect of POB can be linked to some aspects of WRC, particularly in relation to the evolution of the self; but POB does not include the ability to express opinions and ideals and a decency-based relationship at work, which are aspects of WRC.

WRC goes beyond the concepts of citizenship and prosocial behaviors as it is a dynamic concept that combines a sense of relationality (Blustein, 2011) and respectivity (Maree, 2012) in civility at work (Di Fabio, 2015b). WRC refers to behavior in the workplace that is decent, prosocial, polite, careful, and that involves relational style patterns that are in line with one's involvement with others. In other words, we could say that WRC is positioned at the meta-level compared to these above constructs.

WORKPLACE RELATIONAL CIVILITY (WRC): SCALE DEVELOPMENT

In developing the WRC construct, we considered the specific components of workplace behavior discussed earlier.

These components are:

- 1. Relational decency (RD) at work (decency in relationships, respect for the self and others, assertiveness, ability to express convictions, relational capacity);
- 2. Relational culture (RCu) at work (politeness, kindness, high level of education, courteousness);
- 3. Relational readiness (RR) at work (sensibility towards others, ability to read the emotions of others, concern for others, delicacy, empathy, compassion, and attention to the reactions of others).

In devising the process of measurement, we selected various items for each subcategory of our theoretical model. The response format adopted was a Likert scale with five answer options (1 = not at all; 2 = a little; 3 = somewhat; 4 = a lot; 5 = a great deal).

Based on the assumption that WRC is relational, we developed a new "mirror" kind of measurement that assesses a concept from one's own perspective and, at the same time, assesses the same concept from the perspective of others. In other words, the participants in the study were first asked to describe their relationship with others over the past 3 months, and then to respond to statements, with the same content, that describe the relationship of others with them over the same time period (the past 3 months). This kind of measurement enables a better assessment of the interpersonal patterns and identifies the discrepancies between how the subject looks at himself or herself during the interaction with others and how the subject views the other persons in their interaction with him or her. This "mirror" measurement can lead to a more balanced evaluation by helping to reduce bias in the assessment process. This kind of measurement can place a person in a position to reflect on his or her own actions and to analyze the behavior of others, thereby making him or her more aware of the relational dynamics.

A measure consisting of two specular parts (A and B) was developed. In the first phase of the study, we tested the factor structure of the preliminary version of the WRC scale. A convenience sample consisting of 80 students (60 women, 20 men) enrolled in various psychology courses at the University of Florence and 26 employees (12 women, 14 men) completed this preliminary version. Exploratory factor analysis (EFA) was used to verify the factor structure of the scale. Velicer's minimum average partial (MAP) criterion and the inspection of the scree plot suggested a three-factor solution for the two parts (A and B) of the measure. In order to obtain a clear, robust factor solution, and on the basis of the factor analysis criteria, we decided to eliminate the items with communalities under 0.30 and reached a version with 13 specular items for each part.

METHODS

Participants and Procedure

The participants in the study were 115 workers (79.1% male, 20.9% female) with a mean age of 43.96 years (*SD*, 12.74). The participants first completed the WRC scale and then, in order to assess some aspects of the concurrent validity of this new mirror measure, filled in 11 instruments that assessed similar as well as different constructs. All the instruments were administered in accordance with the norms regarding the privacy and anonymity of participants.

Written informed consent was received from each of participants after a full description of the study. The participants were told also that they were free to withdraw from the study at any time and that there would be no payment for participating. With regard to ethical standards for research, the study adhered to the latest version of the Declaration of Helsinki revised in Fortaleza [World Medical Association (WMA), 2013].

Measures

Workplace Relational Civility (WRC)

The WRC measure is a self-report mirror instrument of 26 items that assesses RC at work. The WRC measure has three dimensions: relational readiness (RR) at work, RCu at work, and

RD at work. The sum of these dimensions gives an overall score for WRC for each part (Part A and Part B). The response format adopted was a Likert scale with five responses (1 = not at all; 2 = a little; 3 = somewhat; 4 = a lot; 5 = a great deal) (see Appendix).

Organizational Citizenship Behavior (OCB; Podsakoff et al., 1990)

The OCBs measure is an instrument that assesses the dimensions of civic virtue defined as "behavior on the part of an individual that indicates that he/she responsibly participates in, is involved in, or is concerned about the life of the company" (Podsakoff et al., 1990, p. 115). Podsakoff et al. (1990) developed a 24-item instrument with five dimensions of OCB: altruism, conscientiousness, sportsmanship, courtesy, and civic virtue. Examples of these items: altruism "Helps others who have heavy work load"; conscientiousness "Attendance to work is above the norm"; sportsmanship "Always focuses on what's wrong, rather than the positive side"; courtesy "Takes steps to try to prevent problems with other workers," and civic virtue "Attends functions that are not required, but help the company's image." A seven-point scale was used in the OCB with response categories ranging from one (strongly disagree) to seven (strongly agree). In this study, we used the Italian version of the measure (Di Fabio and Palazzeschi, 2016b), which showed good values of internal consistency (altruism = 0.84; conscientiousness = 0.81; sportsmanship = 0.84; courtesy = 0.83; civic virtue = 0.80).

Prosocial Organizational Behaviors (POB; McNeely and Meglino, 1994)

McNeely and Meglino (1994) developed a measure of POB asking respondents to classify items into one of the three categories of prosocial behavior. Based on this process, they selected the 20 items with the lowest level of ambiguity regarding the classification (McNeely and Meglino, 1994). These 20 items, used to evaluate prosocial behavior, were grouped into three main factors: Factor 1 = prosocial organizational behavior (e.g.,"Speaks favorably about the organization to outsiders"); Factor 2 = role-prescribed prosocial behavior (e.g., "Arrives at work on time"); Factor 3 = prosocial individual behavior (e.g., "Assists coworkers or students with personal problems."). A five-point scale was used with response categories ranging from 1 = never to 5 =always. The psychometric properties of the Italian version of this measure used in this study were good (prosocial organizational behavior = 0.81; role-prescribed prosocial behavior = 0.84; prosocial individual behavior = 0.83; Di Fabio and Bucci, 2016b).

Intrapreneurial Self-Capital Scale (ISCS; Di Fabio, 2014b)

Intrapreneurial self-capital is defined as a core of individual intrapreneurial resources that are used to cope with career and life construction challenges and that include dimensions of core self-evaluation, hardiness, creative self-efficacy, resilience, goal mastery, decisiveness, and vigilance (Di Fabio, 2014b). The Intrapreneurial Self-Capital Scale (ISCS) was developed by Di Fabio (2014b) to measure the intrapreneurial self-capital construct. The ISCS uses a five-point Likert-type scale (1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = neither agree nor disagree,

4 =agree, 5 =strongly agree) and consists of 28 items (e.g., "I am able to deal with most of my problems," "I'm able to improve the ideas produced by others," "I'm able to achieve objectives despite obstacles," "One of my goals in training is to learn as much as I can"). In the present study, we used the Italian version of this measure, which showed good internal consistency (a = 0.86; Di Fabio, 2014b).

Psychological Self-Capital Questionnaire (PSQ; Luthans et al., 2007)

Psychological capital is a new construct measured with the Psychological Capital Questionnaire (PCQ). This questionnaire consisting of 24 items has four subscales: (1) hope (e.g., "I feel confident contributing to discussions about the organization's management"), (2) optimism (e.g., "I can think of many ways to reach my current work goals"), (3) optimism (e.g., "I'm optimistic about what will happen to me in the future regarding work"), and (4) resilience (e.g., "I usually take stressful things at work in my stride"). Each of these subscales has six items with response options on a six-point Likert scale ranging from one (strongly disagree) to six (strongly agree). The PCQ has good psychometric properties also in the Italian version that was used in the present study: (hope = 0.75; efficacy = 0.78; resilience = 0.70; optimism = 0.77; the overall scale = 0.81; Alessandri et al., 2015).

Flourishing Scale (FS; Diener et al., 2010)

The Flourishing Scale is a self-report measure consisting of eight items that assesses respondents' self-perceived success in important areas of their lives such as relationships, self-esteem, purpose, and optimism. Examples of the items: "My social relationships are supportive and rewarding," "I lead a purposeful and meaningful life," "I am optimistic about my future." This scale provides a single total score (Diener et al., 2009). In this study, the Italian version of the scale was used (a = 0.88; Di Fabio, 2016a).

Workplace Incivility Scale (WIS; Cortina et al., 2001)

The Workplace Incivility Scale (WIS) is a seven-item scale that assesses the frequency of respondents' experiences of disrespectful, rude, or condescending behavior from supervisors or co-workers during the past five years (Cortina et al., 2001). Examples of the items: "Put you down or was condescending to you," "Doubted your judgment on matters over which you have responsibility," and "Paid little attention to or showed little interest in your opinion."

The response format is a five-point Likert scale ranging from one (never) to five (often). In this study, the Italian version of the scale was used (a = 0.91; Di Fabio and Ghizzani, 2010).

Positive Relational Management Scale (PRMS; Di Fabio, 2015b)

The Positive Relational Management Scale (PRMS) is a measure consisting of 12 items with responses on a five-point Likert scale ranging from one (strongly disagree) to five (strongly agree). This scale assesses three dimensions (respect, caring, connection) and gives a total score. Examples of the items: respect: "I keep a balance between respect for others and for myself"; caring: "I often take care of others"; connection: "I have good relationships with my family"). The psychometric properties of the scale are good also in its Italian version. (respect = 0.81; caring = 0.79; connection = 0.80; PRMS total = 0.84; Di Fabio, 2015b).

Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS; Diener et al., 1985)

The Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS) is a self-report instrument that measures global life satisfaction. It consists of five items with responses on a seven-point Likert scale with higher values corresponding to a higher degree of life satisfaction. Examples of the items: "I am satisfied with my life," "The conditions of my life are excellent." The psychometric properties of the SWLS are good, with different studies reporting a unidimensional structure of the measure (Diener et al., 1985; Vera-Villarroel et al., 2012). In this study, the Italian version of the scale was used (a = 0.85; Di Fabio and Gori, 2015).

Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES; Rosenberg, 1965)

The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES) is a 10-item scale for assessing global self-esteem with the items answered on a four-point Likert scale ranging from strongly agree to strongly disagree. Examples of the items: "On the whole, I am satisfied with myself," "I have a positive attitude toward myself." The psychometric properties of the RSES have been reported as good in several studies (Corwyn, 2000). In this study, the Italian version of the scale was used (a = 0.84; Prezza et al., 1997).

Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS; Zimet et al., 1988)

The Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS) is a 12-item scale for assessing perceived social support with the items answered on a seven-point Likert-type scale ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree that measures perceived support in three main domains: family, friends, and a significant other. Examples of the items: "My family works very hard to help me," "I can speak about my problems with my friends," "When I need someone, there is always a special person who stands by me." Higher scores indicate higher levels of perceived social support. The psychometric properties of the MSPSS have been reported as good in several studies with different samples (Zimet et al., 1988, 1990). In the present study, the Italian version of the scale was used and reported excellent internal consistency for the three factors: family ($\alpha = 0.91$), friends ($\alpha = 0.93$), and a significant other ($\alpha = 0.88$), and the total score ($\alpha = 0.92$; Di Fabio and Palazzeschi, 2015b).

Trait Emotional Intelligence

Questionnaire – Short-Form (TEIQue-SF; Petrides and Furnham, 2006; Cooper and Petrides, 2010)

The Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire (TEIQue) is a 153-item self-report measure that measures 15 dimensions, four factors, and a global trait for EI. The Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire—Short form (TEIQue-SF) is a 30item questionnaire also designed to measure global trait

emotional intelligence (trait EI). It is based on the full form of the TEIQue. Two items from each of the 15 dimensions of the TEIQue were selected for inclusion, based primarily on their correlations with the corresponding total dimension scores (Petrides and Furnham, 2006; Cooper and Petrides, 2010). The questionnaire provides a total score as well as scores for four principal dimensions: well-being (e.g., "I feel that I have a number of good qualities," "On the whole, I'm pleased with my life"), self-control (e.g., "I'm usually able to calm down quickly after I've got mad at someone," "I would describe myself as a calm person"), emotionality (e.g., "I often find it difficult to recognize what emotion I'm feeling," "I find it difficult to tell others that I love them even when I want to"), and sociability (e.g., "I can deal effectively with people," "If I wanted to, it would be easy for me to make someone angry"). The Italian version of the scale has been shown to have good internal consistency coefficients for well-being ($\alpha = 0.83$), sociability ($\alpha = 0.84$), self-control ($\alpha =$ 0.81), emotionality ($\alpha = 0.82$), and for the total score ($\alpha = 0.85$; Di Fabio and Palazzeschi, 2011).

Data Analysis

Factor analysis was used to identify attachment dimensions, with the objective of assessing the validity of the hypothesized construct (WRC). A series of exploratory factor analyses (EFAs) together with maximum likelihood (ML) analyses were conducted to verify the factor structure of the WRC.

As suggested in most of the relevant literature, the number of components extracted was based on the percentage of variance accounted for, the Kaiser-Guttman method, and the scree plot (Nunnally and Bernstein, 1994; Giannini et al., 2014).

We then performed a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA), and, to evaluate the model's goodness of fit, a number of indexes were used. Since the chi-square fit index depends on sample size (Schermelleh-Engel et al., 2003), two relative fit indexes were considered because they can generally be used in large as well as small samples: the TLI (Tucker-Lewis Index) and the CFI (Comparative Fit Index; Bentler, 1990). Values of these indexes higher than 0.90 indicate satisfactory fit. In addition, the SRMR (Standardized Root Mean Square Residual) and the RMSEA (Root Mean Square Error of Approximation) were used because they are currently two of the most popular measures of model fit and provide fundamental indications of how well a proposed theory fits the data (Hooper et al., 2008; Giannini et al., 2011; Craparo et al., 2015; Di Fabio and Gori, 2015; Gori et al., 2015). Reliability for each scale was calculated using Cronbach's alpha coefficient (Cronbach, 1951), several aspects of concurrent validity were verified using Pearson's r coefficient, and statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS 18.0 and AMOS 6.0.

RESULTS

Construct Validity

Examination of the scree plot (Cattell, 1966), the percentage of variance accounted for, and the structure matrix (Horn, 1965; Zwick and Velicer, 1986; Glorfeld, 1995) indicated that as many as three factors should be retained for rotation. The results of the exploratory factor analysis (EFA) (Promax rotation) showed a factor structure with three principal dimensions for both Part A and Part B of the WRC construct. So, on the basis of the factor analysis criteria, we extracted three factors accounting for 60.44% of the total variance for Part A (eigen-values > 1; 5.26, 1.51, 1,10), and, likewise, we extracted three factors accounting for 71.22% of the total variance for Part B (eigen-values > 1; 6.74, 1.37, 1.15). The factor structure matrix shows the three independent and specular factors of the two parts of the WRC construct (see **Table 1**).

In order to verify the factor structure, we performed a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) on the basis of the EFA results that indicated three main factors. The goodness-of-fit indexes showed an excellent fit of the model to the data for Part A (see **Table 2**). As regards Part B, although the chi-square was significant (p < 0.001), and the Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI) and

| Items | WRC part A | | | | WRC part B | | | | |
|-------|----------------------|--------------------|--------------------|-------|----------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--|--|
| | Relational readiness | Relational culture | Relational decency | Items | Relational readiness | Relational culture | Relational decency | | |
| 12 | 0.955 | | | 10 | 0.905 | | | | |
| 13 | 0.823 | | | 12 | 0.840 | | | | |
| 10 | 0.794 | | | 13 | 0.730 | | | | |
| 9 | 0.393 | | | 9 | 0.624 | | | | |
| 11 | 0.353 | | | 11 | 0.488 | | | | |
| 6 | | 0.932 | | 6 | | 0.898 | | | |
| 7 | | 0.787 | | 5 | | 0.769 | | | |
| 5 | | 0.472 | | 7 | | 0.753 | | | |
| 8 | | 0.445 | | 8 | | 0.534 | | | |
| 2 | | | 0.806 | 1 | | | 0.829 | | |
| 1 | | | 0.651 | 4 | | | 0.726 | | |
| 4 | | | 0.650 | 2 | | | 0.714 | | |
| 3 | | | 0.580 | 3 | | | 0.545 | | |

the Comparative-Fit Index (CFI) showed acceptable values and confirmed the three-factor solution for Part B of the WRC, the value of the root mean error of approximation (RSMEA) indicated poor fit (see Table 2).

Reliability

The internal consistency of the WRC scale, calculated using Cronbach's alpha coefficient, showed excellent internal coherence of the instrument for the total score of both Part A and Part B of the WRC (Part A, a = 0.87; Part B, a = 0.92). Cronbach's alphas for the three factors extracted for Part A were: Factor 1A = relational readiness (a = 0.83); Factor 2A = relational culture (a = 0.76); Factor 3A = relational decency (a = 0.75); while for Part B they were: Factor 1B = relational readiness (a = 0.86); Factor 2B = relational culture (a = 0.88); Factor 3B = relational decency (a = 0.85). Calculations of item-total correlation indicated that all the items correlated significantly and in a positive direction with the total score of both Part A and Part B of the WRC, with the correlations ranging from a minimum of 0.48 to a maximum of 0.78 for Part A and from a minimum of 0.55 to a maximum of 0.81 for Part B.

Convergent and Divergent Validity

In the present study, WRC showed strong correlations with the Italian version of the following measures: the OCBs scale, the POBs scale, the flourishing scale, the positive relational management scale, the intrapreneurial self-capital scale, and the psychological self-capital scale. Correlations between WRC and these instruments were positive and statistically significant, attesting to a good convergent validity (see Table 3). Also,

| TABLE 2 Summary of CFA fit indices for WRC (Part A and Part B). | | | | | | |
|---|------------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|--|
| Sample (<i>n</i> = 115) | χ2/df | TLI | CFI | SRMR | RMSEA | |
| WRC (Part A) | 1.14, <i>p</i> = 0.210 | 0.977 | 0.982 | 0.033 | 0.038 | |
| WRC (Part B) | 1.93, <i>p</i> = 0.001 | 0.915 | 0.932 | 0.046 | 0.096 | |

TLI, Tucker-Lewis index; CFI, Comparative Fit Index; SRMR, Standardized Root Mean Square Residual; RMSEA, Root Mean Square Error of Approximation.

TABLE 3 | Summary of correlations among the two parts of WRC, OCB, and POB factors.

correlations between WRC and the other instruments described in the Measures Section of this article were in the expected directions and showed a good divergent validity of the WRC construct (see Tables 4, 5).

DISCUSSION

The aim of this article was to introduce the novel multidimensional construct of WRC on how individuals interface with and act toward others in the workplace, and also the construct's mode of assessment. Thanks to this mirror assessment procedure, people can describe how they used to relate to each other, and, at the same time, how others related to them in a work environment. This assessment procedure helps subjects reduce assessment bias and better evaluate their interpersonal style by identifying the discrepancies between how they look at themselves during interactions with others and how they view others during their interactions with them. This new way of measurement promotes the growth of an awareness process through the analysis of three main dimensions conceptualized as relational readiness (RR), RCu, and RD. These dimensions are globally related to an optimal range of relational functioning that identifies a level of growth and relational capacity that is characterized by decency in relationships, respect for the self and others, being able to express opinions freely, assertiveness, good taste, empathy, compassion, and awareness of the effect that their words can have on others. People with these characteristics are generally able to communicate with others with kindness and to attune their expressions and behaviors to those of others to promote a climate of mutual respect. WRC is thus important because it can promote a climate of decency, respect, and awareness between people, thereby inspiring others through civility (Boyatzis and McKee, 2006).

The results of this study showed good psychometric properties for the WRC instrument. In order to verify its dimensional structure, we carried out confirmatory factor analysis through structural equation modeling. On the basis of the results of the EFA and the CFA, the final model consisted of three independent, robust factors with a good fitting model for the two parts of the

| | Organizational Citizenship Behavior (OCB) | | | | | Prosocial Organizational Behavior (POB | | |
|----------------------|---|---------------|--------------|----------|----------|--|---------|---------|
| | Conscientiousness | Sportsmanship | Civic virtue | Courtesy | Altruism | POB | RPPB | PIB |
| Relational readiness | 0.257** | -0.036 | 0.295** | 0.216* | 0.349** | 0.312** | 0.256** | 0.194* |
| Relational culture | 0.248** | 0.124 | 0.213* | 0.248** | 0.298** | 0.131 | 0.214* | 0.014 |
| Relational decency | 0.317** | 0.149 | 0.340** | 0.378** | 0.436** | 0.312** | 0.290** | 0.244** |
| WRC part A | 0.332** | 0.082 | 0.345** | 0.333** | 0.438** | 0.313** | 0.309* | 0.188* |
| Relational readiness | 0.177 | -0.062 | 0.151 | 0.131 | 0.173 | 0.389** | 0.327** | 0.289** |
| Relational culture | 0.139 | 0.105 | 0.169 | 0.233* | 0.203* | 0.336** | 0.380** | 0.113 |
| Relational decency | 0.159 | 0.014 | 0.051 | 0.113 | 0.120 | 0.315** | 0.314** | 0.133 |
| WRC part B | 0.184* | 0.017 | 0.144 | 0.181 | 0.191* | 0.402** | 0.392** | 0.211* |

**p < 0.01; *p < 0.05. POB, Prosocial Organizational Behavior; RPPB, Role-Prescribed Prosocial Behavior; PIB, Prosocial Individual Behavior.

| | Intrapreneurial self- capital (ISC) | Psychological self- capital (PSC) | Flourishing (F) | Trait emotional intelligence questionnaire—SF | Positive relational management (PRM) |
|-------------------------|--|--------------------------------------|-----------------|---|---|
| | | | | questionnaire—3F | |
| Relational readiness | 0.450** | 0.564** | 0.403** | 0.284** | 0.372** |
| Relational culture | 0.433** | 0.452** | 0.430** | 0.289** | 0.352** |
| Relational decency | 0.440** | 0.476** | 0.512** | 0.439** | 0.435** |
| WRC part A | 0.538** | 0.614** | 0.540** | 0.403** | 0.469** |
| Interpersonal readiness | 0.305** | 0.397** | 0.351** | 0.166 | 0.320** |
| Relational culture | 0.465** | 0.356** | 0.420** | 0.278** | 0.330** |
| Relational decency | 0.315** | 0.334** | 0.383** | 0.193* | 0.300** |
| WRC part B | 0.413** | 0.420** | 0.442** | 0.242** | 0.365** |

TABLE 4 | Summary of correlations among the two parts of WRC, ISC, PSC, F, TEIQue-SF, PSR.

**p < 0.01; *p < 0.05.

instrument. In particular, the results showed that the SRMS and the RMSEA were generally below 0.05, except for the RMSEA value for Part B (i.e., 0.096). Regarding this RMSEA result, while some researchers (Browne and Cudeck, 1993; MacCallum et al., 1996) have used 0.01, 0.05, and 0.08 to indicate excellent, good and mediocre fit respectively, other researchers consider 0.10 as a reasonable cutoff for good versus poor fitting models if the other indexes used to verify the model fit are good or acceptable, which was the case in this study (Kenny et al., 2015). All the fit indexes indicated the goodness of the hypothesized model (Hu and Bentler, 1999) thus confirming the three-dimensional factorial structure. Reliability analysis showed values ranging from acceptable to excellent for all the factors in line with the following rules of George and Mallery (2003): " $\alpha > 0.9 =$ Excellent, $\alpha > 0.8 = \text{Good}$, $\alpha > 0.7 = \text{Acceptable}$, $\alpha > 0.6 =$ Questionable, $\alpha > 0.5 =$ Poor, and $\alpha > 0.5 =$ Unacceptable." The minimum value of alpha was for the Factor 3A = relational decency (a = 0.75), and even it was in the range between acceptable and good, also bearing in mind the restricted number of items for each factor.

Correlations between the two parts of the WRC construct and the measures used to verify some aspects of concurrent validity showed good values: all the relationships among the variables under investigation were in the right direction with the right significance.

In line with these results and in the spirit of positive psychology, we should talk about WRC rather than WI in order to promote effective and lifelong self and relational management (Di Fabio, 2015a) across the numerous personal and professional transitions and complex challenges of the 21st century (Blustein, 2011; Di Fabio and Maree, 2013; Di Fabio, 2014a; Di Fabio and Gori, 2016). Indeed, focusing on WRC gives significant value to the preventive approach in psychology (Hage et al., 2007; Kenny and Hage, 2009), specifically in endeavoring to increase resources and, at the same time, decrease risks. This new brief, mirror measure (WRC) thus promotes positive behavior in a framework of primary prevention (Hage et al., 2007; Kenny and Hage, 2009; Di Fabio and Kenny, 2015; Di Fabio et al., in press), and helps build a relational work environment that is safer and more decent.

TABLE 5 | Summary of correlations among the two parts of WRC, SWLS, RSES, MSPSS, WI.

| SWLS | RSES | MSPSS | WI |
|---------|---|--|---|
| 0.299** | 0.106 | 0.311** | -0.020 |
| 0.344** | 0.230* | 0.308** | -0.054 |
| 0.407** | 0.204* | 0.319** | -0.036 |
| 0.420** | 0.210* | 0.381** | -0.042 |
| 0.337** | 0.013 | 0.202* | 0.032 |
| 0.344** | 0.175 | 0.137 | -0.131 |
| 0.336** | 0.178 | 0.147 | 0.038 |
| 0.391** | 0.135 | 0.189* | -0.020 |
| | 0.299** 0.344** 0.407** 0.420** 0.337** 0.344** 0.336** | 0.299** 0.106 0.344** 0.230* 0.407** 0.204* 0.420** 0.210* 0.337** 0.013 0.344** 0.175 0.336** 0.178 | 0.299** 0.106 0.311** 0.344** 0.230* 0.308** 0.407** 0.204* 0.319** 0.420** 0.210* 0.381** 0.337** 0.013 0.202* 0.344** 0.175 0.137 0.336** 0.178 0.147 |

**p < 0.01; *p < 0.05. SWLS, Satisfaction with Life Scale; RSES, Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale; MSPSS, Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support; WI, Workplace incivility.

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The study had a number of shortcomings: first of all, the number of participants was small because of the difficulty of recruiting subjects with the required features. Future studies should therefore examine this novel construct (WRC) and its mirror measurement assessment using a bigger sample. It would also be interesting to examine the construct and the assessment in a cross-cultural context in order to investigate the role of the complexity of human relationships from a cultural point of view. Future research should also examine WRC in relation to other promising variables in organizational contexts such as abilitybased emotional intelligence and trait emotional intelligence as well as other variables such as positive affect for hedonic well-being, meaning in life for eudaimonic well-being and also competency based perspective (Boyatzis et al., 2002, 2015a,b; Boyatzis and Saatcioglu, 2008; Boyatzis, 2009; Hazy and Boyatzis, 2015). WRC could be also studied in relation to objective outcomes of performance in organizational contexts.

However, on the basis of the results of the present study, we can affirm that the WRC scale is a brief mirror measure with good psychometric properties that can promote individuals' strengths and also the growth of decent work.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AD conceptualized the study and choose the theoretical framework. AD and AG conceptualized the new scale and

REFERENCES

- Alessandri, G., Borgogni, L., Consiglio, C., and Mitidieri, G. (2015). Psychometric properties of the Italian version of the psychological capital questionnaire. *Int. J. Select. Assess.* 23, 149–159. doi: 10.1111/jisa.12103
- Andersson, L. M., and Pearson, C. M. (1999). Tit for tat? The spiraling effect of incivility in the workplace. Acad. Manag. Rev. 24, 452–471.
- Baron, R. A., and Neuman, J. H. (1996). Workplace violence and workplace aggression: evidence on their relative frequency and potential causes. *Aggress. Behav.* 22, 161–173.
- Bentler, P. M. (1990). Comparative fit indexes in structural models. *Psychol. Bull.* 107, 238–246. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.107.2.238
- Blustein, D. L. (2006). The Psychology of Working: A New Perspective for Career Development, Counseling and Public Policy. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Blustein, D. L. (2011). A relational theory of working. J. Vocat. Behav. 79, 1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2010.10.004
- Blustein, D. L., Olle, C., Connors-Kellgrem, A., and Diamonti, A. J. (2016). Decent work: a psychological perspective. *Front. Psychol.* 7:407. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00407
- Boyatzis, R. E. (2009). Competencies as a behavioral approach to emotional intelligence. J. Manag. Dev. 28, 749–770. doi: 10.1108/02621710910987647
- Boyatzis, R. E., Batista-Foguet, J. M., Fernández-i-Marín, X., and Truninger, M. (2015a). EI competencies as a related but different characteristic than intelligence. *Front. Psychol.* 6:72. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00072
- Boyatzis, R. E., Gaskin, J., and Wei, H. (2015b). "Emotional and social intelligence and behavior," in *Handbook of Intelligence. Evolutionary Theory, Historical Perspective, and Current Concepts*, eds S. Goldstein, D. Princiotta, and J. A. Naglieri (New York, NY: Springer), 243–262.
- Boyatzis, R. E., and Saatcioglu, A. (2008). A twenty-year view of trying to develop emotional, social and cognitive intelligence competencies in graduate management education. *J. Manag. Dev.* 27, 92–108. doi: 10.1108/02621710810840785
- Boyatzis, R. E., Stubbs, E. C., and Taylor, S. N. (2002). Learning cognitive and emotional intelligence competencies through graduate management education. *Acad. Manag. Learn. Educ.* 1, 150–162. doi: 10.5465/amle.2002.8509345
- Boyatzis, R., and McKee, A. (2006). Inspiring others through resonant leadership. Bus. Strat. Rev. 17, 15–19. doi: 10.1111/j.0955-6419.2006.00394.x
- Browne, M. W., and Cudeck, R. (1993). "Alternative ways of assessing model fit," in *Testing Structural Equation Models*, eds K. A. Bollen and J. S. Long (Newbury Park, CA: Sage), 136–162.
- Carter, S. L. (1998). *Civility: Manners, Morals, and the Etiquette of Democracy.* New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Cattell, R. B. (1966). The scree test for the number of factors. *Multivariate Behav. Res.* 1, 245–276. doi: 10.1207/s15327906mbr0102_10
- Chen, C. C., and Eastman, W. (1997). Toward a civic culture for multicultural organizations. J. Appl. Behav. Sci. 33, 454–470. doi: 10.1177/0021886397334003
- Clary, E., Snyder, M., Ridge, R. D., Copeland, J., Stukas, A. A., Haugen, J., et al. (1998). Understanding and assessing the motivations of volunteers: a functional approach. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 74, 1516–1530. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74.6.1516
- Cooper, A., and Petrides, K. V. (2010). A psychometric analysis of the Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire-Short Form (TEIQue-SF) using Item Response Theory. J. Pers. Assess. 92, 449–457. doi: 10.1080/00223891.2010.497426
- Cortina, L. M., Magley, V. J., Williams, J. H., and Laughout, R. D. (2001). Incivility in the workplace: incidence and impact. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 6, 64–80. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.6.1.64
- Corwyn, R. F. (2000). The factor structure of global self-esteem among adolescents and adults. J. Res. Pers. 34, 357–379. doi: 10.1006/jrpe.2000.2291

realized it. AD and AG collected the data. AG analyzed the data and wrote the methods and results. Then all authors wrote the paper together and read and revised the manuscript several times.

- Craparo, G., Faraci, P., and Gori, A. (2015). Psychometric properties of the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale in a group of italian younger adolescents. *Psychiatry Investig.* 12, 500–507. doi: 10.4306/pi.2015.12.4.500
- Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. *Psychometrika* 16, 297–334. doi: 10.1007/BF023 10555
- Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsen, R. J., and Griffin, S. (1985). The satisfaction with life scale. J. Pers. Assess. 49, 71–75. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa4901_13
- Diener, E., Wirtz, D., Tov, W., Kim-Prieto, C., Choi, D., Oishi, S., et al. (2009). New measures of well-being: flourishing and positive and negative feelings. *Soc. Indic. Res.* 39, 247–266. doi: 10.1007/978-90-481-2354-4_12
- Diener, E., Wirtz, D., Tov, W., Kim-Prieto, C., Choi, D. W., Oishi, S., et al. (2010). New well-being measures: short scales to assess flourishing and positive and negative feelings. *Soc. Indicat. Res.* 97, 143–156. doi: 10.1007/s11205-009-9493-y
- Di Fabio, A. (2006). Decisional procastination correlates: personality traits, selfesteem or perception of cognitive failure? *Int. J. Educ. Vocat. Guid.* 6, 109–122. doi: 10.1007/s10775-006-9000-9
- Di Fabio, A. (2014a). Career counseling and positive psychology in the 21st century: new constructs and measures for evaluating the effectiveness of intervention. J. Counsell. 1, 193–213. Available online at: http://www. studiaporadoznawcze.dsw.edu.pl/fileadmin/user_upload/wydawnictwo/ Studia_Poradoznawcze/2014_Studia_Poradoznawcze.pdf#page=193
- Di Fabio, A. (2014b). Intrapreneurial self-capital: a new construct for the 21st century. J. Employ. Counsel. 51, 98–111. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2014.00045.x
- Di Fabio, A. (2015a). Beyond fluid intelligence and personality traits in social support: the role of ability-based emotional intelligence. *Front. Psychol.* 6:395. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01367
- Di Fabio, A. (2015b). Positive Relational Management Scale per rilevare positività e complessità [Positive Relational Management Scale to detect positivity and complexity]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* 8.
- Di Fabio, A. (2016a). Flourishing scale: primo contributo alla validazione della versione italiana [Flourishing scale: first contribution to the validation of the Italian version]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* 9.
- Di Fabio, A. (2016b). Diversity management questionnaire: primo contributo alle versione italiana [Diversity management questionnaire: first contribution to the Italian validation]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.*
- Di Fabio, A., and Bernaud, J. (2008). The help-seeking in career counseling. *J. Vocat. Behav.* 72, 60–66. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2007.10.006
- Di Fabio, A., and Bucci, O. (2015). Affective profiles in Italian high school students: Life satisfaction, psychological well-being, self-esteem, and optimism. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1310. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01310
- Di Fabio, A., and Bucci, O. (2016a). "Green positive guidance and green positive life counseling for decent work and decent lives: Some empirical results," in *From Meaning of Working to Meaningful Lives: The Challenges of Expanding Decent Work. Research topic in Frontiers in Organizational Psychology*, Vol. 7, eds A. Di Fabio and D. L. Blustein (Lausanne: Frontiers), 261. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00261
- Di Fabio, A., and Bucci, O. (2016b). Prosocial organizational behaviors scale: primo contributo alla validazione della versione Italiana [Prosocial organizational behaviors scale: first contribution to the validation of the Italian version]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* 9:1. doi: 10.14605/CS911607
- Di Fabio, A., and Ghizzani, F. (2010). Workplace Incivility Scale (WIS): proprietà psicometriche della versione italiana [Workplace Incivility Scale (WIS): Psychometric properties of the Italian Version]. *Counseling. Giornale Italiano di Ricerca e Applicazioni* 3, 77–85.
- Di Fabio, A., and Gori, A. (2015). Measuring adolescent life satisfaction: psychometric properties of the satisfaction with life scale in a sample of Italian adolescents and young adults. J. Psychoeduc. Assess. doi: 10.1177/0734282915621223. [Epub ahead of print].

- Di Fabio, A., and Gori, A. (2016). Developing a new instrument for assessing acceptance of change. Front. Psychol. 7:802. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00802
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2012a). Emotional intelligence and perceived social support among Italian high school students. J. Career Dev. 39, 461–475. doi: 10.1177/0894845311421005
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2012b). The contribution of emotional intelligence to decisional styles among Italian high school students. J. Career Assessm. 20, 404–414. doi: 10.1177/1069072712448893
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2015). The contributions of emotional intelligence and social support to adaptive career progress among Italian youth. *J. Career Dev.* 42, 48–49. doi: 10.1177/0894845314533420
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2016). From decent work to decent lives: positive self and relational management (PS&RM) in the Twenty-First Century. *Front. Psychol.* 7:361. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00361
- Di Fabio, A., Kenny, M. E., and Claudius, M. (in press). "Fostering adaptive career management and psychological well-being in uncertain times," in *Cambridge Handbook of International Prevention Science*, eds M. Israelashvili and J. L. Romano (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).
- Di Fabio, A., and Maree, J. G. (2012). Group-based Life Design Counseling in an Italian context. J. Voc. Behav. 80, 100–107. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2011.06.001
- Di Fabio, A., and Maree, J. G. (eds.). (2013). *Psychology of Career Counseling: New challenges for a New Era.* Festschrift in honour of Prof. Mark Savickas. New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers.
- Di Fabio, A., and Maree, J. G. (2016). "Using a transdisciplinary interpretive lens to broaden reflections on alleviating poverty and promoting decent work," in *From Meaning of Working to Meaningful Lives: The Challenges* of Expanding Decent Work. Research Topic in Frontiers in Organizational Psychology, Vol. 7, eds A. Di Fabio and D. L. Blustein (Lausanne: Frontiers), 503. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00503
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2011). Trait emotional intelligence questionnaire short form (TEIque-SF): Proprietà psicometriche della versione italiana [Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire Short Form (TEIque-SF): Psychometric properties of the Italian version]. G. Psicol. Sviluppo 100, 14–26.
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2012). Incremental variance of the core self-evaluation construct compared to fluid intelligence and personality traits in aspects of decision-making. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 53, 196–201. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2012.03.012
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2015a). Hedonic and eudaimonic well-being: the role of resilience beyond fluid intelligence and personality traits. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1367. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01367
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2015b). Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS): un contributo alla validazione italiana [Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS): a contribution to Italian validation]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* 8.
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2016a). "Marginalization and precariat: the challenge of intensifying life construction intervention," in *From Meaning* of Working to Meaningful Lives: The Challenges of Expanding Decent Work. Research Topic in Frontiers in Organizational Psychology, Vol. 7, eds A. Di Fabio and D. L. Blustein (Lausanne: Frontiers), 444. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00444
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2016b). Organizational citizenship behaviors scale: valutazione delle proprietà psicometriche della versione italiana [Organizational citizenship behaviors scale: evaluation of the psychometric properties of the Italian version]. *Counsel. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* 9:1. doi: 10.14605/CS911610
- Di Fabio, A., Palazzeschi, L., Asulin-Peretz, L., and Gati, I. (2013). Career indecision versus indecisiveness: associations with personality traits and emotional intelligence. *J. Career Assess.* 21, 42–56. doi: 10.1177/ 1069072712454698
- Di Fabio, A., and Saklofske, D. H. (2014a). Comparing ability and self-report trait emotional intelligence, fluid intelligence, and personality traits in career decision. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 64, 174–178. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014.02.024
- Di Fabio, A., and Saklofske, D. H. (2014b). Promoting individual resources: the challenge of trait emotional intelligence. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 65, 19–23. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014.01.026

Elias, N. (1982). Power and Civility. New York, NY: Pantheon.

Faioli, M. (2009). Decency at Work: Dalla tensione del lavoro alla Dignità. Categorie interculturali e sapere giuridico [Decency at Work: from Tension of Work to Dignity. Intercultural Categories and Juridical Knowledge.] Roma: La Nuova Cutura.

- Folger, R., and Baron, R. A. (1996). "Violence and hostility at work: a model of reactions to perceived injustice," in *Violence on the Job: Identifying Risks and Developing Solutions*, eds G. R. VandenBos and E. Bulatao (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 51–85.
- Fredrickson, B. L., and Losada, M. F. (2005). Positive affect and the complex dynamics of human flourishing. Am. Psychol. 60, 678–686. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.60.7.678
- George, D., and Mallery, P. (2003). SPSS for Windows Step by Step: A Simple Guide and Reference. 11.0 Update. 4th Edn. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Giannini, M., Gori, A., Pannocchia, L., Schimmenti, A., and Caretti, V. (2014). Principi di Psicometria Clinica. Milano: Raffaello Cortina Editore. [Principles of Clinical Psychometry. Milan: Raffaello Cortina Editore].
- Giannini, M., Gori, A., De Sanctis, E., and Schuldberg, D. (2011). A Comparative analysis of attachment: psychometric properties of the PTI Attachment Styles Scale (ASS). J. Psychother. Integr. 21 363–381. doi: 10.1037/a00 25461
- Glomb, T. M. (1998). Workplace Aggression: Antecedents, Behavioral Components, and Consequences. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.
- Glorfeld, L. W. (1995). An improvement on Horn's parallel analysis methodology for selecting the correct number of factors to retain. *Educ. Psychol. Meas.* 55, 377–393. doi: 10.1177/0013164495055003002
- Goffman, E. (1967). Interaction Ritual: Essays on Face-to-Face Behavior. Garden City, NY: Doubleday.
- Gori, A., Craparo, G., Giannini, M., Loscalzo, Y., Caretti, V., La Barbera, D., et al. (2015). Development of a new measure for assessing insight: psychometric properties of the insight orientation scale (IOS). *Schizophr. Res.* 169, 298–302. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.10.014
- Griffin, R. W., O'Leary-Kelly, A., and Collins, J. M. (1998). Dysfunctional Behavior in Organizations: Violence and Deviant Behavior. Stamford, CT: JAI Press.
- Guichard, J. (2013). "Career guidance, education, and dialogues for a fair and sustainable human development," in *Proceedings of the Inaugural Conference of the UNESCO Chair of Lifelong Guidance and Counselling* (Poland: University of Wroclaw).
- Hage, S. M., Romano, J. L., Conyne, R. K., Kenny, M., Matthews, C., Schwartz, J. P., et al. (2007). Best practice guidelines on prevention practice, research, training, and social advocacy for psychologists. *Couns. Psychol.* 35, 493–566. doi: 10.1177/0011000006291411
- Harris, C., Rousseau, G. G., and Venter, D. L. J. (2013). Employee perceptions of diversity management at a tertiary institution. South Afr. J. Econ. Manag. Sci. 10, 51–71. Available online at: http://sajems.org/index.php/sajems/article/ viewArticle/536
- Hazy, J. K., and Boyatzis, R. E. (2015). Emotional contagion and protoorganizing in human interaction dynamics. *Front. Psychol.* 6:806. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00806
- Hooper, D., Coughlan, J., and Mullen, M. R. (2008). Structural equation modelling: guidelines for determining model fit. J. Bus. Res. Methods 6, 53–60. Available online at: http://arrow.dit.ie/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article= 1001&context=buschmanart
- Horn, J. L. (1965). A rationale and test for the number of factors in factor analysis. *Psychometrika* 30, 179–185. doi: 10.1007/BF02289447
- Hu, L., and Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cut-off criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equ. Model.* 6, 1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118
- ILO (1999). Report of the Director-General: Decent work. International Labour Conference, 87th Session, Geneva.
- Kenny, D. A., Kaniskan, B., and McCoach, D. B. (2015). The performance of RMSEA in models with small degrees of freedom. *Sociol. Methods Res.* 44, 486–507. doi: 10.1177/0049124114543236
- Kenny, M. E., Catraio, C., Bempechat, J., Minor, K., Olle, C., Blustein, D. L., et al. (2016). Preparation for meaningful work and life: urban high school youth's reflections on work-based learning 1 year post-graduation. *Front. Organ. Psychol.* 7:286. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00286
- Kenny, M. E., Di Fabio, A., and Minor, K. (2014). "School-based research and practice in Italy," in *Handbook of Positive Psychology in the Schools*, 2nd Edn,

eds M. J. Furlong, R. Gilman, and E. S. Huebner (New York, NY: Routledge, Taylor and Francis), 450-464.

- Kenny, M. E., and Hage, S. M. (2009). The next frontier: prevention as an instrument of social justice. J. Prim. Prev. 30, 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s10935-008-0163-7
- Leather, P., Brady, C., Lawrence, C., Beale, D., and Cox, T. (1999). Work-Related Violence: Assessment and Intervention. London: Routledge.
- Luthans, F., Avolio, B. J., Avey, J. B., and Norman, S. M. (2007). Positive psychological capital: measurement and relationship with performance and satisfaction. *Pers. Psychol.* 60, 541–572. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.2007.00083.x
- MacCallum, R. C., Browne, M. W., and Sugawara, H. M. (1996). Power analysis and determination of sample size for covariance structure modeling. *Psychol. Methods* 1:130. doi: 10.1037/1082-989x.1.2.130
- Maree, J. G. (2012). Promoting children's rights: rekindling respectivity. South Afr. J. Psychol. 42, 295–300. doi: 10.1177/008124631204200301
- Maree, J. G. (2013). Counselling for Career Construction: Connecting Life Themes to Construct Life Portraits: Turning Pain into Hope. Rotterdam: Sense.
- McCauley, M. (2013). Relational-cultural theory: fostering healthy coexistence through a relational lens, in *Beyond Intractability*, eds Guy Burgess and Heidi Burgess (Boulder: Conflict Information Consortium, University of Colorado).
- McNeely, B. L., and Meglino, B. M. (1994). The role of dispositional and situational antecedents in prosocial organizational behavior: an examination of the intended beneficiaries of prosocial behavior. J. Appl. Psychol. 79, 836–844. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.79.6.836
- Miller, J. B. (1976). Toward a New Psychology of Women. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Miller, J. B., Jordan, J., Stiver, I., Walker, M., Surrey, J., and Eldrige, N. (2004). "Therapist's Authenticity, in *The Complexity of Connection*, eds J. Jordan, M. Walker, and L. Hartling (New York: The Guilford Press), 64–89.
- Morris, J. (1996). Democracy beguiled. The Wilson Quarterly. Autumn, 24-35.
- Neuman, J. H., and Baron, R. A. (1997). "Aggression in the workplace," in Antisocial Behavior in Organizations, eds R. A. Giacalone and J. Greenberg (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage), 37–67.
- Nunnally, J. C., and Bernstein, I. H. (1994). *Psychometric Theory 3rd Edn*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Organ, D. W. (1988). Organizational Citizenship Behavior: The Good Soldier Syndrome. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.
- Petrides, K. V., and Furnham, A. (2006). The role of trait emotional intelligence in a gender-specific model of organizational variables. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 36, 552–569. doi: 10.1111/j.0021-9029.2006.00019.x
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Moorman, R. H., and Fetter, R. (1990). Transformational leader behaviors and their effects on followers' trust in leader, satisfaction, and organizational citizenship behaviors. *Leadersh. Q.* 1, 107–142. doi: 10.1016/1048-9843(90)90009-7
- Prezza, M., Trombaccia, F. R., and Armento, L. (1997). The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale: Italian translation and validation [La scala dell'Autostima di Rosenberg: traduzione e validazione Italiana]. *Appl. Psychol. Bull.* 223, 34–44.
- Richardson, M. S. (2012). Counseling for work and relationship. *Couns. Psychol.* 40, 190–242. doi: 10.1177/0011000011406452
- Rosenberg, M. (1965). *Society and the Adolescent Self-Image*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Ryff, C. D., and Singer, B. H. (2008). Know thyself and become what you are: a eudaimonic approach to psychological well-being. J. Happiness Stud. 9, 13–39. doi: 10.1007/s10902-006-9019-0

- Savickas, M. L. (2011). *Career Counseling*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Schermelleh-Engel, K., Moosbrugger, H., and Muller, H. (2003). Evaluating the fit of structural equation models: tests of significance and goodness-of-fit models. *Methods Psychol. Res.* 8, 23–74. Available online at: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/ viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.509.4258&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Seligman, M. E., and Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive Psychology: An Introduction. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Seligman, M. E. P. (2002). "Positive psychology, positive prevention, and positive therapy," in *Handbook of Positive Psychology*, eds C. R. Snyder and S. J. Lopez (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 3–9.
- United Nations (1948). Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Retrieved from: http://www.un.org/en/documents/udhr/
- VandenBos, G. R., and Bulatao, E. Q. (Eds.). (1996). Violence on the Job: Identifying Risks and Developing Solutions. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Vera-Villarroel, P., Urzúa, M. A., Pavez, P., Celis-Atenas, K., and Silva, J. (2012). Evaluation of subjective well-being: analysis of the satisfaction with life scale in the Chilean population. *Univ. Psychol.* 3, 719–727. Available online at: http://www.scielo.org.co/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S1657-92672012000300003
- Waterman, A. S., Schwartz, S. J., Zamboanga, B. L., Ravert, R. D., Williams, M. K., Bede Agocha, V., et al. (2010). The Questionnaire for Eudaimonic Well-Being: Psychometric properties, demographic comparisons, and evidence of validity. *J. Posit. Psychol.* 5, 41–61. doi: 10.1080/174397609034 35208
- Wilson, J. Q. (1993). The Moral Sense. New York, NY: Free Press.
- World Medical Association (WMA) (2013). World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 310, 2191–2194. Available online at: http://www. wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/
- Zimet, G. D., Dahlem, N. W., Zimet, S. G., and Farley, G. K. (1988). The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. J. Pers. Assess. 52, 30–41. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa5201_2
- Zimet, G. D., Powell, S. S., Farley, G. K., Werkman, S., and Berkoff, K. A. (1990). Psychometric characteristics of the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support. J. Pers. Assess. 55, 610–617. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa5503&4_17
- Zwick, W. R., and Velicer, W. F. (1986). Comparison of five rules for determining the number of components to retain. *Psychol. Bull.* 99:432. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.99.3.432

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Di Fabio and Gori. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

APPENDIXS

WORKPLACE RELATIONAL CIVILITY (WRC)

Annamaria Di Fabio and Alessio Gori

INSTRUCTIONS

Characteristics that affect the ways of being and relating to people are shown below. The statements refer to people's

interpersonal relationships at work. In the first part (A), please describe how you acted or behaved toward others (colleagues and /or superiors) over the past 3 months. In the second part (B), please describe how others (colleagues and superiors) acted or behaved toward you (in the past 3 months). Please mark with a cross all statements expressing your preference, choosing from: (1) Not at all; (2) A little; (3) Somewhat; (4) A lot; (5) A great deal. Please complete Parts A and B.

| | (A) Me with others | | | (B) The others with me | |
|----|---|-----------|----|--|-----------|
| 1 | I was able to express my values and my beliefs calmly to others | 12345 | 1 | Others were able to express their values and their beliefs calmly to me | 1 2 3 4 5 |
| 2 | I was able to express my point of view without being disrespectful toward others | 12345 | 2 | Others were able to express their point of view without being disrespectful toward me | 12345 |
| 3 | I respected the opinions of others | 12345 | 3 | Others respected my opinions | 1 2 3 4 5 |
| 4 | I communicated my disagreement with others without being aggressive | 12345 | 4 | Others communicated their disagreement with me without being aggressive | 12345 |
| 5 | I was polite toward others | 1 2 3 4 5 | 5 | Others were polite toward me | 1 2 3 4 5 |
| 6 | I was generally kind toward others | 12345 | 6 | Others were generally kind toward me | 12345 |
| 7 | I always behaved mannerly toward others | 12345 | 7 | Others always behaved mannerly toward me | 1 2 3 4 5 |
| 8 | I made comments that valorized others | 12345 | 8 | Others made comments that valorized me | 1 2 3 4 5 |
| 9 | I was interested in the emotional condition of others | 12345 | 9 | Others were interested in my emotional condition | 12345 |
| 10 | I was sensitive about the difficulties of others | 12345 | 10 | Others were sensitive about my difficulties | 12345 |
| 11 | I realized the effect of my words on others | 12345 | 11 | Others realized the effect of their words on me | 1 2 3 4 5 |
| 12 | I was attentive to the needs of others | 12345 | 12 | Others was attentive to my needs | 1 2 3 4 5 |
| 13 | I easily recognized the feelings of others | 12345 | 13 | Others easily recognized my feelings | 12345 |





Preparation for Meaningful Work and Life: Urban High School Youth's Reflections on Work-Based Learning 1 Year Post-Graduation

Maureen E. Kenny¹*, Christine Catraio², Janine Bempechat³, Kelly Minor^{1,4}, Chad Olle¹, David L. Blustein¹ and Joanne Seltzer⁵

¹ Department of Counseling, Developmental, and Educational Psychology, Lynch School of Education, Boston College, Chestnut Hill, MA, USA, ² Counseling Center, University of New Hampshire, Durham, NH, USA, ³ Wheelock College, Boston, MA, USA, ⁴ University of Texas, Austin, TX, USA, ⁵ Curry College, Milton, MA, USA

The challenges confronted by low-income high school students throughout school and across the transition to higher education and employment are well-documented in the US and many other nations. Adopting a positive youth development perspective (Lerner et al., 2005), this study reports findings from interviews with 18 low-income, racially and ethnically diverse graduates of an urban Catholic high school in the US. The interviews were designed to shed light on the post-high school experiences of urban high school graduates and to understand how students construct meaning about the value of school and work-based learning (WBL) in their preparation for meaningful work and life. The interviews highlight the perceived value of the academic and non-cognitive preparation students experienced through high school and WBL in relation to the challenges they encountered along the pathway to post-high school success and decent work. Overall, the findings suggest the potential of WBL for low-income youth in facilitating access to resources that build academic and psychological/non-cognitive assets, while also illustrating the role of structural and contextual factors in shaping post-high school transitions and access to meaningful work and life opportunities.

Keywords: work-based learning, post-high school transition, school to work transition, college access, decent work, employability of low-income youth

INTRODUCTION

Within the US, low-income youth of color, many of whom reside within and attend schools in large urban centers, have long experienced barriers in accessing decent work that offers a living wage and opportunities for advancement. In recent years, opportunities for stable employment have diminished, along with increases in underemployment and growing income disparities between the rich and the poor. Across the globe, 75% of workers are employed in temporary or short-term positions, contributing to the widening income inequality between those who are more affluent and highly educated and those who are not (International Labour Organization [ILO], 2015). The International Labour Organization [ILO] (2008), an agency of the United Nations, maintains that all workers should have access to decent work that is integral to personal and family well-being and to social and economic advancement. According to the International Labour Organization [ILO] (2008, 2012), decent work should offer a fair income, protection from wage loss, safe

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Margaret M. Hopkins, University of Toledo, USA

Reviewed by:

Peter McIlveen, University of Southern Queensland, Australia Thomas Kvan, University of Melbourne, Australia

> *Correspondence: Maureen E. Kenny kennym@bc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 15 December 2015 Accepted: 14 February 2016 Published: 26 February 2016

Citation:

Kenny ME, Catraio C, Bempechat J, Minor K, Olle C, Blustein DL and Seltzer J (2016) Preparation for Meaningful Work and Life: Urban High School Youth's Reflections on Work-Based Learning 1 Year Post-Graduation. Front. Psychol. 7:286. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00286 working conditions, access to health care, respect for social and family values, and opportunities for social dialog and worker organization. Although the ILO purports that sufficient decent work opportunities should exist, such that everyone who wants to work has the opportunity, decent work is diminishing while temporary and part-time work are increasing (International Labour Organization [ILO], 2014).

As decent work opportunities in the US workforce shrink as a result of technological change and turbulence in the economy worldwide, young people from low-income backgrounds, who have less education, and who belong to a racial or ethnic minority group are often marginalized from the economic, academic, and social resources needed to compete for the stable and decent work opportunities that do exist (Casey, 2012). Indeed, while many young people across the globe are challenged in their efforts to secure decent work, those who are poor and from marginalized groups worldwide experience the greatest obstacles (Blustein et al., 2014; Quintini and Martin, 2014). This study focuses on elucidating the post-high school experiences of graduates of a US high school designed to prepare young people from urban and low-income families for successful futures through work-based learning (WBL) and entry into higher education and decent work. By asking high school graduates from low-income backgrounds to reflect on how their high school experiences prepared them for life and work, we hope to gain insights into how students construct meaning about school and work, and the perceived value of school and WBL in their preparation for the future. These insights might inform further research and efforts to enhance the life chances and access to decent work for those young people most disenfranchised due to economic and social barriers.

Education at the high school level and beyond is a precursor to attaining gainful employment and access to associated economic, health, and social benefits. Within the US and globally, persons with higher educational status are less likely to be unemployed and more likely to enjoy physical and psychological well-being across the life span (Fouad and Bynner, 2008; Kenny and Walsh-Blair, 2012; OECD, 2014). Technological change in the workforce and the elimination of many unskilled jobs due to automation and outsourcing means that advanced education is increasingly critical for entry and advancement in the world of work (International Labour Organization [ILO], 2015). Despite the importance of advanced education, 19% of US high school students do not graduate on time with a traditional high school diploma (National Center for Education Statistics [NCES], 2014) and 20% of those who do graduate, enter college needing remedial courses (National Center for Education Statistics [NCES], 2013). Academic under-attainment is most prevalent among young people growing up in a context of economic poverty, who often attend schools staffed with less experienced teachers and with high teacher turnover (Reardon, 2011). These students experience an "opportunity gap" in comparison with more affluent students and are more likely to drop out of high school, reap less income over their lifetime, and belong to the ranks of the unemployed for longer periods of time (Cauthen and Fass, 2008; Reardon, 2011). Among high school graduates, lower-SES youth are also less likely to apply to and enroll in

postsecondary education and are less likely to complete a 2 or 4year degree than students from high-income families (Walpole, 2007).

In addition to academic and technical skills, a host of noncognitive or soft skills, are recognized as important for success in finding and retaining a job, advancing at work, and attaining a higher income and greater work security (Lippman et al., 2015). Indeed, an individual's employability, or capacity to obtain and retain suitable employment, entails not only vocational or jobrelated knowledge and skills, but an array of psycho-social skills that enable individuals to adapt to the changing demands of the world of work and to identify and realize work opportunities (Fugate et al., 2004; McArdle et al., 2007; Rothwell, 2015). A growing body of evidence across the fields of psychology, sociology, economics, and positive youth development (PYD) attests to the importance of this array of varied but interrelated non-academic skills for doing well in work and school settings, achieving desired goals, and relating effectively with others (Richardson et al., 2012; Lippman et al., 2015). This broad set of skills has been conceptualized and studied based on varying frameworks and rubrics such as developmental assets, life skills, character, grit, career adaptability, emotional intelligence, social-emotional learning and 21st century skills, among others (Farrington et al., 2012; Savickas and Porfeli, 2012; Kenny and Minor, 2015; Rothwell, 2015). While each of these frameworks is unique, some shared constructs emerge that relate to selfcontrol, social and communication skills, self-awareness, selfconfidence and positive attitudes for the future (Watts, 2006; Lippman et al., 2015; Rothwell, 2015). Despite the variety of skills and inconsistencies in defining and naming the constructs, a converging body of research suggests that these skills are malleable in the adolescent years and have an impact on academic success, engaged citizenship, PYD, career decisionmaking, workplace success, and life quality in general (Di Fabio and Kenny, 2011; Di Fabio and Maree, 2012; Richardson et al., 2012; Di Fabio and Saklofske, 2014; Lippman et al., 2015). Evidence is also emerging that these varied non-cognitive skills are especially important for sustaining career progress and maintaining personal well-being during times of economic and social uncertainty (Guilbert et al., 2015; Kenny and Minor, 2015; Di Fabio et al., in press). Moreover, employers in the US and other nations are expecting employees to be ready for the workplace equipped with non-cognitive assets as well as academic and vocational skills (Casner-Lotto and Barrington, 2006; Watts, 2006; Rothwell, 2015).

While we maintain that broad systemic change is important for reducing the range of structural inequities that create barriers to decent work, we also believe that high quality school and out-of-school experiences can help to equip young people with the academic and non-cognitive skills vital for establishing a trajectory of positive academic, social, and vocational development. The PYD perspective (Lerner et al., 2005), which is anchored in developmental systems theory (Lerner, 2006), emphasizes the important role of schools and other youth-serving settings in offering experiences and supports that enable youth to develop the individual assets and competencies needed to thrive throughout adolescence and into adulthood. According to developmental systems (Lerner, 2006) and PYD (Lerner et al., 2005) frameworks, positive development results from an alignment between contextual and individual assets. With regard to individual assets, PYD recognizes the importance of academic and non-cognitive skills for young people to thrive in school, work, and life (Lerner et al., 2005). Schools represent one vital context that can play an essential role in teaching academic skills and providing opportunities to develop the non-cognitive skills and social and emotional competencies that are vital for lifelong success (Watts, 2006; National Research Council, 2012).

Work-based learning, which encompasses learning in the workplace through internships, apprenticeships, informal learning on the job, and other vocational-specific curricula, has engaged interest in many countries around the globe for its potential to facilitate transitions from school to work, to ensure that training is aligned with labor market needs, to provide opportunities for the ongoing development of transferrable skills to meet the needs of the changing workplace, and to help students understand and adapt to the realities of the workplace (Falconer and Pettigrew, 2003; OECD, 2014; Hoffman, 2015). Although WBL programs are more often offered across higher education and vocational training, WBL has also demonstrated promise at the secondary school level as a model for connecting academic learning to work preparation, enhancing positive student attitudes, academic motivation and goal articulation for school and career, and equipping young people with both academic and non-cognitive work readiness skills for the transition from high school into meaningful work and life (Visher et al., 2004; Blustein, 2006; Kenny et al., 2010; Bempechat et al., 2014; Quintini and Martin, 2014). WBL programs thus represent one youth setting that can potentially complement the academic learning environment to develop personal, social, and work readiness competencies. Although some countries, such as Switzerland, Germany, Singapore, and the Netherlands, have highly developed or comprehensive WBL programs at the secondary school level, WBL programs are not typical or systemic in the US (Hoffman, 2015).

In response to the concern for improving the academic achievement of youth growing up in poverty, the Cristo Rey network, an association of 26 Catholic high schools across the US, emerged, with the intent to "transform urban America, one student at a time" (Sweas, 2014). The schools, which serve only youth from low-income families, integrate a number of unique features, with the intent to provide a holistic education that fosters academic, social, civic, moral, and spiritual development. In addition to offering a faith-based education, they provide an academically rigorous college preparatory curriculum coupled with WBL. In the Cristo Rey WBL model, students engage in real work that the corporation would otherwise pay another individual to do, with the salary paid by the corporation going toward the student's high school tuition (Thielman, 2012). Typically one full-time entry-level position is split among four students from the school with each student working 1 day each week. Every student works across all 4 years of high school in a corporate or non-profit setting, with a focus on developing noncognitive work readiness skills, rather than the development or transfer of vocational or technical skills to the workplace.

The present qualitative study is designed to enhance understanding of students' perceived academic and noncognitive skills, the perceived value of their high school experiences, and their experiences across the post-high school transition to higher education and work. Underlying this study is an ethical stance that builds on the Jesuit origins of the Cristo Rey Network (Kearney, 2008) and analogous movements in psychological studies of education and work, which collectively affirm the importance of establishing equality and social justice in the systems that frame students' development. When considering the Cristo Rev ideology in conjunction with recent calls for justice in scholarship and program development efforts in career development (e.g., Psychology-of-Working framework; Blustein, 2006), the commitment to unpacking sources of marginalization and resources that help students counter these oppressive forces serves as a cohering aspect of our project. Among students who graduated from an urban Catholic high school affiliated with the Cristo Rey Network, we explored graduates' perceptions of their adaptations to education, work, and life 1 year post-high school and the meanings they ascribed to their high school academic and WBL experiences in relation to their current lives. Students' perceptions of their challenges and the value they assigned to their high school experiences may provide valuable insights on how low-income urban youth understand their personal pathways toward higher education and the adult world and the types of experiences they view as facilitating and impeding their progress. This study will help to advance knowledge about the potential of intentional WBL as a viable means of promoting access to decent work among a population of youth who are often marginalized from the resources needed to find meaning and purpose in their adult work lives.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

A total of 18 low-income racially and ethnically diverse high school graduates (12 females; six males; eight Black, nine Latino, and one White) of Cristo Rey Northeast (a pseudonym) participated in this qualitative study. The WBL model at this school includes weekly one full-day per week in the workplace, a weekly holistic reflection seminar at the school during which students discuss their workplace experiences, and quarterly student evaluations by work site supervisors. The participants in this study had worked during high school in WBL positions in a variety of settings, including a biogenetics laboratory, a high school administration office, the computer lab at a major university, the corporate offices of a national retailer, a public aquarium, and a homeless shelter. Although many students enter this high school with academic skills significantly below grade level based on standardized tests, they often make substantial academic gains during high school, with most graduates being accepted to 2 or 4-year college programs (Thielman, 2012). Although the 18 participants in this study are a volunteer sample of high school graduates, they achieved varied levels of academic success in high school. The average cumulative high school academic grades for these graduates, obtained from school
records, ranged from 1.22 to 3.98 on a four-point scale (with 4.0 reflecting an A), with a mean of 2.37, which is very close to the 2.41 mean for all students from the same graduating class.

Procedure

All 60 members of the prior graduating class were invited by mail to an alumni event held at the high school on graduation day, 1 year after their graduation. The research team spoke to the approximately 40 alumni in attendance, explained the research study, and invited graduates to participate in interviews about their post-high school experiences. Those willing to share their experiences were individually interviewed for approximately 30–45 min. The procedure was approved by the high school administration and by the university committee that reviews and approves faculty research to ensure the safe and ethical treatment of research participants.

Interview and Analysis

The interview consisted of open-ended questions that tapped students' perceptions of their transition from high school to college/vocational program/work, as well as their reflections on their high school and WBL experiences. The complete interview is provided in the Appendix (Supplementary Material). Interviews were taped and transcribed verbatim, and subsequently coded by the research team using thematic coding and content analysis (Bempechat et al., 2013), which is described more fully in the following paragraphs.

Research team members read the first interview individually to identify emerging categories and then met as a group to compare initial codes. This process was repeated with other interviews and distinct categories were identified through the use of constant comparison (comparing the text of interviews in a category for similarities and differences; Glaser and Strauss, 1967), resulting in a codebook with category definitions and examples. Coding was both deductive, using the structure of the interview questions and existing theory to identify meaningful themes, and also inductive, with the research team members looking for nuanced and context specific themes that may not have been directly elicited by the structure of the interview or highlighted in existing literature. As new categories emerged, the research team re-coded the interviews as part of an iterative process, resulting in a total of 23 categories. The initial 23 codes are closely aligned with the interview questions and include student activities in the first-year post graduation; their major responsibilities across the past year; their expectations prior to graduation; their actual experiences in the past year with subcodes for difficulties, surprises, and other; their perceived preparation from their high school, with subcodes for the educational program, religious orientation and WBL work site experience and holistic reflections seminar at the school; their perceptions of social support across the post-high school year; student perceived growth in post-high school year; comparison of their maturity to peers; their future goals, among other codes. (A copy of the complete coding booklet is available from the authors by request).

The 23 categories were reviewed and grouped individually and then collectively by the research team into four broad themes: students' actual experiences post-graduation, their future goals, their perceived challenges and assets, and their perceived academic and personal preparation from their high school and WBL experiences. The categories and content organized under each theme was synthesized into four memos or summaries. The research team members wrote, reviewed, and discussed the summaries and met to further clarify, refine, and elaborate on the overarching themes and to determine descriptive labels for these themes and subthemes. For example, the memos and the codes aligned with each memo were reviewed individually and collectively by members of the research team, who identified perceived post-high school challenges, the varied and specific personal qualities that students felt that they had developed during high school that helped them to navigate these challenges, and their attribution of these personal qualities to the academic, WBL experience, or holistic-reflection components of their high school program as overarching themes that, in addition to their stated post-high school activities and future goals, spanned the four memos. The consensus on the overarching themes apparent across all interviews was reached through a process of review and discussion among the team members.

The interviewers, transcribers, and coders included three university faculty and graduate- research assistants from three collaborating colleges and universities in the metropolitan area surrounding the participants' high school. Members of the core research team identified as four White women and four White men, with two Asian-American women, one Latina woman, and one Black woman also involved in various phases of this study. The researchers continually addressed possible biases and evaluated inter-rater agreement by having two-person teams code the same interview individually, and then meet to compare codes. In addition, the team members were cognizant of the ethical stance that underscored their work on the project, which helped to ensure that the interpretation of the findings incorporated a clear vision of how social and economic forces shape students' experience. Furthermore, a knowledgable auditor was present at the weekly meetings to review interviews, facilitate critical discussion, challenge assumptions, pose alternative interpretations, ensure all opinions are considered and facilitate consensus (Morrow, 2005). When considered collectively, these procedures are designed to contribute to the validity of the results.

RESULTS

Overview

The interviews revealed that the alumni had engaged in a variety of school and work activities since their graduation. Although all of the graduates had been accepted into some form of higher education, not all graduates actually enrolled and some left before completing their first year. The post-high school transition was relatively smooth for some, while others encountered life events that altered their immediate plans.

Across the 18 interviews, several broad themes emerged, which describe the ways in which students viewed their development and preparation for the future as emerging through their unique high school experiences and their experiences in the transition from high school to work and/or higher education. Although not all graduates were enrolled in higher education at the time of the interviews, all described a sustained focus on pursuing further education and felt that their high school had helped prepare them in important ways for post-high school life. That is, in addition to the academic preparation provided by their high school, all students described personal qualities developed over the course of high school that prepared them for school and work post-high school. The narratives reveal furthermore how students perceived those qualities as having been fostered through the unique education and WBL settings in which they were immersed.

Post-High School Experience

The fall following high school graduation, 11 of the 18 alumni enrolled in college programs varying in level of selectivity. Of the 11 college students, two were also working full-time to support themselves. One was working full-time as a collections officer and the other was working in retail sales in a shoe store. Two left college after one semester. One left to due to the medical complications of a pregnancy and financial concerns, but planned to enroll in a community college the next fall, with another leaving for financial reasons. The latter was a very strong student academically in high school who had made a successful academic adjustment to a 4-year college while working part-time in a real estate office. She left after the fall semester, obtained her real estate license and was then working full-time in real estate sales with plans to return to college in the fall after saving some money. Three graduates were enrolled full-time in vocational or technical preparation programs for training as a massage therapist, a pharmacy technician, and an electrician. Four graduates had delayed their plans for post-high school study and were working at the time of the interview, yet expressed a firm commitment and evidence of active planning to enter college. One of the graduates delayed attending college in order to care for her mother who became ill and to look after a younger sister. She was working fulltime as a sales supervisor in a small department store. Another delayed college for a year because she was undecided on a course of study. She was working at a jewelry counter in a department store, with plans to attend college in the fall. Another graduate delayed his plans to enroll in college after her parents decided to return to their county of origin. This graduate was now working in food services and living with siblings who remained in the US, with plans to attend community college in the fall. The final graduate, who was working full-time as a waitress and at the counter in a restaurant, had always planned to attend college, but did not think she could afford to go at this time. A summary of graduates and their post-high school experiences is provided in Table 1.

Future Orientation

Although not all of the graduates were enrolled in post-high school study 1year following graduation, all described a future orientation that included continuing their education. Twelve of the 18 alumni described a clear career goal that was grounded in a direct route from high school through college or vocational TABLE 1 | Summary of graduates and their post-high school (post-HS) experiences.

| Post-HS experiences | Student | Gender | Race/Ethnicity | | |
|---|-----------|--------|----------------|--|--|
| Direct to 4-year college | | | | | |
| 1 | Vanessa | Female | Black | | |
| 2 | Marcos | Male | Latino | | |
| 3 | Alberto | Male | Latino | | |
| 4 | José | Male | Latino | | |
| 5 | Karen | Female | Black | | |
| 6 | Linda | Female | Black | | |
| 7 | Jessica | Female | Black | | |
| Direct to 4-year college part-time (simultaneously with full-time employment) | | | | | |
| 1 | Sebastian | Male | Latino | | |
| 2 | Leyla | Female | Latina | | |
| Direct to 4-year college (interruption in enrollment) | | | | | |
| 1 | Maya | Female | Latina | | |
| 2 | Judy | Female | Black | | |
| Direct to community college, vocational, or technical school | | | | | |
| 1 | Cassandra | Female | Latina | | |
| 2 | John | Male | White | | |
| 3 | Roman | Male | Latino | | |
| Direct to full-time employment (no higher education) | | | | | |
| 1 | LaToya | Female | Black | | |
| 2 | Janet | Female | Black | | |
| 3 | Monica | Female | Latina | | |
| 4 | Maria | Female | Latina | | |

school. The remainder expressed more uncertainty or the presence of life events that altered the clarity of their path.

Karen (all names are pseudonyms), studying health science at a 4-year college, exemplified those alumni expressing a clear career focus and pathway toward her goals. She stated:

Right now my goals are pretty simple. My goal for school is to keep going at the rate I'm going. I want to get my GPA (academic grades) up. After that I want to get to med school by the end of the 3 years that I have left. My goal for summer is just to get a job, and get a permit for my car.

Roman described a clear sense of direction through vocational training:

It's like a 9-month program just to get the apprentice license and then after that I have to join a company for 4 years, get my hours to go to my journeyman's license, then one more year to get my master's license and then I can be a master electrician, own my own business.

Vanessa, attending a 4-year college and studying biochemistry, felt that her career direction was stronger than other students at her college. She explained: It's really strange to me to see the people even in my science classes right now telling me that they want to go to med school, but not exactly knowing how to get there... I think that internship here, the work study fills in that gap.

Although all of the alumni were not as clear about their career direction, they nevertheless expressed a firm commitment to post-high school study and future planning.

Maria, who was working full-time in food services to save money, described her strategy for getting to college:

Yeah, I am going to get another job because I want to save as much money as I can to pay for college, because I always felt that when I went to college I wanted to have a part-time job, and I would just be studying and study hard and that's what I really want to do.

Jessica, who was attending college full-time, discovered that she no longer wants to be a nurse, but expressed a commitment to continuing in college and identifying a new career goal:

I went in as a nursing major, but quickly found out that's not what I want to do. So, I continued as an undergrad student, and now I'm taking summer school to kind of find my niche as to what I really want to pursue as a career.

In considering possible options for the future, Jessica reflects on her WBL experience at an aquarium during high school: "I liked to do ... work there [at the aquarium], so I could have that type of experience when I try to pursue my career as a veterinarian..."

Alumni's Perceptions of Challenges and Preparedness

The alumni noted varied challenges in their post-high school year as well as ways in which their high school and the work-study programs helped to prepare them for life after high school. With regard to challenges, alumni commonly mentioned the need to hold themselves responsible with less adult supervision and the amount of work required in higher education. Judy, who left college to have a baby and planned to return the following fall, described the challenge of adult responsibilities. She explained:

A lot of work to live life after high school. Like I said before, you know, you have to grow up. You're an adult now you're not just a student. You have to try to, like some people have to live on campus and try to make it on their own, you don't have your mother there at all times.

Leyla, who was working full-time and attending college parttime, commented, "I mean it really isn't easy. You get a lot of free will, you're not forced to go to class, you're not forced to be there, but you need to know the consequences if you're not." In comparing the demands of her life in high school and college, she noted that she is "working every day of the week, not just 1 day. So it's a lot harder."

Among those who enrolled in higher education, all students felt prepared academically, although several identified the

increased workload and higher expectations as challenging. With regard to academic preparation for college, Vanessa stated:

Northeast prepared me really well for it...I give most of my credit to ...the English department [at Northeast]. Science was not tough at all like I thought it was going to be...It was all very much like stuff I had learned here.

Roman found the academic work at the technical school easier than in high school, so he enrolled in community college to take more advanced math coursework in pre-calculus. Maya, who left college for financial reasons after one semester, found the academic work manageable: "I thought in my mind that it would be a lot harder. . .but I guess I was well-prepared and it got me in a good position in college. For me, it wasn't hard at all."

Linda, a college pre-med student, felt prepared academically, but was among those who commented on the work volume. She noted:

I was prepared because of the way Northeast prepared us. Um, we not only went about going to school, but we also, basically had jobs while we were here. So as far as me being prepared to work, I felt like that, I felt like that I was. The only thing I wasn't prepared for was the amount of work, because obviously in high school we don't get as much work, and as time-consuming work as you would call it.

In addition to academic preparation, alumni highlighted their preparedness for post-high school life as encompassing three sets of interrelated non-cognitive skills, including a sense of selfcontrol and self-regulation, self and other awareness, and social skills and professionalism. Although all of the alumni articulated ways in which their high school experience had prepared them for the year following graduation, they highlighted different benefits.

Self-control and Self-regulation

More than half of the graduates spoke about their preparedness in relation to qualities of self-control and self-regulation. These qualities were viewed as important with regard to persistence, time management, and relational management in their current post-high school, work, and education.

Alberto, enrolled in a 4-year college, was one of the graduates who spoke about the importance of hard work and persistence, stating, "Nothing comes easy. You have to work for everything you want. In college, in school, in anything. Anything you want, you have to work for." Cassandra, who was enrolled in a massage therapy program, had struggled academically during high school, but described how she persisted toward completing her degree:

I wasn't like the best, the best of grades and everything, but I hung on by a thread. And you know, I got to the point where my thread snapped and I wasn't able to graduate with my class, but I did not let that stop me...So, I came back here and did what I had to do and passed the work and I just continued on with my mission.

Marcos, a 4-year college student, was among the alumni who described the WBL program as instrumental in fostering his maturity. He stated: And then I just look at the factors to my level of maturity and, I see, like any experiences in life and then I see my high school and the [WBL] program. That really helped my level of maturity. And then I just think, some of these students probably didn't go to a corporate work-study program. The odds are that a lot of them probably haven't and that could be a reason why their level of maturity is different from my level of maturity.

[... Northeast] helps students...learn so many things. You learn responsibilities. You learn time management. You learn all these things that can make a young adult a very good adult.

Self-regulation was also exemplified in social relations and choice of friends. Sebastian, who was studying computer science, commented, "I try and find people who are the same as me. You know, outgoing, but somewhat compatible to me. I don't hang around people who smoke and drink, and what-not. And if they do, I just leave." He noted how the work experience exposed graduates to a set of rules and consequences in the world outside of school:

Here [at Northeast], you're like we're following rules and [if] you messed up, this is what happens and, you know, it's a guideline. When you step out of here you have to make your own guideline and you have to follow your own rules and you know the consequences of work, it's not just detention anymore. But I like it. I feel I was well prepared.

Some graduates also noted, how the WBL experience had prepared them to manage multiple responsibilities. Maya, who left college after one semester to work full-time and save for her return to college, stated:

Having an outside job and going to school and having all other responsibilities helped me manage my life so much. And that taught me so much, like when I moved out of my parents' house, I was prepared already because I knew that it's not easy working and going to school, doing all that and paying bills. So I had an idea already.

Maya also described how the WBL program played a role in fostering personal strength: "The training that they gave us in the beginning (to prepare for the WBL experience), that definitely helped me so much. It gave me more character, personality, and I became, like, a stronger person."

Self-reflection and Other Awareness

The majority of the graduates described themselves as possessing a level of self and other awareness, which differentiated them from their college and work peers. As they described their selfawareness, 14 of the 18 graduates made frequent reference to their high school WBL experience, and to the holistic reflection seminar that was designed by the school to accompany the WBL program.

Roman, in technical school training to become an electrician, described the WBL program as fostering awareness of self and the world beyond high school:

I mean, a lot of the kids here were just kinda closed off to what the real world was and then...now with the internship program, it kinda opens up, you know, everyone's minds, how it actually is out there, and I kinda like seeing that.

Monica, who took a year off to earn money to pay for college, also viewed the WBL experience as fostering awareness of the larger world. She stated:

But if you work outside the school, you're working with new people with different attitudes, different people that don't know you. And they're starting to know you each day...each day that you go there ... You see what I mean? It's like stressful, it's really stressful. But if you work in a different place, your mind's gonna think differently, you're gonna do things differently, you're gonna be with different people.

Other graduates commented on how the weekly holistic reflection seminar held at the school taught them how to be self-reflective and learn from past experiences, thereby enhancing self-awareness and self-understanding. For example, Sebastian, studying computer technology at a 4-year college, commented, "...when we did the reflections about work and stuff. It helped me a lot to think about the way I deal with certain situations at work now."

Liz, who was working full-time in retail, also spoke of the benefits of the holistic reflection seminar:

It was just good to talk about work and just reflect on everything that happens. And sometimes I needed that if I had a long week at work. Sometimes I just need to sit back and think about... oh maybe I should have done this, or maybe I should have done that. But, it did, it was pretty good. It did help somewhat.

Karen, studying health science at a 4-year college, also valued the lessons associated with the reflection seminar. She commented:

They had a lot of quotes, and a lot of things that told you to step back from the situation and look at it or like, you know, focus. Things like that help you realize that when things get really hectic, step back, look at what's really going. And then deal with it. Kinda like small steps, is what I feel I took out of reflection.

Jessica, attending a 4-year college and undecided about her major, commented:

I love the holistic reflections. Um, they helped a lot, um, they're very strategic in the way that they made the sessions ... the questions that they asked us were very, very good. They help you think basically and helped you figure out ways to go about situations concerning school or the work study, how to go about it in a better way, a more constructive way, a more respectful way, and stuff like that. So it helped you to be more mature basically, it kind of helped me that way. Cassandra, training as a massage therapist, appreciated the opportunity through the reflection seminar to express herself and get feedback from students and teachers. She said:

Being able to speak up, being able to be heard, being able to have people comment on what your issue is, being able to have somebody to relate to you who's been there before, so you don't feel like you're alone...that helped me a lot too.

She also valued the personal and social knowledge she had learned from her teachers and the service experiences at the school:

There are two teachers here that I can say truly taught me the meaning of peace and community...there's things I never knew I would do, like volunteer and get into the community, and just for them to put me at a homeless shelter. I was like, now I see things differently.

Cassandra developed a personal philosophy that helped her to persist when challenged. She explained:

There's lessons in life that you got to learn...and you got to do something different. You gotta approach things differently. When you are in a situation, you look at both sides, put yourself in that person's shoes...It's certain things I ask myself just to get through.

Monica, who was working full-time with the intention of enrolling in community college in the fall, described her experiences in the reflection seminar and in interactions with teachers within the seminar and beyond:

They teach you to be proud of who you are, to become better at what you're doing and what you do, to become good and feel prepared. They don't want you to be ashamed. . . if you're Latino. . . They want you to be a human being who makes a mistake and you're able to learn.

Monica also attributed a heightened sense of self-awareness and confidence to her religion teacher, explaining:

She's a really good teacher... she was always pushing me, like, "Roll through, just don't get scared." Maybe she's more of a model for my life because she's so self-confident. She's not scared what people are thinking about her. Like she's really strong religiously as a person. So, I learned that... that you need to be strong and fight for what you want and...that's in my mind most of the time. So I really appreciate what she did for me.

Social Skills and Workplace Communication

Many of the graduates described confidence in their social skills and communication for the workplace. Vanessa, a 4-year college biochemistry major, explained, "...I think like you're always professional even though you don't try to be. It's just there. It's just there, and I think they kind of ingrained that a lot in school..."

Relatedly, Cassandra commented on how she learned to communicate professionally through WBL. She reported:

...being able to be out there in the corporate world, being able to have, like, corporate communications, knowing how to be professional and knowing when to tone down your attitude. You know, once you step in the door, you know what I'm saying, like I said, it's not about you anymore. It's about who's the client for the day.

The majority of the graduates commented explicitly on how the WBL experience had equipped them with valuable skills related to workplace communication. Jessica, enrolled at a 4-year college, gained an understanding of the value of a substantive resume through the WBL program. She stated:

I just want to express that the [WBL] program did help me a lot, um, I just filled out my resume, and when I was looking back at it, and really thinking about all the firms that I have been to, it's just really a blessing to have experienced that.

Several students noted how the experience prepared them to interact with adults. Roman, studying to become an electrician, commented:

Like socially, it just helped me talk to adults, because I was so used to talking with people my age, and my boss was like fifty and I had no idea how to really approach her...but after the 2 years, we really became close and she was almost like a second mother to me because she gave me a lot of advice.

Marcos, a 4-year college student, reflected similarly:

...working at a corporate work-study program... helped me learn how to speak and how to communicate with adults ... I need to know how to speak to an adult, how to like, say things in a way that an adult would understand. I can't just use, I can't just speak to adults the way I speak to my friends.

Graduates noted the importance of the social skills they learned while in high school for post-high school employment. Liz, who was working full-time in retail, while also caring for her ill mother, commented:

That is what [this school] is for, to prepare you for the future. . Yeah, the working, and the dress code and how we all have to act professional and it is just a good set up for what is supposed to come after high school.

LaToya, who was working full-time with plans to enroll in college in the upcoming fall, also commented on the preparation she had received for the workplace, "I knew what to do and what not to do and being here they showed you how to dress for the corporate stuff, for the workplace."

DISCUSSION

During the year after their high school graduation, the 18 young people interviewed in this study experienced varying levels of school and work successes and disappointments. They encountered many of the developmental challenges typical of young people their age, along with additional challenges, more common among young people who have limited access to economic resources and social capital as a result of their social status. While the transitions to higher education and work were relatively smooth for some of the high school graduates, for others the transition was marked by postponements and altered plans following unexpected life events. All of the alumni, however, maintained focus on further education and described a range of academic and non-cognitive skills that have been associated with workforce preparation and positive developmental trajectories (Watts, 2006; Lippman et al., 2015; Rothwell, 2015).

While growing up in low-income neighborhoods has been shown to have a profoundly deleterious effect on high school graduation rates (Wodtke et al., 2011), the young people in our sample exemplified some level of success through their completion of high school, acceptance into post-high school education, and entry into either higher education, employment or both. While statistics indicate that 15% of high school graduates in the US and 23% of those with less than a high school diploma between the ages of 16 and 24 are neither in school or employed (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2014), all of the alumni we interviewed were engaged in school, work, or both. The percentage of young people who are neither in school or work is as high as 50% in countries with emerging economies (Quintini and Martin, 2014). In contrast to the prevailing criticism of high schools as not preparing young people for college and career (e.g., National Center for Public Policy and Higher Education and Southern Regional Education Board, 2010), these young people described their high school and WBL experiences as equipping them with varied academic and non-cognitive skills that they valued in navigating post-high school challenges.

The non-cognitive skills described by these young people are similar to those identified as valuable in prior research. Self-control, intentional self-regulation, and future orientation, for example, are highlighted in PYD research (Lerner et al., 2005). They are also similar to those identified by vocational psychologists as related to employability (Fugate et al., 2004; Rothwell, 2015), career adaptability (Savickas and Porfeli, 2012), and as critical for navigating life and work in a time of uncertainty (Di Fabio, 2014; Di Fabio and Kenny, 2015; Kenny and Minor, 2015). Conceptually related but distinct concepts, such as grit and perseverance have also received significant attention in recent research on youth academic and life success (Duckworth and Gross, 2014). In a broad sense, our alumni fit the descriptions of "gritty" youth, who demonstrate the capacity to regulate their time, attention, emotions, and social interactions, and sustain perseverance, despite ongoing life challenges. In addition to the intrapersonal skills associated with self-control and selfawareness, many of these young people described confidence in their social and interpersonal competencies, as well as capacities for self-reflection and self and other awareness, which have been identified as important competencies in research on social and emotional learning and for career decision making (Watts, 2006; Durlak et al., 2011; Di Fabio et al., 2013; Di Fabio and Saklofske, 2014; Rothwell, 2015). In this sense, these young people appear to be equipped with a number of the 21st century skills, which many employers observe as lacking in young people today (Casner-Lotto and Barrington, 2006).

Given the paucity of knowledge concerning the contextual bases for the development of non-cognitive skills (Farrington et al., 2012; Brown et al., 2013; Rothwell, 2015), the narratives offer insight into how some young people perceive their schools and specific aspects of their school programs as preparing them for life after high school. While the level and source of their non-cognitive skills are not verifiable from our data, these young people directly attributed many of these skills to the programs and relationships experienced in their high school. The idea that positive development for these young people stems from an alignment between their strengths and the assets of their context is consistent with the developmental systems perspective and PYD model (Lerner et al., 2005). The narratives of these youth reflect an understanding of human development as a dynamic interactive process in which the environment and the individual are both key in shaping outcomes. Recent attention to the role of "grit" (Duckworth et al., 2007) or perseverance toward long-term goals has been challenged by some critics, who maintain that that a focus on individual qualities may overlook the role of structural and systemic barriers that lie at the roots of the "opportunity gap" (Riele, 2010). Our findings serve to contextualize the understanding of non-cognitive skills, as alumni describe how real-world learning experiences in the workplace, the presence of caring adults at school and work (as well as in their families), and a space in the school curriculum to reflect on and give meaning to their work experiences contributed to their perceived non-cognitive strengths and preparation for the future.

Also consistent with developmental systems and PYD frameworks (Lerner et al., 2005), our findings reveal how contextual factors beyond the individuals and their school present substantive challenges for entry into and success in higher education and decent work. Youth with low economic resources often experience unique and complex hurdles in the transition to college (Rowan-Kenyon, 2007). Some of the graduates in our sample, for example, delayed post-high school study or dropped out of college for reasons less typical of the middle class college student, such as the need to support oneself when parents return to their country of origin or due to the complications of an unplanned and medically difficult pregnancy. Postponing college entry to care for a sick mother and sister was also cited as a reason for delaying college, perhaps associated with low economic resources and/or cultural values emphasizing family commitment and gender-based valuing of personal care work over market based employment (Richardson, 2012). Lack of economic resources, along with uncertainty regarding major or course of study, were also noted as reasons for not entering college immediately after high school. The life stories of the Northeast alumni are thus consistent with prior research revealing that low-income high school graduates may change their plans to enroll in post-secondary education over the summer months as a result of complicating life events and concerns about the costs and the economic benefits of higher education (Goldrick-Rab and Han, 2011). While the experiences of these students are uniquely embedded in the US context, they are consistent with global evidence documenting how economic and social barriers impede the academic and work achievements

of young people growing up in low resource settings (Quintini and Martin, 2014).

The findings have relevance to exploring the challenges that face many youth as they transition from school to the world of work, and then optimally to an adult life that includes decent work. Their stories illustrate the inevitable interrelation of work and non-work experiences (Blustein, 2006) and the ways in which social, cultural and economic factors shape the journey from school to decent work (Guilbert et al., 2015). As reflected in the ILO's contributions (International Labour Organization [ILO], 2008), many of the antecedents of decent work occur at the macro level, involving access to education, safe neighborhoods, good health care, and a host of other economic and social factors. However, individual and more proximal systemic factors also play a major role in the complex array of factors that promote decent work. As the narratives suggest in this study, the graduates of the WBL program at Northeast Cristo Rey faced numerous challenges once they left high school. However, some managed to make adaptive transitions to post-secondary training, while others struggled. The prevalence of external barriers seemed to overwhelm some of the participants, which underscores the need for equitable systemic solutions that will allow people to thrive and flourish in their educational and vocational lives. For many of the participants, though, the WBL experience was key in exploring the meaning of work in relation to their own values and to the development of a future orientation and an array of non-cognitive skills, which offered important internal resources in the struggle for meaningful work and life.

Although the alumni interviewed in this study highlight the capacity of schools and WBL programs to foster the development of non-cognitive skills in addition to academic development, the limitations of the study must be considered. With regard to generalizability, the participants represent a select sample of the high school graduates who chose to attend an alumni event. Although our participants experienced various levels of academic success during and after high school, it is likely that those students who felt disconnected from the high school did not attend the alumni event. The generalizability of our findings is also limited by the nature and structure of this particular school. This is a private, Catholic school in the US Northeast that serves only low-income students. The specific qualities of the students who choose to attend this school and the emotional support they receive from their families to enroll in and persist at this challenging high school are not clear. Although the findings from this study may be generalizable to other Cristo Rey high schools in the US offering a similar WBL model, the applicability for students in other WBL programs in the US and in other nations is not clear. The retrospective nature of students' comments is, of course, subject to revisionist bias, and should be viewed with caution. The interviews were conducted only 1 year after graduation, so that the long-range post-high school success and career attainment of the graduates is unknown.

Further research is needed to address limitations of the current study. Follow-up of a random sample of graduates over a longer period of time is necessary to provide an understanding of their immediate and long-range experiences along a pathway to decent work. Future research should include the perspectives of key stakeholders from the high school, higher education, post-high school employment, and family contexts. Including individuals within these overlapping spheres of influence (Reschly and Christenson, 2009) can overcome the limitations of reliance on individual self-report and inform a broader understanding of how contextual and individual factors interact in creating and limiting access to decent work. Although, we found the PYD framework to be helpful in guiding this study, further research can serve to deepen understanding of role of sociocultural, contextual, and structural factors in preparation for meaningful work and life and access to decent work for lowincome youth. Varied stakeholders might further illuminate the internal, proximal and distal resources that young people might access in gaining entry into decent work. Further research at the distal level is needed to understand how workplace and broader economic policies interact with individual skills in impacting access to decent work. Comparing the experiences of graduates of this high school to graduates of other schools in the network across the US and other secondary school WBL models in the US and across the globe will also be important in gaining a broader understanding how students understand their high school experiences as preparing them for the future of decent work.

Given the limitations of this study, implications for policy and practice are considered tentative. In the context of ongoing educational policy debates in which creating a culture of college and career readiness is a priority in the US (Office of the White House Press Secretary, 2010), our study participants were able to reflect thoughtfully on how their high school and WBL experiences contributed to academic and non-cognitive skills that they have relied on to navigate myriad subsequent challenges. While we cannot infer causality and more research is needed, positive features of the WBL program and supportive and reflective learning experiences at school may be applicable in other school settings as vehicles to prepare low-income youth academically, socially, and motivationally for the ongoing challenges of young adult life. These characteristics have been noted in previous reviews of high school reform efforts in the US that highlight the importance of addressing the social, emotional, and motivational capacities youth, as well as their academic skills (Kenny, 2013) and have been noted in international research on effective WBL programs (OECD, 2014; Hoffman, 2015).

Beyond the high school and WBL contexts, our overall findings suggest the need for a multifaceted and systemic approach for enhancing access to decent work for low-income youth. Employability depends not only on well-developed individual skills, but also on organizational and broader contextual factors, such as the status of the labor market (Guilbert et al., 2015; Rothwell, 2015). Blustein et al. (2014) have labeled interventions that seek to enhance non-cognitive skills as promising micro-level initiatives potentially relevant in removing barriers to upward mobility, but acknowledge the necessity for further macro-level initiatives for work preparation, poverty reduction, and the expansion of decent work. The types of work in which most of the alumni were engaged reflect retail and food services positions that offer little long term security or room for advancement. Consistent with the PYD perspective, efforts to enhance resources across school, work, and public policy contexts are needed. The type of public-private partnerships exemplified by WBL might, for example, be expanded in creating more effective decent work pathways and opportunities for all young people (Blustein et al., 2014). WBL programs might also be enhanced, consistent with best practice in countries such as Switzerland and Germany, to provide a direct pathway from internships or apprenticeships to meaningful employment and to offer a system of ongoing career guidance beyond secondary school (OECD, 2014; Hoffman, 2015). Although recent US national initiatives suggest that all students who graduate from high school should be prepared for college and career (Office of the White House Press Secretary, 2010), our analysis suggests that some graduates may not have the interest or vocational clarity to pursue higher education immediately after graduation, such that enhanced and ongoing career counseling and post-high school employment might make sense for those figuring out a goal or course of study.

Although further research is needed to address limitations of the current study and to more fully understand the role of contextual influences, our findings give voice to the meaning that urban high school students ascribe to their high school and post-high school experiences, and offer insights concerning their

REFERENCES

- Bempechat, J., Kenny, M. E., Blustein, D., and Seltzer, J. R. (2014). "Fostering positive youth development through work-based learning: the Cristo-Rey model," in *Engaging Youth in Schools: Empirically-Based Models to Guide Future Innovations. National Society for the Study of Education*, Vol. 113, eds D. S. Shernoff and J. Bempechat (New York, NY: Teachers College Press), 232–252.
- Bempechat, J., Ronfard, S., Mirny, A., Li, J., and Holloway, S. D. (2013). She always gives grades lower than one deserves: a qualitative study of Russian adolescents' perceptions of fairness in the classroom. *J. Ethnogr. Qual. Res.* 7, 169–187.
- Blustein, D. L. (2006). The Psychology of Working: A New Perspective for Career Development, Counseling, and Public Policy. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Blustein, D. L., Kenny, M. E., and Kozan, S. (2014). "Education and work as human birthrights: eradicating poverty through knowledge, innovation, and collaboration," in *Barriers to and Opportunities for Poverty Reduction: Prospects for Private Sector Led Interventions*, ed. United Nations Development Program (Istanbul: UNDP Istanbul Center for Private Sector in Development).
- Brown, S. D., Lamp, K., Telander, K. J., and Hacker, J. (2013). "Career development as prevention: toward a social cognitive model of vocational hope," in Oxford Handbook of Prevention in Counseling Psychology, ed. E. Vera (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 374–392.
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (2014). BLS Data Viewer. Unemployment Rate Not Enrolled in School, Less Than a High School Diploma, 16–24 yrs. Available at: http://beta.bls.gov/dataViewer/view/timeseries/LNU04023019Q
- Casey, A. E. (2012). Youth and Work: Restoring Teen and Young Adult Connections to Opportunity. Kids' Count Policy Report. Baltimore, MD: Author.
- Casner-Lotto, J., and Barrington, L. (2006). Are They Really Ready to Work? Employers' Perspectives on the Basic Knowledge and Applied Skills Of New Entrants to the 21st Century US Workforce. Washington, DC: Partnership for 21st Century Skills, Corporate Voices for Families, and the Society for Human Resource Management.
- Cauthen, N. K., and Fass, S. (2008). Measuring Income and Poverty in the United States. New York, NY: National Center for Children in Poverty, Columbia University, Mailman School of Public Health.
- Di Fabio, A. (2014). Intrapreneurial self-capital: a new construct for the 21st century. J. Employ. Couns. 51, 98–111. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2014.00045.x

varied pathways from high school toward higher education and meaningful work and life.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MK, CC, JB, DB, and JS were involved in the original review of the literature, design of the study, data collection and analysis, interpretation of the findings, and writing of the manuscript. KM and CO were involved in data analysis, interpretation, literature review, and writing of results and discussion.

FUNDING

This research was not funded by any external organization.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg. 2016.00286

- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2011). Promoting emotional intelligence and career decision making among Italian high school students. J. Career Assess. 19, 21–34. doi: 10.1177/1069072710382530
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2015). The contributions of emotional intelligence and social support for adaptive career progress among Italian youth. *J. Career Dev.* 42, 48–59. doi: 10.1177/0894845314533420
- Di Fabio, A., Kenny, M., and Claudius, M. (in press). "Preventing distress and promoting psychological well-being in uncertain times through career management intervention," in *The Cambridge Handbook of International Prevention Science*, eds M. Israelashvili and J. Romano.
- Di Fabio, A., and Maree, J. G. (2012). Group-based life design counseling in an Italian context. J. Vocat. Behav. 80, 100-107. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2011.06.001
- Di Fabio, A., Palazzeschi, L., Asulin-Peretz, L., and Gati, I. (2013). Career indecision versus indecisiveness: associations with personality traits and emotional intelligence. J. Career Assess. 21, 42–56. doi: 10.1177/10690727 12454698
- Di Fabio, A., and Saklofske, D. H. (2014). Comparing ability and self-report trait emotional intelligence, fluid intelligence, and personality traits in career decision. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 64, 174–178. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014. 02.024
- Duckworth, A., and Gross, J. J. (2014). Self-control and grit: related but separable determinants of success. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 23, 319–325. doi: 10.1177/0963721414541462
- Duckworth, A. L., Peterson, C., Matthews, M. D., and Kelly, D. R. (2007). Grit: perseverance and passion for long-term goals. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 92, 1087– 1101. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.92.6.1087
- Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., and Schellinger, K. B. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: a meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. *Child Dev.* 82, 405–432. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01564.x
- Falconer, S., and Pettigrew, M. (2003). Developing added value skills within an academic program through work-based learning. *Int. J. Manpow.* 24, 48–59. doi: 10.1108/01437720310464963
- Farrington, C. A., Roderick, M., Allensworth, E., Nagaoka, J., Keyes, T. S., Johnson, D. W., et al. (2012). *Teaching Adolescents to Become Learners. The Role of Noncognitive Factors in Shaping School Performance: A Critical Literature Review*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Consortium on Chicago School Research.

- Fouad, N. A., and Bynner, J. (2008). Work transitions. Am. Psychol. 63, 241–251. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.63.4.241
- Fugate, M., Kinicki, A., and Ashforth, B. (2004). Employability: a psycho-social construct, its dimensions, and applications. J. Vocat. Behv. 65, 14–38. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2003.10.005
- Glaser, B. G., and Strauss, A. L. (1967). The Discovery of Grounded Theory: Strategies for Qualitative Research. Chicago, IL: Aldine.
- Goldrick-Rab, S., and Han, S. W. (2011). Accounting for socioeconomic differences in delaying the transition to college. *Rev. High. Educ.* 34, 423–445. doi: 10.1353/rhe.2011.0013
- Guilbert, L., Bernaud, J.-L., Gouvernet, B., and Rossier, J. (2015). Employability: review and research prospects. Int. J. Educ. Vocat. Guid. 1–21. doi: 10.1007/s10775-015-9288-4
- Hoffman, N. (2015). Let's Get Real: Deeper Learning and the Power of the Workplace. Students at the Center: Deeper Learning Research Series. Boston, MA: Jobs for the Future.
- International Labour Organization [ILO] (2008). Measurement of Decent Work Based on Guidance Received at the Tripartite Meeting of Experts on the Measurement of Decent Work. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/integration/ resources/mtgdocs/WCMS_115402/lang-en/index.htm (accessed September 2008).
- International Labour Organization [ILO] (2012). Decent Work Indicators: Concepts and Definitions. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/integration/ resources/pubs/WCMS_229374/lang-en/index.htm
- International Labour Organization [ILO] (2014). Evolving Forms of Employment Relationships and Decent Work. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/ groups/public/--ed_dialogue/--dialogue/documents/genericdocument/wcms_ 231985.pdf
- International Labour Organization [ILO] (2015). World Employment Social Outlook: The Changing Nature of Jobs. Geneva: ILO Research Department.
- Kearney, G. R. (2008). The Cristo Rey Story: More than a Dream. Chicago, IL: Loyola Press.
- Kenny, M. E. (2013). "The promise of work as a component of educational reform," in *The Oxford Handbook of the Psychology of Working*, ed. D. L. Blustein (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 273–291.
- Kenny, M. E., and Minor, A. (2015). "Developing self and resilience for an uncertain future: positive youth development," in *The Construction of Identity in the 21st Century*, eds A. Di Fabio and J. L. Bernaud (Hauppauge, NY: Nova Science), 87–101.
- Kenny, M. E., and Walsh-Blair, L. (2012). "Educational development: applications," in *Handbook of Counseling Psychology: Practice, Intervention and Applications*, Vol. 2, ed. N. Fouad (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 29–55.
- Kenny, M. E., Walsh-Blair, L., Blustein, L., Bempechat, J., and Seltzer, J. (2010). Achievement motivation among urban adolescents: work hope, autonomy support, and achievement-related beliefs. J. Vocat. Behav. 77, 205–212. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2010.02.005
- Lerner, R. M. (2006). "Developmental science, developmental systems, and contemporary theories of human development," in *Handbook of Child Psychology*, 6th Edn, eds W. Damon and R. M. Lerner (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.), 1–17.
- Lerner, R. M., Almerigi, J. B., Theokas, C., and Lerner, J. V. (2005). Positive youth development: a view of the issues. J. Early Adolesc. 25, 10–16. doi: 10.1177/0272431604273211
- Lippman, L. H., Ryberg, R., Carney, R., and Moore, K. A. (2015). Key "Soft Skills" That Foster Youth Workforce Success: Workforce Connections: Toward a Consensus Across Fields. Child Trends. Available at: http://www.fhi360.org/site s/default/files/media/documents/workforce-connections-soft-skills-small.pdf
- McArdle, S., Waters, L., Briscoe, J., and Hall, D. (2007). Employability during unemployment: adaptability, career identity, and human capital. *J. Vocat. Behav.* 71, 247–264. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2007. 06.003
- Morrow, S. L. (2005). Quality and trustworthiness in qualitative research in counseling psychology. J. Couns. Psychol. 52, 250–260. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.250
- National Center for Education Statistics [NCES] (2013). First-year Undergraduate Remedial Coursetaking:1999–2000, 2003–04, 2007–08. Available at: http://nces. ed.gov/pubs2013/2013013.pdf
- National Center for Education Statistics [NCES] (2014). The Condition of Education 2014. Available at: http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2014/2014083.pdf

- National Center for Public Policy and Higher Education and Southern Regional Education Board (2010). Beyond the Rhetoric: Improving College Readiness Through Coherent State Policy. Available at: http://www.highereducation.org/ reports/college_readiness/CollegeReadiness.pdf
- National Research Council (2012). Education for Life and Work: Developing Transferable Knowledge and Skills in the 21st Century. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- OECD (2014). Skills Beyond School: Synthesis Report. OECD Reviews of Vocational Education and Training. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Office of the White House Press Secretary (2010). President Obama Calls for New Steps to Prepare America's Children for Success in College and Careers. Available at: http://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/president-obama-calls-new-st eps-prepare-america-s-children-success-college-and-care
- Quintini, G., and Martin, S. (2014). "Same but different: school-to-work transitions in emerging and advanced countries," in OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers, No. 154 (Paris: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development).
- Reardon, S. F. (2011). "The widening achievement gap between the rich and the poor: new evidence and possible explanations," in Wither Opportunity: Rising Inequality, Schools, and Children's Life Chances, eds G. J. Duncan and R. J. Murnane (New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation), 91–116.
- Reschly, A. L., and Christenson, S. L. (2009). "Parents as essential partners for fostering students' learning outcomes," in *Handbook of Positive Psychology in Schools*, eds R. Gilman, E. S. Huebner, and M. J. Furlong (New York, NY: Routledge), 257–272.
- Richardson, M., Abraham, C., and Bond, R. (2012). Psychological correlates of university students' academic performance: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 138, 353–387. doi: 10.1037/a0026838
- Richardson, M. S. (2012). Counseling for work and relationships. *Couns. Psychol.* 40, 190–242. doi: 10.1177/0011000011406452
- Riele, K. (2010). Philosophy of hope: concepts and applications for working with marginalized youth. J. Youth Stud. 13, 35–46. doi: 10.1080/136762609 03173496
- Rothwell, A. T. (2015). "Employability," in APA Handbook of Career Intervention: Applications, Vol. 2, eds P. J. Hartung, M. L. Savickas, and W. B. Walsh (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 337–350.
- Rowan-Kenyon, H. T. (2007). Predictors of delayed college enrollment and the impact of socioeconomic status. J. High. Educ. 78, 188–214. doi: 10.1353/jhe.2007.0012
- Savickas, M. L., and Porfeli, E. J. (2012). Career Adapt-Abilities Scale: construction, reliability, and measurement equivalence across 13 countries. J. Vocat. Behav. 80, 661–673. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2012.01.011
- Sweas, M. (2014). Putting Education to Work: How Cristo Rey High Schools Are Transforming Urban Education. New York, NY: Harper Collins.
- Thielman, J. (2012). School Turnaround: Cristo Rey Boston high school case study. *J. Cathol. Educ.* 16, 115–147.
- Visher, M. G., Bhandari, R., and Medrich, E. (2004). High school career exploration programs: do they work? *Phi Delta Kappan* 86, 135–138. doi: 10.1177/003172170408600210
- Walpole, M. (2007). Economically and educationally challenged students in higher education: access to outcomes. ASHE High. Educ. Rep. 33, 1–113. doi: 10.1002/aehe.3303
- Watts, A. G. (2006). *Career Development Learning and Employability*. Heslington: The Higher Education Academy.
- Wodtke, G. T., Harding, D. J., and Elwert, F. (2011). Neighborhood effects in temporal perspective: the impact of long-term exposure to concentrated disadvantage on high school graduation. *Am. Sociol. Rev.* 76, 713–736. doi: 10.1177/0003122411420816

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Kenny, Catraio, Bempechat, Minor, Olle, Blustein and Seltzer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Career and Self-Construction of Emerging Adults: The Value of Life Designing

Jacobus G. Maree * and Adeline Twigge

Department of Educational Psychology, Faculty of Education, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa

This article describes a potential way of counseling emerging adults from a life design perspective to construct a self that could enable them to be agents of both their own development and the development of others. Theoretical issues relating to a dynamic, developmental and systems framework of the understanding of wellbeing are described and the process involved is delineated. The research design was qualitative and comprised case studies. Six participants who subscribed to the definition of "emerging adults" and were comparatively representative of the ethnic diversity of South Africa, were selected purposively from a group of individuals who applied for career counseling in a private practice context. The intervention involved life design counseling and occurred over a period of 6 weeks. Information related to participants' self-construction was gathered using qualitative techniques, including the Career Interest Profile, the Career Construction Interview, a timeline, video clips, a collage, and semi-structured interviews. Following the intervention, the participants revealed heightened insights with regard to aspects of their sense of a relational-moral self. Results indicated that life design counseling could enhance elaborative personal development (enhancing self-awareness and reaping the benefits of developing an improved relational-moral self) and the promotion of an awareness of the importance to promote social justice in work-related contexts.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Blustein, Boston College, USA

Reviewed by:

Letizia Palazzeschi, University of Florence, Italy Jean-Luc Bernaud, Conservatoire National des Arts et Métiers, France

*Correspondence:

Jacobus G. Maree kobus.maree@up.ac.za

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 11 October 2015 Accepted: 22 December 2015 Published: 11 January 2016

Citation:

Maree JG and Twigge A (2016) Career and Self-Construction of Emerging Adults: The Value of Life Designing. Front. Psychol. 6:2041. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.02041 Keywords: life design counseling, emerging adult, self-construction, narrative identity, spiritual development, interpersonal adaptability, future consciousness, citizen-leadership

INTRODUCTION

Much has been written about the ripple effect of multiple changes in the world at large (and especially in the workplace), as well as the tremendous impact of change on humankind in general and on workers in particular (Guichard, 2013). Work environments are becoming unstable, while lifelong employment in one organization and regular promotion in that organization are no longer guaranteed. Therefore, employees no longer feel compelled to remain loyal to any one organization throughout their working lives (Maree and Di Fabio, 2015). While Krumboltz and Chan (2005), contend that it is crucially important to embrace change, Blustein (2006, 2011) has made repeated requests for a wide-ranging psychology of working. It is important for career counselors in particular to prepare their clients to not only *accept*, but in fact *welcome* change: "Expecting people to decide on a lifetime career and commit to that choice is a formula for personal disaster. Circumstances change, economic cycles have their booms and busts, technology advances, and

people's interests change over time. Remaining ever open-minded is the smartest way to adapt to change" (Krumboltz and Chan, 2005, p. 351). The field of career counseling has no choice but to stay abreast of changes if it is to remain relevant (Blustein, 2011). Assessment and intervention should therefore be aimed at improving people's employability, enhancing their career adaptability, and helping them assume authorship of their career and life stories.

This view is consistent with the opinion expressed by Bernaud (2014, p. 36), namely that "career choices faced by individuals inevitably raise the question of the meaning that they intend to give their lives. To choose their work or sector in which they want to evolve, is also to consider the purpose of their existence, the priorities (physical, spiritual, social, aesthetic, etc.) that they want to give, the choices that they wish to operate, the overall style of life that they wish to give themselves" (Bernaud, 2014, p. 36). Clearly, career-related transitioning requires an awareness of the self so as to show a greater openness to the deeper dimensions of humaneness (Maslow and Lowry, 1968). Lombardo (2007) explains that although the concept of "wisdom" is often associated with knowledge constructed in the past-to be more specific, from wise men and philosophers-these "wise" people use such accumulated knowledge to deal with current and perceived future challenges and transitions related to career life. Career counseling, seen from this perspective, requires career counselors to equip their clients to act wisely. Wisdom, seen thus, strongly relates to a stronger future-oriented awareness and requires a profound understanding of behavioral tendencies and patterns. Lombardo (2007) regards wisdom as the highest expression of self-development, the synthesis and application of the virtues of an enhanced future awareness. It is the perpetually developing understanding of and fascination with both the bigger picture and the personal dimensions of life, of what is important, ethical and meaningful, and it involves the desire and creative ability to apply this understanding to design a better life (which includes finding a decent job) so as to benefit the self and others.

Rationale for the Study

While the need to help people become more career resilient and employable is a common topic in the educational research literature, very little has been written about the role of clients' spirituality in career-life counseling. In this article, the emphasis is therefore on the cardinal (yet largely neglected) importance of permanent spiritual values and ideals that clients should steer personally so as to enable them to construct their own identity, find decent work and design successful lives.

INTRODUCING A MORATORIUM PHASE FOR EMERGING ADULTS

Major work-related changes, as well as social and cultural changes over the past number of decades have spawned a postponement or "moratorium" phase among young people in the more welloff communities between the ages of 18 (when most of them complete their school careers) and 30 (before they enter the adult phase). They take longer (compared to the young persons of a few decades ago) to find their feet as far as stable accommodation, work and intimate relationships in particular are concerned (Harter, 2012; Facio and Resett, 2013). This period (18–30 years old) is considered the period of budding or emerging maturity, in imitation of authors such as Arnett (2012) and Smith et al. (2011).

An example of an initiative that correlates with the above scenario is the Western Cape Development Strategy (2013) that was launched by the Western Cape Department of Social Development (South Africa) in September 2013. The Western Cape Provincial Government recognized that local youths (14to 25-year-olds) were part of a "youth bulge" that constituted the vast majority of the population in the province. Moreover, it realized that this group could be regarded either as a demographic asset or as a demographic time bomb, and therefore projected that within the next decade these youths would be either an asset or a threat to social stability, depending on the extent to which their current restrictive life opportunities would be optimalised via the development processes they go through. Plans were purposefully made and are being carried out to ensure that these youths take their rightful place in society instead of simply swelling the ranks of the unemployed. In terms of this strategy, the development of youth leaders is core to the handling of long-term challenges. Youth leadership, as understood in terms of social development, does not deal with narrow-minded "role model" definitions of leadership, but rather with the improvement and increase of a variety of services, support structures and different opportunities that are available to youths as leaders of change in their communities-initially as youths and later as adults. Moreover, the development of youth leaders is regarded as essential for youth participation in their own development processes, their communities and society at large. It is assumed that as the leadership capabilities and powers of youths are developed, this will over time have a fundamental impact on the social institutions with which they interact. This will cumulatively lead to the transformation and change of the negative local landscapes and settings that contribute so much to the different challenges currently faced by young people.

The designers of the Western Cape Development Strategy (2013) declare that well-grounded theoretical frameworks offer a good springboard and conclude that "the needs for evidencebased means to address the challenges of the twenty-first century will coalesce to make Lewin's (1951, p. 169) quote that 'There is nothing so practical as a good theory' an oft-proven empirical reality." They argue that the science of development as a means of promoting social justice may well become the most significant lens through which to consider the future contributions of such science. They also contend that counseling should promote a moral orientation in the emerging adult in such a way that good will be created by way of contributions to positive personcontext relationships. When emerging adults see themselves as people who are morally bound to and involved in the establishment of civil society, and when they consequently start to gain a transcendent sense of the importance of life as a commitment to something of an enduring nature or lying beyond the constraints of their own existence, they are empowered to be agents of both their own development and of the positive promotion of other persons and elements of society. A commitment with regard to spiritual action in a world outside of the self will encourage these young persons to bequeath to future generations a society characterized by social equality and democracy, as well as a world in which youths may flourish and stand a fair chance of finding a decent job.

Considering that the context of emerging adults is everchanging, ongoing, and characterized by an interplay of forces, the complex context of emerging adults makes self-construction (Guichard, 2005, 2009) an appropriate avenue or lens by means of which to view, investigate, and interpret their idiosyncratic contextual situatedness. In cohesion with the above, it seems that career construction theory (Savickas, 2011) supports individuals with a new perspective on their life-career constructions, which prepares them to make wise choices and become involved in specific activities. More specifically, life design counseling promotes the deliberate and intentional preparation of emerging adults for an emotionally strong and healthy and a socially secure, satisfactory, and productive life (Maree, 2013).

Self-construction and life design counseling will now be discussed briefly.

Self-Construction Theory

Self-construction theory regards people as proactive agents whose main activity is self- organization to maintain stability and continuousness in their career lives instead of being passive objects, subjected to the whims of external forces (at the mercy of fate; Mahoney, 2002). On a related note, Guichard and Lenz (2005) emphasize the importance of individuals' contexts by explaining that people construct themselves in a specific manner, which depends on the way in which they relate to themselves as entities subsisting at particular moments in time in specific societies. As multidimensional human beings in a postmodern society, people join their different career-life domains at any given time and structure them according to various projections (Guichard and Dauwalder, 2010). In life design counseling, the focus in terms of context is on the relationship between the individual and his/her environment, as well as on the interaction that occurs within this system with its subsystems (Zunker, 1998).

Life Design Counseling

For the purposes of the current article, we focus on the life design framework and approach recently developed by Savickas et al. (2009).

The Life Design Counseling Framework of Savickas et al. (2009)

The use of narratives lies at the heart of life design counseling. Clients' narratives are utilized by the career counselor to understand their career-life experiences and events in life contexts (Maree, 2013). Clients use their own language (obviously shaped by life contexts) to construct narratives. Maree (2013) states that career counselors act as co-constructors of clients' life stories and facilitate the narration of their career-life stories by drawing attention to poignant themes and tensions in their career-life storylines. Furthermore, they teach them the skills they need to write and perform the next episode in their

career-life story. By doing this, the career counselor augments clients' vocabulary, effectively equips them with the language they need to express themselves and elucidates their interpretation of their own environments. Savickas (2013) maintains that individuals' experiences in their families help them to devise and shape their social roles as actors. These roles are modified continuously as the need arises and as clients "act" out such roles on various career-life stages or theaters such as the family, school, community/society, tertiary training institution, and work-life contexts. During this process, clients in reality write and advance their autobiographical stories, which provide them with autobiographical bridges to deal with multiple transitions. Clients' career-life stories subsequently shed light on and facilitate stability and constancy in their lived experiences in work-life and related environments.

Life design counseling blends self- and career- construction (Savickas et al., 2009). Based on social constructionism, it recognizes that social interaction produces awareness of the self and an understanding of one's situatedness, while it also promotes identity formation. Moreover, conversation facilitates the co-construction of meaning in the lives of people. Life design counseling equips career counselors with the *savoir faire* to help their clients deal with the challenges and needs that they encounter and experience in their unique contexts. Significantly, the life design process not only focuses on the importance of deciding which career to choose; it also supports clients in devising adaptable career lives that can be reshaped as and when life experiences ensue and changes occur (Campbell and Ungar, 2004).

The ultimate aim of life design counseling is to bring about change in clients' career lives in respect of their adaptability, narratability, intentionality and, ultimately, action orientation. Whereas adaptability speaks of one's ability to deal with change, narratability alludes to continuousness in one's career-life story. Taken together, adaptability and narratability ensure suppleness and constancy of the sense of self and indicate an ability to participate in meaningful activities, to flourish in the twenty-first century knowledge society (despite having to make transitions on multiple occasions) and, ultimately, to move forward by dealing with existent activities. In doing so, clients uncover abilities and interests they would prefer to execute (Savickas et al., 2009). The value of life design counseling as such is implied in a counseling process that fulfills two functions at the same time, namely a reflection function and a design function.

Life design counseling promotes heuristic development by harnessing and merging client-centered, psychodynamic, and (aspects of) cognitive-behavioral approaches (Hill, 2009) to facilitate self-reflection and reflexivity (Guichard et al., 2011) and, ultimately, advance people's career-lives. The aim of exploring and building on the magic in the life stories of individuals is to compile a life portrait that does not only transform the individual's life, but also makes a difference in the broader context. Such a "relational-moral self" is probably described best in Buechner's (1993, p. 119) distinctive statement and the observation made by Savickas (2006, 2011, p. 33). Buechner considers man's life journey as a response to a calling and states: "The place God calls you to is the place where your deep gladness and the world's deep hunger meet," while Savickas remarks, in support, that something special (magic) occurs when there is movement: "Magic happens when we move [forward]."

It seems that life design counseling may contribute to a situation in which emerging adults can play a role in creating a favorable environment in which young persons may flourish. Exactly how this initiation should take place is uncertain and this was indicated as a shortcoming in the literature. The working assumption is that life design counseling (with the narrative as the vehicle that helps to extend the autonomous self to a "self-in-context" that displays a "self-others" orientation—in other words that contributes to the greater good) lends itself to bridging this gap.

Goals of the Study

Our goal was to explore the value that life design counseling holds for the career construction and self-construction of emerging adults. Our specific research questions were:

- a. How is life design counseling experience by emerging adults who seek career counseling?
- b. How can life design counseling enhance the personal development of emerging adults (enhancing self-awareness and reaping the benefits of developing an improved relational-moral self) in a way that enhances career and self-construction?

METHODS

Research Design

The research design was of a qualitative nature and involved an intrinsic, instrumental, collective case study. An interpretivist paradigm was utilized, which expedited a thorough understanding and profound interpretation of meanings revealed during our interactions with clients. An explorative, descriptive, collective case study was implemented to facilitate an in-depth investigation of the outcomes of life design counseling with regard to the self-construction of emerging adults (McMillan and Schumacher, 2009). The reason for our choice was that we believed it would enable us to study the constructs of life design counseling and career adaptability from multiple perspectives within the context in which it occurred (Creswell, 2013).

Case Description

Selection criteria called for participants in the "new life phase" group (the so-called emerging adults) so that we would be able to understand the relational-moral relationships of emerging adults by obtaining a holistic picture of the interaction between the subsystems (life roles and different life contexts) at play during self-construction. Multidimensional data regarding the emerging adult as a relational-moral career constructor and community citizen or community leader was gathered and analyzed.

Given that it was our aim to examine the career-related challenges faced by people with some degree of choice in their lives, the following selection criteria applied. First, participants had to be between the ages of 18 and 30. Second, they had to come from the middle- and higher-income environment (and therefore had some degree of choice in their lives). Third, participants must have displayed a need for career counseling. Fourth, participants had to be literate and verbally developed enough to make a constructive contribution to the research project (academic performance and an interview were used to determine whether the candidate was suitable or not). Fifth, an equal number of participants who speak Afrikaans, English, and an African language had to be involved. Lastly, participants had to agree to participate in the life design counseling intervention. The objective was to investigate the value of life design counseling in the construction of a relational-moral self for each of these six emerging adults. Table 1 contains a summative overview of the background information regarding the participants.

Despite the fact that the participants apparently wanted help "only" with their choice of a suitable occupation, they frequently put forward broader issues that they wanted to sort out. These broader issues implied an approach that necessitated the design of a life career and that further highlighted an investigation into the possible value of life design counseling.

Participant 1 had already completed a degree, but she also wanted to specialize in a medical field (area still to be discerned)—something that would require many more years of training. She wished to reconcile her vision of a satisfactory and fulfilling life career with a bigger picture that could reveal a

| TABLE 1 A summative overview of the background information regarding the participants. | | | | | | |
|--|------------------------------|---|--------------------|-------------------|-------------------|---|
| PARTICIPANT | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |
| Age | 22 | 28 | 20 | 19 | 30 | 29 |
| Gender | Female | Male | Male | Female | Female | Male |
| Ethnicity | White | White | Colored | Colored | Black | Black |
| Mother tongue | Afrikaans | Afrikaans | English | English | Southern Sotho | Yoruba |
| Highest qualification | BA with French and German | Matric (needs one subject for degree in architecture) | Matric | Matric | BTech Auditing | National Diploma in Banking and Management |
| Student, employee, entrepreneur or unemployed | Student | Employee and entrepreneur | Employee | Unemployed | Unemployed | Employee and entrepreneur |
| Accommodation arrangements | Independent from parent | Lives with parents | Lives with parents | Lives with parent | Lives with parent | Independent |

potential that had previously been obscured to her. Participant 2 wanted to eliminate potential traps from his thought processes since he considered sacrificing the security of an existing job opportunity in order to strengthen his position as entrepreneur. Participant 3 requested help with his career choice, but at the same time wished to gain greater self-knowledge that would support him with his plans for the future. Participant 4's need for life career counseling involved the choice of a suitable occupation, since it was a year since she matriculated and she had still not managed to take a clear course. Despite having already been well-qualified, Participant 5 experienced a search for herself, which she defined in more detail as a lack of specific sense and meaning (being productive, constructive and creative). Participant 6 probably experienced a lack of focus, since he not only had numerous interests, but also was particularly eager to learn. Hence, it transpired that he wished to align his passion or vocation with a suitable occupation in order to conclude the entire process in a focused manner.

Various strategies were used to ensure crystallization, while trustworthiness was ensured through the use of triangulation during the data collection and analysis phases (McMillan and Schumacher, 2009; Creswell, 2013).

Credibility

To ensure credibility of the data and appraise contradictory data, we used triangulation, and crystallization (we focused on the emergence of multifaceted patterns and themes). Moreover, we ensured peer review by collaborating with a colleague who was indifferent and impartial to the study. She (our external coder) coded all data independently to make sure that the identified themes were a true representation of the data. In addition, participant review was facilitated in that we made sure that the participants had the opportunity to decide whether the results and inferences were correct. We cleared up any possible misunderstandings and concepts discussed with the participants before interpreting and analysing the data.

Transferability

We based our research on comprehensive descriptions of the case study and made no attempt to generalize. We ensured that any inferences were supported by sufficient evidence from the data. We documented detailed descriptions of the research setting and the techniques used to ensure that sufficient information existed on the context of events.

Confirmability

We avoided selective use of data and fully documented the methods used and the decisions made during the study.

Dependability

The data was reported verbatim. Information was presented in as much detail as possible (including information potentially contradictory to the identified themes, subthemes, and subsubthemes). We maintained an audit trail by carefully recording all communications, and we communicated with participants in their language of communication.

Triangulation and Crystallization

Richardson (1997) advocates the use of the term crystallization rather than triangulation in qualitative research. Different qualitative data-gathering methods were therefore used to facilitate crystallization and enhance the trustworthiness of the study.

Intervention

The intervention (individual narrative career counseling) comprised six life design sessions. Each session comprised 45–60 min each over a period of 6 weeks.

The intervention is described in Table 2.

Data Analysis

The data analysis strategy (data reduction and interpretation) consisted of the following seven phases: organizing the data; absorbing the data; generating deductive categories and themes; coding the data; offering interpretations by means of analytical notes; searching for alternative insights, and presenting the research in the form of a report (Marshall and Rossman, 2011). The themes and subthemes implemented in the research were determined deductively (a priori). Examples of such themes are the concepts "own autonomy" and "commonality," which were embedded in the construct of the relational-moral identity. However, note was taken of the view held by Bernard and Ryan (2010, p. 107), namely that "no matter how hard we try, there are no purely inductive (or deductive) studies." Our style of data analysis can therefore best be described as deductive-inductive. Unsurprisingly, a number of additional subsubthemes emerged inductively during the analysis of the data.

Subsubthemes that emerged inductively and were engaged with in an integrated manner, demonstrated that a balanced oscillation between self-centeredness and "other"-centeredness could be negotiated. In addition, it became clear that deliberate diversification (which comprises the combination of virtues and meaningful activities-including a profession) could be fundamental to spiritual or relational-moral identity formation. Crucially, the oscillation between self-centeredness and selftranscendence and the application of core sparks (deep-seated passions or interests (Benson, 2008; Benson and Scales, 2009) emerged inductively as fundamental to identity work with the emerging adults in our study. Scales et al. (2010) believe that sparks are people's idiosyncratic traits that give evidence of positive values and can be implemented to ignite fires in them to promote prosocial and generative values. In reality, sparks indicate "a passion for a self-identified interest, skill, or capacity that metaphorically lights a fire in an adolescent's life, providing energy, joy, purpose, and direction. Thriving is ... the combination over time of sparks, and the action that the youth and others take to support, develop, and nurture those sparks" (Scales et al., 2010, p. 264).

Ethical Issues

Permission to conduct the study was obtained from the Ethics Committee of the University of Pretoria's Faculty of Education. We implemented standard measures to ensure participants' wellbeing and to protect them from harm

TABLE 2 | Description of the intervention.

| Sessions | Life design intervention | Proposed content of sessions | Expected outcomes | | | | |
|---|--|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| 1 | The problem was defined and the results that the participant hoped to achieve, were identified. | Maree's (2010) <i>Career Interest Profile</i> (<i>CIP</i>) with its 19 occupational categories was handed out and explained, after which the questionnaire was completed together with the participant. The completed questionnaire was subsequently used as the basis for a conversation about provisionally favored occupations, while at the same time the issue of meeting the ongoing needs of the greater good was touched upon. | Firstly, by creating an "appealing" environment, participants were motivated to participate in the life design intervention programme Furthermore, the purpose of the activity was the identification and exploration of participants' interests, as well as the role of benevolence/goodwill (based on their opinion and understanding of their own life experiences). It was hoped that the participants would gain both self- and occupational knowledge through their deeper insight into matters that could be meaningful to | | | | |
| 2 The participant and researcher together investigated the participant's current scenario. | | The career interview (the five primary domain questions) was used to start with the co-construction of an occupation (in the form of a new life story). During this process, the self-concept was linked to a preferred occupational environment, and at the same time core life problems and fixations dating from childhood were sorted out. A life slogan was employed to serve as leverage for launching a new chapter in the participant's life story. The ethical aspects were explored co-constructively with the help of life-counseling techniques. | | | | | |
| 3 | New scenarios were revealed as the researcher told the participant's story from a new perspective and revised it together with him or her. | The researcher expanded the participant's moral horizon by way of a timeline (covering the evolution of human consciousness – from caveman to postmodern mindfulness) and video inserts. While the first four (brief) video clips highlighted current and future socio-cultural and ecological crises, the next four dealt with the need to extend the self to others, the need for leaders who would be willing to become involved in finding solutions to socio-cultural and ecological crises as well as the value of cultivating and practicing wisdom. The focus was on possible contributions to meet current needs and serve the greater good, as well as on solutions for future society. The researcher made a connection between the meanings drawn from the participant's career story interview as well as further assessments and the initial reason for counseling: The initial career story was converted into a clear character sketch with an occupational theme. | Participants were given the opportunity to provide sense and meaning to their own lives. By taking into account the past and present (of their own lives as well as that of humankind), they were able to identify life themes that could be intertwined with future career-life ideals and that involved addressing the needs of the greater good, as well as providing solutions for the dilemmas of society. | | | | |
| 4 | The problem was placed within a new story. | Based on the information obtained from previous sessions, a collage was used to create—jointly and within the framework of a macro-narrative or life portrait—a new career and life story that is significant and meaningful. Contributions to the greater good were encouraged from the perspective of a relational-moral self (with occupation as the central point). In this way it was attempted to construct a relational-moral self that would be unique to each participant. | The purpose of this activity was to create an opportunity during which the participants could narrate their new career-life stories. Inherent life themes were linked to issues that provided personal as well as social meaning. | | | | |
| 5 | Activities that the participant could convert into concrete action were specified. | The plan concentrated on actions that would address those issues that had initially compelled the participant to seek counseling. Super et al. (1990) [in Savickas' (2011) model] refer to the consecutive actions involved as crystallization (the match between self and a possible profession), specification (a more advanced examination of specific bits of information) and actualization (the choice is actually made by the participant trying it out). | The purpose was to mobilize participants to take steps to sort out their reason for reporting for counseling within the framework of the more holistic picture (life portrait) that had been negotiated by the participant and counselor. | | | | |
| 6 | Follow-up. | Short-term and long-term follow-up actions were planned, based on (if required) the revision of the | The purpose was to monitor the progress made by participants and, if necessary, to render further support in respect of Item 5 | | | | |

(Continued)

| TABLE 2 | Continued |
|---------|-----------|
| | |

| Sessions | Life design intervention | Proposed content of sessions | Expected outcomes |
|----------|--------------------------|--|---|
| 1–6 | Journal entries. | The participants were requested to reflect on aspects of their experiences with regard to the intervention programme and to jot down these thoughts (i.e., an upsurge of emotions while they were completing any of the tasks; as well as thoughts and images that arose about themselves and their lives). | The aim of the reflections during journal entries was to give the participants more profound insights into their career-life stories and contexts. In this way they could identify their life themes and thus eventually sculpture a more coherent and meaningful image of themselves and their career lives. |

throughout the research. Written informed consent was obtained from participants, and privacy, confidentiality, and anonymity were maintained throughout. Feedback was given to participants at all stages and during all the phases of the research. Moreover, we released our research findings in an acceptable and responsible manner (Piper and Simons, 2005). Since some participants could perhaps manifest behaviors and emotions that would warrant counseling during the course of the research, arrangements were made for counseling to be provided by a fellow educational psychologist who agreed to offer this service should it be required. This was done to ensure the integrity of our role as researchers in this study and to avoid any role confusion.

RESULTS

Themes and Subthemes

Themes and subthemes (which emerged from the literature study and were used deductively during the research) as well as subsubthemes (which emerged inductively during data analysis) appear in **Tables 3**, **4** below.

Life design counseling enabled the researchers to confirm the existence of participants' autonomous self (also referred to as the "own actual self"). This "self" functions in a (daily) relational matrix (complex and mutual; also known as the "commonality aspect" or common/relational self). Aspects of the autonomous self were further differentiated (by means of the deductive confirmation of aspects obtained from the data analysis) into the participants' world views (ideologies); the highlights, lowest points and turning points in their life stories; their own unique characteristics; and their plans, linked to dreams and goals. These differentiated aspects served as subthemes. Subsubthemes that emerged inductively were integrated with the deductively derived themes and subthemes. All the issues were therefore condensed into a framework that enabled the researchers to compare the data in greater detail with contemporary research conducted into the participants' "self-formation," as well as their growth and development.

In the next paragraphs the findings are presented within the framework (and as example) of the autonomous self on the one hand—and its associated differentiation—in a (daily) relational matrix (complex and mutual) of family and friends; intimacy; work or study role; and the civil and cosmopolitan self (the common self) on the other hand. The findings are subsequently related to the aim of the research in the form of a discussion.

Own Autonomy (The Autonomous or Own Actual Self)

Ideology or World View (as Background to the Life Story)

The ideologies or world views of the participants were selffulfilling (self-centered) and/or self-transcending. The following is an example of a self-centered world view taken from the study: What I want to do with my life is ... I want to live my life doing what I want to do. I want to travel. I want to enjoy my life as a human being. I want to live a fulfilled life. In contrast—an example of a self-transcending world view is the following: The day we realize that we are living not for ourselves but for the people and the generations to come, is the day we are all free.

Key Scenes (Highlights, Lowest Points, and Turning Points in the Life Story)

Participants were able to apply self-regulation, which proved in some cases to be self-assertive (self-fulfilling or self- centered) and self-transcending in other cases. The following is an example (translated from Afrikaans) of self-fulfilling orientation: I think that bankruptcy had a very serious effect on my life. (Ek dink daardie bankrotskap het 'n baie groot effek op my lewe gehad.) It also caused my business thinking to change drastically. (Dit het ook my besigheidsdenke baie verander.) Such as how to tackle things ... how to avoid putting everything in one basket ... things may go wrong ... and to start asking the right questions. (Soos hoe om goeters aan te pak ... hoe om alles nie in een plekkie te sit nie ... goed kan verkeerd gaan ... en die regte vrae te begin vra.) An example of self-transcending orientation is the following: "I don't really value money too much, neither do I value materialistic things as prerequisite for my success. But I do value service to other ... I would rather achieve my goals at the service for people, not at the expense of others."

Own Unique Characteristics and Plans, Linked to Dreams and Goals in Life

Participants displayed idiosyncratic characteristics that imply positive values (also known as *sparks*) that some of them applied randomly in respect of contributions to society. By deliberately focusing the participants' attention on the presence of their *sparks* and indicating the latter's potential with regard to constructive contributions to society, the concept of deliberate/purposeful diversification was raised. An example of purposeful diversification is the following remark that one of the researchers made toward a participant who shared her personal vision regarding her medical career with this researcher. *So*

TABLE 3 | Theme 1 and its subthemes and subsubthemes.

THEME 1: OWN AUTONOMY (Identity formation of the autonomous "self")

Subtheme 1.1: Ideology or world view (background to the life story) Subsubtheme 1.1.1: A self-fulfilling world view Subsubtheme 1.1.2: A self-transcending world view

Subtheme 1.2: Key scenes (highlights, lowest points, and turning points) Subsubtheme 1.2.1: A self-assertive plasticity Subsubtheme 1.2.2: A self-transcending plasticity (example of a citizen leader included)

Subtheme 1.3: Key images (that promote the vitality of the story line) Subsubtheme 1.3.1: Intrapersonal diversity Subsubsubtheme 1.3.1.1: Prosocial objectives Subsubsubtheme 1.3.1.2: Generative values

TABLE 4 | Theme 2 and its subthemes and subsubthemes.

THEME 2: COMMONALITY (Relational-moral identity formation)

Subtheme 2.1: Family (relatives), friends, and intimacy

Subsubtheme 2.1.1: Recentring of the emerging adult

Subsubtheme 2.1.2: Family as the primary "context" for spiritual development Subsubtheme 2.1.3: Organized youth groups as additional context for spiritual development

Subsubtheme 2.1.4: The tendency to make choices (in respect of life roles) in terms of where the force of gravity is

Subtheme 2.2: Work or study role Subsubtheme 2.2.1: Spiritual goals (deeper meaning of the career) that are supplementary to defined measures of success

Subtheme 2.3: Civilian self Subsubtheme 2.3.1: Community-oriented aspects Subsubtheme 2.3.2: Political aspects

Subsubtheme 2.4: Cosmopolitan self Subsubtheme 2.4.1: Socio-political literacy Subsubtheme 2.4.2: The importance of systemic reflection on a global level

for me, the 'ideal self' that I see in you, is the following: That you are more than able to make a supreme and (researcher repeated the participant's own words) actually in your own words: 'making a supreme and startling, and prominent contribution to the development and improvement of mankind'.

Prosocial and generative actions never take place in isolation—always in context. The latter was categorized in the current research as family, friends and intimacy, work or study role, and the civil or cosmopolitan self. A brief description and examples of the prevalence of prosocial and generative values in the different contexts follow next.

Commonality (The Common or Relational Self)

Family and Friends

Family appeared to constitute the primary context for spiritual development. Furthermore, it seemed that an organized youth

group (consisting of friends, mentors and youth leaders) could well provide an additional context for spiritual development. An example of the parental home as primary context for spiritual development is the following: *It will also be my father. Because everything that he did when he was young is now a light to my path.* The following is an example of an organized youth group that serves as an additional context for spiritual development: *We are a few young people that have a home cell together every week on Wednesdays and Fridays where we discuss spiritual topics and encourage one another.*

Intimacy

Intimacy among emerging adults was found to be fragile/delicate and fragmented. An example of the above is the following remark by a participant (translated from Afrikaans): The girl with whom I was... we were together on and off for seven years and then in April... everything eventually came to an end. (Die meisie saam met wie ek was... ons was aan-en-af vir sewe jaar en ons het toe in April ... toe nou uiteindelik tot 'n einde gekom.) I am sad about it, because it is like, I was very down because it had been seven years of my life, and it is someone whom I really love and still love her, but it just didn't work. (Dis vir my sad, want dis soos, ek was baie down gewees want dit was sewe jaar van my lewe, en dis iemand vir wie ek regtig lief is en ek is nog steeds lief vir haar, maar it just didn't work).

Work or Study Role

A spiritual approach or orientation seemed to be beneficial for employees, especially in view of the fact that emerging adults are experiencing challenges to stabilize themselves economically. The following comment by a participant is an example of a spiritual approach or orientation: *I also like working with customers and sometimes I would go the extra mile helping them and there are customers who always ask for me when they want to buy something. There is also some staff that has been in the company for years even before me. But the manager always calls me instead for information.*

Civilian Self

It became evident that participants displayed a generous degree of community-oriented attitudes and objectives. The following is an example: *Like in my culture we used to say, 'umutu abantu omuntu' ... it means we must learn how to share with other people. That way we can help one another to go far.* According to participants, community-oriented activities could be far more effective if the government were to become involved in a meaningful manner: *Everyone must be involved in these issues of contributing and the government should facilitate the project.* The participants also indicated that they did not trust politics as it was being practiced at present: *I don't have any interest in politics. They don't have a mission or vision. They are just stagnant. They are in the parliament to benefit themselves, not for the interest of the country.*

Cosmopolitan Self

Findings with regard to the effect of globalization on emerging adults showed that participants were aware of the interconnectedness of the world: *Yes, we are interconnected. With*

technology, you can be anywhere and anytime. [And] for example, if one country is going through challenges, we will also experience the same thing because we are dealing with one another. The participants also indicated that they possessed a critical social awareness: If you say to them, 'Angola, panga and diamonds', then they also look at you in a strange way. (As jy vir hulle sê, 'Angola, panga en diamante,' dan kyk hulle jou ook snaaks aan.) Then they also don't know what you are talking about ... only 'they do this and this and this'. (Dan weet hulle ook nie waarvan jy praat nie ... net 'hulle doen dit en dit en dit.') They do not realize that they don't even have a notion of what happened earlier. (Hulle besef nie hulle het nie eers 'n idee van wat vooraf gebeur het nie.) Emerging adults furthermore seem to be aware of the value of greater collaboration among and involvement of individuals on a cosmopolitan level: ... but the same thing happened in Egypt and Syria.... 30 years ago it would have been impossible for those rebellions to happen, because those people did not know it was possible. (...maar dieselfde ding het gebeur in Egipte en Sirië... daai opstande sou nie 30 jaar terug kon gebeur het nie, want daai mense het nie geweet dit is moontlik nie.) 'We thought we were living in Egypt and we are being oppressed' and that's it ... but now they have seen on the news and on Facebook and such places that it is possible to stand up. ('Ons het gedink ons bly in Egipte en ons is onderdruk' en dit is so ... maar hulle het nou op die nuus en op Facebook en op sulke plekke gesien dit is moontlik om op te staan).

DISCUSSION

Our findings suggest that life design counseling enhances emerging adults' self-awareness and relational-moral self. The finding with regard to an "autonomous-relational" participant corresponded with the findings of other researchers (Markus and Kitayama, 1991; Bakan, 1966; Deci and Ryan, 2000, 2008; Kagitcibasi, 2012; Inguglia et al., 2014). All these researchers found that autonomous behavior (which involves mainly selfmanagement) and relational behavior (commitment to others in a commonality sense) are fundamental needs experienced by all people. These needs are considered as highly complementary motives and the integration of the two are regarded as essential for optimal psychological well-being. The notion of the "autonomous (own actual) self" is extended to autonomous "self"-identity formation, while the "relational self" is extended to relational-moral identity formation (McAdams, 1985; Gadow, 1999; Parker, 2007; Barrett, 2013; Roberts and Côtê, 2014). The concepts "own autonomy" and "commonality," coupled with "autonomous self" identity formation and "relational-moral identity formation" served as the two main themes in the current research.

McAdams and Cox (2010) further differentiated own autonomy as a "self' operating in three aspects, namely: the self as *author* (of the own narrative identity) who is able to ponder and reflect on the self as *actor* (with his/her unique properties as obtained from the key images of the participants" life stories) and the self as *agent* (the autonomous self with future plans and goals). The autonomous self (as agent) operates from a specific ideology or world view and with a particular resilience (as obtained from the key images of the participants' life stories) in a daily (relational) matrix. In summary, the participants' ideologies or world views, together with the key images and key scenes from their life stories, served as subthemes.

As stated previously, a number of subsubthemes emerged inductively. It became apparent that the ideologies or world views of participants could be negotiated as a balanced oscillation between "self-centredness" and "other-centredness," and that that purposeful diversification or the combination of sparks (Benson, 2008) (especially idiosyncratic traits that confirm the presence of positive values) and meaningful activities (including the pivotal actions of choosing and executing a career) may be fundamental to spiritual identity formation. In terms of an occupation, it seemed that when participants consider work a calling, this may boost the dynamic interaction (mutually beneficial and adjustable relationship) between employee and the workplacein other words, both employee and context may benefit from the interaction. This finding supports the findings of Adams (2012), Colozzi and Colozzi (2000), Dik and Duffy (2009), and Dik et al. (2009), who confirm the powerful influence of the belief that one has a "calling" for a career or that one's career is meaningful or useful or beneficial to others.

The family proved to be the primary context for spiritual development. Shulman and Connolly (2013) argue in this regard that the increased investment of energy by emerging adults in work or study may perhaps exert pressure on their relationships, which culminate in the postponement of marriage, instability in relationships and the hesitation to conclude agreements. These aspects seem to be characteristic of the moratorium phase of emerging adults, during which romantic commitments and life plans—more specifically, the different facets of the lives of emerging adults—are co-ordinated. Their choices of life roles therefore incline toward the place where gravity lies during this phase (Shulman and Connolly, 2013).

Although it seemed that the participants had a generous degree of community-orientated attitudes and goals, "political" involvement was labeled as "atomized" activity. Thus, the possibility that the social capital of emerging adults could be wasted is becoming an increasing and alarming reality. In this regard it seems that organized youth groups could perhaps provide a temporary context within which the need and potential of emerging adults to become involved in community projects could be stimulated.

All things considered, Flum (2015) contends that being in the world does not only imply relational and contextual connotations [the actor and agent suggested by McAdams and Cox (2010)]; it also involves a retrospective and prospective view of the self (McAdams and Cox's, 2010 author). Lombardo (2007) refers to a positive and informed narrative vision or picture that can be converted into action—an issue that was discussed as "life design counseling."

In brief, it seems that the self cannot be independent of the own social-historical existence (the relational and contextual aspects of the own life story). By means of a retrospective as well as a prospective view of the self, a map of possible roles and potential roles may be provided within which new thoughts, actions and self-definition are desired, allowed, feasible, wanted, and essential (Flum, 2015). By making the intertwined mutual relationship among the self, the proximal and distal community more explicit, the individual is more inclined to exercise own autonomy in favor of commonality (a relational-autonomous relationship), to which the spiritual dimension of prosocial and generative actions may be added (a relational-moral autonomous self).

We found no evidence that the deliberate promotion of a balanced oscillation between "own autonomy" and "commonality" by way of life design counseling has been reported before. More specifically, no evidence was found of the mutualistic design of a life career within the larger framework of the purposeful promotion of own autonomy (the stimulation of a balance between self-fulfillment and self-transcendence through the purposeful and intelligent application of sparks, both for own wellbeing and for the wellbeing of the community) and commonality. These findings underscore the importance of using career guidance- and education-related dialogues to promote oscillation between emerging adults' "own autonomy" and "commonality" and to advance their career-life-design within the larger framework of the purposeful promotion of own autonomy and commonality in service of fair and sustainable human development globally (Guichard, 2013). Given the increasing feeling of isolation among many workers, and emerging adult workers in particular, as well as the belief and experience that their needs are not being met to a satisfactory extent in work contexts, we believe that research on this topic is vitally important.

Limitation of the Study

The somewhat bounded social class of the sample represents a limitation.

Recommendations for Future Research

The findings of our study may have important implications for career counseling in other contexts. Firstly, it is important to conduct research on possible ways in which this type of counseling can be administered in group-based contexts. Second, longitudinal research to trace the medium- and longer-term effect of life design counseling on participants is essential. Third, it is essential to ensure that this type of intervention is made available to the millions of people who are currently denied virtually any kind of career counseling related intervention. Lastly, researchers should be wiling to alter and adapt the intervention described here to see which intervention works best in different contexts and to report on their findings.

REFERENCES

- Adams, C. M. (2012). Calling and career counseling with college students: finding meaning in work and life. J. Coll. Counsell. 15, 65–80. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1882.2012.00006.x
- Arnett, J. J. (2012). "New horizons in research on emerging and young adulthood," in *Early Adulthood in a Family Context*, eds A. Booth, S. L. Brown, N.S. Landale, W. D. Manning, and S. M. McHale (New York, NY: Springer), 231–244.

CONCLUSION

Our findings further the view expressed by Taylor (1989, p. 197), who remarked that "in order to make minimal sense of our lives, in order to have an identity, we need an orientation to the good, and we see that this sense of the good has to be woven into my understanding of my life as an unfolding story." Moreover, our findings support Lombardo's (2007) timeless observations that wise individuals regard their own identity formation as an ongoing construction, that the core of their being involves a creative force and that they see the future as an opportunity for further growth, but also as an opportunity to advance the growth of "others." Promoting these sentiments is particularly central in the context of the construction of a relational-moral self, and associatively, in the construction of a career-life identity. Dik et al. (2012) rightly argue that career counseling should strive to involve individuals in meaningful work that offers them opportunities to promote social harmony directly and indirectly.

The findings pertaining to community-oriented aspects in this article further the observation of Arnett (2013, p. 5), who argues that "today's emerging adults are not Generation Me but Generation We, an exceptionally generous generation that holds great promise for improving the world." These findings are accurately represented by the concepts *iSintu* (beholding the "self-identity" in the "other") (Nussbaum et al., 2010), as well as the term *ubuntu*, which suggests the human commitment and interdependence experienced in neighborhoods, organizations and the global community (Le Grange, 2012).

In a nutshell—this article suggests that the value of life design counseling can be summarized by combining the remarks made by Buechner (1993, p. 119) and Savickas (2006, 2011, p. 13), namely: *The magic in one's career life happens where your deep gladness and the world's deep hunger meet*. Harnessing life-design counseling (for career construction) to help all people (emerging adults in particular) challenged by unemployment and poverty become employable, find decent work and enhance their sense of self offers society its best chance to achieve this laudable aim, and, in doing so, to promote the idea of a fair and just society (Maree and Di Fabio, 2015).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JM and AT conducted the research, while JM wrote the manuscript and received substantial input from AT.

- Arnett, J. J. (2013). The evidence for generation we and against generation me. *Emerg. Adulthood* 1, 5–10. doi: 10.1177/21676968124 66842
- Bakan, D. (1966). The Duality of Human Existence: Isolation and Communion in Western Man. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Barrett, R. (2013). Liberating the Corporate Soul: Building a Visionary Organization. Woburn, MA: Routledge.
- Benson, P. (2008). Sparks: How Parents Can Help Ignite the Hidden Strengths of Teenagers. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

- Benson, P. L., and Scales, P. C. (2009). The definition and preliminary measurement of thriving in adolescence. J. Posit. Psychol. 4, 85–104. doi: 10.1080/17439760802399240
- Bernard, H. R., and Ryan, G. W. (2010). *Analyzing Qualitative Data: Systematic Approaches.* Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Bernaud, J.-L. (2014). "Career counseling and life meaning: a new perspective of life designing for research and applications," in *The Construction of the Identity in 21st century: A Festschrift for Jean Guichard*, eds A. Di Fabio and J- L. Bernaud (New York, NY: Nova Science), 29–40.
- Blustein, D. L. (2006). The Psychology of Working: A New Perspective for Counseling, Career Development, and Public Policy. Mahway, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Blustein, D. L. (2011). A relational theory of working. J.Vocat. Behav. 79, 1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2010.10.004
- Buechner, F. (1993). Wishful Thinking: A Theological ABC. New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Campbell, C., and Ungar, M. (2004). Constructing a life that works: Part 2, An approach to practice. *Career Dev. Q.* 53, 28–40. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-0045.2004.tb00653.x
- Colozzi, E. A., and Colozzi, L. C. (2000). "College students' callings and careers: an integrated values-oriented perspectivem," in *Career Counseling of College Students: An Empirical Guide to Strategies that Work*, ed D. A. Luzzo (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 63–91.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design. Choosing among Five Approaches, 3rd Edn. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Deci, E. L., and Ryan, R. M. (2000). The 'what' and 'why' of goal pursuits: human needs and the self-determination of behavior. *Psychol. Inquiry* 11, 227–268. doi: 10.1207/S15327965PLI1104_01
- Deci, E. L., and Ryan, R. M. (2008). Self-determination theory: a macro theory of human motivation, development, and health. *Can. Psychol.* 49, 182–185. doi: 10.1037/a0012801
- Dik, B. J., and Duffy, R. D. (2009). Calling and vocation at work: definitions and prospects for research and practice. *Counsel. Psychol.* 37, 424–450. doi: 10.1177/0011000008316430
- Dik, B. J., Duffy, R. D., and Eldridge, B. (2009). Calling and vocation in career counseling: recommendations for promoting meaningful work. *Profess. Psychol.* 40, 625–632. doi: 10.1037/a0015547
- Dik, B. J., Ryan, D., Duffy, and Steger, M. F. (2012). Enhancing social justice by promoting prosocial values in career development interventions. *Counsel. Values* 57, 31–37. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-007X.2012.00005.x
- Facio, A., and Resett, S. (2013). Work, romantic relationships, and life satisfaction in Argentinean emerging adults. *Emerg. Adulthood* 2, 27–35. doi: 10.1177/2167 696813515854
- Flum, H. (2015). "Career and identity construction in action: a relational view," in *Counseling and Action*, eds R. A. Young, J. F. Domene, and L. Valach (New York, NY: Springer), 115–133.
- Gadow, S. (1999). Relational narrative: the postmodern turn in nursing ethics. *Sch. Ing. Nurs. Practice* 13, 57–70.
- Guichard, J. (2005). Life-long self-construction. Int. J. Educ. Vocat. Guid. 5, 111–124. doi: 10.1007/s10775-005-8789-y
- Guichard, J. (2009). Self-constructing. J. Vocat. Behav. 78, 251–258. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.03.004
- Guichard, J. (2013). "Career guidance, education, and dialogues for a fair and sustainable human development," in *Inaugural Conference of the UNESCO Chair of Lifelong Guidance and Counselling*, University of Wroclaw, (Poland).
- Guichard, J., and Dauwalder, J. (2010). "The role of the theories of career construction and self-constructing in life designing," in Paper Presented at the 27th International Congress of Applied Psychology Symposium on Life design: A Paradigm for Career Construction in the 21st century. (Berlin).
- Guichard, J., and Lenz, J. (2005). Career theory from an international perspective. *Career Dev. Q.* 54, 17–28. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-0045.2005.tb00137.x
- Guichard, J., Pouyaud, J., and Dumora, B. (2011). "Self-identity construction and reflexivity," in *Career Counseling and Constructivism: Elaboration of Constructs*, eds M. McMahon and M. Watson (New York, NY: Nova Science), 57–72.
- Harter, S. (2012). The Construction of the Self. Developmental and Sociocultural Foundations 2nd Edn. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Hill, C. E. (2009). *Helping Skills: Facilitating Exploration, Insight, and Action 2nd Edn.* Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

- Inguglia, C., Ingoglia, S., Liga, F., Coco, A. L., and Cricchio, M. G. L. (2014). Autonomy and relatedness in adolescence and emerging adulthood: relationships with parental support and psychological distress. J. Adult Dev. 22, 1–13. doi: 10.1007/s10804-014-9196-8
- Kagitcibasi, C. (2012). Sociocultural change and integrative syntheses in human development: autonomous—related self and social-cognitive competence. *Child Dev. Perspect.* 6, 5–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00173.x
- Krumboltz, J. D., and Chan, A. (2005). "Professional issues in vocational psychology," in *Handbook of Vocational Psychology, 3rd Edn.*, eds W. Walsh and M. L. Savickas (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates), 347–370.
- Le Grange, L. (2012). Ubuntu, Ukama and the healing of nature, self and society. *Educ. Philos Theory* 44, 56–67. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-5812.2011.00795.x
- Lewin, K. (1951). "Defining the "field at a given time," in *Field Theory in Social Science*, ed D. Cartwright (New York, NY: Harpers and Brothers), 43–59.
- Lombardo, T. (2007). The evolution and psychology of future consciousness. *J. Future Stud.* 12, 1–23.
- Mahoney, M. J. (2002). "Constructivism and positive psychology," in *Handbook of Positive Psychology*, eds C. R. Snyder and S. J. Lopez (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 745–750.
- Maree, J. G. (2010). The Career Interest Profile (version 4). Randburg, South Africa: JvR Psychometrics.
- Maree, J. G. (2013). Counselling for Career Construction: Connecting Life Themes to Construct Life Portraits. Turning Pain into Hope. Rotterdam: Sense.
- Maree, J. G., and Di Fabio, A. (2015). "Employing career counselling to help people challenged by unemployment and poverty to become employable (and find decent work)," in Workshop Presented at the UNESCO Chair Conference in Florence 2015 "How can Career and Life Designing Interventions Contribute to a Fair and Sustainable Development and to the Implementation of Decent Work over the World?," University of Florence (Italy) and University of Wroclaw (Poland), (Florence).
- Markus, H. R., and Kitayama, S. (1991). Culture and the self: implications for cognition, emotion, and motivation. *Psychol. Rev.* 98, 224–253. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.98.2.224
- Marshall, C., and Rossman, G. B. (2011). *Designing Qualitative Research 5th Edn.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Maslow, A. H., and Lowry, R. (1968). *Toward a Psychology of Being*. New York, NY: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- McAdams, D. P. (1985). Power, Intimacy and the Life Story. Georgetown, ON: Dorsey.
- McAdams, D. P., and Cox, K. S. (2010). "Self and identity across the life span," in *Handbook of Life Span Development* Vol. 2, eds R. Lerner, A. Freund, and M. Lamb (New York, NY: Wiley), 158–207.
- McMillan, J. H., and Schumacher, S. (2009). Research in Education. Evidence-Based Inquiry 7th Edn. New York, NY: Addison Wesley Longman.
- Nussbaum, B., Palsule, S., and Mkhize, V. (2010). *Personal Growth: African Style.* Johannesburg: Penguin Books.
- Parker, D. (2007). The Self in Moral Space. Life Narrative and the Good. New York, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Piper, H., and Simons, H. (2005). "Ethical responsibility in social research," in *Research Methods in the Social Sciences*, eds B. Somekh and C Lewin (London: Sage Publications), 56–63.
- Richardson, L. (1997). Fields of Play: Constructing an Academic Life. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.
- Roberts, S. E., and Côtê, J. E. (2014). The identity issues inventory: Identity stage resolution in the prolonged transition to adulthood. J. Adult Dev. 21, 225–238. doi: 10.1007/s10804-014-9194-x
- Savickas, M. L. (2006). Career counselling Series II [DVD]. Specific Treatments for SPECIFIC populations. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Savickas, M. L. (2011). Career Counseling. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Savickas, M. L. (2013). The 2012 Leona Tyler Award address constructing careers – actors, agents, and authors. *Counsel. Psychol.* 41, 648–662. doi: 10.1177/0011000012468339
- Savickas, M. L., Nota, L., Rossier, J., Dauwalder, J. P., Duarte, M. E., Guichard, J., et al. (2009). Life designing: a paradigm for career construction in the 21st century. J. Vocat. Behav. 75, 239–250. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009. 04.004

- Scales, P. C., Benson, P. L., and Roehlkepartain, E. C. (2010). Adolescent thriving: the role of sparks, relationships, and empowerment. J. Youth Adolesc. 40, 263–277. doi: 10.1007/s10964-010-9578-6
- Shulman, S., and Connolly, J. (2013). The challenge of romantic relationships in emerging adulthood reconceptualization of the field. *Emerg. Adulthood* 1, 27–39. doi: 10.1177/2167696812467330
- Smith, C., Christofferson, K., Davidson, H., and Hertzog, P. S. (2011). Lost in Transition: The Dark Side of Emerging Adulthood. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Super, D. E., Savickas, M., and Super, C. M. (1990). "A life-span, life-space approach to career development," in *Career Choice and Development 2nd Edn.* eds D. Brown, L. Brooks, and Associates (San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass), 197–261.
- Taylor, C. (1989). Sources of the Self: The Making of the Modern Identity. Cambridge, England: Harvard University Press.

Western Cape Development Strategy (2013). Available online at: https://www. westerncape.gov.za/assets/departments/wc-youth-development-strategy.pdf

Zunker, V. G. (1998). Career Counselling: Applied Concepts of Life Planning 5th Edn. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Maree and Twigge. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Green Positive Guidance and Green Positive Life Counseling for Decent Work and Decent Lives: Some Empirical Results

Annamaria Di Fabio* and Ornella Bucci

Psychology Section, Department of Education and Psychology, University of Florence, Firenze, Italy

This article discusses green positive guidance and green positive life counseling for decent work and decent lives. From a green guidance perspective, the connectedness to nature construct is important both in terms of the meaning of work and life construction. The study discussed in this article analyzed the relationship between empathy and connectedness to nature, controlling for the effects of fluid intelligence and personality traits. In this connection, the Advanced Progressive Matrices, the Big Five Questionnaire, and the Interpersonal Reactivity Index were administered to 144 Italian high school students. The study revealed that connecteness to nature was not associated with fluid intelligence and was only moderately associated with personality traits. It was empathy that showed the highest association with connectedness to nature. The results open new opportunities for future research and interventions in green positive guidance/life counseling and green positive decent work.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pablo Fernández-Berrocal, University of Malaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Peter McIlveen, University of Southern Queensland, Australia Simon George Taukeni, University of Fort Hare, South Africa

> *Correspondence: Annamaria Di Fabio adifabio@psico.unifi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 13 January 2016 Accepted: 10 February 2016 Published: 02 March 2016

Citation:

Di Fabio A and Bucci O (2016) Green Positive Guidance and Green Positive Life Counseling for Decent Work and Decent Lives: Some Empirical Results. Front. Psychol. 7:261. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00261 Keywords: green positive guidance, green positive life counseling, green positive decent work, decent life, empathy, connectedness to nature

INTRODUCTION

Green guidance is concerned with sustainable development (Plant, 2013), environmental conscientiousness (Career Development Association of Australia [CDAA], 2010), and responsibility for the ecosystem (Barham and Eagleson, 2013). It deals with the choice of work and jobs that minimize environmental harm and that heighten awareness of the importance of green careers (Career Development Association of Australia [CDAA], 2010). It encourages individuals to consider the environmental implications of their career choices (Plant, 2013) and to balance work and other aspects of their lives (Guichard, 2013a; Plant, 2013), thereby sustaining a way of life that promotes health, economic security, and social justice (Career Development Association of Australia [CDAA], 2010). Green guidance also encourages organizations to pay more attention to sustainability issues and to recruit staff who understand these concerns on the one hand, and, on the other hand, it encourages job applicants to consider organizations that view their social responsibilities seriously and that implement enlightened human resource policies (Career Development Association of Australia [CDAA], 2010).

Green guidance focuses on sustainability issues, especially sustainability in career practices and career interventions aimed at promoting a balance between individual aspirations and societal and global needs (Guichard, 2013a; Plant, 2013). It thus underlines the importance of aligning

individual needs with the needs of society, the environment, and the common good (Barham and Eagleson, 2013; Guichard, 2013a). It promotes ethical values in career guidance and counseling that contribute to building efficient, wealthier, and more just societies (Guichard, 2013a).

In relation to green guidance and career practice, the concept of ecological well-being can be used as a measure of how successful an ecological system is in managing, distributing, and sustaining environmental resources (Center on Education and Work [CEW], 2015). Green guidance focuses on ecological wellbeing that becomes a "natural" way of thinking, that is closely linked with people's lives, and that is embedded in career guidance delivery (Barham and Eagleson, 2013).

A green challenge for career practitioners is how they engage their clients in considering the kind of world they want to live and the role they want to play in it (Guichard, 2013a; Plant, 2013). Clients are citizens in the present and have a role to play in constructing the future, which they can discuss with their career advisors (Guichard, 2013a; Plant, 2013).

Green guidance can also help move career practice away from the constraints of the dominant economic discourse toward a professional discourse that enables practitioners to assist clients achieve a fulfilling life in a more socially just, sustainable society (Barham and Eagleson, 2013). It is important to consider positive, individually satisfying ways of contributing to society not measured solely in monetary terms (Blustein, 2006, 2011).

Just as green guidance has to attend to wider ecological concerns, career practice has to take into consideration individual well-being, organizational well-being, community well-being, and the well-being of the planet. Individual well-being is concerned with responsibility for one's own future, inclusion, and evaluation by society (Irving, 2013); psychological wellbeing (Kenny et al., 2014); adaptive functioning (Di Fabio and Kenny, 2015); and securing a sense of dignity and a livable wage (Blustein, 2006; Guichard, 2013a; Guichard and Di Fabio, 2015). Organizational well-being is concerned with the fulfillment of individual and organizational potential (Di Fabio, 2014a); effectiveness (ILO, 2015); productivity (ILO, 2015); customer and employee satisfaction (ILO, 2015); and workforce preparation (Di Fabio et al., in press). Community well-being is concerned with the fulfillment of individual and community potential (Wiseman and Brasher, 2008); connectedness (social networks) (Wiseman and Brasher, 2008); livability (infrastructures) (Wiseman and Brasher, 2008); and equity (values of diversity, social justice, and individual empowerment) (Wiseman and Brasher, 2008). Wellbeing of the planet is concerned with the achievement of an acceptable standard of living for all resulting from economic growth, capital accumulation, excess production, and unimpeded free market development (Irving, 2013). In terms of green guidance, career practice has to take these four kinds of wellbeing into consideration.

Green guidance also stresses the importance of the fundamental aims of career interventions (in line with the UNESCO Chair on Lifelong Guidance and Counseling, Guichard, 2013a) but from a "green" perspective, affirming the relevance of contributing to the good of humanity, contributing to the development of decent work in a sustainable and fair world economy (Guichard and Di Fabio, 2015), promoting more and better jobs and social inclusion (ILO, 2015), and reducing poverty (Di Fabio, 2014a). If "decent work" enhances sustainable development and sustainable careers (ILO, 2015), "green decent work" (Di Fabio, 2016) goes further by meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs (World Commission on Environment and Development [WCED], 1987) by achieving human development goals while preserving the resources of the environment and the ecosystem (Commission of the European Communities, 2009), by developing sustainable and green careers (Anand and Sen, 2000), by promoting a better quality of life and careers (International Institute for Sustainable Development [IISD], 2015). Green decent work (Di Fabio, 2016) also stresses the importance of connectedness with the natural environment (climate, resources, ...) and environmental sustainability (Barham and Eagleson, 2013; Guichard, 2013a); the importance of the relational environment between people (Blustein, 2011) and social networks (Wiseman and Brasher, 2008); and ethical values (justice, equity, and fairness) (Barham and Eagleson, 2013).

A green positive guidance perspective (Di Fabio, 2016) can be introduced in respect of individual concerns as well as environmental concerns. Individual concerns are concerns for one's own future in line with one's own aims, and one's own talents, potential, and relationships with significant others. Environmental concerns are concerns not only for one's own future but for the future of others too and can be linked to fairness institutions, social justice, environmental well-being, beneficial exploitation of resources, and the preservation of a healthy planet and environment for future generations. Green positive guidance (Di Fabio, 2016) stresses the importance of designing one's own future on the basis of sustainable development and careers, and also considering the future of others and of the planet.

Connectedness to nature is an important feature of green positive guidance and life counseling (Di Fabio, 2016) as the inclusion of nature in one's representation of oneself is integral to the meaning of work (Blustein, 2006, 2011) and life construction (Guichard, 2013b).

Connectedness to nature was originally defined as "the extent to which an individual includes nature within his/her cognitive representation of self" (Schultz, 2002, p. 67). The definition later included the individual's affective and experiential connection with nature (Mayer and Frantz, 2004). People who have such connectedness tend to perceive themselves as members of the broader natural world and community. They have a sense of affinity with it, considering themselves as belonging to the natural world as much as it belongs to them, and believing their wellbeing is linked to the well-being of the natural world (Mayer and Frantz, 2004).

Regarding environmental issues, there is a growing literature on ecological dimension of intelligence in terms of social development and cognitive patterns of human development (Gifford et al., 2011; Salahodjaev, 2016). A recent study (Salahodjaev, 2016) offers for example new statistical evidences of a negative link between intelligence and deforestation. Besides, the study underlines that psychological aspects such as intelligence are regularly ignored in statistical modeling of deforestation and focuses on intelligence as predictor of social and human capital (Salahodjaev, 2016) concerning environmental issues. Furthermore in previous studies individuals with higher IQ scores emerged more available both to favor cooperation and to have longtime horizon (Shamosh and Gray, 2008; Jones and Podemska, 2010). So, intelligence seems to be a psychological aspect we have to take into account to control its effect regarding environmental themes.

A green career choice (Bauer and Aiman-Smith, 1996) is updated for many reasons. We have to consider that organizations are "going green" highlighting as a proactive company interest for environment was also positively related to perceived company attractiveness, intentions to pursue employment with that company, and acceptance of a job offer. Individuals consider a "premium green" paying attention to environment al concerns, and willing to make changes in their lives in order to protect the environment (Fergnsen, 1993). Moreover in an environmental psychology perspective environmental issues as for example energy conservation, recycling, fresh water, and pollution are considered everyday commons dilemmas and intelligence and other personal characteristics have to take into consideration to resolve them (Gifford et al., 2011). On the other side, regarding personality, in previous studies a relation between personality traits and connectedness to nature emerged (Hirsh and Dolderman, 2007; Nisbet et al., 2008; Hirsh, 2010), showing in particular associations with agreeableness and openness. Very cooperative, friendly and generous individuals perceived themselves as more connect to nature (Hirsh and Dolderman, 2007; Nisbet et al., 2008; Hirsh, 2010). Also individuals who are interested in new and different experiences, opened to contact with different cultures and customs showed a highest connectedness to nature (Nisbet et al., 2008; Hirsh, 2010). These individuals have also a general sense of respect for nature and for other people (Nisbet et al., 2008).

Regarding the relationship between empathy and connectedness to nature, Schultz (2000) stresses concern for environmental issues. However, very few studies have actually analyzed this relationship (Berenguer, 2007; Cheng and Monroe, 2012; Liefländer et al., 2013). Berenguer (2007) shows the effect of empathy on pro-environmental attitudes and behavior, while Cheng and Monroe (2012) have found that children who enjoy nature generally have empathy for all living creatures. Liefländer et al. (2013) contend that an increase in such empathy will result in increased inclusion with nature. According to the previous considerations, the present study analyzed the relations between empathy and connectedness to nature, also controlling for the effects of fluid intelligence and personality traits. The relationship between empathy and connectedness to nature has not been studied extensively in the literature, and it has never been controlled for the effects of fluid intelligence and personality traits.

Aim and Hypotheses

On the basis of the theoretical framework presented above, this study analyzed the relationship between empathy and connectedness to nature, controlling for the effects of fluid intelligence and personality traits on connectedness to nature. The following hypotheses were formulated.

H1: A relationship exists between empathy and connectedness to nature (Schultz, 2000; Berenguer, 2007; Cheng and Monroe, 2012; Liefländer et al., 2013).

H2: Empathy explains a significant percentage of the variance in connectedness to nature beyond that explained by the effects of fluid intelligence and personality traits.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The research participants were 144 high school students who were attending the last year of a high school in Tuscany. All the high school students in their final year of school were invited to participate in the study, of whom 94% agreed to participate. Sixty-six (45.80%) of the participants were males and 78 (54.20%) were females. The ages of the participants ranged from 18 to 20 years (M = 18.61, SD = 0.51).

Measures

Advanced Progressive Matrices (APM)

The Advanced Progressive Matrices (APM) test by Raven (1962) in the Italian version by Di Fabio and Clarotti (2007) was used to evaluate fluid intelligence. The APM comprises two series of items: Series I has 12 items, and Series II has 36 items. Participants have to choose one of the alternative answers for each item. Each item has eight possible alternatives. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient in the present study was 0.93.

Big Five Questionnaire (BFQ)

The Big Five Questionnaire (BFQ, Caprara et al., 1993) was used to evaluate personality traits. The questionnaire has 132 items with response options on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = Absolutely false to 5 = Absolutely true. The questionnaire measures five personality traits. The Cronbach's alpha coefficients were: 0.82 for Extraversion (example of item: "I think that I am an active and vigorous person"), 0.76 for Agreeableness (example of item: "I understand when people need my help"), 0.83 for Conscientiousness (example of item: "I tend to be very thoughtful"), 0.91 for Emotional Stability example of item: "I do not often feel tense"), and 0.77 for Openness (example of item: "I am always informed about what is happening in the world").

Interpersonal Reactivity Index (IRI, Davis, 1980)

The Interpersonal Reactivity Index (IRI, Davis, 1980) in the Italian version by Albiero et al. (2006) was used to evaluate empathy. The IRI has 28 items with response options on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = Never true to 4 = Always true. The questionnaire measures four dimensions: Fantasy, Empathic concern, Perspective taking, Personal distress. The Cronbach's

alpha coefficients were: 0.83 for Fantasy (example of item: "I really get involved with the feelings of the characters in a novel"), 0.86 for Empathic concern (example of item: "I often have tender, concerned feelings for people less fortunate than me", 0.84 for Perspective taking (example of item: "I believe that there are two sides to every question and try to look at them both"), 0.81 for Personal distress (example of item: "In emergency situations, I feel apprehensive and ill-at-ease").

Connectedness to Nature Scale (CNS)

The Connectedness to Nature Scale (CNS, Mayer and Frantz, 2004) in the Italian version by Di Fabio (2016) was used to evaluate connectedness to nature. The scale has 14 items with response options on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 = Strongly agree to 5 = Strongly disagree. Examples of items are: "I often feel a sense of oneness with the natural world around me", "I think of the natural world as a community to which I belong", "I have a deep understanding of how my actions affect the natural world". The Cronbach's alpha coefficient was 0.91.

Procedure and Data Analysis

The administration of the instruments was carried out in groups in the classrooms by trained psychologists to counterbalance the administration sequence of the instruments to control for the possible effects of presentation. The administration adhered to the requirements of privacy and informed consent in Italian law (Law Decree DL-196/2003) and the ethical standards for research of the Declaration of Helsinki revised in Fortaleza (World Medical Association [WMA], 2013).

Descriptive statistics, Pearson's *r* correlations, and hierarchical regressions were carried out. Gender differences were examined for the studied variables in separate regressions for gender but no differences emerged. For this reason, only regressions for the entire sample are reported in the results session.

RESULTS

Means, standard deviations, and correlations between the APM, BFQ, IRI, CNS are reported in **Table 1**. Significant correlations

emerged of connectedness to nature with personality traits (particularly with Agreeableness) and with empathy (particularly with Fantasy and Empathic concern).

The results of hierarchical regression analysis with connectedness to nature as the criterion measure and with fluid intelligence at the first step, personality traits at the second step, and empathy dimensions at the third step are reported in **Table 2**.

At the first step, fluid intelligence did not account for any variance in connectedness to nature ($R^2 = 0.01$, n.s.). At the second step, personality traits accounted for 23% of the variance, and, at the third step, empathy dimensions accounted for 18% of the incremental variance. The regression model, in turn, accounted for 42% of the variance. The results show as empathy dimensions explain a significant percentage of the variance in connectedness to nature beyond that explained by personality traits. Fluid intelligence did not explain variance in connectedness to nature.

DISCUSSION

The study examined the relationship between empathy and connectedness to nature, controlling for the effects of fluid intelligence and personality traits on connectedness to nature. The two hypotheses of the study were confirmed as a relationship emerged between empathy and connectedness to nature (H1), also when taking into consideration the effects of fluid intelligence and personality traits (H2). It is important to state that fluid intelligence did not explain any of the variance in connectedness to nature. Even if relations between intelligence and environmental issues were substained in some studies (Jones and Podemska, 2010; Salahodjaev, 2016), fluid intelligence didn't emerged related to connectedness to nature in this study. Regarding personality, in the present study connectedness to nature was associated to personality traits, particularly to Agreeableness. In line with the literature (Hirsh and Dolderman, 2007; Nisbet et al., 2008; Hirsh, 2010), individuals who are cooperative, friendly, and generous perceived themselves as more connect to nature

| | М | SD | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 |
|-----------------------------|-------|-------|------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|------|------|----|
| 1. Fluid intelligence | 35.47 | 5.82 | _ | | | | | | | | | | |
| 2. Extraversion | 75.98 | 10.54 | 0.10 | _ | | | | | | | | | |
| 3. Agreeableness | 76.74 | 8.69 | 0.05 | 0.07 | _ | | | | | | | | |
| 4. Conscientiousness | 79.10 | 9.52 | 0.02 | 0.26** | 0.11 | _ | | | | | | | |
| 5. Emotional Stability | 61.92 | 13.97 | 0.03 | 0.02 | 0.27** | 0.04 | _ | | | | | | |
| 6. Openness | 79.13 | 9.32 | 0.12 | 0.36** | 0.35** | 0.27** | 0.10 | _ | | | | | |
| 7. Fantasy | 19.27 | 3.78 | 0.05 | 0.02 | 0.25** | 0.17* | 0.13 | 0.39** | - | | | | |
| 8. Empathic concern | 23.51 | 3.22 | 0.01 | 0.09 | 0.23** | 0.18* | 0.05 | 0.31** | 0.40** | _ | | | |
| 9. Perspective taking | 13.48 | 2.48 | 0.12 | 0.08 | 0.34** | 0.14 | 0.34** | 0.32** | 0.34** | 0.30** | _ | | |
| 10. Personal distress | 18.45 | 2.34 | 0.01 | 0.04 | 0.01 | 0.13 | 0.12 | 0.02 | 0.11 | 0.16 | 0.10 | _ | |
| 11. Connectedness to nature | 45.74 | 7.94 | 0.08 | 0.03 | 0.32** | 0.19* | 0.07 | 0.28** | 0.33** | 0.43** | 0.13 | 0.03 | _ |

 $N=144.\ ^{*}\!p$ < 0.05, $^{**}\!p$ < 0.01.

and have also a general sense of respect for nature as well for other people. Furthermore the results relative to the second hypotheses showed, however, that empathy explained a significant percentage of the incremental variance with respect to personality traits in relation to connectedness to nature. The study thus highlighted the relationship between empathy and connectedness to nature in line with other findings reported in the literature (Schultz, 2000; Berenguer, 2007; Cheng and Monroe, 2012; Liefländer et al., 2013), underlining as individuals that perceived themselves more close to other people and being able to take the point of view of others, also perceived a greater connectedness to natural world. More specifically, the empathy dimensions most closely associated with connectedness to nature were Fantasy and Empathic concern. The participants with a higher tendency to identify themselves with characters in movies, novels, plays, and other fictional situations (Davis, 1980), and with greater feelings of warmth, compassion, and concern for others (Davis, 1980), seemed to have a higher connectedness to nature (Mayer and Frantz, 2004). The close association between empathy and connectedness to nature suggests that individuals sensitive toward other people could also be sensitive toward nature. This could mean that nature is, on the one hand, accorded human gualities, and, on the other hand, it represents something that needs to be taken into consideration in the construction of professional and personal lives.

Although the study clearly showed the relationship between empathy and connectedness to nature, its limitations need nevertheless to be noted. The participants in the study were a group of Italian high school students in the Tuscany

| TABLE 2 Hierarchical regression. | | | | |
|------------------------------------|----------------------------|--|--|--|
| | Connectedness to nature | | | |
| | β | | | |
| Step 1 | | | | |
| Fluid intelligence | 0.11 | | | |
| Step 2 | | | | |
| Extraversion | 0.09 | | | |
| Agreeableness | 0.28** | | | |
| Conscientiousness | 0.19* | | | |
| Emotional stability | 0.17* | | | |
| Openness | 0.10 | | | |
| Step 3 | | | | |
| Fantasy | 0.32*** | | | |
| Empathic concern | 0.42*** | | | |
| Perspective taking | 0.12 | | | |
| Personal distress | 0.05 | | | |
| R ² Step 1 | 0.01 | | | |
| ΔR^2 Step 2 | 0.23*** | | | |
| ΔR^2 Step 3 | 0.18*** | | | |
| R ² total | 0.42*** | | | |

The contributions of Fluid intelligence (First step), Personality traits (Second step), and Empathy dimensions (Third step) to Connectedness to nature. N = 144. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. region who were not necessarily representative of all Italian high school students. Future research should therefore include participants more representative of Italian high school students of the different geographical areas in Italy. Future studies should also include participants from other international contexts.

Despite the limitations of the present study, the findings add to and extend the literature because no relations emerged between fluid intelligence and connectedness to nature, relations emerged both between personality traits, particularly agreeableeness and connectedness to nature (Hirsh and Dolderman, 2007; Nisbet et al., 2008; Hirsh, 2010), and between empathy and connectedness to nature (Schultz, 2000; Berenguer, 2007; Cheng and Monroe, 2012; Liefländer et al., 2013) but emphaty was able to add a percentage of incremental variance with respect to personality traits in relation to connectedness to nature.

If the results of the present study are confirmed by future research, new intervention approaches could be introduced. It is widely recognized that empathy is a trait that can be increased through specific training (Herbek and Yammarino, 1990; Hatcher et al., 1994) and also in its relationship to connectedness to nature (Liefländer et al., 2013). It may therefore be possible to utilize empathy to promote connectedness to nature and also green positive guidance and green positive life counseling.

Connectedness to nature is an important element in the meaning of work (Blustein, 2006, 2011) and life construction (Guichard and Di Fabio, 2010; Guichard, 2013b) in terms of green positive guidance and green positive life counseling (Di Fabio, 2016). Green positive guidance endeavors to provide support to individuals regarding the construction of their own futures in line with their aims and authentic selves (Di Fabio, 2014c), the expression of their own talents and potential, the enhancement of positive relationships with significant others, and building individual strengths (Boyatzis et al., 2002, 2015; Boyatzis and Saatcioglu, 2008; Di Fabio and Palazzeschi, 2008a,b, 2009, 2012; Di Fabio and Blustein, 2010; Di Fabio and Kenny, 2012a,b; Di Fabio et al., 2012, 2013; Amdurer et al., 2014; Di Fabio, 2014b, 2015a; Di Fabio and Saklofske, 2014a,b; Kenny et al., 2014; Di Fabio, 2015b). At the same time, green positive guidance endeavors to respond to environmental concerns, fairness institutions, social justice, the environment, and the exploitation of resources (Guichard and Di Fabio, 2015; Di Fabio, 2016).

In this green positive guidance and counseling framework (Di Fabio, 2016), a new perspective is opening up in relation to decent work that could be considered green positive decent work (Di Fabio, 2016), that is, decent work not only for the self but also for others, not only for the present moment but also for the future (Guichard, 2013a) – work that is focused on resources, promoting the sustainability of nature and the environment for future generations too. These considerations can extend the ILO's (2015) definition of decent work by adding that it cannot produce effects that are damaging to human life or the environment Guichard (2013a). The achievement of green positive decent work could be the real challenge for the 21st century.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AF conceptualized the study, choose the theoretical framework, chose measures, designed the questionnaire. OB helped in the

REFERENCES

- Albiero, P., Ingoglia, S., and Lo Coco, A. (2006). Contributo all'adattamento italiano dell'Interpersonal Reactivity Index [Contribution to the Italian validation of the Interpersonal Reactivity Index]. *TPM* 13, 107–125.
- Amdurer, E., Boyatzis, R. E., Saatcioglu, A., Smith, M. L., and Taylor, S. N. (2014). Long term impact of emotional, social and cognitive intelligence competencies and GMAT on career and life satisfaction and career success. *Front. Psychol.* 5:1447. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01447
- Anand, S., and Sen, A. (2000). Human development and economic sustainability. *World Dev.* 28, 2029–2049. doi: 10.1016/S0305-750X(00)00071-1
- Barham, L., and Eagleson, M. (2013). Sustainability agendas in education and employment: approaches and dilemmas. *Paper in Symposium: Green Guidance: A Time for Action. Symposium Conducted at the IAEVG International Conference*, Montpellier.
- Bauer, T. N., and Aiman-Smith, L. (1996). Green career choices: the influence of ecological stance on recruiting. J. Bus. Psychol. 10, 445–458. doi: 10.1007/BF02251780
- Berenguer, J. (2007). The effect of empathy in proenvironmental attitudes and behaviors. *Environ. Behav.* 39, 269–283. doi: 10.1177/0013916506 292937
- Blustein, D. L. (2006). The Psychology of Working: A New Perspective for Career Development, Counseling and Public Policy. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Blustein, D. L. (2011). A relational theory of working. J. Vocat. Behav. 79, 1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2010.10.004
- Boyatzis, R. E., Batista-Foguet, J. M., Fernández-i-Marín, X., and Truninger, M. (2015). EI competencies as a related but different characteristic than intelligence. *Front. Psychol.* 6:72. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015. 00072
- Boyatzis, R. E., and Saatcioglu, A. (2008). A twenty-year view of trying to develop emotional, social and cognitive intelligence competencies in graduate management education. J. Manag. Dev. 27, 92–108. doi: 10.1108/02621710810840785
- Boyatzis, R. E., Stubbs, E. C., and Taylor, S. N. (2002). Learning cognitive and emotional intelligence competencies through graduate management education. *J. Learn. Educ.* 1, 150–162.
- Caprara, G. V., Barbaranelli, C., and Borgogni, L. (1993). *BFQ: Big Five Questionnaire*, 2nd Edn. Firenze: Giunti O.S.
- Career Development Association of Australia [CDAA] (2010). Greening Career Development. Available at: http://www.cdaa.org.au
- Center on Education and Work [CEW] (2015). Green Guidance. Available at: http://www.cew.wisc.edu/rep/default.aspx
- Cheng, J. C. H., and Monroe, M. C. (2012). Connection to nature children's affective attitude toward nature. *Environ. Behav.* 44, 31–49. doi: 10.1177/0013916510385082
- Commission of the European Communities (2009). Mainstreaming Sustainable Development into EU Policies: 2009 Review of the European Union Strategy for Sustainable Development. Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/ EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52009DC0400 (accessed December 1, 2015).
- Davis, M. H. (1980). A multidimensional approach to individual differences in empathy. *Catalog Sel. Doc. Psychol.* 10, 85.
- Di Fabio, A. (2014a). "In the light of the changing work scene: new challenges for research and intervention," in *Invited Keynote at a Symposium Sponsored by the Linch School of Education of Boston College. Career Development and the Psychology of Working*, ed. D. L. Blustein (Boston: Boston College).
- Di Fabio, A. (2014b). Intrapreneurial Self-Capital: a new construct for the 21st century. *J. Employ. Couns.* 51, 98–111. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2014. 00045.x
- Di Fabio, A. (2014c). "The new purposeful identitarian awareness for the twentyfirst century: valorize themselves in the life construction from youth to

collection of the data. AF and OB analyzed the data and wrote the methods and results. Then all authors wrote the paper together and read and revised the manuscript several times.

adulthood and late adulthood," in *The Construction of the Identity in 21st Century: A Festschrift for Jean Guichard*, eds A. Di Fabio and J.-L. Bernaud (New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers), 157–168.

- Di Fabio, A. (2015a). Beyond fluid intelligence and personality traits in social support: the role of ability based emotional intelligence. *Front. Psychol.* 6:395. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00395
- Di Fabio, A. (2015b). La nuova prospettiva preventiva relazionale nell'orientamento e nel career counseling nel XXI secolo [The new relational preventive perspective for guidance and career counseling in 21st century]. Counseling. G. Ital. Ric. Appl. 8. Available at: http://rivistedigitali.erickson.it/ counseling/archivio/vol-8-n-1/ (accessed December 1, 2015).
- Di Fabio, A. (2016). Green positive guidance and life counseling: new perspectives and first contribution to the Italian validation of the Connectedness to Nature Scale. Counseling. *G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* 9. Available at: http://rivistedigitali.ericks on.it/counseling/archivio/vol-9-n-1/ (accessed February 16, 2016).
- Di Fabio, A., and Blustein, D. L. (2010). Emotional intelligence and decisional conflict styles: some empirical evidence among Italian high school students. *J. Career Assess.* 18, 71–81. doi: 10.1177/1069072709350904
- Di Fabio, A., and Clarotti, S. (2007). *Matrici Progressive di Raven. Adattamento Italiano [Advanced Progressive Matrices: Italian Adaptation]*. Firenze: Giunti O.S.
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2012a). The contribution of emotional intelligence to decisional styles among Italian high school students. J. Career Assess. 20, 404–414. doi: 10.1177/1069072712448893
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2012b). Emotional intelligence and perceived social support among Italian high school students. J. Career Dev. 39, 461–475. doi: 10.1177/0894845311421005
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2015). The contributions of emotional intelligence and social support for adaptive career progress among Italian youth. J. Career Dev. 42, 48–49. doi: 10.1177/0894845314533420
- Di Fabio, A., Kenny, M. E., and Claudius, M. (in press). "Fostering adaptive career management and psychological well-being in uncertain times," in *Cambridge Handbook of International Prevention Science*, eds M. Israelashvili and J. L. Romano (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2008a). Emotional intelligence and self-efficacy in a sample of Italian high school teachers. *Soc. Behav. Pers.* 36, 315–326. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2008.36.3.315
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2008b). Indécision vocationnelle et intelligence émotionnelle: quelques données empiriques sur un échantillon d'apprentis italiens. *Prat. Psychol.* 14, 213–222. doi: 10.1016/j.prps.2007.11.006
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2009). Emotional intelligence, personality traits and career decision difficulties. *Int. J. Educ. Vocat. Guid.* 9, 135–146. doi: 10.1007/s10775-009-9162-3
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2012). Incremental variance of the core self-evaluation construct compared to fluid intelligence and personality traits in aspects of decision-making. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 53, 196–201. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2012.03.012
- Di Fabio, A., Palazzeschi, L., Asulin-Peretz, L., and Gati, I. (2013). Career indecision versus indecisiveness: associations with personality traits and emotional intelligence. *J. Career Assess.* 21, 42–56. doi: 10.1177/1069072712 454698
- Di Fabio, A., Palazzeschi, L., and Bar-On, R. (2012). The role of personality traits, core self-evaluation and emotional intelligence in career decision-making difficulties. *J. Employ. Couns.* 49, 118–129. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2012.00012.x
- Di Fabio, A., and Saklofske, D. H. (2014a). Comparing ability and self-report trait emotional intelligence, fluid intelligence, and personality traits in career decision. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 64, 174–178. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014.02.024
- Di Fabio, A., and Saklofske, D. H. (2014b). Promoting individual resources: the challenge of trait emotional intelligence. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 65, 19–23. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014.01.026

- Fergnsen, T. (1993). Business world: the color of money is ever so chic. *Wall Street J.* 15.
- Gifford, R., Steg, L., and Reser, J. P. (2011). "Environmental psychology," in *IAAP Handbook of Applied Psychology*, eds P. Martin, F. M. Cheung, M. C. Knowles, M. Kyrios, L. Littlefield, J. B. Overmier et al. (Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell), 440–470.
- Guichard, J. (2013a). "Career guidance, education, and dialogues for a fair and sustainable human development," in *Proceedings of the Inaugural Conference of the UNESCO Chair of Lifelong Guidance and Counselling* (Poland: University of Wroclaw).
- Guichard, J. (2013b). "Forms of reflexivity and transformations of systems of subjective identity forms during life designing dialogues," in *Lecture Presented at the SIO International Conference "Life Designing and Career Counseling: Building Hope and Resilience,*" Padua.
- Guichard, J., and Di Fabio, A. (2010). Life-designing counseling: specificità e integrazioni della teoria della costruzione di carriera e della teoria della costruzione di sé [Life-designing counseling: specificities and integrations of career construction theory and self construction theory]. *Couns. G. Ital. Ric. Appl.* 3, 277–289.
- Guichard, J., and Di Fabio, A. (2015). "How can career and life designing interventions contribute to a fair and sustainable development and to the implementation of decent work over the world?," in *Invited Keynote at the UNESCO Chair World Conference in Florence 4–6 June 2015* (Florence: University of Florence).
- Hatcher, S. L., Nadeau, M. S., Walsh, L. K., and Reynolds, M. (1994). The teaching of empathy for high school and college students: testing Rogerian methods with the interpersonal reactivity index. *Adolescence* 29, 961–974.
- Herbek, T. A., and Yammarino, F. J. (1990). Empathy training for hospital staff nurses. Group Organ. Manag. 15, 279–295. doi: 10.1177/1059601190015 00304
- Hirsh, J. B. (2010). Personality and environmental concern. J. Environ. Psychol. 30, 245–248. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvp.2010.01.004
- Hirsh, J. B., and Dolderman, D. (2007). Personality predictors of consumerism and environmentalism: a preliminary study. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 43, 1583–1593. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2007.04.015
- International Institute for Sustainable Development [IISD] (2015). IISD's Post-2015 Development Agenda Reporting. Available at: http://www.iisd.ca/post2015/ (accessed December 1, 2015).
- ILO (2015). Decent Work. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/global/topics/decent-w ork/lang--en/index.htm
- Irving, B. A. (2013). 'It's not easy being green' re/positioning ethical values in career practice. Paper in Symposium: 'Green Guidance': A Time for Action. Presented at the IAEVG Conference, Career Counselling: A Human or a Citizen's Right, Montpellier.
- Jones, G., and Podemska, M. (2010). *IQ in the Utility Function: Cognitive Skills, Time Preference and Cross-Country Differences in Saving Rates [Working Paper].* Fairfax, VA: George Mason University.

- Kenny, M. E., Di Fabio, A., and Minor, K. (2014). "School-based research and practice in Italy," in *Handbook of Positive Psychology in the Schools*, 2nd Edn, eds M. J. Furlong, R. Gilman, and E. S. Huebner (New York, NY: Routledge, Taylor and Francis), 450–464.
- Liefländer, A. K., Fröhlich, G., Bogner, F. X., and Schultz, P. W. (2013). Promoting connectedness with nature through environmental education. *Environ. Educ. Res.* 19, 370–384. doi: 10.1080/13504622.2012.697545
- Mayer, F. S., and Frantz, C. M. (2004). The connectedness to nature scale: a measure of individuals' feeling in community with nature. J. Environ. Psychol. 24, 503–515. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvp.2004.10.001
- Nisbet, E. K., Zelenski, J. M., and Murphy, S. A. (2008). The nature relatedness scale: linking individuals' connection with nature to environmental concern and behavior. *Environ. Behav.* 41, 715–740. doi: 10.1177/0013916508318748
- Plant, P. (2013). "Green guidance," in *Handbook of Career Development*, eds G. Arulmani, A. J. Bakshi, F. T. L. Leong, and A. G. Watts (New York, NY: Springer), 309–316.
- Raven, J. C. (1962). Advanced Progressive Matrices. Firenze: Organizzazioni Speciali.
- Salahodjaev, R. (2016). Intelligence and deforestation: international data. Forest Policy Econ. 63, 20–27. doi: 10.1016/j.forpol.2015.12.003
- Schultz, P. W. (2000). Empathizing with nature: the effects of perspective taking on concern for environmental issues. J. Soc. Issues 56, 391–406. doi: 10.1111/0022-4537.00174
- Schultz, P. W. (2002). "Inclusion with nature: the psychology of human-nature relations," in *Psychology of Sustainable Development*, eds P. Schmuck and W. P. Schultz (New York, NY: Springer), 61–78.
- Shamosh, N. A., and Gray, J. R. (2008). Delay discounting and intelligence: a meta-analysis. *Intelligence* 36, 289–305. doi: 10.1016/j.intell.2007.09.004
- Wiseman, J., and Brasher, K. (2008). Community wellbeing in an unwell world: trends, challenges, and possibilities. J. Public Health Policy 29, 353–366. doi: 10.1057/jphp.2008.16
- World Commission on Environment and Development [WCED] (1987). Our Common Future [The Brundtland Report]. New York: Oxford University Press.
- World Medical Association [WMA] (2013). WMA Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. Available at: http: //www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Di Fabio and Bucci. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Marginalization and Precariat: The Challenge of Intensifying Life Construction Intervention

Annamaria Di Fabio* and Letizia Palazzeschi

Department of Education and Psychology (Psychology Section), University of Florence, Florence, Italy

This article discusses the case study of a graduate student who, at the time of the study, was doing an internship, considered in the literature as a new form of precariat (temporary or insecure employment). The student participated in a life construction intervention during which he completed two new qualitative instruments: the Life Adaptability Qualitative Assessment (LAQuA) and the Career Counseling Innovative Outcomes (CCIO) before and after the life construction intervention. The results are discussed in the article. The life construction intervention helped the participant understand himself better, develop his life and career paths, and construct his identity. The study confirmed the value of enhancing life construction interventions using a preventive approach, particularly for precarious people (people in temporary or unstable jobs), with early interventions starting with young internees in organizations.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Pablo Fernández-Berrocal, University of Malaga, Spain

Reviewed by:

Chiara Ghislieri, University of Turin, Italy Riccardo Sartori, University of Verona, Italy

> *Correspondence: Annamaria Di Fabio adifabio@psico.unifi.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 16 February 2016 Accepted: 11 March 2016 Published: 30 March 2016

Citation:

Di Fabio A and Palazzeschi L (2016) Marginalization and Precariat: The Challenge of Intensifying Life Construction Intervention. Front. Psychol. 7:444. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00444 Keywords: marginalization, precariat, life construction intervention, decent work, case study, Life Adaptability Qualitative Assessment (LAQuA), Career Counseling Innovative Outcomes (CCIO)

INTRODUCTION

The concept of marginality first appeared in the field of sociology in the early 20th century, more particularly in Park's (1928) essay, "Human migration and the marginal man." The "marginal man" is someone "on the margin of two cultures and two societies which never completely [interpenetrate and fuse]" (Park, 1928, p. 892). He is someone with "spiritual instability, intensified self-consciousness, restlessness, and malaise" (Park, 1928, p. 893). The concept of marginality is important in sociological thinking and has a multiplicity of meanings (Billson, 1996). Since 1928, there have been three forms of marginality: cultural marginality, which is determined by differences in terms of race, ethnicity, religion, and other cultural indicators; social marginality, which occurs when an individual is not considered part of a positive reference group owing to age, timing, situational constraints, or occupational role; and structural marginality, which results from the political, social, and economic powerlessness of specific disadvantaged groups in societies (Billson, 1996).

In the psychology field, a shift has occurred from sociological marginalization to social psychology marginalization (Young, 2000; Mullaly, 2007). Young (2000) maintains the most dangerous form of oppression occurs when the labor market does not enable everyone to have a job. On an individual level, this kind of exclusion prevents people from participating meaningfully in society (Young, 2000). Mullaly (2007) contends that minority groups (e.g., those with disabilities, women, racial minorities, elderly individuals) can experience marginalization due to dominant discourses in society. In community psychology, marginalized people have little control over

their lives and available resources, limited opportunities to make social contributions, low self-confidence, and low selfesteem (Burton and Kagan, 2003). Marginalized people are also often stigmatized, leading to a vicious circle marked by a lack of supportive relationships and the ability to participate in community life, resulting in further isolation (Burton and Kagan, 2003).

A marginalized workforce was recently analyzed by the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology (SIOP; Maynard and Ferdman, 2015). In the analysis, the workforce defined what it meant to be marginalized, stressing the exclusion from access to power and resources and being on the periphery of society (Maynard and Ferdman, 2015). Marginalized workers are, generally speaking, categorized as including the working poor, immigrant/migrant workers, young workers (school leavers, victims of child labor), chronically unemployed individuals, groups that have minority or lower social status (e.g., ethnic minorities, older workers, workers with disabilities), and victims of human trafficking (Maynard and Ferdman, 2015). Marginalized workers are also defined by the work they do as revealed by recent research on "dirty work" (Bergman and Chalkley, 2007) including temporary/contract, seasonal, and intermittent work (Connelly and Gallagher, 2004; Ashford et al., 2007). Marginalized workers face many difficulties: cultural differences, low motivation and self-efficacy, difficulty in accessing organizational resources, difficulty in identifying and taking advantage of developmental opportunities, and work-family conflicts (Maynard and Ferdman, 2015). Industrial and organizational psychological research has not adequately covered the diversity of the working population, particularly marginalized workers, therefore making it necessary to carry out more research on this category of workers (Maynard and Ferdman, 2015). Industrial and organizational psychologists can help marginalized workers meet the challenges they face by "(a) assisting with social and organizational assimilation and conflict prevention/resolution; (b) promoting coaching, mentorship, career development, and job initiatives; (c) finding ways to increase acceptance of these groups within the organization; (d) identifying factors that reduce the real or perceived risk in hiring workers from traditionally marginalized groups" (Maynard and Ferdman, 2015). These steps can help merge business needs and interests with the needs and talents of marginalized workers (Maynard and Ferdman, 2015).

The precariat can be defined as a form of worker marginalization in the 21st century. The ILO (2015) comments on the changing nature of the world of work and reports that global unemployment figures reached 201 million in 2014, over 30 million higher than before the start of the global crisis in 2008. The challenge is to provide jobs to the more than 40 million additional people who enter the global labor market every year. Employment relationships are also becoming less stable in terms of the ILO's standard employment model (ILO, 2015). Policies need to be adapted to the changing nature of work just as labor norms need to be adapted to the new and different kinds of employment (ILO, 2015).

In the post-modern era, characterized by globalization and more flexible labor relations, the number of people with insecure jobs is increasing (Guichard, 2013). Standing (2014) states that many working people today are experiencing "a precarious existence [precariat]. Friends, relatives, and colleagues would also be in a temporary status of some kind, without assurance that this was what they would be doing in a few years' time, or even months or weeks hence. Often they were not even wishing or trying to make it so" (Standing, 2014, pp. 6-7). The term precariat was first introduced by French sociologists in the 1980s in reference to temporary or seasonal workers. In Italy, the term "precariato" means not only people with temporary work but also people with a "precarious" existence, whereas in Germany the term denotes people without job who have difficulty in integrating socially and not only temporary workers (Grimm and Ronneberger, 2007). In Japan, precariat is synonymous with "the working poor," but it refers also to young activists who fight to obtain better working and living conditions (Obinger, 2009). Standing (2014) identifies five kinds of precariat: (1) precariat as those with limited citizenship rights; (2) precariat as those having temporary jobs; (3) precariat as those in part-time employment; (4) precariat as those who work in call centers; (5) precariat as those working as interns. This last form of precariat can serve as a channel for conducting young people into other precariats. Alongside the precariat is the concept of peripheral workers (Guichard, 2009), that is, marginalized workers. These forms of precarious and insecure work do not allow people to build proper identities and careers (Guichard, 2009).

The foregoing indicates the need for life construction intervention among the different types of precariat workers in order to promote sustainable decent work. A preventive approach (Hage et al., 2007; Kenny and Hage, 2009; Di Fabio and Kenny, 2015; Di Fabio et al., in press) stresses the importance of building the strengths of individuals (Di Fabio and Palazzeschi, 2008a,b, 2009, 2012; Di Fabio and Blustein, 2010; Di Fabio and Kenny, 2012a,b; Di Fabio et al., 2012, 2013, 2014; Di Fabio and Saklofske, 2014a,b; Di Fabio, 2014b, 2015a). Life construction intervention should be administered to precarious people in particular, with early interventions starting with the earliest form of precariat (i.e., precariat as the internship of young people in organizations) and moving to all other forms of precariat.

This article discusses the case study of a graduate student who, at the time of the study, was doing an internship (considered in the literature as a new form of precariat) and who participated in a life construction intervention.

Aim of the Case Study

The case study describes the process and usefulness of a life construction intervention in helping the research participant (client) to better understand himself, to develop his life and career paths, and to construct his own identity. The case study is characterized by working with a unique participant in a one-to-one research setting and it is based on a qualitative, interpretive paradigm (Patton and McMahon, 1999). The case study enhances participant's involvement in his process of life construction, facilitating the process of construction, deconstruction, reconstruction, and co-construction of his life story (Savickas, 2011; Maree, 2014). The case study also helps in describing the changes related to the intervention. The client

of this case study is a graduate student who was doing an internship, considered in the literature as a new form of precariat (Guichard, 2009; Standing, 2014) because it is temporary or insecure employment. This case study is a way to deepen process involved in life construction intervention in a precariat situation.

The study attempted to answer the following two research questions.

- How was the life construction intervention administered to a young Italian man with a degree in forest and environmental sciences and who was doing an internship (considered a new form of precariat)?
- How did the life construction intervention help the young man to enhance his self-awareness, to develop his life and career paths, and to construct his own identity?

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participant and Context

The participant in the study, Christian (a pseudonym), was a young man who had graduated in forest and environmental sciences at the University of Florence in Italy and was doing an internship at the Municipality of Florence for 6 months to monitor the state of the trees in the city. He asked to participate in a life construction intervention at the career counseling center of the university. Christian was 23 years old at the time of the study and requested the intervention because he was not sure about what career he should follow or whether he should do a second-level Master's degree or other postgraduate course.

Qualitative Measures

Life Adaptability Qualitative Assessment (LAQuA)

The Life Adaptability Qualitative Assessment (LAQuA; Di Fabio, 2015b) is a new qualitative instrument developed to qualitatively assess the effectiveness of life construction interventions. In particular, this instrument evaluates adaptability, assessing change or lack of change in individuals' lives in narratives before and after the intervention. The LAQuA consists of 12 written questions with three questions for each dimension (Concern, Control, Curiosity, Confidence) of the Career Adapt-Abilities Inventory – International Version 2.0 (Savickas and Porfeli, 2012). The 12 written questions are the following:

Concern: (1a) What does it mean to you to be oriented toward your future? (1b) Do you think you are oriented toward your future? (1c) Why?

Control: (2a) What does it mean to you to take responsibility for your future? (2b) Do you think you do take responsibility for your future? (2c) Why?

Curiosity: (3a) What does it mean to you to be curious about your own future? (3b) Do you think you are curious about your future? (3c) Why?

Confidence: (4a) What does it mean to you to have confidence in your own ability to build your future? (4b) Do you think you have confidence in your ability to build your future? (4c) Why? The comparison of the answers to the 12 questions before and after the life construction intervention is done using 24 qualitative indicators in respect of each of the four dimensions (Concern, Control, Curiosity, and Confidence) of the Career Adapt-Abilities Inventory – International Version 2.0 (Savickas and Porfeli, 2012), which is structured in the LAQuA coding system. The LAQuA coding system detects change or lack of change for each dimension of Adaptability at different levels of reflexivity (Increased Reflexivity, Revised Reflexivity, Open Reflexivity, Enhanced Reflexivity, and No change).

Career Counseling Innovative Outcomes (CCIO)

The Career Counseling Innovative Outcomes (CCIO; Di Fabio, 2016) is a new qualitative instrument that assesses life construction intervention outcomes and evaluates the effectiveness of interventions. The CCIO was inspired by the innovative moments coding system used in psychotherapy (Gonçalves et al., 2011) and its application in career construction counseling (Cardoso et al., 2014). Whereas the innovative moments coding system is used to monitor the process of change during psychotherapeutic intervention (Gonçalves et al., 2011) and career construction counseling intervention (Cardoso et al., 2014), the CCIO was developed specifically to analyze narratives before and after life construction interventions. The CCIO consists of seven questions developed on the basis of the narrative paradigm (Savickas, 2011) that are asked before and after the intervention: (1) In which ways can this intervention be useful/was this intervention useful to you? (2) What are your most useful resources? (3) What are the main obstacles you encounter? (4) Who do you think can be useful to you? (5) What do you think can be useful to you? (6) What are the main challenges you face? (7) What are the main objectives you are hoping to achieve?

The narratives elicited by these seven questions are coded using the five categories system developed by Gonçalves et al. (2011). The five categories are: Action, Reflection (type I and type II), Protest (type I and type II), Reconceptualization, Performing change.

Procedure

The LAQuA and the CCIO were administered before and after the life construction intervention, actually, a life meaning intervention (Bernaud, 2015). The LAQuA and CCIO were administered by a psychologist trained in the administration of these two qualitative instruments. The participant's initial and subsequent responses to the written questions of these two narrative instruments were compared by three independent, trained expert reviewers (raters). An interrater reliability analysis using the Kappa statistic was carried out to establish the level of consistency among the raters.

The study was conducted according to Italian laws on privacy and informed consent (Law Decree DL-196/2003), which are in line with the latest version of the Declaration of Helsinki revised in Fortaleza (World Medical Association [WMA], 2013).

The participant (Christian) took part in a life meaning intervention (Bernaud, 2015) divided into three 1-day sessions (8 h a session) in a group context using the modality of the power

of an audience. The aim of life meaning interventions is to permit participants to ask themselves questions about the meaning of their lives both at work and outside work thereby offering them new awareness on how to construct their lives.

Criteria for Quality Assurance

The application of the following quality assurance criteria is fundamental to guarantee the trustworthiness of the results using of different modalities for the data collection and analysis: credibility, confirmability, transferability, and dependability in the data collection and analysis process can help guarantee the trustworthiness of research results (Maree, 2012). Credibility of data refers to "factors such as the significance of results and their credibility for participants and readers" (Maree, 2012, p. 141). Credibility in the present study was guaranteed by external verification of the results by other researchers. Confirmability refers to "the objectivity of the data and the absence of research errors. Results can be regarded as confirmable when they are derived from the participants and the research conditions rather than from the (subjective) opinion of the researcher" (Maree, 2012, p. 142). Confirmability was assured by external researchers who assessed whether the methods and procedures of the study had been described sufficiently clearly to enable verification. Transferability refers to "the extent to which the results can be 'exported' and generalized to other contexts" (Maree, 2012, p. 142). Transferability in the present study was obtained through the accurate description of the participant's situation and the methodologies used to obtain the narratives. Detailed information was given also on the context of the study to enable other researchers to evaluate the applicability of the results to other contexts. Dependability refers to "the stability and consistency of the research process and methods over time and influences the degree of control in a study" (Maree, 2012, p. 141). Dependability was assured by the independent analysis of the participant's narratives by three expert raters.

RESULTS

Below are given the participant's responses to the written questions of the LAQuA before and after the life construction intervention as well as the results of the analysis obtained through the LAQuA qualitative indicators and the different levels of reflexivity (Increased Reflexivity, Revised Reflexivity, Open Reflexivity, Enhanced Reflexivity, and No change).

The participant's response to the first LAQuA question before the life construction intervention was: "To me to be oriented toward my future means considering that the choices that I make today can shape my future"¹ (qualitative descriptor: Predicting); and after the life construction intervention it was: "To me to be oriented toward my future means to pay attention to the choice I'm taking in this period of my life. After the intervention, I confirmed that my field of interest is forest sciences. Also my internship experience is allowing me to be more aware of this interest. I understand also that I need to extend my knowledge and competence in forest sciences, so I want to find a specialized university course in this field. I want to begin to gather information on a second-level Master's degree and post-university specialized courses and then evaluate the different possibilities" (identical qualitative descriptor but more in-depth reflexivity: Predicting; Increased reflexivity: in the narratives produced after the life construction intervention, there were identical descriptors, but they were presented with more in-depth reflexivity).

The participant's response to the second LAQuA question before the life construction intervention was: "To me, to take responsibility for my future means taking decisions by myself, without being influenced by others, particularly by my parents" (qualitative descriptor: Autonomous); after the life construction intervention it was: "To take responsibility for my future means deciding by myself on what I want to do in my future. My parents don't understand that it is important for me to continue studying, but I think that my preparation is not sufficient to enter the world of work. I understand this also thanks to my internship experience" (identical qualitative descriptor but more in-depth reflexivity: Autonomous). "If my parents don't financially support my choice to continue studying, I will find some work to pay for my training" (new, different qualitative descriptor: Responsible). "I will do what I think it is right for me" [new, different qualitative descriptor: Honest; Enhanced reflexivity (E): in the narratives produced after the life construction intervention, there is an identical descriptor/s but presented with more in-depth reflexivity plus a new, different descriptor/s].

The participant's responses to the third LAQuA question before the life construction intervention was: "To me, to be curious about my future means gathering information about postgraduate training possibilities in relation to forest sciences and evaluating positive and negative aspects of each different option before choosing" (qualitative descriptor: Inquisitive); after the life construction intervention it was: "To be curious about my future means informing myself about postgraduate courses in forest sciences by analyzing different options before making a choice (identical qualitative descriptor: Inquisitive) and observing different ways of doing things during my internship as a way to *learn from direct experience* [new, different qualitative descriptor: Recognizing/Discovering; Open reflexivity (O): in the narratives produced after the life construction intervention, there is an identical descriptor/s - with the same level of reflexivity in presenting the descriptor - plus a new, different descriptor/s].

The participant's response to the fourth LAQuA question before the life construction intervention was: "To me, to have confidence in my own abilities to build my future means believing I can overcome the difficulties and the obstacles that I could encounter during my path" (qualitative descriptor: Resilient); after the life construction intervention it was: "To have confidence in my own abilities to build my future means to be engaged in learning new knowledge and skills. I think it is fundamental to become increasingly more specialized in the field of forest science" [new, different qualitative descriptor: Innovative; Revised reflexivity R: in the narratives produced after the life construction intervention, the previous descriptor/s has disappeared, and a new, different descriptor/s has appeared].

 $^{^1\}mathrm{The}$ verbatim responses of the participant have been lightly edited to preserve their authenticity.

Below are shown the participant's responses to the seven questions of the CCIO before and after the life construction intervention as well as the results of the analysis in terms of the five categories (Action, Reflection, Protest, Reconceptualization, and Performing change) of the CCIO coding system (Di Fabio, 2016).

The participant's response to the first CCIO question before the life construction intervention was: "I hope that this intervention will help me better understand what I want to do in this period of my life. I have graduated in forest and environmental sciences, and I'm doing an internship at the Municipality of Florence for six months to monitor the state of the trees in the city. I don't know what I really would like to do now, particularly whether *I* should do a second-level Master's degree or a postgraduate course, or whether it would be better to begin working immediately"; after the life construction intervention it was: "This intervention was useful to me because it allowed me to clarify what I really want to do. I understood not only that the activities that I'm doing during my internship are interesting to me, but above all I understood that preserving the trees and the nature in general has a profound sense for my life because it also constitutes an important value for me" (Reflection Type II IM). "Before the intervention, I was not sure that working to protect trees and forests was the right choice for me, because I always thought that this choice was the choice that my parents made for me and so not completely my choice, now I realize that the care of trees and nature is what I really want to do because it is fully in line with my ideals" (Reconceptualization IM).

The participant's response to the second CCIO question before the life construction intervention was: "Actually, I don't know precisely what my resources are"; after the life construction intervention it was: "When I began this intervention one of my principal concerns was that I did not have sufficient knowledge and skills to start a profession as an agricultural consultant. Furthermore, I wasn't sure if working in the field of agricultural or forest sciences would really give me a satisfactory life. During the intervention, I started to think about using my internship in a different way, and I asked my supervisor about the knowledge and skills that I had, and if he could indicate the best way to improve them. Now I was reassured and more confident in myself also recognizing the need to find a specialized postgraduate path and to gather information about different possibilities" (Action IM). "Furthermore, in particular, the intervention made me aware of my principal resource in terms of my personal awareness that I have a mission to protect plants and nature. This mission gives a sense to my life and it is also important for my work" (Reflection Type II IM). "So I'm starting with the new project of continuing my studies in the field of forest sciences. It is a project that I had thought of abandoning because my parents wanted me to find a job immediately" (Performing change IM).

The participant's response to the third CCIO question before the life construction intervention was: "I have two principal obstacles. The first obstacle relates to the fact that I'm unable to decide if I would like to start working immediately, or if I would like to continue studying. The second obstacle relates to the fact that my parents are pressing me to start to work immediately, and they probably won't support me financially if I continue to study"; after the life construction intervention it was: "I understood that I have to worry less about the opinions of other people. I always listened a lot to the opinions of my parents, but now it is time to build my life on my own" (Protest Type I IM). "Now that I really understand that the choice to study forest sciences was not casual and that it is linked to important values that I sincerely believe in, I don't intend to give up because life satisfaction is crucial to me" (Protest Type II IM). "Now I'm starting to gather information about various second-level Master's degrees or postgraduate courses so that I can evaluate different possibilities and make a choice" (Action IM).

The participant's response to the fourth CCIO question before the life construction intervention was: "I think you [the life construction counselor] could be useful to me by helping me understand what I really would like to do; if I would like to continue studying by doing a Master's degree or a postgraduate course, or if it would be better to begin to work immediately"; after the life construction intervention it was: "If before the intervention I thought that you as a professional could be useful to me to give me advice on my future, now I understand that you were useful to me because you helped me become aware of what I really would like to achieve in my life" (Reconceptualization IM). "My internship supervisor was also useful to me because he helped me realize that in the future I would prefer to work as an agricultural technician in a public institution rather than as an agricultural freelance consultant. In my life, I would like to make a contribution to my community and to environmental protection" (Performing change IM).

The participant's response to the fifth CCIO question before the life construction intervention was: "I think that it can be really useful to me to understand if I would like to continue to study by doing a Master's degree or a postgraduate course, or if it would be better to begin working immediately"; after the life construction intervention it was: "I think that it can be really useful to me to gather information on Master's degrees or postgraduate courses related to forest sciences, and also to speak to professionals working in this field to better understand the lives they lead, and then to determine how to construct my life" (Action IM). "After collecting this information, I can better evaluate which path will help me to realize myself most fully. I'm also thinking of the possibility of paid internship, similar to what I'm doing at the Municipality of Florence. I could then study and work at the same time without having to ask my parents for help. Even if the internship can be considered a precarious working condition, this kind of experience will help me understand if I would really like to continue studying to enter the profession I desire" (Performing change IM).

The participant's response to the sixth CCIO question before the life construction intervention was: "The main challenge that I feel I'm facing at the moment is to understand what I really what to do, what kind of job really satisfies me, and if it is possible to obtain this kind of job in the current economic crisis. Understanding all these things is necessary for me to construct my future life"; after the life construction intervention it was: "Before the intervention I was confused about what I really wanted to do in my life; after the intervention I'm sure that I would like to work in the field of the forest sciences and that I would like to continue studying in this field" (Reconceptualization IM). "Making this choice of continuing to study won't necessarily disappoint my parents who may perhaps *understand the importance of this choice for my life*" (Reflection Type II IM).

The participant's response to the seventh CCIO question before the life construction intervention was: "The main objective that I hope to achieve is to clarify what I want to do in my life"; after the life construction intervention it was: "Now my main objective is to finish this period of internship at the Municipality of Florence, to gather information on Master's degrees or postgraduate courses in the forest sciences field, and to look for other possibilities of internship to earn money to pay for my studies" (Action IM). "I think that even if paid internship is a form of precarious work, it gives me an opportunity to earn money for my studies to help me construct a more significant life and also to gain experience in different contexts" (Reflection Type II IM). "My main objective in my life is to realize my mission of protecting plants and nature through my work" (Reflection Type II IM).

DISCUSSION

This case study showed the value of enhancing life construction intervention using a preventive approach (Hage et al., 2007; Kenny and Hage, 2009; Di Fabio and Kenny, 2015; Di Fabio et al., in press) toward precarious (vulnerable) people, beginning with early interventions for young internees in organizations. Internship can be considered a first form of precariat work that can have consequences for the construction of a desirable identity and a desirable career (Guichard, 2009; Standing, 2014). Helping young people during the transitions in their early careers in the 21st century means promoting positive career outcomes and decency in their lives. Life construction counseling (Guichard, 2013) is an intervention specifically developed to help people cope with transitions and design new chapters in their lives (Savickas, 2011). In this case study, the evolution of the participant could be seen through the analysis of the narratives before and after the career construction intervention by means of the LAQuA (Di Fabio, 2015b) and the CCIO (Di Fabio, 2016).

The LAQuA analysis revealed changes in the participant's reflexivity regarding adaptability in the narratives before and after the life construction intervention. The increase in the level of reflexivity applied to all four dimensions of adaptability (Concern, Control, Confidence, and Curiosity). Regarding Concern, the participant realized that today's choices could determine his future; regarding Control, the participant understood that it was important to make decisions by himself and to trust himself; regarding Curiosity, the participant realized the relevance of investigating different options before choosing a particular post-degree study course and of observing different ways of doing things, particularly during his internship; regarding Confidence, the participant realized the importance of learning new skills and of being able to overcome obstacles in constructing his life and career (Di Fabio, 2015b; Sartori et al., 2015).

The analysis using the CCIO of the five dimensions: Action, Reflection, Protest, Reconceptualization, and Performing revealed changes in the participant's narratives before and after the life construction intervention. This was seen in terms of Action where he actively explored solutions (Gonçalves et al., 2011; Di Fabio, 2016) by gathering information on Master's degrees and other postgraduate courses on forest sciences, by speaking with professionals working in this field to better understand their lives, and by looking for other internship possibilities to earn money to pay for his studies. There were also changes in his narratives in terms of reflection regarding the choice to continue studying by doing a second-level Master's degree or other postgraduate course or to begin working immediately and to come to terms with his new emerging identities (Gonçalves et al., 2011). The participant engaged in adaptive self-instruction after his increased awareness that preserving trees and nature had a profound value for him. The main objective of his life was therefore to realize his mission of protecting plants and the environment through his work. The analysis of the narrative also raised the issue of the difference between what a person really wants to do compared to what others would like him to do in his life, the so-called protest innovative moment (Gonçalves et al., 2011; Di Fabio, 2016). Two types of "protest innovative moments" emerged from the analysis. The first was the participant's awareness that it was now the time to build his life himself and to stop following the wishes of his parents. The second was his stated intention to continue studying forest sciences because it was in line with his authentic self and not just a casual choice for him (Di Fabio, 2014c).

The analysis of the narratives also revealed a "reconceptualization innovative moment" concerning the transition between two positions (past and present; Gonçalves et al., 2011; Di Fabio, 2016). The participant went from a position where he did not know if really wanted to continue studying forest sciences to a position of greater awareness of the importance of his mission to protect plants and nature because in this way he could give sense to his life and construct his career path accordingly. Finally, the analysis of the narratives revealed a "performing change innovative moment" in terms of the participant's investment in new projects as a result of the change process (Gonçalves et al., 2011; Di Fabio, 2016). More particularly, he was thinking of looking for other possibilities of paid internship so that he could study and work at the same time without having to ask his parents for help. Even if the internship could be considered a "precarious employment condition," after the life construction intervention, the participant described this kind of precariat as a way to acquire new competences and to understand if he really liked the job he was doing and also if he really wanted to continue studying to enter the profession and live the life he desired. The internship experience also made him realize that, because of his desire to serve his community, he would prefer to work as an agricultural technician in a public institution rather than as an agricultural freelance consultant. Overall, the analysis of the narratives before and after the life construction intervention indicated changes in the narratives, showing that this kind of intervention enabled the participant to understand himself better, to develop his life and career paths, and to develop his purposeful identitarian awareness (Di Fabio, 2014c) and authentic self (Di Fabio, 2014c).

The case study also showed that through life construction intervention, internship (considered a form of precariat, Standing, 2014) could be transformed into a framework where young people could gain new knowledge and competences, could experience new contexts and different roles, could prove their interests, could individuate role models to construct a desirable identity and, consequently, a desirable life and career. It seems that early life construction interventions for young people doing internships could obviate the negative consequences of precariat such as difficulties in constructing a desirable identity and a desirable career (Guichard, 2009; Standing, 2014).

Although this study showed changes in the narratives produced by the participant before and after the life construction intervention, the effectiveness of the intervention needs to be confirmed by further studies and research with larger samples. The trustworthiness and credibility of the study were guaranteed, but a limitation could be the subjective interpretation of the researchers. A follow-up session 6 weeks after the intervention showed that the participant's new intentions were being implemented as he had started to gather information on Master's degrees and other postgraduate courses in the forest sciences field and to look for other internship possibilities to earn money to pay for his studies himself. He had also spoken to his parents about the possibility of studying again, and they agreed, especially if he would be able to pay the studies himself. Nevertheless, a follow-up assessment 6-12 months after the life construction intervention would be useful to confirm the results obtained in the study.

REFERENCES

- Ashford, S. J., George, E., and Blatt, R. (2007). Old assumptions, New Work: the opportunities and challenges of research on nonstandard employment. Acad. Manag. Ann. 1, 65–117. doi: 10.1080/078559807
- Bergman, M. E., and Chalkley, K. M. (2007). "Ex" marks a spot: the stickiness of dirty work and other removed stigmas. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 12, 251–265. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.12.3.251
- Bernaud, J.-L. (2015). Psychologie de L'accompagnement: Concepts et outils Pour Développer le Sens de la vie et du Travail. Paris: Dunod.
- Billson, J. M. (1996). "No owner of soil: the concept of marginality revisited on its sixtieth birthday," in *Marginality: Theoretical Perspectives*, ed. D. Rutledge (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage), 1–14.
- Blustein, D. L. (2006). The Psychology of Working: A New Perspective for Career Development, Counseling and Public Policy. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Blustein, D. L. (2011). A relational theory of working. J. Vocat. Behav. 79, 1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2010.10.004
- Burton, M., and Kagan, C. (2003). Community psychology: why this gap in Britain. *Hist. Philos. Psychol.* 4, 10–23.
- Cardoso, P., Silva, J. R., Gonçalves, M. M., and Duarte, M. E. (2014). Innovative moments and change in Career Construction Counseling. J. Vocat. Behav. 84, 11–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2013.10.001
- Connelly, C. E., and Gallagher, D. G. (2004). Emerging trends in contingent work research. J. Manag. 30, 959–983.
- Di Fabio, A. (2014a). "Constructing my Future Purposeful Life: a new life construction intervention," in *The Construction of the Identity in 21st Century:* A Festschrift for Jean Guichard, eds A. Di Fabio and J.-L. Bernaud (New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers), 219–239.
- Di Fabio, A. (2014b). Intrapreneurial Self-Capital: a new construct for the 21st century. J. Employ. Couns. 51, 98–111. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2014.00045.x

Despite the mentioned limitations, the study did indicate the value of enhancing life construction intervention using a preventive approach, particularly for young people doing internships to help them construct desirable identities and lives. Life construction interventions can be expanded to all forms of precariat from internships done by young people in organizations to workers in call centers. The extension of life construction interventions to all "precarious workers" could help them construct more desirable identities promoting selfrealization (Blustein, 2006) and the development of a purposeful identitarian awareness (Di Fabio, 2014c) based on the authentic self (Di Fabio, 2014c). "Decent" work could be enhanced by activities experienced as authentic and motivating (Blustein, 2006) and also by nutritive relations at work (Blustein, 2011; Di Fabio, 2014a), preventing marginalization and precariat. This can be achieved with the assistance of counselors who can identify and develop the talents in young people on the threshold of early careers, thereby helping them enhance their self-awareness, self-efficacy, and employability.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AD conceptualized the study and choose the theoretical framework. AD and LP qualitatively analyze the case study. AD and LP wrote methods and results. Then the two authors wrote the paper together and read and revised the manuscript several times.

- Di Fabio, A. (2014c). "The new purposeful identitarian awareness for the twentyfirst century: valorize themselves in the Life Construction from youth to adulthood and late adulthood," in *The Construction of the Identity in 21st Century: A Festschrift for Jean Guichard*, eds A. Di Fabio and J.-L. Bernaud (New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers), 157–168.
- Di Fabio, A. (2015a). Beyond fluid intelligence and personality traits in social support: the role of ability based emotional intelligence. *Front. Psychol.* 6:395. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00395
- Di Fabio, A. (2015b). "Life Adaptability Qualitative Assessment (LAQuA): a narrative instrument for evaluating counseling intervention effectiveness," in *New Horizons in Career Counselling: Converting Challenges into Opportunities*, eds J. G. Maree and A. Di Fabio (Rotterdam: Sense Publishers), 43–61.
- Di Fabio, A. (2016). Life design and career counseling innovative outcomes (CCIO). Career Dev. Q. 64, 35–48. doi: 10.1002/cdq.12039
- Di Fabio, A., and Blustein, D. L. (2010). Emotional intelligence and decisional conflict styles: some empirical evidence among Italian high school students. *J. Career Assess.* 18, 71–81. doi: 10.1177/1069072709350904
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2012a). The contribution of emotional intelligence to decisional styles among Italian high school students. J. Career Assess. 20, 404–414. doi: 10.1177/1069072712448893
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2012b). Emotional intelligence and perceived social support among Italian high school students. *J. Career Dev.* 39, 461–475.
- Di Fabio, A., and Kenny, M. E. (2015). The contributions of emotional intelligence and social support for adaptive career progress among Italian youth. J. Career Dev. 42, 48–49. doi: 10.1177/0894845314533420
- Di Fabio, A., Kenny, M. E., and Claudius, M. (in press). "Fostering adaptive career management and psychological well-being in uncertain times," in *Cambridge Handbook of International Prevention Science*, eds M. Israelashvili and J. L. Romano (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).
- Di Fabio, A., Kenny, M. E., and Minor, K. (2014). "School-based research and practice in Italy," in *Handbook of Positive Psychology in the Schools*, 2nd Edn,

eds M. J. Furlong, R. Gilman, and E. S. Huebner (New York, NY: Routledge, Taylor and Francis), 450-464.

- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2008a). Emotional intelligence and self-efficacy in a sample of Italian high school teacher. *Soc. Behav. Pers.* 36, 315–326. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2008.36.3.315
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2008b). Indécision vocationnelle et intelligence émotionnelle: quelques données empiriques sur un échantillon d'apprentis italiens. *Prat. Psychol.* 14, 213–222. doi: 10.1016/j.prps.2007.11.006
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2009). Emotional intelligence, personality traits and career decision difficulties. *Int. J. Educ. Vocat. Guid.* 9, 135–146. doi: 10.1007/s10775-009-9162-3
- Di Fabio, A., and Palazzeschi, L. (2012). Incremental variance of the core self-evaluation construct compared to fluid intelligence and personality traits in aspects of decision-making. *Pers. Individ. Diff.* 53, 196–201. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2012.03.012
- Di Fabio, A., Palazzeschi, L., Asulin-Peretz, L., and Gati, I. (2013). Career indecision versus indecisiveness: associations with personality traits and emotional intelligence. J. Career Assess. 21, 42–56. doi: 10.1177/1069072712454698
- Di Fabio, A., Palazzeschi, L., and Bar-On, R. (2012). The role of personality traits, core self-evaluation and emotional intelligence in career decisionmaking difficulties. J. Employ. Couns. 49, 118–129. doi: 10.1002/j.2161-1920.2012.00012.x
- Di Fabio, A., and Saklofske, D. H. (2014a). Comparing ability and selfreport trait emotional intelligence, fluid intelligence, and personality traits in career decision. *Pers. Individ. Diff.* 64, 174–178. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014. 02.024
- Di Fabio, A., and Saklofske, D. H. (2014b). Promoting individual resources: the challenge of trait emotional intelligence. *Pers. Individ. Diff.* 65, 19–23. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014.01.026
- Gonçalves, M. M., Ribeiro, A. P., Mendes, I., Matos, M., and Santos, A. (2011). Tracking novelties in psychotherapy process research: the innovative moments coding system. *Psychother. Res.* 21, 497–509. doi: 10.1080/10503307.2011.560207
- Grimm, S., and Ronneberger, K. (2007). An Invisible History of Work: Interview with Sergio Bologna. Springerin. Hefte für Gegenwartskunst, 1. Available at: http://tinyurl.com/bologna-springerin
- Guichard, J. (2009). Self-constructing. J. Vocat. Behav. 75, 251–258. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.03.004
- Guichard, J. (2013). "Career guidance, education, and dialogues for a fair and sustainable human development," in *Proceedings of the Inaugural Conference of the UNESCO Chair of Lifelong Guidance and Counselling* (Wrocław: University of Wrocław).
- Hage, S. M., Romano, J. L., Conyne, R. K., Kenny, M., Matthews, C., Schwartz, J. P., et al. (2007). Best practice guidelines on prevention practice, research, training, and social advocacy for psychologists. *Couns. Psychol.* 35, 493–566. doi: 10.1177/0011000006291411
- ILO (2015). Decent Work. Available at: http://www.ilo.org/global/topics/decent-work/lang-en/index.htm

- Kenny, M. E., and Hage, S. M. (2009). The next frontier: prevention as an instrument of social justice. J. Prim. Prev. 30, 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s10935-008-0163-7
- Maree, J. G. (2014). "Using life construction XE "Life Construction" counseling to harness reflexivity with a mid-career woman: a case study," in *The Construction* of the Identity in 21st Century: A Festschrift for Jean Guichard, eds A. Di Fabio and J.-L. Bernaud (New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers), 157–168.
- Maree, J. G. (ed.) (2012). Complete Your Thesis or Dissertation Successfully: Practical Guidelines. Cape Town: Juta.
- Maynard, D., and Ferdman, B. (2015). *The Marginalized Workforce: How I-O Psychology Can Make a Difference*. Available at: http://www.siop.org/tip/April 09/04maynard.aspx
- Mullaly, B. (2007). *The New Structural Social Work: Ideology, Theory, Practice*, 3rd Edn. Don Mills, ON: Oxford University Press.
- Obinger, J. (2009). Working on the margins: Japan's precariat and working poor. *Electron. J. Contemp. Jpn. Stud.* Available at: http://japanesestudies.org.uk/discussionpapers/2009/Obinger.html
- Park, R. E. (1928). Human migration and the marginal man. Am. J. Sociol. 33, 881–893. doi: 10.1086/214592
- Patton, W., and McMahon, M. (1999). Career Development and Systems Theory: A New Relationship. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Sartori, R., Ceschi, A., and Costantini, A. (2015). On decision processes in businesses, companies and organizations computed through a generative approach: the case of the agent-based modeling. *Int. J. Bus. Res.* 15, 25–38. doi: 10.18374/JJBR-15-2.3
- Savickas, M. L. (2011). *Career Counseling*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Savickas, M. L., and Porfeli, E. J. (2012). Career Adapt-Abilities Scale: construction, reliability, and measurement equivalence across 13 countries. J. Vocat. Behav. 80, 661–673. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2012.01.011
- Standing, G. (2014). *The Precariat: The New Dangerous Class*. New York, NY: Bloomsbury Academic.
- World Medical Association [WMA] (2013). WMA Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. Available at: http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/
- Young, R. (2000). Continuity and change: marginality and later prehistoric settlement in the northern uplands. Br. Archaeol. Rep. 302, 71–80.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Di Fabio and Palazzeschi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




The Work of Cultural Transition: An Emerging Model

Tatiana V. Ryba^{1,2*}, Natalia B. Stambulova³ and Noora J. Ronkainen⁴

¹ Department of Psychology, University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, Finland, ² Institute of Sports Science and Clinical Biomechanics, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark, ³ School of Health and Welfare, Halmstad University, Halmstad, Sweden, ⁴ Exercise, Health and Technology Center, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China

In today's uncertain, fluid job market, transnational mobility has intensified. Though the concept of cultural transition is increasingly used in sport and career research, insight into the processes of how individuals produce their own development through work and relationships in shifting cultural patterns of meaning remains limited. The transnational industry of sports, in which athletes' psychological adjustment to cultural transitions has implications for both performance and meaningful life, serves as a backdrop for this article. This study applied the life story method to interviews with 15 professional and semi-professional athletes, focusing particularly on the cultural transition aspect of their transnational athletic careers. The aims of the study were to identify the developmental tasks of cultural transitions and strategies/mechanisms through which cultural transitions were enacted. Three underlying mechanisms of the transition process that assisted athletic career adaptability were social repositioning, negotiation of cultural practices, and meaning reconstruction. Based on the data analyses, a temporal model of cultural transition is proposed. The results of this research provide professionals working in the fields of career counseling and migrant support with a content framework for enhancing migrant workers' adaptabilities and psychological wellbeing.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Blustein, Boston College, USA

Reviewed by:

Saliha Kozan, University of California, San Diego, USA Jacques Pouyaud, University of Bordeaux, France

> *Correspondence: Tatiana V. Ryba tatiana.ryba@jyu.fi

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 24 January 2016 Accepted: 10 March 2016 Published: 24 March 2016

Citation:

Ryba TV, Stambulova NB and Ronkainen NJ (2016) The Work of Cultural Transition: An Emerging Model. Front. Psychol. 7:427. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00427 Keywords: athletic career, career construction, transitions, adaptability, migration, transnationalism, decent work

INTRODUCTION

In contemporary mobile society, relatively recent technological advances in transportation and communication have intensified people's cross-border activities and experiences. The growing opportunities of linking migrant workers with transnational and local communities, as well as the diversity and fluidity of these ties, point to the emergence of new modes of transacting that require regular cultural transitions and sustained contact across national borders (Portes et al., 1999). The transnational field of sport industry arguably accentuates the new forms of cross-border exchanges, fostering a wider flow of athletes, coaches, sport tourists, artifacts, and value systems. The geographical movement of highly skilled amateur elite and professional athletes characterizes athletic career development today, which makes transnational mobility into a highly valuable commodity (Maguire and Falcous, 2011; Agergaard and Ryba, 2014). The production of mobility and adaptation to a changing context in cultural transition are crucial for initiating and maintaining the transnational career. That is, in addition to being able to establish mobility, it is important for athletic migrants to sustain their performance, which is often predicated on athletes' adapt-abilities to create and maintain social relations and situated knowledge in the

different localities they settle in, as well as those they leave behind. Although vocational psychology researchers have acknowledged that culture frames relational and working experiences, and the ways in which people respond to life events (e.g., Stead, 2004; Blustein, 2011), there seems to be a limited understanding of the processes activated in cultural transition that produce development through work and relationships in shifting cultural patterns of meaning.

As stated in the International Labour Organization (ILO) report that launched the concept of 'decent work' in 1999, the "rapid change in the global economy, engendering heightened competitive pressures, and reduced job security for many, has injected new uncertainties into the world of work" (International Labour Organization [ILO], 1999, p. 9). Roderick (2006, p. 261), for example, asserted that professional football/soccer players "exercise virtually no control over entry to the occupation, they have no monopoly over relevant bodies of knowledge, they cannot lay down standards of work or control the labor process." Although each country has different deficits and needs in the decent work schema, the recent International Labour Organization (International Labour Organization [ILO], 2016) report further suggests that the concerns with social exclusion, employment quality, and security persist also at higher income levels. It has been estimated that each season one fifth of professional football players in the UK need to migrate to a new team nationally or internationally, or to find alternative work (Roderick, 2012). While professional and elite athletes' mobilities cannot be compared to the experience of those confronted with involuntary migration due to war conflicts and extreme poverty, common themes including work insecurity and human dignity have emerged in previous studies with athletes (McGillivray et al., 2005; Roderick, 2006; Agergaard and Ryba, 2014). As indicated in literature on careers and migration, mobility necessarily involves perceptions of insecurity in terms of financial status, future career prospects, and inclusion and exclusion, which concern not only the lead migrants but also their spouses and families (Cohen et al., 2011). It has been reported that athletes' conditions of work place profound emotional and economic constraints on their partners and spouses, who must cope with frequent geographical relocations, lack of stable social support network, and the partner's frequent absence due to matches and competitions (Gmelch and San Antonio, 2001; Roderick, 2012; Ryba et al., 2015a). Injury and threat of deselection from the team are additional career contingencies that athletes must navigate in order to sustain their status in the professional ranks. Studies indicate that many professional athletes compromise their health and continue playing despite pain and injury due to fear of de-selection, team pressure, guilt, or professional pride (Roderick et al., 2000; McGannon et al., 2013). Therefore, the concerns for decent work as outlined by the International Labour Organization (International Labour Organization [ILO], 1999, 2016), specifically in relation to job security, competitive pressures, and lack of social protection, are relevant also for careers in sport. Appropriating from this Research Topic's call the notion of meaningfulness "in terms of cognitive, emotional, and relational domains of functioning," the present research contributes to the debates on decent work by

putting a spotlight on the relatively under-researched population of athletic migrants and the ways they construct meaning about work and lives in cultural transitions.

This article is based on the life stories of professional and semi-professional athletes whose athletic careers had been developed transnationally. Portes et al. (1999) distinguish between transnationalism 'from above' and 'from below' (see also Smith and Guarnizo, 2006). The highly successful athletes in high revenue sports construct their transnational careers predominantly through activities conducted by powerful sporting corporations, such as the National Hockey League (NHL) or the Association of Tennis Professionals (ATP) World Tour. However, most athletes' transnational careers are the result of grass-roots activities, established channels of athletic migration, and initiatives facilitated by trans-local networks of their home country counterparts and friends of friends. Whilst both professional and semi-professional athletes engage in market work, there are considerable differences in the job arrangement between and within these groups. For methodological reasons, our analyses center on transnational athletes and their support networks; that is, the experiences of athletic migrants on a term-fixed contract/athletic scholarship typically based on performance outcomes, who travel extensively for training camps and competitions, maintain relationships and family life across national borders, and also develop relational ties within local communities.

CULTURAL MODE OF BEING AND PSYCHOLOGICAL ADJUSTMENT

This research is situated within cultural developmental psychology, which argues for the fundamentally cultural constitution of self in human development, and is informed by career development and cultural adaptation literature. Our theoretical starting point rests on the position developed by Vygotsky and Luria (1930/1993) that psychological processes are the *emergent* outcome of the transactions between an individual's ontogenetic history in a particular sociocultural framework, and characteristics of the immediate tasks confronting the individual. Emphasizing historical development, cultural mediation and practical everyday activity, this approach considers individual traits as constructed by and also entwined with a specific medium of human development, which includes language, norms, customs, values, and artifacts (Vygotsky and Luria, 1930/1993; Stead, 2004; Markus and Kitayama, 2010). It is essential for our theorizing to understand the medium of human development as a set of symbolic resources, accumulated and transmitted across generations, which conveys its normative meanings in social practices and sociocultural institutions. One of the key symbolic resources of culture that is externalized in social interaction concerns the nature of the self and its relationship with others (Bruner, 1994; Adams and Markus, 2001). The acquired cultural patterns of interdependence between self and sociality is expressed in collaboratively constructed intersubjectivityan implicit understanding "that is to some extent shared" (Moghaddam, 2010, p. 466). It is generally acknowledged that people with similar (sub)cultural background derive a common interpretation in social interactions (Locke, 2004).

In keeping with the aforementioned understanding, Kitayama et al. (2007) conceptualize self as a psychological system for behavioral regulation that is not merely an organization of conceptual schemas, but provides a principle for one's spontaneous mobilization of thoughts, feelings, and actions, thus constituting the person's mode of being. The mode of being is gradually formed in the dynamics of social interaction with significant adults (e.g., in the family, school, and sport) and is attuned to numerous characteristics of the surrounding physical and sociocultural environment. Because the self as a psychological system of self-regulation is generally maintained by intersubjectivity of shared norms in a given community, it is reasonable to anticipate cross-cultural variations in the ways of feeling, thinking, and acting in relation to oneself and others. The rupture of meanings and, indeed, of the cultural mode of being in transnational migration occurs because cultures and social contexts create diverse meaning systems as well as provide different opportunities and imperatives for developing and expressing individual psychosocial competencies, which form inner resources that individuals use to selfregulate and to direct their adaptive behaviors in psychological encounters with the environment (Savickas, 2005; Markus and Kitayama, 2010). Moreover, as Blustein (2001) and Blustein et al. (2004) assert, the ways individuals experience life aspirations, career motivations, and meaningful working life are rooted in relationships-thus, transforming vocational behavior into an inherently relational act.

Previous sport research provides the basis for suggesting that a cultural transition has important implications for migrant athletes' adjustment to sport processes, such as playing style, team interaction, and coach-athlete relationship, and may create difficulties in their lives outside of sport (Duchesne et al., 2011; Schinke et al., 2013; Stambulova and Ryba, 2013; Ronkainen et al., 2014; Khomutova, 2015; Ryba et al., 2015b). Brandão and Vieira (2013), for example, indicated that Brazilian footballers' poor adaptability hampers their professional careers inasmuch as 66% of 1029 players sent to foreign teams in 2010 returned to Brazil before completing their first season. Many players report inability to cope with loneliness and unfriendly climate, and to adapt to a new lifestyle. According to Schinke et al. (2013), who studied acculturation experiences of immigrant athletes and coaches in Canada, the key issues concern 'navigating two worldviews' and 'acculturation loads.' The first theme refers to the ways in which immigrants navigate the shifting meanings of sport experiences in home and host countries. It also illustrates how the contextual contingency of meanings may present obstacles for migrating athletes as they seek to adapt within new cultural and sporting communities. The second theme highlights the salience of social environments in constituting acculturation either as shared with others (e.g., teammates and coaches) or as the sole responsibility of the migrated athlete to learn the norms and adapt to new contexts with no adjustment from the hosts. In a similar vein, Ryba et al. (2012) discussed acute cultural adaptation of Finnish female swimmers in their temporary migration to Australia as a process of negotiation

of meanings between 'here' and 'there,' as well as of the extent to which athletes participated in daily social practices while developing a relationship with the new environment. The authors emphasized the constitutive role of culture in psychological adjustment to a cultural transition by demonstrating the ways in which team relatedness formed a discursive cultural space that provided security mediating the swimmers' engagement with the Australian context. The latter argument resembles the proposition put forward by Blustein (2011, p. 11) that "culture functions as a form of holding environment for individuals" and "can serve as an essential relational resource as they cope with work-based transitions."

RATIONALE AND AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY

The refocusing on the fluidity of adaptive processes and the emphasis on career adaptabilities in the vocational research literature is significant in revealing a socially constructed, relational nature of work-based experience (Blustein et al., 2004; Savickas et al., 2009; Schultheiss et al., 2011). Yet very few career studies have applied a transnational lens to migrant athletes' life stories to discern the adaptive practices constituted within transnational mobility and career development. The transnational athletes' intent for mobility in pursuit of professional and financial opportunities paired with often-strong identifications with professional qualifications and competencies, suggests that athletic migrants take an active role in designing their life through sport (Carter, 2011; Engh and Agergaard, 2013; Ryba et al., 2015a). This view is related to Bernaud's (2014) observation that individual career choices are grounded in existential questions about the meaning that people give to their lives. With no intention to downplay agency, our previous research in this area has also conveyed an argument that athletes' decision-making about the career and life course in general derives meaning in social interactions and take shape within a particular cultural and historical landscape that radically contextualizes the push and pull factors of migration (e.g., Stambulova and Ryba, 2014; Ryba et al., 2015b; Ronkainen et al., 2016). Taking into consideration the migrant workers' need for adapting to a meaningful working life in transition, the question becomes how psychological tendencies for career adaptability are mobilized through daily practices in transient cultural contexts. The purpose of this study therefore was to understand what dynamics are particularly critical in cultural transition and what impact the time has on these processes. Our specific research aims were to identify the developmental tasks of cultural transition and basic psychological mechanisms underpinning the transition that assisted athletic career adaptability.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The present study is situated in narrative psychology (Bruner, 1990; McAdams et al., 2001) and generally characterized as

being exploratory. Our goal was to be sensitive to the diversity of individual experiences while, nevertheless, to analytically search for the basic psychological mechanisms underlying culturally patterned performativity. We have adopted life story interviewing as our methodological framework, which encourages participants to construct autobiographical narratives with minimal intervention from the researcher (Atkinson, 1998). Although life stories may be very different from one another, they reveal complex ways in which meanings are negotiated in the creation of a coherent life narrative as well as common social processes that have shaped people's lives in similar circumstances (Bruner, 1994; Liversage, 2009). The benefits of a narrative approach for understanding career transitions, migration and displacement, vocational identity, and possible empowering of marginalized individuals have been widely acknowledged in vocational research (e.g., Cohen, 2006; Liversage, 2009; Schultheiss et al., 2011; Savickas, 2012). As Del Corso and Rehfuss (2011) suggested, the what, how, and why are inextricably connected through narrative. That is, what athletes do in career transition is based in part on their why, expressed in life-theme motives, and also how, which is indicative of their adaptive selfregulation processes. As career narrations provide a primary means of bringing meaning to sporting experiences, they can be analyzed for the psychological processes associated with transitions and patterns of career decisions (Carless and Douglas, 2009, 2013).

Participants

Participants of this study were 15 professional and amateur elite (semi-professional) athletes in various sports. One athlete was Black, one athlete was mixed-race, and the rest were Caucasian. Four athletes were from ice hockey, two from basketball, two from soccer, two from handball, and one each from archery, orienteering, athletics, alpine skiing, and sport dance. Seven were male and eight were female, their ages ranged from 18 to 37 (median age was 26) and all of them experienced a cultural transition in association with various transnational mobilities. At the time of the interviews, two athletes were retired from competitive sport (aged 30 and 37) and one athlete (aged 26) considered herself as 'temporally retired.' Their educational background varied from high school dropouts to university graduates. The participants' countries of origins included Bulgaria, Canada, Denmark, England, Estonia, Finland, Nigeria, Slovakia, and Sweden; all were fluent in the English language. For 13 athletes, athletic career development was a life-theme motive for migration. Two athletes' transnational career was initiated by following a spouse/partner to another country, offering additional insights into the process of a cultural transition paired with an unassisted athletic career transition. Participants had numerous geographic migrations across and within different countries in the course of their transnational athletic careers, including the Nordic countries, UK, USA, Russia, Korea, China, and Australia. The diversity of transnational career pathways provided a rich comparative context for accentuating the psychosocial content and underpinning the processes animating cultural transition.

The participants were identified and contacted through personal networks. In selecting transnational athletes to interview, we followed Atkinson (1998, p. 27) suggestions to search for uniqueness and "someone who intrigues, inspires, fascinates, or perplexes you" in addition to being accessible. In line with 'good' interpretivist research, we relied not solely on the quantifiable prevalence of voices, but rather on those voices whose narrations captured something new and insightful in relation to investigated phenomena (Smith and Sparkes, 2009). Because the majority of the participants are easily identifiable in their countries of origin and current localities, we do not provide the specific details of each athlete's mobilities.

Data Collection

This study was funded by the Danish Ministry of Culture and was carried out in accordance with the recommendation of Danish Data Protection Agency. All participants gave written informed consent prior to the interview. The life story approach typically involves a series of interviews with each participant, allowing for flexibility to gain a rich and holistic understanding of participants' experiences (Atkinson, 1998; Liversage, 2009). Participants of this study were interviewed in a series of two or three 2-h interview sessions, depending on athletes' availability, and the richness of their stories. The individual interviews were conducted in different countries and locations, such as local cafes and hotel business centers, participants' homes and at their work places, and university meeting rooms.

In our preparation for the interviews, we followed basic interview guidelines proposed by Atkinson (1998), including preparing background information on the athletes' lives and generating questions for the person to be interviewed. The main purpose of contextual preparation for the life story interview is to be able to guide participants to a deeper understanding of their own experiences. As shown by Schultheiss et al. (2011), within the relational cultural framework life stories, co-constructed in the process of telling and being heard, provide a means for making meaning out of work-life experiences of migrants and how these experiences shape their lives.

A semi-structured interview guide was developed to provide a chronological framework for the inquiry. However, since historical reconstruction was not our primary concern, it was only used as a flexible, supportive tool and athletes were encouraged to follow their own preferred order in telling their stories. At the beginning, we asked participants to tell their career story in ways that were meaningful to them. The probing questions aimed to trigger memories from childhood, family, schools, and sports. From there, stories shifted into youth and adulthood, often focusing on career development in sport, education, kinship, and various transitions in athletes' lives. In the second interview, the participant was given a chronological map that was drawn based on the first interview. This was used as an invitation to expand and further reflect on major turning points and themes identified in the first interview in order to glean additional insights into how athletes saw

themselves at various points in their lives and wanted others to see them. Throughout the interviews, we were probing into shifting discourses of sport, culture, and gender, and the ways in which transnational athletes negotiated their life fit into different cultural contexts.

Data Analysis

While emphasizing empirical data as the basis for generating knowledge, we recognize that a researcher's priori conceptual understandings trickle down into the production of knowledge. To avoid diminishing the participants' knowing by imposing conceptual categories on their experiences, we utilized abductive reasoning in our reflexive interaction with the data (Atkinson and Delamont, 2005; Sparkes and Smith, 2014). In our understanding, abductive reasoning involves a creative process of interpretation when applying conceptual frameworks adopted in this study while also acknowledging that the analytic processes were ongoing in giving meanings to first impressions as well as final product. The first step in our engagement with the transcripts was a thematic narrative analysis (Riessman, 2008; Smith and Sparkes, 2012) to map a shifting content of the cultural transition from a temporal perspective. In thematic narrative analysis, the focus is on the whats of the stories (content of the speech), seeking to identify common elements across participants' experiences. The periods before and immediately following relocation emerged as common themes across the participants' stories. The third theme was linked to prolonged engagement with a sociocultural context and was common for athletes in a long-term migration. The identified themes were related to participants' chronological maps as transitional phases. Drawing on relevant literature, we labeled them pre-transition, acute cultural adaptation, and sociocultural adaptation.

In the second step, we worked with both structural and performative analyses (Riessman, 2008; Bamberg, 2012). In the holistic narrative analysis of structure, we sought to identify the plot of each individual life story and the central storyline that organized each athlete's experience of cultural transitions. This approach was integrated with performative analysis to better understand how the process of cultural transition was enacted. According to Riessman (2008, p. 105), a performative analysis "interrogates how talk among speakers is interactively (dialogically) produced and performed as narrative." In the performative analysis, our focus shifted to examining how transition was constructed in the athletes' telling of their stories, including emotional responses, and the performative elements that formed psychological continuity and change in the flow of a life narrative. This involved considering the agency of transnational athletes and the transitory social fieldthat is, how participants positioned themselves in relation to various cultural discourses, gendered life scripts, and exemplary sport narratives-as well as gleaning insights from the reciprocal relationship between the teller and the intended audiences (Riessman, 2002; Smith and Sparkes, 2009). We identified three common performative processes that penetrated through multiple layers of unique storylines-repositioning in social networks, negotiation of daily practices and meaning reconstruction. Serving the adaptive functions, these processes

were mobilized around the key developmental tasks at each phase of the transition and appear to be the underlying mechanisms through which cultural transition was enacted.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to understand the dynamics of cultural transition and the ways in which time shapes the transition process. Our specific aims were to identify the developmental tasks and underlying psychological mechanisms, set in motion by the cultural transition, which facilitated career adaptability.

Consistent with previous research on athletic migrants, the cultural transition process was constituted in social practices and shifting modes of participation within and between sport/work and other contexts, such as school and private life. Changes in daily practices occurred both on and off the sporting field as transnational athletes experienced rupture of meanings (Hall, 1990) and social networks (Smith and Guarnizo, 2006). However, they also developed new social relations in their country of settlement while maintaining public and private engagement in their countries of origin and/or previous settlement.

Despite intensified cultural homogenization of globalized elite sport, in which a transfer to a new team/club may be viewed as a within-culture transition due to athletes' expertise in the given sport, experiences of the athletic transition rather than transition to a new society dominated participants' stories. On one hand, there seems to be a taken-for-granted belief in the universal language of sport, as articulated by athlete 1: "Even if there are different cultures, the hockey language is the same, like, on the ice it doesn't matter where you come from. . .on the ice everything is just hockey." On the other hand, when athlete 1 was asked to describe how he had experienced his cultural transition to the USA, he stated:

Of course, they have a different style of hockey, 'cause here the ice rink is a little bit bigger than in the States...so it means that there is less time to do something with the puck, a lot more hitting, a little bit faster game so it took a while to get used to that hockey over there. But I think everything else just went...'cause I was there for hockey and of course at the same time I was learning hockey, playing hockey, and outside of hockey learning to do the things how they are done in the States.

This player also reflected on how "hockey is such a big business in the States so it's not just sport" and "there is much more bigger gap between the team and the coach," concluding that "here, of course, coach is the coach but you can talk to the coach more easily in Finland than in the States. The coach is more kind of the big boss there." In their unique ways, athletes were candid about differences in 'doing sport' and the local nuances in organizing knowledge and living routines for athletes, which points to the culturally intertwined underpinnings of the transnational athletic transition due to its embeddedness in social relations and practices.



The organizational field of sports, by means of social networks and logistical support, mediated the athletes' cultural transition process into a new society in other domains, such as public health, school, and housing. This was in contrast to the experiences of athletes who migrated for non-sport related reasons. Therefore, stemming from the data, the Cultural Transition Model (**Figure 1**) represents the developmental tasks of a cultural transition constructed in and through workbased relationships and discursive career practices in elite sport.

In this section, we first present an empirically derived model of transition. After that we provide a thick description of the cultural transition's phases and discuss the athletes' accounts of living through that process.

Cultural Transition Model

The model in **Figure 1** shows that the cultural transition process consists of three phases, two of which occur post relocation. While the temporal phases were extracted from the data by means of analytical abstraction and are presented in a sequential progression, they should not be interpreted as unfolding in a simplistic linear manner. We suggest that the transition process is relational, meaning that it does not merely unfold, but is rather constructed within a transnational sociocultural field dynamically and subjectively adjusted by individuals to the multiplicity of cultural contacts in various localities. The psychological domain is embedded in the fluid trans-local cultural field of social practices that constitute and sustain daily functioning and relational experiences of athletic migrants. Although individual experiences are unique and "cultures play infinite variations during the course of development and daily activity" (Berry, 2009, p. 364), our data analyses suggest that the athletes interviewed possessed common developmental tasks that mobilized the adaptive strategies/mechanisms in cultural transition. As **Figure 1** demonstrates, we propose three underlying psychological mechanisms through which cultural transitions are enacted. These basic processes are adaptive responses that might be hidden beneath an array of culturally patterned behaviors and discourses that, in turn, may or may not lead to a successful task resolution in a particular cultural context. It seems important to reiterate that we identify the underlying psychological mechanisms as adaptive because they are mobilized to regulate one's mode of being in cultural transition.

Phases of Cultural Transition

Athletes' narrations encompassed various temporal and spatial vantage points—reflecting on their past experiences, they would make connections with their lives today and expectations for the future. The ways in which narrators navigated between 'here' and 'there' also highlighted the fluidity of their adapt-abilities to modify affective responses, interpretations and behaviors in various locations.

In the following description of the cultural transition process, we have attempted to add a nuanced analytical depth to our representation of the ways in which athletes' (a) repositioning and calibration of social relations and networks, (b) negotiation of living cultural practices, and (c) decoding and reconstruction of meanings animated the psychological continuity and change at each phase. It is important to note that the aforementioned adaptive mechanisms had a varied degree of experiential saturation along the transition timespan, all shaping, nevertheless, the psychological functioning of the self in cultural transition.

Pre-transition

This phase became visible in athletes' stories as they talked about the time when they had been contemplating a transnational migration. In professional and high revenue college sports, gathering basic information about teams, coaches, and locale through various social networks (e.g., intermediaries and friends of friends) appears to be a common practice as attested by athlete 4, "I think everybody that go [migrate], have talked to somebody that'd been there." Reflecting on his decisionmaking to sign abroad, pro hockey player 15 recalled, "since 2000 there had been many Finns who went to play in Sweden, so there was the culture of going to Sweden." Transnational athletes do the groundwork of learning about coaches and team practices, fans and club culture, living and groceries, so that "lots of guys know beforehand what to expect" (athlete 4, ice hockey).

Often players get a chance to meet coaches and teams either virtually (e.g., Skype/conference calls) or to visit the place before relocation for try-outs, which assists them in making a more informed decision about mobilizing their athletic career and life course in general. For example, it was important for athlete 11 to develop her game by playing on a highly technical football/soccer team. Selecting a team that was coached by a Latin American coach known for his meticulous attention to footwork dominated the player's decision-making when accepting an athletic scholarship in an American university. Moreover, several Skype sessions with the coach reassured her of the right fit within the team and school. The constitutive dynamics of agency and networks in animating a potentially successful transnational career transition was further exemplified by a young African footballer:

I wanted to play in Portugal, but the coach when I went [to Portugal for try-outs] couldn't speak English. He spoke Portuguese to me. I don't understand Portuguese...so I don't understand what he's saying. Then I called my agent and said I want to leave...That's why I came to [Scandinavian country] to play. They said that the coach is used to speaking English.

In addition to being able to produce transnational mobility, the crucial task of a pre-transitional phase is to activate psychosocial mobility that is necessary for navigating diverse meaning systems and negotiating cultural practices. Although not many athletes talked about crossing the symbolic boundaries of various cultural discourses, most of them looked for possibilities to experience something new and were open-minded about the diversity of social and cultural forms of being-inthe-world. This was effectively summarized by athlete 4 (ice hockey):

You need to have an open mind that things are going to be different. Different countries have different kind of cultures, so you have to be ready for the different personalities or different ways of living. Those are big things, I think, to adapt to.

Importantly, by tapping into transnational networks and learning about a new cultural site, athletes initiated a process of psychological disengagement with familiar people and places while developing a relationship with the new locale. As observed by Ronkainen et al. (2016) in the study of transmigrant runners' negotiations of their serious leisure practices in migration to China, the Western skilled migrants planned to stay there for a limited period of time and viewed their challenging experiences as temporarily. Similarly, despite considering transnational mobility either as an opportunity for upward mobility or a necessity, the participants in the present study constructed migration as temporal before returning home.

For married or cohabited participants, it was also the period of making decisions whether or not their partners and children would migrate with them. While the traditional gendered lifescript was taken for granted by some athletes (e.g., "for me it felt very normal that she [girlfriend] would come with me," athlete 1), the need for negotiating alternative ways of keeping romantic and family ties alive was voiced by several athletes, who narrated reconstructing meanings of canonical scripts. For example, professional athlete 4 faced a dilemma whether to sign an overseas contract although his wife wanted to stay at home for her child's perceived benefit. Despite his relatives' intense disapproval of the wife because "she knew what she was marrying into," the athlete started narratively repairing the biographical rupture caused by transnational migration. First of all, they "were okay because [he] defended her" and then when he signed the contract, he continued negotiating family life in migration as the following quote illustrates:

I feel guilty – in a way I love what I do. I chose to do this as a living [...] but I still have guilt for not being there for the kids all the time. I guess the comfort in knowing that my wife is doing such a good job helps me a lot to cope with everything. I know she has my back.

To summarize, the pre-transition phase is indispensable in physically and mentally preparing for the challenges in undertaking a cultural transition, which often means searching for opportunities as well as decoding and reconstructing established life scripts and career narratives. In this sample, poor or incorrect expectancy of the cultural differences which awaited the athletic transmigrants in their host environment and neglecting to expand on normalized ways of being were linked to confusion, resentment, emotional disconnection, and social withdrawal at the subsequent stage. The mobilization of sporting trans-local networks was the key for engendering mobility as part of the transnational career development. Moreover, since geographical mobility puts a strain on family life (Gmelch and San Antonio, 2001; Roderick, 2012) and potentially can prompt family disruption and conflict, the pretransition phase may provide the athlete and their families with time to negotiate necessary adjustments toward work-family balance.

Acute Cultural Adaptation

For many athletes, the acuteness of this phase was lived and felt through loneliness and attempts to fit in with the cultural patterns of group life. Athlete 9 (football/soccer), who was interviewed 8 months following migration, immediately evoked these themes by recalling, "when I came, it was very difficult for me. I'm just lonely. I just live alone. I don't have friends. I don't have any place to go." He also struggled with the cold weather and hard training, trying simultaneously to make sense of "running in the pitch" without the ball, "we just use the cones, so it's very different [from home]." His coach was not happy but understanding, "he just said I should look. I would just sit looking but not train because of the weather." The footballer confessed, "I play better when I see the sun." This athlete's experiences were concurred by others, who missed family and friends as well as familiar spaces, landscapes, and ethnoscapes, attesting further to the felt rupture of their daily life, inner meaning, and established routines.

The symbolic structure of the meaning domain became visible in feelings of loneliness amidst people and alienating experiences as exemplified by a mixed race Scandinavian athlete, who was positioned simultaneously as 'other' and 'black' in the USA. English was not her first language and when she moved to live with her extended family, "everybody made fun of [her] accent...but then, in school people were saying, 'you talk like a black person." Her response was, "how does a black person talk? What does that mean?" Reliving her poignant story, the athlete kept raising that question throughout her narration:

I remember when I was walking to school with my oldest cousin—the first day of school—she's like 'all the boys are going to like you 'cause you're light-skinned and you have a big butt.' And I was like, 'what does that mean?' I didn't understand, and she was like, 'you also have good hair.' I didn't understand what she meant by that because in [Scandinavia], well, in [Scandinavia] having a big butt isn't necessarily a good thing.

Having lived the trajectories of meaning embedded in a particular sociocultural context, most athletes had to learn the ways of navigating, negotiating, and evolving their own understandings within cultural patterns of a new site. Those who struggled to repair the mismatch between their own mode of being and social context (e.g., due to culture distance, marginalization, and exclusion) were likely to feel the loss of self as exemplified by athlete 12, "I'm just lost in translation. I don't know who I am."

The highly dynamic reconstruction of meaning and social repositioning intricately worked together with the negotiation of daily practices on and off the field. Religious athletes, for example, first sought a church or congregation to which they belong, but often had to come to terms with inability to attend worship (e.g., Sunday games) or to relate to ceremonies because they were conducted in a language they did not understand. Albeit investing time and energy to orienting themselves in a new cultural locality, it was the sporting social context that was of most importance to transitioning athletes as they recounted learning and trying to understand the team norms and practices: "I was quiet and I was watching. I think I was, in my way, trying to learn the other players by watching them - or by watching how they act" (athlete 6, basketball). Responding to the question of what was his strategy to facilitate entry into the team, athlete 15 (ice hockey) shared, "stay open, talk to the guys, just be normal and do what they do." Player 9 (football) agreed, at first "it was so odd for me, very hard. I didn't understand the training so I would just look at my teammates. . . now I have the experience. I understand the training. I understand what I'm doing now. . . I play the way they play."

Whilst some behaviors were not difficult to compromise in order to feel part of the team—"I laughed at a lot of stupid jokes" (athlete 4), other practices were deeply ingrained in cultural meanings and symbols associated with age, class and prestige, to name a few, creating inner conflict and external misapprehension. For a young African footballer, who 'made it in Europe,' it was incomprehensible to accept a bicycle as a means of transportation because "bike is for kids." When the interviewer reassured him that it is okay to use a bike, the athlete responded:

Yeah, that's what they [in the club] told me. But I said, 'it's not okay.' They said, 'it is okay.' I see a lot of people using a bike. Even the coach, you know, sometimes uses his bike. So I said 'maybe I will do that,' but I don't know the day.

Explaining what bicycle meant for him, the footballer was shifting his subject position between 'here' (e.g., my teammates use the bike) and 'there' (e.g., ahhh, look at [his name]!) in an effort to reconcile his uneasiness and tension: "I don't care if they see me. I don't care if they...so I will just bike, but I don't know the day."

As already indicated, sport social networks mediated the transnational athletes' cultural transition into a new society by providing logistic support (e.g., visa, housing, healthcare, and taxes) and acting as cultural guides. High-revenue sports clubs and teams had resources to offer formal support and hired help, such as interpreters, drivers, and ethnic cooks, in return for immediate results, as suggested by a pro hockey player, "they expect big things from imports...if you're an import from outside, I don't think they are very patient." A female orienteer on a pro contract for the competitive season echoed, "there were very many foreigners there, so it was competitive. You had to have these good results, otherwise they would just kick you out from the club." Athletes from less commercial sports relied more on personal networks, coaches and teammates. This was evident in the story of athlete 3 (dance), who shared the cultural background with one of his coaches, as he stated:

She had been living here for a long time so she, when I needed something or didn't know how things work here, I could always ask her and she always helped me with those things. So I had a feeling of security that I'm not left alone to deal with it.

The team/club's culture was intertwined with athletes' perception of whether their psychological needs were met and how well their own goals and values were fitting in the group patterns, which in turn impacted their performance as well as motivation to stay and adapt to social life in the country. For example, while a Scandinavian soccer player in the USA felt that "it was very easy for [her] to go there because it's exactly the same way that it is here [home country]," she credited her Brazilian coach for subtly creating a cultural space that facilitated learning and co-construction of shared experiences and norms. Similar to previous cultural transition research (e.g., Ryba et al., 2012; Schinke et al., 2013), this athlete reflected how her teammates formed a safety net of belonging that enabled her athletic development while simultaneously providing pre-constituted 'experiencings' of social life outside soccer. In contrast, the aforementioned orienteer (athlete 12) was "kicked out" for underperforming and was relieved to return to the country of previous settlement in which orienteering "is on high level but also fun" and "nobody expects you to win all the competitions." Comparing her experiences in the two teams in two Nordic countries, the participant attested to the constitutive relationship between sociocultural processes and individual processes:

In Denmark, they took me as a person. In Finland, they took me only as an athlete. It's very different. So, in Finland, I kept my relationship at the very basic level—I do what I'm asked, but that's it. But in Denmark was friendship, so I wanted to do it—to get along with others and do well. I didn't talk about that

to the team leaders [in Finland] because I was already thinking that they don't care about runners. They only care about your results.

This experience made her realize that although her lifestyle was that of a professional athlete, she was more content in mobilizing her life course through a semi-professional athletic career and work to support herself and her athletic pursuits. The provided examples also reveal the ways in which psychological responses to the cultural transition's tasks are embedded within relational contexts; thus, mutually constituting a career pattern to fit sport/work into the athlete's life design (Richardson, 1993; Savickas et al., 2009).

To summarize, migration experiences involve intense feelings of loss and loneliness on the one hand, but also excitement and hope of new opportunities on the other. Stemming from Kitayama et al.'s (2007) presupposition that a selfsystem provides a culturally grounded principle for spontaneous mobilization of thoughts, feelings, and actions, acute adaptation is characterized by a dynamic psychological work of calibrating adaptive responses to new social contexts. The decoding and reconstruction of meanings is central in the process of selftransformation and is stimulated by social repositioning and negotiation of cultural practices in daily living. Although emotional intensity of the acute phase is temporal, it may last for several months and encroach into the subsequent adaptive phase. Athletes unable to establish an affective and cognitive connection with the new locality by integrating new cultural meanings, and consequently expanding their own mode of being, were dissatisfied with their professional development and had to look for new possibilities of constructing the lifecourse.

Sociocultural Adaptation

In contrast to intermittent mobilities, the sociocultural adaptation phase is associated with the migration that has connotations of permanency or long-term stay (Koser and Salt, 1997). For example, athlete 10 (alpine skiing) relocated to Sweden for training as she felt that female athletes were not given same opportunities as boys and men in her home country. Although the athlete did not articulate any emigration intent at the interview, she had been living in Sweden for several years and was planning to combine her semi-professional athletic career with further education in an athlete friendly Swedish university. In our study of the transnational athletes' dual careers (Ryba et al., 2015b), we have demonstrated that despite agency playing a central role in the ways through which athletes navigate social structures to bring authenticity and meaning to their life in dual career pursuits, the discursive and material conditions in different locations in which athletes are situated nevertheless enable or constrain mobility (see also Carter, 2011).

Athletes in this sample, who expressed intent to stay in the country of settlement, communicated their content with *both* their athletic environment and society at large. These participants seemed to feel congruency of their own values and lifestyles with the local cultural norms animated through daily discourses and practices in various social contexts. In line with the findings of a recent satisfaction study of mobile employees on international assignments (Tretyakevich et al., 2015), athletes who considered themselves psychologically adjusted to the new culture, reported higher levels of satisfaction with non-sport related aspects of everyday life. As exemplified by pro hockey player 4:

 \ldots where I grew up and Finland, culturally, it's very similar. . . our health care is the same as here, our taxes are the same as here, we have lots of similarities, it's incredible. I felt – yeah, that's why I fit in so well here with my cultural upbringing, here rather than elsewhere.

Furthermore, this and other participants were cognizant of how sport and non-sport contexts were interdependent as well as interlinked with the self or agency in producing adaptability of their careers. Most of them took advantage of their simultaneous embeddedness in several locations to change clubs or teams in pursuit of a better fit. The argument presented by Savickas (2005) that career is enacted by expressing self concepts in relational contexts was infused with life by athlete 4 as he attested:

I rely on my hard work, and being team player, that's what I love about here. There's no BS and it's straightforward—that's not everywhere in Finland, but here, that's the culture that's here. As an older player, I think that's an important thing to have, a place you can admire the style and the kind of people that reflects who you are and how you were brought up.

Albeit considering themselves well adjusted at this phase, the participants also exhibited variations in their acculturation and life-theme motives, which in part directed their performative talks and actions. Many athletes had plans to return home after a fixed-term contract, graduation from a university or athletic retirement, and therefore had mixed feelings about their belongingness, often exacerbated by the fact that their families were not permanently living with them. For example, while athlete 15 liked Sweden-"I actually learned to like Sweden a lot as a country and even nowadays I still go to read some news on internet just to see what's going on in Sweden"and understood the local language to function competently and autonomously in daily social situations (e.g., housing and taxes), most of his time outside hockey was spent online in Skype sessions with his wife and children as he confessed, "Sweden was a temporary place...I guess I just missed things outside ice hockey." For this athlete, a sense of home was strongly connected to a physical place and the people in this specific locale. Therefore, after 2 years in Sweden, he returned home to maintain a professional hockey career as well as sustainability in his personal life.

Previous research on labor migration indicates that it is precisely the athletic migrants' transnational and multiple embeddedness that serves as a catalyst of their mobility (Engh and Agergaard, 2013), facilitating also career continuity. The transnational athletes' active management of their careers appeared to be linked to affective and normative commitment to various relational contexts inasmuch as most of them had established a sense of transnational belonging—feeling at home in multiple localities through transcultural forms of social engagement. Yet developing transnational identity was a process of challenging the self, as asserted by a Southern European basketball player (athlete 7):

It was challenging to come to Denmark, first. Then it was challenging to go to [a Nordic country], definitely. Then it was challenging going to the USA. It was so far and it was just a completely different culture—then going to [another American state], it was challenging. The first year. And then maybe the second and third year it was better, but then coming [back] to Denmark was challenging. So it was all challenging. I mean, I've been challenging myself all the time...just being outside of my comfort zone, in a way, it was everything language, culture, people.

The gradual molding of self, as illustrated by athlete 7, forefronts the idea that psychological processes are emergent outcomes of interaction with experience derived in a myriad of social practices in a given cultural locality (Vygotsky and Luria, 1930/1993; Markus and Kitayama, 2010). The transnational athletes' acquired abilities to continuously re-position themselves in transient contexts, calibrating their social relations and practices while navigating shifting meanings, further highlight the constitutive link between the developmental tasks of cultural transition and career adaptability. That is, the work of transition is a psychological repairing of the cultural rupture of daily life that results in a more expansive and fluid psychological selfsystem. The underlying mechanisms of transition identified in this research (see Figure 1) were uniquely mobilized in response to the tasks at each phase of cultural transition furthering growth through work and relationships in shifting sociocultural landscapes.

LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

In this article, we did not explore issues surrounding gender and sport sub-culture in mobilization of the transnational athletic career. Our focus was on sport-based cultural transitions of athletes who had a various degree of relocation support through sports organizations and athletic clubs. Therefore, it is reasonable to anticipate a different set of challenges facing athletes in unassisted cultural transitions, such as restricted athletic team/club membership and limited access to training facilities at the host site. Moreover, although some participants felt they had to migrate in order to secure their athletic careers, the athletes in this study can be characterized as skilled migrants and had more agency in negotiating their relocations and sport contracts. Hence it is important to consider power relations and immigration policies between the dominant culture and transnational migrants when applying the proposed framework to cultural mobility issues, especially in career counseling with marginalized and dislocated groups. While we believe that the Cultural Transition Model is applicable across different sports and potentially can be appropriate for developing psychological support of skilled migrants and their families, further research is needed to test the model in different contexts.

PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS

The athletic migrants' life stories clearly suggest that cultural transition has important implications for the direction of their careers and also their opportunities to have a meaningful life. Their transnational career accounts revealed a lack of psychosocial support available for transitioning athletes in sport organizations and, therefore, call for the need to make career and life design counseling available for them. The findings of this research offer some important insights for sport psychologists and career counselors regarding the ways in which they can assist their clients with the psychological work of mending cultural rupture. We believe that these recommendations can, moreover, be applicable in counseling with other groups of high-skilled workers who pursue work-related migration.

Firstly, the temporal model of cultural transition presents a succinct overview of the transition process, including the developmental tasks that change with time. The theme of time served as an important but highly subjective context in athletes' experiences of cultural transition and should therefore be approached from an idiosyncratic felt-sense framework in individual counseling. While there are also large variations in a culturally contingent repertoire of attitudes and behaviors through which individuals engage with the transition process, we propose that the underlying mechanisms of cultural transition discussed above are common to adaptively sustain human functioning.

Secondly, our findings highlight the importance of activating the psychosocial mobility pre-transition. As Bimrose and McNair (2011, p. 330) argued, "migrants represent a client group for whom adaptability and identity are crucially the key tasks for career intervention"; from a narrative perspective, career counseling with athletes prior to transnational migration could involve helping them to become aware of their established career narratives and life scripts and the potential need to reconstruct these narratives in cultural transitions.

Thirdly, transmigrants often move alone and might experience intense loneliness, especially at the acute cultural transition phase. As Stuewe-Portnoff (1988, p. 548) asserted, relational connection with people requires not only a physical proximity, but also a shared meaning domain wherein "the world means the same thing to others that it means to me." Our findings suggest that receiving organizations assessed rather poorly the extent of how cultural rupture of daily life impacted athletes' wellbeing. Organizational and sport psychologists working in teams could increase staff awareness of the challenges faced by transnational athletes and the ways of supporting them through transition, thereby decreasing the 'acculturation load' faced by incoming athletes.

Fourthly, athletic transmigrants' economic success and social status does not depend exclusively on rapid acculturation and assimilation into the host society that opens the possibilities for new, still unexplored adaptation pathways. It is important for career counselors to recognize that there are numerous ways to incarnate a transnational career, which may contain multiple intermittent mobilities and/or transnational migrations. While simultaneous embeddedness in several localities and cultivation of social networks are integral for maintaining transmigrants' mobility, certain career transitions may be decisively transient. Consequently, as our findings indicate, athletic migrants may rather invest time and energy into learning English than a (marginal) local language and may be reluctant to embrace culture of another society while, nevertheless, being eager to adapt to it instrumentally.

Fifthly, for migrants actively engaged in transnational networks and activities, transnational belonging is essential for the formation of identity and self-concepts. In line with previous transnational studies (e.g., Colic-Peisker, 2010; Ryba et al., 2015a), the findings of this study indicate that highly skilled migrants identify strongly with professional competencies. Therefore, their career–life identities may derive meaning from a culturally hybrid transnational field rather than the country of origin. Extrapolating from Blustein's (2011) proposition to consider culture as a form of holding environment that serves adaptive functions, the transnational community may serve as a vital holding environment for migrant workers as they cope with cultural transitions.

CONCLUSION

The results of this study enrich the International Labour Organization's (International Labour Organization [ILO], 1999, p. 7) concept of decent work by grounding the ILO's themes of "working conditions," "balancing work and family life," "equal recognition," and "enabling women to take control over their lives" in the psychological dimensions of workbased movement and transnational mobility. Drawing on a transactional approach, which views social-historical influences as constitutive at the level of individual experience, our research findings provide a compelling support for the sociocultural constitution of transition and relational construction of career adapt-abilities. Given the limited opportunities for long-term contracts, fierce competition and global flow of talent in the sport industry, today's athletes are often put in compromising situations where mobility is required at the expense of stable social networks, local belonging and family life. As the study indicated, host organizations were often prepared to assist in practical arrangements, but less likely to offer psychological support in adaptation to cultural transition. Hence it is important to consider whether individual difficulties in the cultural transition to specific organizations are a personal failure or an indication of organizational problems. This claim resonates with previous arguments that, although in the new economy individuals must take responsibility for their own career

development, there are also highly interactive mutual dynamics between organizational and individual career development, "in which both parties are at once the agent and the target of career influence" (Lips-Wiersma and Hall, 2007, p. 771).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TR developed the study concept. TR and NS designed the study. TR and NR conducted the interviews and data analyses. TR and NS developed the cultural transition model. TR wrote the manuscript and received substantial input from both co-authors. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript for submission.

REFERENCES

- Adams, G., and Markus, H. R. (2001). Culture as patterns: an alternative approach to the problem of reification. *Cult. Psychol.* 7, 283–296. doi: 10.1177/1354067X0173002
- Agergaard, S., and Ryba, T. V. (2014). Migration and career transitions in professional sports: transnational athletic careers in a psychological and sociological perspective. *Sociol. Sport J.* 32, 228–247. doi: 10.1123/ssj. 2013-0031
- Atkinson, P., and Delamont, S. (2005). "Analytic perspectives," in *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research*, 3rd Edn, eds N. K. Denzin and Y. S. Lincoln (London: Sage), 821–840.
- Atkinson, R. (1998). The Life Story Interview. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Bamberg, M. (2012). "Narrative analysis," in APA Handbook of Research Methods in Psychology, Vol. 2, ed. H. Cooper (Washington, DC: APA Press), 77–94.
- Bernaud, J.-L. (2014). "Career counseling and life meaning: a new perspective of life designing for research and applications," in *The Construction of the Identity in* 21st Century: A Festschrift for Jean Guichard, eds A. Di Fabio and J.-L. Bernaud (New York, NY: Nova Science), 29–40.
- Berry, J. W. (2009). A critique of critical acculturation. Int. J. Intercult. Relat. 33, 361–371. doi: 10.1016/j.ijintrel.2009.06.003
- Bimrose, J., and McNair, S. (2011). Career support for migrants: transformation or adaptation? J. Vocational Behav. 78, 325–333. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2011.03.012
- Blustein, D. L. (2001). The interface of work and relationships: a critical knowledge base for 21st century psychology. *Counsel. Psychol.* 29, 240–258. doi: 10.1177/0011000001292001
- Blustein, D. L. (2011). A relational theory of working. J. Vocational Behav. 79, 1–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2010.10.004
- Blustein, D. L., Schultheiss, D. E., and Flum, H. (2004). Toward a relational perspective of the psychology of careers and working: a social constructionist analysis. J. Vocational Behav. 64, 424–440. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2003. 12.008
- Brandão, M. R. F., and Vieira, L. F. (2013). "Athletes' careers in Brazil: research and application in the land of ginga," in *Athletes' Careers Across Cultures*, eds N. Stambulova and T. V. Ryba (London: Routledge), 43–52.
- Bruner, J. S. (1990). Acts of Meaning. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bruner, J. S. (1994). "The "remembered" self," in *The Remembering Self: Construction and Accuracy in the Self-Narrative*, eds U. Neisser and R. Fivush (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 41–54.
- Carless, D., and Douglas, K. (2009). 'We haven't got a seat on the bus for you' or 'all the seats are mine': narratives and career transition in professional golf. *Qualitative Res. Sport Exerc.* 1, 51–66. doi: 10.1080/19398440802 567949
- Carless, D., and Douglas, K. (2013). "In the boat" but "selling myself short": stories, narratives, and identity development in elite sport. *Sport Psychol.* 27, 27–39.
- Carter, T. F. (2011). Re-placing sport migrants: moving beyond the institutional structures informing international sport migration. *Int. Rev. Sociol. Sport* 48, 1–17. doi: 10.1177/1012690211429211

FUNDING

This research was supported by a grant to Tatiana Ryba (TKIF2011-021) from the Danish Ministry of Culture (Kulturministeriet).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the athletes for generously giving their time to participate in this study. We also acknowledge the contribution of Dr. Olli Tikkanen in shaping a pictorial representation of the Cultural Transition Model.

- Cohen, L. (2006). Remembrance of thighs past: cultural process and practice in the analysis of career stories. J. Vocational Behav. 69, 189–201. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2006.02.002
- Cohen, L., Arnold, J., and O'Neill, M. (2011). Migration: vocational perspectives on a complex and diverse transition. J. Vocational Behav. 78, 321–324. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2011.03.011
- Colic-Peisker, V. (2010). Free floating in the cosmopolis? Exploring the identitybelonging of transnational knowledge workers. *Global Netw.* 10, 467–488. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0374.2010.00298.x
- Del Corso, J., and Rehfuss, M. C. (2011). The role of narrative in career construction theory. J. Vocational Behav. 79, 334–339. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2011.04.003
- Duchesne, C., Bloom, G. A., and Sabiston, C. M. (2011). Intercollegiate coaches' experiences with elite international athletes in an American sport context. *Int. J. Coach. Sci.* 5, 1–20.
- Engh, M. H., and Agergaard, S. (2013). Producing mobility through locality and visibility: developing a transnational perspective on sports labour migration. *Int. Rev. Sociol. Sport* 50, 974–992. doi: 10.1177/1012690213509994
- Gmelch, G., and San Antonio, P. M. (2001). Baseball wives: gender and the work of baseball. J. Contemp. Ethnogr. 30, 335–356. doi: 10.1177/089124101030 003003
- Hall, S. (1990). "Cultural identity and diaspora," in *Identity: Community, Culture, Difference*, ed. J. Rutherford (London: Lawrence & Wishart), 222–237.
- International Labour Organization [ILO] (1999). "Report of the director-general: decent work," in *Proceedings of the International Labour Conference, 87 Session*, Geneva.
- International Labour Organization [ILO] (2016). World Employment Social Outlook: Trends 2016. Geneva: International Labour Office.
- Khomutova, A. (2015). Basketball coaches' experience in working with multicultural teams: central and Northern European perspectives. Sport Soc. doi: 10.1080/17430437.2015.1067777
- Kitayama, S., Duffy, S., and Uchida, Y. (2007). "Self as cultural mode of being," in *Handbook of Cultural Psychology*, eds S. Kitayama and D. Cohen (London: The Guilford Press), 136–174.
- Koser, K., and Salt, J. (1997). The geography of highly skilled international migration. *Int. J. Popul. Geogr.* 3, 285–303. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-1220(199712)3:4<285::AID-IJPG72>3.0.CO;2-W
- Lips-Wiersma, M., and Hall, D. T. (2007). Organizational career development is not dead: a case study on managing the new career during organizational change. *J. Organ. Behav.* 28, 771–792. doi: 10.1002/job.446
- Liversage, A. (2009). Finding a path: investigating the labour market trajectories of high-skilled immigrants in Denmark. J. Ethnic Migr. Stud. 35, 203–226. doi: 10.1080/13691830802586195

Locke, T. (2004). Critical Discourse Analysis. London: Continuum.

- Maguire, J., and Falcous, M. (eds). (2011). Sport and Migration: Borders, Boundaries and Crossings. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Markus, H. R., and Kitayama, S. (2010). Cultures and selves: a cycle of mutual constitution. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 5, 420–430. doi: 10.1177/1745691610 375557

- McAdams, D. P., Josselson, R. E., and Lieblich, A. E. (eds). (2001). *Turns in the Road: Narrative Studies of Lives in Transition*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- McGannon, K. R., Cunningham, S. M., and Schinke, R. J. (2013). Understanding concussion in socio-cultural context: a media analysis of a national hockey league star's concussion. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 14, 891–899. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2013.08.003
- McGillivray, D., Fearn, R., and McIntosh, A. (2005). Caught up in and by the beautiful game: a case of Scottish professional footballers. *J. Sport Soc. Issues* 29, 102–123. doi: 10.1177/0193723504268730
- Moghaddam, F. M. (2010). Intersubjectivity, interobjectivity, and the embryonic fallacy in developmental science. *Cult. Psychol.* 16, 465–475. doi: 10.1177/1354067X10380160
- Portes, A., Guranizo, L. E., and Landolt, P. (1999). The study of transnationalism: pitfalls and promise of an emergent research field. *Ethnic Racial Stud.* 22, 217–237. doi: 10.1080/014198799329468
- Richardson, M. S. (1993). Work in people's lives: a location for counseling psychologists. J. Counsel. Psychol. 40, 425–433. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167. 40.4.425
- Riessman, C. K. (2002). "Analysis of personal narratives," in *Handbook of Interview Research: Context and Method*, eds J. F. Gubrium and J. A. Holstein (London: Sage), 695–710.
- Riessman, C. K. (2008). Narrative Methods for the Human Sciences. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Roderick, M. (2006). A very precarious profession: uncertainty in the working lives of professional footballers. Work Employ. Soc. 20, 245–265. doi: 10.1177/0950017006064113
- Roderick, M., Waddington, I., and Parker, G. (2000). PLAYING HURT managing injuries in english professional football. *Int. Rev. Sociol. Sport* 35, 165–180. doi: 10.1177/101269000035002003
- Roderick, M. J. (2012). An unpaid labor of love: professional footballers, family life and the problem of job relocation. J. Sport Soc. Issues 36, 317–338. doi: 10.1177/0193723512445283
- Ronkainen, N. J., Harrison, M., and Ryba, T. V. (2014). Running, being and Beijing – an existential analysis. *Qual. Res. Psychol.* 11, 189–210. doi: 10.1080/14780887.2013.810796
- Ronkainen, N. J., Harrison, M., Shuman, A., and Ryba, T. V. (2016). "China, why not?": serious leisure and transmigrant runners' stories from Beijing. *Leisure Stud.* doi: 10.1080/02614367.2016.1141977
- Ryba, T. V., Haapanen, S., Mosek, S., and Ng, K. (2012). Towards a conceptual understanding of acute cultural adaptation: a preliminary examination of ACA in female swimming. *Qual. Res. Sport Exerc. Health* 4, 80–97. doi: 10.1080/2159676X.2011.653498
- Ryba, T. V., Ronkainen, N. J., and Selänne, H. (2015a). Elite athletic career as a context for life design. J. Vocational Behav. 88, 47–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2015.02.002
- Ryba, T. V., Stambulova, N. B., Ronkainen, N. J., Bundgaard, J., and Selänne, H. (2015b). Dual career pathways of transnational athletes. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 21, 125–134. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2014.06.002
- Savickas, M. L. (2005). "The theory and practice of career construction," in Career Development and Counseling. Putting Theory and Research to Work,

eds S. D. Brown and R. W. Lent (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons), 42-70.

- Savickas, M. L. (2012). Life design: a paradigm for career intervention in the 21st century. J. Counsel. Dev. 90, 13–19. doi: 10.1111/j.1556-6676.2012. 00002.x
- Savickas, M. L., Nota, L., Rossier, J., Dauwalder, J., Duarte, M. E., Guichard, J., et al. (2009). Life designing: a paradigm for career construction in the 21st century. *J. Vocational Behav.* 75, 239–250. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.04.004
- Schinke, R. J., McGannon, K. R., Battochio, R. C., and Wells, G. D. (2013). Acculturation in elite sport: a thematic analysis of immigrant athletes and coaches. J. Sports Sci. 31, 1686. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2013.794949
- Schultheiss, D. E., Watts, J., Sterland, L., and O'Neill, M. (2011). Career, migration and the life CV: a relational cultural analysis. J. Vocational Behav. 78, 334–341. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2011.03.013
- Smith, B., and Sparkes, A. C. (2009). Narrative analysis and sport and exercise psychology: understanding lives in diverse ways. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 10, 279–288. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2008.07.012
- Smith, B., and Sparkes, A. C. (2012). "Making sense of words and stories in qualitative research," in *Handbook of Measurement in Sport and Exercise Psychology*, eds G. Tenenbaum, R. Eklund, and A. Kamata (Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics), 119–129.
- Smith, M. P., and Guarnizo, L. E. (eds). (2006). (Transnationalism) from Below. London: Transaction Publishers.
- Sparkes, A. C., and Smith, B. (eds). (2014). *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Stambulova, N. B., and Ryba, T. V. (eds). (2013). *Athletes' Careers Across Cultures*. London: Routledge.
- Stambulova, N. B., and Ryba, T. V. (2014). A critical review of career research and assistance through the cultural lens: towards cultural praxis of athletes' careers. *Int. Rev. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 7, 1–17. doi: 10.1080/1750984X.2013.851727
- Stead, G. B. (2004). Culture and career psychology: a social constructionist perspective. J. Vocational Behav. 64, 389–406. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2003.12.006
- Stuewe-Portnoff, G. (1988). Loneliness: lost in the landscape of meaning. J. Psychol. 122, 545–555. doi: 10.1080/00223980.1988.9915529
- Tretyakevich, N., Las Heras, M., and Hall, D. T. (2015). Expatriation: work-life balance and psychological success. *Paper Presented at the Balance, Technology,* and Globalization IESE Business School, Barcelona.
- Vygotsky, L. S., and Luria, A. R. (1930/1993). Studies on the History of Behavior: Ape, Primitive, and Child. [Original Work Published 1930]. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Ryba, Stambulova and Ronkainen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Perceived Work Conditions and Turnover Intentions: The Mediating Role of Meaning of Work

Caroline Arnoux-Nicolas¹*, Laurent Sovet¹, Lin Lhotellier¹, Annamaria Di Fabio² and Jean-Luc Bernaud¹

¹ Centre de Recherche sur le Travail et le Développement, Conservatoire National des Arts et Métiers, Paris, France, ² Department of Education and Psychology (Psychology Section), University of Florence, Florence, Italy

Perceived working conditions lead to various negative outcomes for employee behaviors, including turnover intentions. Although potential mediators for these relationships were previously identified, the importance of meaning of work has not yet been investigated. This study examines the role of this psychological resource as a mediator for the relationships between perceived working conditions and turnover intentions in a sample of 336 French workers from different job contexts. Results show that adverse working conditions were positively and significantly associated with turnover intentions. Meaning of work is negatively related to both perceived working conditions and turnover intentions. Mediation analyses for meaning of work demonstrated indirect effects of several adverse working conditions on turnover intentions. The role of meaning of work as a psychological resource for employees facing adverse working conditions is discussed, especially regarding its implications for research and practice within organizational contexts.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Radha R. Sharma, Hero MotoCorp–Management Development Institute, India

Reviewed by:

Teresina Torre, University of Genoa, Italy Jenell Lynn-Senter Wittmer, University of Toledo, USA

*Correspondence:

Caroline Arnoux-Nicolas caroline.arnoux@cnam.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 29 November 2015 Accepted: 26 April 2016 Published: 12 May 2016

Citation:

Arnoux-Nicolas C, Sovet L, Lhotellier L, Di Fabio A and Bernaud J-L (2016) Perceived Work Conditions and Turnover Intentions: The Mediating Role of Meaning of Work. Front. Psychol. 7:704. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00704 Keywords: meaning of work, work conditions, turnover intentions, mediation, French workers

INTRODUCTION

The fifth European survey on working conditions (Eurofound, 2012) conducted in 34 countries on a sample of 44,000 workers, showed the essential role of relation to work in the individuals' lives. According to this study, exposure to physical risks in the workplace has not decreased since 1991 and psychosocial risks may have harmful health consequences in the current socioeconomic situation, which is characterized by high demands, work intensification, lack of autonomy, insufficient social ties, and a sense of insecurity toward work. Several studies have shown that the collateral effects of such work stress and psychosocial risks could have societal, organizational, sectoral, and individual costs (Hoel et al., 2001; European Agency for Safety and Health at Work, 2014). In particular, 20% of workers report a poor mental well-being and 18% of them a poor work-life balance. Moreover, the Eurofund study points out the limited changes in working conditions over the last 20 years and the fact that unfavorable working conditions tend to affect disproportionally some groups of workers.

Research has shown the links between poor working conditions and intentions to leave. Workers in hazardous workplace conditions are indeed more likely to leave their current employers voluntarily and in case the employer does not take the necessary measures in order to improve the work conditions, workers will not give up their withdrawal intentions (Cottini et al., 2011). As a result, the importance of the relation to work conditions cannot be underestimated. One of the benefits of this research is in labor relations, especially for organizations that attempt to retain some of their employees because, according to Bertrand et al. (2010, p. 214), companies must also "ensure talent retention" and "maintain and develop the expertise." Indeed, a major challenge for organizations is the significant cost of staff turnover in terms of recruitment and training of personnel. The financial loss caused ranges from a few thousand to more than double the individual's salary and the adverse effects on organizational performance and group motivation are significant (Singh and Loncar, 2010).

The present contribution considers the impact of working conditions on the intention to leave a job. It then successively examines the concepts of meaning of work. Assuming the influence of work conditions on turnover intentions, it then explores the consequences of working conditions on meaning of work that lead to suggest mediating effects of meaning of work on these two variables.

Effects of Work Conditions on Turnover Intentions

Working conditions may have various positive and negative impacts on employees' outcomes such as turnover intentions. Different research on various working samples have shown that perceived work conditions may affect turnover intentions (Houkes et al., 2001; Huang et al., 2007; Podsakoff et al., 2007; Poilpot-Rocaboy et al., 2011; Burakova et al., 2014). Mueller and Price (1990) have established that the determinants in voluntary turnover are of a psychological, sociological, and economic nature. Their explanatory model of voluntary turnover integrates different types of determinants, such us working conditions, environmental conditions, and employee characteristics. The authors point out that if employees' expectations toward the organization are not fulfilled, the consequences for job satisfaction and commitment to work result in the employees deciding to leave the organization.

In this regard, Dawis and Lofquist (1984) argue in their model that the degree of satisfaction from the perspective of the employee as well as of the employer predicts the extent to which the individual is likely to stay. In case of a mismatch between the person and the working environment, this model predicts forms of adjustments between the two. Thus, active adjustment on the part of the individual implies that he or she is trying to change the working environment. Adjusting reactively, individuals may also change their behavior to better match the environment. When no more adjustment proves possible, the person leaves the job. According to Mobley et al.'s (1978) model, that explains the withdrawal process, cognitive behavioral variables are mediators of the relationship between satisfaction and employee's turnover. This conceptual model describes the cognitive process in which job dissatisfaction leads the individual, at first, to think of leaving, and then to intend to leave, which is accompanied by the active search for another job, resulting in the decision to leave if an interesting job offer arises.

Mobley (1977) distinguishes the intention of seeking a new job and the intention to leave and says that the intention of seeking and the resulting job search generally precede the intention to leave and actual turnover except in cases of impulsive behavior. Work dissatisfaction is a factor that leads the individual to explore new alternatives (Peake and McDowall, 2012). Mobley et al. (1979) mention the negative relationship between turnover and the age, position, job content, intention to stay in the current position, commitment, and job satisfaction. They point out that less than 20% of the turnover variance is explained. Other explanatory factors have been identified. Mitchell et al. (2001) explained withdrawal intentions with new processes, adding factors that influence the decision to leave, such as satisfaction and commitment, the comparison between the current situation and the future situation, and the occurrence of particular life events. Several studies have confirmed the influence of job satisfaction and organizational commitment on withdrawal intentions (Cossette and Gosselin, 2009). Various authors have highlighted the moderate negative correlation between job satisfaction and turnover, as well as the negative relationship between commitment and turnover (Porter and Steers, 1973; Mobley et al., 1979). In his study based on a sample of maintenance technicians, Maghni (2014) shows that the variance of the withdrawal intention is explained by 34.7% work satisfaction (intrinsic and extrinsic) and 12.6% by organizational commitment.

While some studies have reported on the deleterious effect of adverse working conditions on health (Conne-Perréard et al., 2001), many authors have highlighted the protective role of certain psychological resources in facing difficult working conditions. For example, some authors (Marc et al., 2011) identified professional isolation as a psychosocial risk factor. In a study on psychosocial risk factors, Bué et al. (2008) emphasized the protective effect of social support when facing difficult working conditions while other authors (Caron and Guay, 2005) demonstrated the link between social support and mental health. If satisfaction is a mediator of withdrawal intentions, it would be relevant to analyze whether the meaning of work could act as a mediator between perceived work conditions and intentions to leave, which to our knowledge, has not yet been explored. None of the existing studies have considered meaning of work as a mediator variable.

Conceptualizing Meaning of Work

The concept of meaning of work features a variety of definitions. It usually refers to a subjective experience that has a personal meaning for the individual (Rosso et al., 2010). Steger et al. (2012, p. 323) define the meaning of work not only as "all that work means for individuals" (*sense*) but also as having "significant and positive valence" (*meaning*). If it is a subjective and personal experience, sense refers primarily to the experience of coherence, cohesion, balance, or wholeness. According to Morin (2006), it corresponds to an experience of coherence and balance between the features that the individual seeks in the work and those he or she actually finds in the work. For Frankl (1969), the meaning of work is associated with the purpose and the reason for living as well as with the vocation.

One common idea is that the emergence of meaning requires the presence of a goal or a cause that transcends the life of the individual (Frankl, 1969). From the perspective of spirituality, Seligman (2003) expresses the idea that finding meaning leads to make a connection with a sphere that extends beyond us. Individuals transcend themselves; that is to say, go beyond themselves to find meanings that are distinct from themselves (Frankl, 1959). According to Ashmos and Duchon (2000), the expression of spirituality at work requires accepting the idea that employees want to be involved in work that gives meaning to their lives. In general, there is a link between the overall level of the meaning of life and of the meaning of work (Steger and Dik, 2009). On the whole, such meaning, through the direction and consistency it gives to the actions of the individual, thereby conveys a structuring framework.

Meaning of Work as a Mediator

Some studies have highlighted the role of the meaning of life as a mediator in difficult life situations. Thus, in their study of adolescents from poor families, Machell et al. (2015) show the moderating role of the meaning of life on antisocial behavior such as disobedience and bullying. These authors consider the meaning of life as a structured framework for young people that enables them to resist anti-social behavior. Hence the idea arises that meaning could act as a framework or a protective firewall, especially in adverse situations.

By extension, one could consider the meaning of work as a firewall in the work context in terms of the structural framework, coherence, and objectives that meaning gives to work activities and that transcend the individual. Moreover, meaning of work is a more salient concept than meaning of life within an organizational context, and thus has a direct influence on employees' behaviors and subjective experiences of work (Ardichvili, 2005; Rosso et al., 2010; Steger et al., 2012). To that extent, the job characteristics model (JCM) developed Hackman and Oldham (1976) suggested that meaning of work can act a mediator between job characteristics (variety of skills, tasks, characteristics, autonomy, and feedback) and the various employee's outcomes such us motivation, satisfaction, and in particular, turnover intentions. This result was confirmed by the meta-analysis conducted by Humphrey et al. (2007). Indeed, they identified meaning of work as the most important mediator between working conditions and turnover intentions. Consequently, we wanted to reexamine these relationships among a sample of French workers.

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

The present study extends prior research on meaningful work by exploring its potential mediating effects on the relationships between organizational context and employee outcomes following the JCM (Hackman and Oldham, 1976). More specifically, our focus was to examine how the relationships between working conditions and turnover intentions are mediated by meaning of work among a sample of French workers (see **Figure 1**). Consequently, four hypotheses were formulated:

Hypothesis 1: Adverse working conditions are positively associated with high turnover intentions (path c).

Hypotheses 2 and 3: Meaning of work is negatively related to adverse working conditions (path a) and high turnover intentions (path b).

Hypothesis 4: The effects of adverse working conditions on turnover intentions are partially mediated by meaning of work (path c).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Participants were 336 employees from different organizations and institutions. The sample included 98 males and 238 females $(M_{\text{age}} = 42.38, SD_{\text{age}} = 10.47)$. A large majority of respondents reported being engaged or married. In terms of education level, 43 respondents had the equivalent of a high school diploma or less (13%), 92 had attended or completed a bachelor's degree program (27%), and 201 had attended or completed a graduate degree program (60%). Various occupations were represented but administrative or managerial positions were more common (60%). Social services (15%), public administration (14%), education (13%), and scientific and technological activities (7%) were the most occupations mentioned by respondents. Among the participants, 240 were full-time employees (71%), 90 were part-time employees (27%), and six did not report their contract status. Most of respondents were in permanent position (75%), 33 were in temporary position (10%), 32 were self-employed (9%), and 19 reported non-standard employment such as interim or State-aided contracts (6%). Their work experience ranged from less than 1 year to over 40 years, while mean job tenure in their current position was 7.09 years (SD = 7.01).

Measures

Adverse Work Conditions

The Questionnaire of Adverse Work Conditions Experience (Bertrand et al., 2010) includes 45 items that measure employees' experience with various adverse work conditions. Initially, the authors identified eight aspects of adverse work conditions among French-speaking Belgian workers by conducting exploratory factor analysis. These factors consist of work pressure (nine items, e.g., unforeseen workload), lack of resources (six items, e.g., lack of social support when needed), job insecurity (six items, e.g., unacceptable aspects of employment



contract), organizational changes (seven items, e.g., changes in working conditions), lack of personal development (five items, e.g., routine job), personal reasons (five items, e.g., health problem), work climate (five items, e.g., hostile atmosphere among colleagues), and public image of the company (two items, e.g., poor public perception). The questionnaire prompts participants to respond "yes" or "no" as to whether or not they experience such a situation in their current job. Following the instructions provided by the original authors, eight adverse work conditions indexes were built by calculating the average number of "yes" responses. For instance, if a participant answered "yes" to six of the nine items from the work pressure dimension, an index of 0.67 was obtained. Kuder-Richardson coefficients of reliability or K-R 20 were unacceptable for job insecurity (K-R 20 = 0.40) and for work climate (K–R 20 = 0.42; Nunnally and Bernstein, 1994). These results can be explained by the low variation that was observed. Indeed, few employees experienced very adverse working conditions. Then, K-R 20 for the personal reasons dimension and for public image of the company were acceptable, with scores of 0.60 and 0.67, respectively. For the other factors, K-R 20 scores were good ranging from 0.73 (lack of resources) to 0.76 (lack of personal development). After excluding the two factors below 0.60, the K-R 20 coefficient for the total scale in this study was 0.85.

Turnover Intentions

The Questionnaire of Turnover Intentions (Bertrand et al., 2010) consists of five items that measure employee turnover intentions using a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*Strongly disagree*) to 4 (*Strongly agree*). One example item is: "I have the intention to leave my company." The original authors also conducted an exploratory factor analysis among the same sample providing evidence of the unidimensionality of the scale. The Cronbach's alpha was 0.84 in this study.

Meaning of Work

The Meaning of Work Inventory (Arnoux-Nicolas et al., 2016) is a 15-item scale that assesses meaning of work using a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*). It consists of four dimensions: importance of work (e.g., "My current job gives meaning to my life"), understanding of work (e.g., "I understand the value of my work"), direction of work (e.g., "My work has a clear and specific direction"), and purpose of work (e.g., "I frequently don't understand the purpose of my work"). A higher-order factor was also found suggesting that the total score can be used as an overall measure for meaning of work. Since the mediating role of meaning of work was investigated, this global indicator was preferred for the current study. The Cronbach's alpha was 0.90.

Procedure

In order to collect data among employees with different job status and from a range of organizations, participants were recruited in two ways: using our personal and professional networks; and, for employees located in the Paris region, by in-person contact. The former were directly contacted by e-mail, while the latter were given a flyer advertising our survey. In both cases, an electronic link was provided to access the online survey. All respondents were required to review legal information and provide their consent before participating in the survey. This research is not invasive, is anonymous and voluntary. Using a snowball sampling strategy, potential participants were encouraged to forward this link to their acquaintances. A similar approach was applied by Steger et al. (2013) to increase their pool of participants.

The project and ethical features of this research were approved by the Doctoral School Abbé Grégoire of the Conservatoire National des Arts et Métiers in Paris, France. Furthermore with regard to ethical standards for research, the study adhered to the latest release of the revised Declaration of Helsinki in Fortaleza, Brazil (World Medical Association, 2013). The initial page of the online survey contained a consent form and legal information. The two inclusion criteria for respondents were to be employed and to be at least 18-year-old.

RESULTS

All the data were computed using SPSS (version 23). Following the recommendations of Baron and Kenny (1986), prior to performing a mediation analysis, it was necessary to analyze correlates of adverse working conditions and turnover intentions with meaning of work. In line with this approach, mediation analyses were conducted only among the significant relationships.

Descriptive Statistics

Means, standard deviations, and correlations of the study variables are presented in **Table 1**. Mean scores of adverse working conditions, and turnover intentions were in the low to moderate range while meaning of work was in the high range.

As can be seen, adverse working conditions were significantly and positively correlated with turnover intentions, ranging from r(336) = 0.13, p < 0.05 for public image of the company to r(336) = 0.57, p < 0.01 for lack of personal development (mdn = 0.31). These results suggest that as adverse working conditions increase, turnover intentions also increase. With the exception of work pressure, meaning of work was negatively and greatly associated to adverse working conditions, ranging from r(336) = -0.25, p < 0.01 for public image of the company to r(336) = -0.63, p < 0.01 for lack of personal development (mdn = -0.28). A negative and significant correlation between meaning of work and turnover intentions was also observed [r(336) = -0.62, p < 0.01].That effect is particularly important indicating that as meaning of work increases, turnover intentions decrease. Accordingly, the first hypothesis-that adverse working conditions are positively associated with turnover intentions-was confirmed while the second-that meaning of work is negatively related to adverse working conditions and turnover intentions-was also supported.

Predicting Turnover Intentions

To examine the predictors of turnover intentions, two hierarchical multiple regression analyses were performed.

| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 |
|----------------------------------|------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|--------|---------|
| (1) Work pressure | _ | 0.28** | 0.26** | 0.04 | 0.13** | 0.08 | 0.20** | -0.03 |
| (2) Lack of resources | | _ | 0.51** | 0.54** | 0.31** | 0.25** | 0.42** | -0.42** |
| (3) Organizational changes | | | _ | 0.33** | 0.25** | 0.39** | 0.27** | -0.27** |
| (4) Lack of personal development | | | | _ | 0.36** | 0.26** | 0.57** | -0.63** |
| (5) Personal reasons | | | | | _ | 0.13* | 0.34** | -0.28** |
| (6) Public image of the company | | | | | | _ | 0.13* | -0.25** |
| (7) Turnover intentions | | | | | | | _ | -0.62** |
| (8) Meaning of work | | | | | | | | _ |
| M | 0.46 | 0.30 | 0.30 | 0.28 | 0.21 | 0.20 | 1.96 | 5.19 |
| SD | 0.28 | 0.30 | 0.28 | 0.31 | 0.24 | 0.35 | 0.67 | 0.99 |

N = 336. **p < 0.01 (one-tailed), *p < 0.05 (one-tailed).

For the first model, a three step hierarchical multiple regression was conducted, in which demographic data was entered at step 1, adverse working conditions at step 2, and meaning of work at step 3. For the second model, demographic data was also entered in the first step of the equation while meaning of work were included in the second step. Regression results are presented in Table 2.

For Model 1, after entering gender, age, education level (i.e., graduate degree level vs. non-graduate degree level), types of occupation (i.e., administrative or managerial positions vs. non-administrative or managerial positions), contract status (i.e., permanent position vs. non-permanent position), types of contract (i.e., full-time position vs. non-full-time position), and job tenure, adverse working conditions uniquely accounted for a significant 36% variance in turnover intentions [$\Delta R^2 = 0.36$,

F(13,314) = 16.95, p < 0.01]. Meaning of work added an incremental and significant 10% in turnover intentions $[\Delta R^2 = 0.10, F(14,313) = 23.73, p < 0.01].$ More specifically, for the final step, the standardized regression coefficients were significant for contract status ($\beta = 0.15$, p < 0.01), work pressure ($\beta = 0.14$, p < 0.01), lack of personal development ($\beta = 0.24$, p < 0.01), personal reasons ($\beta = 0.14$, p < 0.01), public image of the company ($\beta = -0.11$, p < 0.05), and meaning of work $(\beta = -0.43, p < 0.01).$

For Model 2, after including the same demographic variables, meaning of work contributed significantly to the regression model [$\Delta R^2 = 0.36$, F(8,319) = 28.18, p < 0.01], and accounted for an incremental 36% of turnover intentions. Contract status $(\beta = 0.16, p < 0.01)$ and meaning of work presented a significant standardized regression coefficient ($\beta = -0.62, p < 0.01$).

| | Model 1 | | | Model 2 | | | |
|------------------------------------|---------|--------|--------------|---------|-------|--------------|--|
| | β | p | ΔR^2 | β | p | ΔR^2 | |
| Step 1: Demographic data | | | 0.05 | | | 0.05 | |
| Gender | 0.01 | 0.79 | | 0.00 | 0.93 | | |
| Age | -0.07 | 0.15 | | -0.07 | 0.18 | | |
| Education level | -0.01 | 0.89 | | 0.01 | 0.88 | | |
| Types of occupation | 0.07 | 0.16 | | 0.03 | 0.65 | | |
| Contract status | 0.15 | <0.01 | | 0.16 | <0.01 | | |
| Types of contract | -0.00 | 0.94 | | 0.03 | 0.56 | | |
| Job tenure | -0.03 | 0.59 | | 0.02 | 0.70 | | |
| Step 2: Adverse working conditions | | | 0.36 | | | | |
| Work pressure | 0.14 | < 0.01 | | | | | |
| Lack of resources | 0.06 | 0.29 | | | | | |
| Organizational changes | 0.00 | 0.97 | | | | | |
| Lack of personal development | 0.24 | <0.01 | | | | | |
| Personal reasons | 0.14 | <0.01 | | | | | |
| Public image of the company | -0.11 | 0.02 | | | | | |
| Step 3: Meaning | | | 0.10 | | | 0.36 | |
| Meaning of work | -0.43 | <0.01 | | -0.62 | <0.01 | | |
| R ² Total | 0.52 | | | 0.41 | | | |
| R ² _{Adjust} | 0.49 | | | 0.40 | | | |

TABLE O Historychical multiple regression analyses predicting turney.

Testing the Mediating Role of Meaning of Work

To examine the role of meaning of work as a mediator of the relationships between adverse working conditions and turnover intentions, the procedure described by Preacher and Hayes (2008) was followed. Thus, based on 5,000 bootstrapped samples using bias-corrected and accelerated 95% confidence intervals, standardized path coefficients and point estimates of indirect effects was calculated for meaning of work. As shown in **Figure 1**, the significant product of the coefficients for the relations between adverse working conditions and the mediator (path *a*) and for the relations between each mediator and turnover intentions (path *b*) was used to determine the significant difference between total effect (path *c*) and indirect effect (path *c*') as $a \times b = c - c'$ (MacKinnon et al., 2002). A mediational model for meaning of work was presented in **Table 3**.

Meaning of work was found to be a significant mediator for the relationships of lack of resources (Z = 6.87, p < 0.01), organizational changes (Z = 4.87, p < 0.01), lack of personal development (Z = 7.29, p < 0.01), personal reasons (Z = 5.01, p < 0.01), and public image of the company (Z = 4.51, p < 0.01) with turnover intentions. For these four first adverse working conditions factors, mediation effects ranged from 47 to 61% of the overall effect while meaning of work fully mediated the effects of the public image of the company on turnover intentions. Only the effect of work pressure on turnover intentions was not significantly mediated by meaning of work (Z = 0.62, p = 0.53). These results support the third hypothesis—that effects of adverse working conditions on turnover intentions are partially mediated by meaning of work.

DISCUSSION

Our study attempted to extend the current literature about the mediating effects of meaning of work, and about the consequences of adverse working conditions on employee outcomes, particularly on turnover intentions. Accordingly, we hypothesized that increased levels of adverse working conditions would lead to increased levels of turnover intentions. As predicted, adverse working conditions were positively and significantly associated with high turnover intentions, showing correlations at different ranges. These results support previous studies that found similar relationships among diverse working groups (Houkes et al., 2001; Huang et al., 2007; Podsakoff et al., 2007; Poilpot-Rocaboy et al., 2011; Burakova et al., 2014). However, Podsakoff et al. (2007) found working conditions related to task accomplishment to be better predictors of turnover intentions than working conditions related to personal development. Such differential effects between these two categories were found among our sample, for lack of resources and personal development were greatly associated with turnover intentions. As postmodernist societies encourage individuals to take full responsibility for their personal development (Guichard et al., 2012), we can argue that lack of personal development within an organizational context is becoming a more and more critical factor for turnover intentions (Freund, 2005).

Secondly, we postulated that high levels of meaning of work would be associated with low adverse working conditions and turnover intentions. All these predictions were confirmed. A previous study also found a strong correlation between meaning of work and turnover intentions (Steger et al., 2012).

Finally, our study explored the role of meaning of work as a mediator of the relationships between adverse working conditions and turnover intentions. The mediating effect of meaning of work was clearly demonstrated for four adverse working conditions (i.e., lack of resources, organizational changes, lack of personal development, and personal reasons). These findings are convergent with the JCM postulating the job characteristics influence critical psychological states, with in return have significant and various impacts on employee's work outcomes (Hackman and Oldham, 1976; Humphrey et al., 2007). It supports meaning of work as a significant psychological resource for mediating the negative effects of working conditions on turnover intentions, in addition to other previously identified psychological resources (Aryee and Chay, 2001; Loi et al., 2006; Humphrey et al., 2007; Podsakoff et al., 2007; Kim and Stoner, 2008; Vandenberghe and Tremblay, 2008; Collins, 2010). In their meta-analysis, Humphrey et al. (2007) underlined the importance of meaningful work as the most important psychological resource to prevent negative employee's work outcomes.

TABLE 3 | Bootstrapped point estimates and bias corrected and accelerated confidence intervals for indirect effects of adverse working conditions on turnover intentions through meaning of work.

| Independent variables | Point estimate | Product of ab coefficients | | | Percent mediated | Bootstrapping 95% Cl | |
|------------------------------|----------------|----------------------------|------|-------|------------------|----------------------|-------|
| | | SE | z | p | | Lower | Upper |
| Work pressure | 0.05 | 0.08 | 0.62 | 0.53 | _ | -0.12 | 0.22 |
| Lack of resources | 0.51 | 0.07 | 6.87 | <0.01 | 53.6 | 0.37 | 0.68 |
| Organizational changes | 0.39 | 0.08 | 4.87 | <0.01 | 60.7 | 0.24 | 0.57 |
| Lack of personal development | 0.60 | 0.08 | 7.29 | <0.01 | 48.8 | 0.44 | 0.81 |
| Personal reasons | 0.45 | 0.09 | 5.01 | <0.01 | 47.1 | 0.29 | 0.65 |
| Public image of the company | 0.31 | 0.07 | 4.51 | <0.01 | _ | 0.18 | 0.46 |

N = 336. Percent mediated was calculated following the formula: $(1 - c'/c) \times 100$.

Limitations

The findings of this study should be considered in the light of several limitations. Adverse working conditions were measured by calculating indexes derived from dichotomous observed variables. Nearly all reliability coefficients of adverse working condition factors were satisfied, but some factors presented tolerable or even unacceptable values. Indeed, despite the relevance of job insecurity (Sverke et al., 2002) and hostile work climate (Carr et al., 2003) as decidedly adverse working conditions, these factors were excluded from the analyses due to their limited internal consistencies. Further analyses revealed that few respondents concurrently encountered multiple situations related to each factor. For instance, among our sample, only 10% of participants reported experiencing "assault at work" (item 16 in the adverse working conditions questionnaire), which was significantly marginal in relation to the majority of respondents $[\chi^2(1) = 213.76, p < 0.01]$. However, we should consider that every employee experiences each situation at work on a certain level. Thus, assessing working conditions or work events by use of a continuum rather than dichotomous scoring may enhance reliabilities (for examples, see Cohen et al., 1993; Van Os et al., 2001; Stöber et al., 2002). Consequently, continuous variables may also provide opportunities to further examine the implications of rare adverse working conditions on employee outcomes.

In addition, only turnover intentions were investigated in our study. Because turnover intentions are considered as antecedents of turnover (Podsakoff et al., 2007), the mediating effect of meaning of work between working conditions and actual turnover could differ. Indeed, turnover intentions more describe a psychological state whereas turnover represents an effective decision and behavior taken by employees. Accordingly, longitudinal research designs may provide further information about the underlying process. Overall, understanding turnover intentions may lead to decreased turnover.

Another concern is the nature of our sample, which mainly consisted of respondents who had attended or completed a graduate degree program and who held administrative or managerial positions. This composition may potentially explain the high level of meaning of work that was observed in our study. Indeed, as demonstrated by Allan et al. (2014), employees from higher social classes tend to experience higher meaning of work than employees in lower social classes. Nevertheless, we conducted additional analyses which revealed that demographic data accounted for a negligible amount of variance in meaning of work and that none of these variables significantly predicted turnover intentions. In sum, future studies among large representative working samples are needed to better understand the implications of both job and personal characteristics. Special attention

REFERENCES

Allan, B. A., Autin, K. L., and Duffy, R. D. (2014). Examining social class and work meaning within the psychology of working framework. J. Career Assess. 22, 543–561. doi: 10.1177/1069072713514811 is also required to include individuals living in extremely precarious conditions, who may not be readily accessible for researchers (Rhodes et al., 2003), but who may represent a promising area for understanding the relationships between adverse working conditions and meaning of work. An intriguing and paradoxical example was provided by Arvidsson et al. (2010) among Milan fashion industry employees who experienced their work as meaningful despite poor working conditions.

Perspectives

In the range of the JCM's perspectives (Hackman and Oldham, 1976), our study makes a significant contribution to understanding the role of meaning of work as a significant psychological resource for reducing turnover intentions while employees are facing adverse working conditions. Future research should further explore its implications on other negative employee outcomes (e.g., absenteeism, burnout, and turnover), as well as on positive employee outcomes (e.g., job satisfaction, motivation, and organizational commitment). Despite the growth of substantial literature about the benefits of meaning of work for both workers and organizations (see Rosso et al., 2010; Steger et al., 2012), the mediating role of meaning of work-in the negative context of poor working conditions and psychosocial risks for employee outcomes-remains unclear. This research topic seems promising since ongoing changes in work organization, marked by constant flux, job insecurity, and flexibility, increase the importance and relevance of considering meaning of work as a critical psychological resource among workers (Hartung and Taber, 2013; Bernaud et al., 2015). Finally, in addition to promoting decent working conditions, organizations should encourage programs and interventions that help employees to develop positive psychological resources, including meaning of work.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All the authors (CA-N, LS, LL, AF, and J-LB) substantially contributed to the conception and the design of the work. CA-N, LS, LL, and J-LB participated to the acquisition of data. The two first authors (CA-N, LS) analyzed and interpreted the data. The first author (CA-N) prepared the draft and the contributing authors (LS, LL, AF, and J-LB) reviewed it critically and gave important intellectual content. All the authors (CA-N, LS, LL, AF, and J-LB) worked for the final approval of the version to be published. All the authors (CA-N, LS, LL, AF, and J-LB) are accountable for all the aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

- Ardichvili, A. (2005). The meaning of working and professional development needs of employees in a post-communist country. *Int. J. Cross Cult. Manag.* 5, 105–119. doi: 10.1177/1470595805050826
- Arnoux-Nicolas, C., Sovet, L., Lhotellier, L., and Bernaud, J.-L. (2016). "Development and validation of the meaning of work inventory among french

workers," in International Journal for Educational and Vocational Guidance, (Berlin: Springer). doi: 10.1007/s10775-016-9323-0

- Arvidsson, A., Malossi, G., and Naro, S. (2010). Passionate work? Labour conditions in the Milan fashion industry. J. Cult. Res. 14, 295–309. doi: 10.1080/14797581003791503
- Aryee, S., and Chay, Y. W. (2001). Workplace justice, citizenship behavior, and turnover intentions in a union context: examining the mediating role of perceived union support and union instrumentally. J. Appl. Psychol. 86, 154– 160. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.86.1.154
- Ashmos, D. P., and Duchon, D. (2000). Spirituality at work: a conceptualization and measure. J. Manag. Inquiry 9, 134–145. doi: 10.1177/105649260 092008
- Association (2013). World medical association declaration of helsinki ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *JAMA* 310, 2191–2194. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.281053
- Baron, R. M., and Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 51, 1173–1182. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173
- Bernaud, J.-L., Lhotellier, L., Sovet, L., Arnoux-Nicolas, C., and Pelayo, F. (2015). Psychologie de l'accompagnement: Concepts et outils pour Développer le "sens" de la vie et du travail [Psychology of Coaching: Concepts and tools to Develop Meaning of life and of Work]. Paris: Dunod.
- Bertrand, F., Peters, S., Pérée, F., and Hansez, I. (2010). Facteurs d'insatisfaction incitant au départ et intention de quitter le travail: analyse comparative des groupes d'âges [Factors of dissatisfaction encouraging resignation and intentions to resign: a comparative analysis of age groups]. *Trav. Hum.* 73, 213–237. doi: 10.2307/40864459
- Bué, J., Coutrot, T., Guignon, N., and Sandret, N. (2008). Les facteurs de risques psychosociaux au travail : une approche quantitative par l'enquête Sumer [Psychosocial risk factors at work: a quantitative approach from the Sumer survey]. Rev. Française Affaires Soc. 2, 45–70.
- Burakova, M., Ducourneau, J., Gana, K., and Dany, L. (2014). Pronostic de l'intention de départ chez les sapeurs-pompiers volontaires en France [Prediction intention to leave among volunteer fire-fighters in France]. *Psychol. Française* 59, 273–299. doi: 10.1016/j.psfr.2013.12.002
- Caron, J., and Guay, S. (2005). Soutien social et santé mentale: concept, mesures, recherches récentes et implications pour les cliniciens [Social support and mental health: concepts, measures, recent research, and implications for clinical practitioners]. Santé Mentale Québec 30, 15–41. doi: 10.7202/012137ar
- Carr, J. Z., Schmidt, A. M., Ford, J. K., and DeShon, R. P. (2003). Climate perceptions matter: a meta-analytic path analysis relating molar climate, cognitive, and affective states, and individual level work outcomes. J. Appl. Psychol. 88, 605–619. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.88.4.605
- Cohen, S., Tyrrell, D. A. J., and Smith, A. P. (1993). Negative life events, perceived stress, negative affect, and susceptibility to the common cold. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 64, 131–140. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.64.1.131
- Collins, M. D. (2010). The effect of psychological contract fulfillment on manager turnover intentions and its role as a mediator in a casual, limitedservice restaurant environment. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 29, 736–742. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2010.03.005
- Conne-Perréard, E., Glardon, M. J., Parrat, J., and Usel, M. (2001). "Effets de conditions de travail défavorables sur la santé des travailleurs et leurs conséquences économiques [Effects of unfavorable work conditions on worker health and their economic consequences]," in *Conférence Romande et Tessinoise des Offices Cantonaux de Protection des Travailleurs*, Genève.
- Cossette, M., and Gosselin, A. (2009). Quitter ou Rester: Analyse des Profils d'Intention de Départ d'agents en Centre de Contact-Client [Leave or stay: Analysis of Turnover Intention Profiles Among Agents in a Customer Contact Center]. Montréal, QC: CIRANO.
- Cottini, E., Kato, T., and Westergaard-Nielsen, N. (2011). Adverse workplace conditions, high-involvement, work practices and labor turnover: evidence from Danish linked employer-employee data. *Lab. Econ.* 18, 872–880. doi: 10.1016/j.labeco.2011.07.003
- Dawis, R. V., and Lofquist, L. H. (1984). A Psychological Theory of Work Adjustment. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.
- Eurofound (2012). Fifth European Working Conditions Survey: Overview Report [PDF Reader version]. doi: 10.2806/34660

- European Agency for Safety and Health at Work (2014). Calculating the Costs of Work-Related Stress and Psychosocial Risks. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Frankl, V. E. (1959). Man's Search for Meaning. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Frankl, V. E. (1969). The Will to Meaning. New York, NY: New American Library. Freund, A. (2005). Commitment and job satisfaction as predictors of turnover intentions among welfare workers. Admin. Soc. Work 29, 5–21. doi:
- 10.1300/j47v29n02_02 Guichard, J., Pouyaud, J., de Calan, C., and Dumora, B. (2012). Identity construction and career development interventions with emerging adults. *J. Vocat. Behav.* 81, 52–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2012.04.004
- Hackman, J. R., and Oldham, G. R. (1976). Motivation through the design of work: test of a theory. Organ. Behav. Hum. Perform. 16, 250–279. doi: 10.1016/0030-5073(76)90016-7
- Hartung, P. J., and Taber, B. J. (2013). "Career construction: heeding the call of the heart," in *Purpose and Meaning in the Workplace*, eds B. J. Dik, Z. S. Byrne, and M. F. Steger (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 17–36.
- Hoel, H., Sparks, K., and Cooper, C. (2001). The Cost of Violence/Stress at Work and the Benefits of a Violence/Stress-free Working Environment. Genève: International Labour Organization.
- Houkes, I., Janssen, P. P. M., de Jonge, J., and Nijhuis, F. J. N. (2001). Specific relationships between work characteristics and intrinsic work motivation, burnout and turnover intention: a multi-sample analysis. *Eur. J. Work Organ. Psychol.* 10, 1–23. doi: 10.1080/13594320042000007
- Huang, T. C., Lawler, J., and Lei, C. Y. (2007). The effects of quality of work life on commitment and turnover intention. Soc. Behav. Pers. 36, 735–750. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2007.35.6.735
- Humphrey, S. E., Nahrgang, J. D., and Morgeson, F. P. (2007). Integrating motivational, social, and contextual work design features: a meta-analytic summary and theoretical extension of the work design literature. J. Appl. Psychol. 92, 1332–1356. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.92.5.1332
- Kim, H., and Stoner, M. (2008). Burnout and turnover intention among social workers: effects of role stress, job autonomy and social support. Admin. Soc. Work 32, 5–25. doi: 10.1080/03643100801922357
- Loi, R., Hang-yue, N., and Foley, S. (2006). Linking employees' justice perceptions to organizational commitment and intention to leave: the mediating role of perceived organizational support. J. Occupat. Organ. Psychol. 79, 101–120. doi: 10.1348/096317905x39657
- Machell, K., Disabato, D., and Kashdan, T. (2015). Buffering the negative impact of poverty on youth: the power of purpose in life. Soc. Indic. Res. 126, 845–861. doi: 10.1007/s11205-015-0917-6
- MacKinnon, D. P., Lockwood, C. M., Hoffman, J. M., West, S. G., and Sheets, V. (2002). A comparison of methods to test mediation and other intervening variable effects. *Psychol. Methods* 7, 83–104. doi: 10.1037/1082-989x. 7.1.83
- Maghni, A. (2014). Satisfaction au travail, implication organisationnelle et intention de départ volontaire: cas des techniciens de maintenance d'une entreprise de câblage [Job satisfaction, organizational involvement, and voluntary turnover intention: the case of maintenance technicians at a cabling company]. Eur. Sci. J. 10, 80–92.
- Marc, J., Grosjean, V., and Marsella, M. C. (2011). Dynamique cognitive et risques psychosociaux: isolement et sentiment d'isolement au travail. [Cognitive dynamics and psychosocial risks: isolation and feelings of isolation at work]. *Le Travail Hum.* 74, 107–130. doi: 10.3917/th.742. 0107
- Mitchell, T. R., Holtom, B. C., Lee, T. W., Sablynski, C. J., and Erez, M. (2001). Why people stay, using job embeddedness to predict voluntary turnover. Acad. Manag. J. 44, 1102–1122. doi: 10.2307/3069391
- Mobley, W. H. (1977). Intermediate linkages in the relationship between job satisfaction and employee turnover. J. Appl. Psychol. 62, 237–240. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.62.2.237
- Mobley, W. H., Griffeth, R.-H., Hand, H. H., and Meglino, B. M. (1979). Review and conceptual analysis of the employee turnover process. *Psychol. Bull.* 86, 493–522. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.86.3.493
- Mobley, W. H., Horner, S. O., and Hollingsworth, A. T. (1978). An evaluation of precursors of hospital employee turnover. J. Appl. Psychol. 63, 408–414. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.63.4.408

- Morin, E. (2006). Donner un Sens au Travail: Promouvoir le Bien-être Psychologique [Making work Meaningful: Promoting Psychological Well-being]. Montréal, QC: IRSST.
- Mueller, C. W., and Price, J. L. (1990). Economic, psychological, and sociological determinants of voluntary turnover. J. Behav. Econ. 19, 321–335. doi: 10.1016/0090-5720(90)90034-5
- Nunnally, J. C., and Bernstein, I. H. (1994). *Psychometric Theory*, 3rd Edn. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Peake, S., and McDowall, A. (2012). Chaotic careers: a narrative analysis of career transition themes and outcomes using chaos theory as a guiding metaphor. *Br. J. Guid. Counc.* 40, 395–410. doi: 10.1080/03069885.2012. 704350
- Podsakoff, N. P., LePine, J. A., and LePine, M. A. (2007). Differential challenge stressor-hindrance stressor relationships with job attitudes, turnover intentions, turnover, and withdrawal behavior: a meta-analysis. J. Appl. Psychol. 92, 438– 454. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.92.2.438
- Poilpot-Rocaboy, G., Notelaers, G., and Hauge, L. J. (2011). Exposure to bullying at work: Impact of job satisfaction, organizational commitment and intention to leave. *ePTO* 17, 250–273.
- Porter, L. W., and Steers, R. M. (1973). Organizational, work, and personal factors in employee turnover and absenteeism. *Psychol. Bull.* 80, 151–176. doi: 10.1037/h0034829
- Preacher, K. J., and Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behav. Res. Methods* 40, 879–891. doi: 10.3758/brm.40.3.879
- Rhodes, S. D., Bowie, D. A., and Hergenrather, K. C. (2003). Collecting behavioural data using the world wide web: considerations for researchers. J. Epidemiol. Commun. Health 57, 68–73. doi: 10.1136/jech.57.1.68
- Rosso, B. D., Dekas, K. H., and Wrzesniewski, A. (2010). On the meaning of work: a theoretical integration and review. *Res. Organ. Behav.* 30, 91–127. doi: 10.1016/j.riob.2010.09.001
- Seligman, M. E. P. (2003). Positive psychology: fundamental assumptions. Psychologist 16, 126–127.
- Singh, P., and Loncar, N. (2010). Pay satisfaction, job satisfaction and turnover intent. *Indust. Relat.* 65, 470–490. doi: 10.7202/044892ar

- Steger, M. F., and Dik, B. J. (2009). If one is looking for meaning in life, does it help to find meaning in work? *Appl. Psychol.* 1, 303–320. doi: 10.1111/j.1758-0854.2009.01018.x
- Steger, M. F., Dik, B. J., and Duffy, R. D. (2012). Measuring meaningful work: the work and meaning inventory (WAMI). J. Career Assess. 20, 322–337. doi: 10.1177/1069072711436160
- Steger, M. F., Littman-Ovadia, H., Miller, M., Menger, L., and Rothmann, S. (2013). Engaging in work even when it is meaningless: positive affective disposition and meaningful work interact in relation to work engagement. J. Career Assess. 21, 348–361. doi: 10.1177/1069072712471517
- Stöber, J., Dette, D. E., and Musch, J. (2002). Comparing continuous and dichotomous scoring of the Balanced Inventory of Desirable Responding. J. Pers. Assess. 78, 370–389. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa 7802_10
- Sverke, M., Hellgreen, J., and Näswall, K. (2002). No security: a meta-analysis and review of job insecurity and its consequences. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 7, 242–264. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.7.3.242
- Van Os, J., Park, S. B. G., and Jones, P. B. (2001). Neuroticism, life events, and mental health: evidence for person–environment correlation. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 178, s72–s77. doi: 10.1192/bjp.178.40.s72
- Vandenberghe, C., and Tremblay, M. (2008). The role of pay satisfaction and organizational commitment in turnover intentions: a two-sample study. J. Bus. Psychol. 22, 275–286. doi: 10.1007/s10869-008-9063-3

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Arnoux-Nicolas, Sovet, Lhotellier, Di Fabio and Bernaud. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

